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Preface to the English
Translation

To those readers who have found the moral strength to over-
come the darkness and suffering of the first two volumes, the third
volume will disclose a space of freedom and struggle. The secret
of this struggle is kept by the Soviet regime even more zealously
than that of the torments and annihilation it inflicted upon mil-
lions of its victims. More than anything else, the Communist '
regime fears the revelation of the fight which is conducted against
it with a spiritual force unheard of and unknown to many coun-
tries in many periods of their history. The fighters’ spiritual
strength rises to the greatest height and to a supreme degree of
tension when their situation is most helpless and the state system
most ruthlessly destructive.

The Communist regime has not been overthrown in sixty years,
not because there has not been any struggle against it from inside,
not because people docilely surrendered to it, but because it is
inhumanly strong, in a way as yet unimaginable to the West.

In the world of concentration camps, corrupt as everything
within the Soviet system, the struggle began (alas, it could not
begin otherwise) by terrorist actions. Terrorism is a condemnable
tool, but in this case it was generated by forty years of unprece-
dented Soviet state terrorism, and this is a striking instance of evil
generating evil. It shows that when evil assumes inhuman dimen-
sions, it ends up by forcing people to use evil ways even to escape
it. However, the concentration camp terrorism of the fifties, out
of which heroic uprisings were born later on, was essentially differ-
ent from the “left-wing” revolutionary terrorism which is shaking
the Western world in our days, in that young Western terrorists,

xi
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saturated with boundless freedom, play with innocent people’s
lives and kill innocent people for the sake of their unclear purposes
or in order to gain material advantages. Soviet camp terrorists in
the fifties killed proved traitors and informers in defense of their
right to breathe.

However, there is no kind of terrorism that can be considered
a pride of the twentieth century. On the contrary, terrorism has
made it into one of the most shameful centuries of human history.
And there is no guarantee that the darkest abyss of terrorism
already lies behind us.

WNavemdo, 1977 | a&/
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PART V

Katorga
-
“We shall turn the Siberia of katorga, Siberia in shackles,

into a Soviet, socialist Siberia.”

STALIN



THE DESTRUCTIVE-LABOR CAMPS
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Chapter 1

The Doomed

Revolution is often rash in its generosity. It is in such a hurry
to disown so much. Take the word katorga,* for instance. Now,
katorga is a good word, a word with some weight in it, nothing
like the runtish abortion DOPR or the pipsqueak ITL.* Katorga
descends from the judicial bench like the blade of a guillotine,
stops short of beheading the prisoner but breaks his spine, shatters
all hope there and 'then in the courtroom. The word katorzhane
holds such terror that other prisoners think to themselves: “These
must be the real cutthroats!” (It is a cowardly but comfortable
human failing to see yourself as not the worst of men, nor in the
worst position. Katorzhane wear numbers! They are obviously
beyond redemption! Nobody would pin a number on you or me!
. . . They will, though—you’ll see!)

Stalin was very fond of old words; he never forgot that they can
cement a state together for centuries. It was not to meet some
proletarian need that he grafted on again words too hastily lopped
off: “officer,” “general,” “director,” “supreme.”* And twenty-six
years after the February Revolution had abolished - “katorga,
Stalin reintroduced it. This was in April, 1943, when he began to
feel that he was no longer sliding downhill. For the home front
the first fruits of the people’s victory at Stalingrad were the decree
on the militarization of the railroads (providing for trial of women
and little boys by court-martial) and, on the following day (April
17), the decree introducing the katorga and the gallows. (The
gallows is another fine old institution, much superior to a short

*See Notes, page 530.
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sharp pistol shot: it makes death a leisurely process, which can be
exhibited in detail to a large crowd of people.) Bach subsequent
victory drove fresh contingents of the doomed into katorga or to
the gallows—first from the Kuban and the Don, then from the
left-bank Ukraine and the Kursk, Orel, and Smolensk regions. On
the heels of the army came the tribunals, publicly hanging some
people on the spot, dispatching others to the newly created
katorga forced-labor camps.

The first of them, of course, was Mine No. 17 at Vorkuta (those
at Norilsk and Dzhezkazgan came soon after). Little attempt was
made to conceal their purpose: the katorzhane were to be done to
death. These were, undisguisedly, miirder camps: but in the Gulag
tradition murder was protracted, so that the doomed would suffer
longer and put a little work in before they died.

They were housed in “tents,” seven meters by twenty, of the
kind common in the north. Surrounded with boards and sprinkled _
with sawdust, the tent became a sort of flimsy hut. It was meant
to hold eighty people, if they were on bunk beds, or one hundred
on sleeping platforms. But katorzhane were put into them two
hundred at a time.

Yet there was no reduction of average living space—just a
rational utilization of accommodation. The katorzhane were put
on a twelve-hour working day with two shifts, and no rest days,
so that there were always one hundred at work and one hundred
in the hut.

At work they were cordoned off by guards with dogs, beaten
whenever anybody felt like it, urged on to greater efforts by
Tommy guns. On their way back to the living area their ranks
might be raked with Tommy-gun fire for no good reason, and the
soldiers would not have to answer for the casualties. Even at a
distance a column of exhausted katorzhane was easily identified
—no ordinary prisoners dragged themselves so hopelessly, so
painfully along.

Their twelve working hours were measured out in full to the last
tedious minute.

Those quarrying stone for roadmaking in the polar blizzards of
Norilsk were allowed ten minutes for a warm-up once in the
course of a twelve-hour shift. And then their twelve-hour rest was
wasted in the silliest way imaginable. Part of these twelve hours
went into moving them from one camp area to another, parading
them, searching them. Once in the living area, they were immedi-
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ately taken into a “tent” which was never ventilated—a window-
less hut—and locked in. In winter a foul sour stench hung so
heavy in the damp air that no one unused to it could endure it for
two minutes. The living area was even less accessible to the kator-
zhane than the camp work area. They were never allowed to go
to the latrine, nor to the mess hut, nor to the Medical Section. All
their needs were served by the latrine bucket and the feeding
hatch. Such was Stalin’s katorga as it took shape in 1943-1944:
a combination of all that was worst in the camps with all that was
worst in the prisons.'

Their twelve hours of rest also included inspections, morn-
ing and evening—no mere counting of heads, as with ordinary
zeks,* but a full and formal roll call at which each of a hun-
dred katorzhane twice in every twenty-four hours had to reel
off smartly his number, his abhorrent surname, forename, and
patronymic, where and in what year he was born, under which
article of the Criminal Code he was convicted and by whom,
the length of his sentence and when it would expire: while the
other ninety-nine, twice daily, listened to all this and suffered
torments. Then again, food was distributed twice in the course
of these twelve hours: mess tins were passed through the feed-
ing hatch, and through the feeding hatch they were collected
again. No katorzhanin was permitted to work in the kitchens,

nor to take around the food pails. All the serving was done by
the thieves—and the more brazenly, the more ruthlessly they
cheated the accursed katorzhame, the better they lived them-
selves and the more the camp bosses liked it; as always when
the 58’s (politicals) were footing the bill, the interests. of the
NKVD and of the thieves coincided.

According to the camp records, which were not meant to pre-
serve for history the fact that political prisoners were also starved
to death, they were entitled to supplementary “miner’s rations”
and “bonus dishes,” whlch were miserable enough even before
three lots of thieves got at them. This was another lengthy proce-
dure conducted through the feeding hatch—names were called

1. We have Chekhov's word for it that the Tsarist karorga was much less inventive. The
katorzhane in the jail at Aleksandrovskaya (Sakhalin) could not only go out into the yard
or to the latrine at all hours of the day and night (latrine buckets were not in use there
at all), but at any time during the day could go into the town! Stalin, then, was the first
to understand the word katorga in its original sense—a galley in which the rowers ure
shackled to their cars.

I

|
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out one by one, and dishes exchanged for coupons. And when at
last you were about to collapse onto the sleeping platform and fall
asleep, the hatch would drop again, once again names were called,
and they would start reissuing the same coupons for use the next
day. (Ordinary zeks had none of this bother with coupons—the
foreman took charge of them and handed them in to the kitchen.)

So that out of twelve leisure hours in the cell, barely four
remained for undisturbed sleep.

Then again, katorzhane were of course paid no money, nor had
they any right to receive parcels or letters (the memory of their
former freedom must fade in their muddled, dully aching heads,
till there was nothing left in the inscrutable polar night but work
and barracks).

The katorzhane responded nicely to this treatment and quickly
died.

The first alphabet at Vorkuta—twenty-eight letters,* with num-
bers from 1 to 1000 attached to each of them—the first 28,000
prisoners in Vorkuta all passed under the earth within a year.

We can only be surprised that it was not in a single month.?

A train was sent to Cobalt Mine No. 25 at Norilsk to pick up
ore, and some katorzhane lay down in front of the locomotive to
end it all quickly. A couple of dozen prisoners fled into the tundra
in desperation. They were located by planes, shot, and their bodies
stacked where the men lined up for work assignment would see
them.

At No. 2 Mine, Vorkuta, there was a Women’s Camp Division.
The women wore numbers on their backs and on their head
scarves. They were employed on all underground jobs, and—yes
—they even overfulfilled the plan! . . .

But I can already hear angry cries from my compatriots and
contemporaries. Stop! Who are these people of whom you dare to
speak? Yes! They were there to be destroyed—and rightly so!
Why, these were traitors, Polizei,* burgomasters! They got what
they asked for! Surely you are not sorry for them? (If you are, of

2. When Chekhov was there, the whole convict population of Sakhalin was—how many
would you think?—S5,905. Six letters of the alphabet would have been enough for all of
them. Ekibastuz as we knew it was roughly as big, and Spassk very much bigger. The name
Sakhalin strikes terror, yet it was really just one Camp Division! In Steplag alone there were
twelve complexes as big as that of Sakhalin, and there were ten camps like Steplag. You
can calculate how many Sakhalins we had.

3. On Sakhalin there was no hard labor for women (Chekhov).
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course, further criticism is outside the competence of literature,
and must be left to the Organs.*) And the women there were
German bedstraw, I hear women’s voices crying. (Am I exaggerat-
ing? It was our women who called other women “German bed-
straw,” wasn’t it?)

I could most easily answer in what is now the conventional
faéhion—by denouncing the cult. 1 could talk about a few untypi-
cal cases of people sent to katorga. (The three Komsomol girl
volunteers, for instance, who went up in a fighter bomber but were
afraid to drop their bombs on the target, jettisoned them in open
country, returned to base safely and reported that they had carried
out their mission. Later on, her Komsomol conscience began
troubling one of them, and she told the Komsomol organizer of
her air squadron, also a girl, who of course went straight to the
Special Section. The three girls collected twenty years of kaforga
each.) I could cry shame: to think that honest Soviet people like
these were punished like criminals at the despot Stalin’s whim!
And I could wax indignant not so much at Stalin’s high-handed-
ness as about the fateful errors in the treatment of Komsomols and
Communists, now happily corrected.

It would, however, be improper not to examine the question in
depth.

First, a few words about our women, who, as everybody knows,
are now emancipated. Not from working twice as hard, it’s true,
but from religious marriage, from the yoke of social contempt, and
from cruel mothers-in-law. Just think, though—have we not
wished upon them something worse than Kabanikha* if women
who behave as though their bodies and their personal feelings are
indeed their own are to be condemned as criminals and traitors?
Did not the whole of world literature (before Stalin) rapturously
proclaim that love could not be contained by national boundaries?
By the will of generals and diplomats? But once again we have
adopted Stalin’s yardstick: except as decreed by the Supreme So-
viet, thou shalt not mate! Your body is, first and foremost, the
property of the Fatherland.

Before we go any further, how old were these women when they
closed with the enemy in bed instead of in battle? Certainly under
thirty, and often no more than twenty-five. Which means that
from their first childhood impression onward they had been edu-
ca‘lted after the October Revolution, been brought up in Soviet
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schools and on Soviet ideology! So that our anger was for the work
of our own hands? Some of these girls had taken to heart what we
had tirelessly dinned into them for fifteen years on end—that there
is no such thing as one’s own country, that the Fatherland is a
reactionary fiction. Others had grown a little bored with our
puritanical Lenten fare of meetings, conferences, and demonstra-
tions, of films without kisses and dancing at arm’s length. Yet
others wére won by politeness, by gallantry, by male attention to
the niceties of dress and appearance and to the ritual of courtship,
in which no one had trained the young men of our Five-Year Plan
epoch, or the officers of Frunze’s army. Others again were simply
hungry—yes, hungry in the most primitive sense: they had noth-
ing to put in their bellies. And perhaps there was a fifth group,
who saw no other way of saving themselves and their relatives, of
avoiding separation from their families.

In the town of Starodub, in Bryansk Province, where I arrived
hot on the heels of the retreating enemy, I was told that a Hun-
garian garrison had been stationed there for a long time, to protect
the town from partisan raids. Orders came transferring them else-
where, and dozens of local women, abandoning all shame, went
to the station and wept as they said goodbye to the occupying
troops—wept more loudly, added a sarcastic shoemaker, than
“when they had seen their own husbands off to the war.”

‘The military tribunal reached Starodub some days later. It
would hardly fail to act on information received. It doubtless sent
some of the weeping women of Starodub to Mine No. 2 at Vor-
kuta. ’

But who is really to blame for all this? Who? I ask you. Those
women? Or—fellow countrymen, contemporaries—we ourselves,
all of us? What was it in us that made the occupying troops much
more attractive to our women? Was this not one of the innumera-
ble penalties which we are continually paying, and will be paying
for a long time yet, for the path we so hastily chose and have so
stumblingly followed, with never a look back at our losses, never
a cautious look ahead?

Perhaps all these women and girls deserved moral censure
(though they, too, should have been given a hearing), perhaps they
deserved searing ridicule—but to be sent to katorga? to the polar
death house?

“Well, it was Stalin who sent them there! And Berial”

I’'m sorry, but it wasn’t! Those who sent them there, kept them
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there, did them to death, now sit with other pensioners on social
service councils, looking out for any lowering of moral standards.
And the rest of us? We hear the words “German bedstraw” and
nodiin agreement. The fact that to this day we consider all these
women guilty is much more dangerous for us than that they were
once inside.

“All right, then, but the men at least were in for good reasons?
They were traitors to their country, and to their class.”

Here, too, we could prevaricate. We might recall (it would be
quiée true) that the worst criminals did not of course sit still and
wait for our tribunals and-the gallows. They made for the West
as fast as they could, and many of them got away. While our
pul}‘itive organs reached their target figures by including people
innocent as lambs (denunciations by neighbors were a great help
herF). So-and-so had Germans billeted in his apartment—what
made them take a liking to him? Somebody else carried hay for
the/Germans on his sledge—a straightforward case of collabora-
tion with the enemy.*

j‘le could then play the thing down, put all the blame on the
Stalin cult again: there were excesses, now they have been cor-
rected. All quite normal.

But since we have begun, let us go on.

arhat about the schoolteachers? Those whom our army in its
panicky recoil abandoned with their schools, and pupils, for a
year. For two years, or even for three. The quartermasters had
been stupid, the generals no good—so what must the teachers do
now? Teach their children or not teach them? And what were the
kids to do—not kids of fifteen, who could earn a wage, or join the
partisans, but the little kids? Learn their lessons, or live like sheep
foq‘ two or three years to atone for the Supreme Commander’s
mistakes? If daddy doesn’t give you a cap you let your ears freeze
—is that it?

or some reason no such question ever arose either in Denmark
or in Norway or in Belgium or in France. In those countries it was
not felt that a people placed under German rule by its own foolish
government or by force of overwhelming circumstances must
thereupon stop living altogether. In those countries schools went
on; working, as did railways and local government.

4. To be fair, we should not forget that from 1946 such people were sometimes regraded
xm* their twenty years of karorga commuted to ten years of corrective labor.
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Somebody’s brains (theirs, of course!) are 180 degrees out of
true. Because in our country teachers received anonymous letters
from the partisans: “Don’t dare teach! You will be made to pay
for it!” Working on the railways also became collaboration with
the enemy. As for participation in local administration—that was
treason, unprecedented in its enormity.

Everybody knows that a child who once drops out of school
may never return to it. Just because the greatest strategic genius
of all times and all nations had made a blooper, was the grass to
wither till he righted it or could it keep growing? Should children
be taught in the meantime, or shouldn’t they?

Of course, a price would have to be paid. Pictures of the big
mustache would have to be taken out of school, and pictures of
the little mustache perhaps brought in. The children would gather
round the tree at Christmas instead of New Year’s, and at this
ceremony (as also on some imperial anniversary substituted for
that of the October Revolution) the headmaster would have to
deliver a speech in praise of the splendid new life, however bad
things really were. But similar speeches had been made in the past
—and life had been just as bad then.

Or rather, you had to be more of a hypocrite before, had to tell
the children many more lies—because the lies had had time to
mature, and to permeate the syllabus in versions painstakingly
elaborated by experts on teaching technique and by school inspec-
tors. In every lesson, whether it was pertinent or not, whether you
were studying the anatomy of worms or the use of conjunctions
in complex sentences, you were required to take a kick at God
(even if you yourself believed in Him); you could not omit singing
the praises of our boundless freedom (even if you had lain awake
expecting a knock in the night); whether you were reading Tur-
genev to the class or tracing the course of the Dnieper with your
ruler, you had to anathematize the poverty-stricken past and
hymn our present plenty (though long before the war you and the
children had watched whole villages dying of hunger, and in the
towns a child’s ration had been 300 grams).

None of this was considered a sin against the truth, against the
soul of the child, or against the Holy Ghost.,

‘Whereas now, under the temporary and still unsettled cccupa-
tion regime, far fewer lies had to be told—but they stood the old
ones on their heads, that was the trouble! So it was that the voice
of the Fatherland, and the pencil of the underground Party Com-



The Doomed | 15

mittee, forbade you to teach children their native language, geog-
raphy, arithmetic, and science. Twenty years of katorga for work
of that sort!

Fellow countrymen, nod your heads in agreement! There they
go, guards with dogs alongside, marching to the barracks with
their night pails. Stone them—they taught your children.

But my fellow countrymen (particularly former members of
specially privileged government departments, retired on pension
at forty-five) advance on me with raised fists: Who is it that I am
defending? Those who served the Germans as burgomasters? As
village headmen? As Polizei? As interpreters? All kinds of filth
and scum?

Well, let us go a little deeper. We have done far too much
damage by looking at people as entries in a table. Whether we like
it or not, the future will force us to reflect on the reasons for their
behavior.

When they started playing and singing “Let Noble Rage”—
what spine did not tingle? Our natural patriotism, long banned,
howled down, under fire, anathematized, was suddenly permitted,
encouraged, praised as sacred—what Russian heart did not leap
up, swell with grateful longing for unity. How could we, with our
natural magnanimity, help forgiving in spite of everything the
native butchers as the foreign butchers drew near? Later, the need
to drown half-conscious misgivings about our impulsive generos-
ity made us all the more unanimous and violent in cursing the
traltors—people plainly worse than ourselves, people incapable of
forg:venm

Russia has stood for eleven centuries, known many foes, waged
many wars. But—have there been many traitors in Russia? Did
traitors ever leave the country in crowds? I think not. I do not
thmk that even their foes ever accused the Russians of bemg
traitors, turncoats, renegades, though they lived under-a regime
inimical to ordinary working people.

[Then came the most righteous war in our history, to a country
with a supremely just social order—and tens and hundreds of
thousands of our people stood revealed as traitors.

‘Where did they all come from? And why?

‘Perhaps the unextinguished embers of the Civil War had flared
up again? Perhaps these were Whites who had not escaped exter-
mination? No! I have mentioned before that many White émigrés
(including the thrice-accursed Denikin) took sides with the Soviet
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Union and against Hitler. They had freedom of choice—and that
is what they chose.’

These tens and hundreds of thousands—Polizei and execution-
ers, headmen and interpreters—were all ordinary Soviet citizens.
And there were many young people among them, who had grown
up since the Revolution.

What 'made them do it? . . . What sort of people were they?

For the most part, people who had fallen, themselves and their
families, under the caterpillar tracks of the twenties and thirties.
People who had lost parents, relatives, loved ones in the turbid
streams of our sewage system. Or who themselves had time and
again sunk and struggled to the surface in camps and places of
banishment. People who knew well enough what it was to stand
with feet numb and frostbitten in the queue at the parcels window.
People who in those cruel decades had found themselves severed,
brutally cut off from the most precious thing on earth, the land
itself—though it had been promised to them, incidentally, by the
great Decree of 1917, and though they had been called upon to
shed their blood for it in the Civil War. (Quite another matter are
the country residences bought and bequeathed by Soviet officers,
the fenced-in manorial domains outside Moscow: that’s ours, so
it’s all right.) Then some people had been seized for snipping ears
of wheat or rye. And some deprived of the right to live where they
wished. Or the right to follow a long-practiced and well-loved
trade (no one now remembers how fanatically we persecuted
craftsmen).

All such people are spoken of nowadays (especially by profes-
sional agitators and the proletarian vigilantes of Oktyabr*) with
a contemptuous compression of the lips: “people with a grudge
against the Soviet state,” “formerly repressed persons,” “sons of
the former kulak class,” “people secretly harboring black resent-
ment of the Soviet power.”

One says it—and another nods his head. As though it explained
anything. As though the people’s state had the right to offend its
citizens. As though this were the essential defect, the root of the
evil: “people with a grudge,” “secretly resentful”. . .

And no one cries out: How can you! Damn your insolence! Do

S. They had not sipped with us the bitter cup of the thirties, and from a distance, from

Europe, it was easy for them to be enthralled by the great patriotic feat of the Russian
people, and overlook the twelve years of internal genocide.
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you or do you not hold that being determines consciousness? Or
only when it suits you? And when it doesn’t suit you does it cease
to be true?

Then again, some of us are very good at saying—and-a shadow
flits over our faces—*“Well, yes, certain errors were committed.”
Always the same disingenuously innocent, impersonal form:
“were committed”—only nobody knows by whom. You might
almbost think that it was by ordinary workers, by men who shift
heavy loads, by collective farmers. Nobody has the courage to say:
“The Party committed them! Our irremovable and irresponsible
leaders committed them!” Yet by whom, except those who had
power, could such errors be “‘committed”? Lump all the blame on
Stalin? Have you no sense of humor? If Stalin committed all these
errors—where were you at the time, you ruling millions?

In any case, even these mistakes have faded in our eyes to a dim,
shapeless blur, and they are no longer regarded as the result of
stupidity, fanaticism, and malice; they are all subsumed in the only
mistake acknowledged—that Communists jailed Communists. If
15 to 17 million peasants were ruined, sent off for destruction,
scattered about the country without the right to remember their
parents or mention them by name—that was apparently no mis-
take. And all the tributary streams of the sewage system surveyed
at the beginning of this book were also, it seems, no mistake. That
they were utterly unprepared for war with Hitler, emptily vain-
glorious, that they retreated shamefully, changing their slogans as
they ran, that only Ivan fighting for Holy Russia halted the Ger-
mans on the Volga—all this turns out to be not a silly blunder,
but possibly Stalin’s greatest achievement.

In the space of two months we abandoned very nearly one-third
of our population to the enemy—including all those incompletely
destroyed families; including camps with several thousand in-
mates, who scattered as soon as their guards ran for it; including
prisons in the Ukraine and the Baltic States, where smoke still
hung in the air after the mass shooting of political prisonérs.

As long as we were strong, we smothered these unfortunates,
hounded them, denied them work, drove them from their homes,
hurried them into their graves. When our weakness was revealed,
we immediately demanded that they should- forget all the harm
done them, forget the parents and children who had died of hun-
ger in the tundra, forget the executions, forget how we ruined

them, forget our ingratitude to them, forget interrogation and
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torture at the hands of the NK VD, forget the starvation camps—
and immediately join the partisans, go underground to defend the
Homeland, with no thought for their lives. (There was no need for
us to changel And no one held out the hope that when we came
back we should treat them any differently, no longer hounding,
harassing, jailing, and shooting them.)

Given this state of affairs, should we be surprised that too many
people welcomed the arrival of the Germans? Or surprised that
there were so few who did? (The Germans could sometimes be the
instrument of justice: remember what happened to people who
had served in Soviet times as informers, the shooting of the deacon
at the Naberezhno-Nikolskaya Church in Kiev, for instance—and
there were scores of similar cases.)

And the believers? For twenty years on end, religious belief was
persecuted and churches closed down. The Germans came—and
churches began to open their doors. (Our masters lacked the nerve
to shut them again immediately after the German withdrawal.) In
Rostov-on-the-Don, for instance, the ceremonial opening of the
churches was an occasion for mass rejoicing and great crowds
gathered. Were they nonetheless supposed to curse the Germans
for this?

In Rostov again, in the first days of the war, Aleksandr Pe-
trovich M——, an engineer, was arrested and died in a cell under
interrogation. For several anxious months his wife expected to be
arrested herself. Only when the Germans came could she go to bed
with a quiet mind. “Now at least I can get some sleep!” Should
she instead have prayed for the return of her tormentors?

In May, 1943, while the Germans were in Vinnitsa, men digging
in an orchard on Podlesnaya Street (which the city soviet had
surrounded with a high fence early in 1939 and declared a “re-
stricted area under the People’s Commissariat of Defense’”) found
themselves uncovering graves which had previously escaped no-
tice because they were overgrown with luxuriant grass. They
found thirty-nine mass graves, 3.5 meters deep, 3 meters wide, 4
meters long. In each grave they found first a layer of outer gar-
ments belonging to the deceased, then bodies laid alternately head
first or feet first. The hands of all of them were tied with rope, and
they had all been shot by small-bore pistols in the back of the head.
They had evidently been executed in prison and carted out for
burial by night. Documents which had not decayed made it possi-
ble to identify people who had been sentenced to “20 years without
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the right to correspond” in 1938, Plate No. 1 is one picture of the
excavation site: inhabitdnts of Vinnitsa have come to view the
bodies or identify their relatives. There was more to come. In June
they began digging near the Orthodox cemetery, outside the Piro-
gov Hospital, and discovered another forty-two graves. Next the
G}orky Park of Culture and Rest—where, under the swings and
carrousel, the “funhouse,” the games area, and the dance floor,
fourteen more mass graves were found. Altogether, 9,439 corpses
in ninety-five graves. This was in Vinnitsa alone, and the discover-
ies were accidental. How many lie successfully hidden in other

? After viewing these corpses, were the population supposed
to rush off and join the partisans?

|Perhaps in fairness we should at least admit that if you and I
suffer when we and all we hold dear are trodden underfoot, those
we tread on feel no less pain. Perhaps in fairness we should at last
admit that those whom we seek to destroy have a right to hate us.
Or have they no such right? Are they supposed to die gratefully?

{We attribute deep-seated if not indeed congenital malice to
these Polizei, these burgomasters—but we ourselves planted their
malice in them, they were “waste products” of our making. How
does Krylenko’s dictum go? “In our eyes every crime is the prod-
uct of a particular social system!” In this case—of your system,
comrades! Don’t forget your own doctrine!

‘Let us not forget either that among those of our fellow country-
men who took up the sword against us or attacked us in words,
some were completely disinterested. No property had been taken
fr‘pm them (they had had none to begin with), they had never been
izz?pﬁsoned in the camps (nor yet had any of their kin), but they
had long ago been sickened by our whole system: its contempt for
the fate of the individual; the persécution of people for their be-
liefs; that cynical song “There’s no land where men can breathe
50 freely”; the kowtowing of the devout to the Leader; the nervous
tWitching of pencils as everyone hurries to sign up for the state

; the obligatory applause rising to an ovation! Cannot we
. reallze that these perfectly normal people could not breathe our
fetid air? (Father Fyodor Florya’s accusers asked him how he had
talk about Stalin’s foul deeds when the Rumanians were on
the spot. “How could I say anything different about you?”’ he
answered. “I only told them what I knew. I only told them what

f’ Krylenko, Za Pyat Ler (1918-1922), p. 337.
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had happened.” What we ask is something different: lie, go against
your conscience, perish—just so long as it helps us! But this, unless
I’'m mistaken, is hardly materialism.)

In September, 1941, before 1 went into the army, my wife and
I, young schoolteachers who had just started work in the settle-
ment of Morozovsk (captured by the Germans in the following
year), happened to rent lodgings on the same little yard as a
childless couple, the Bronevitskys. Nikolai Gerasimovich Brone-
vitsky, a sixty-year-old engineer, was an intellectual of Chek-
hovian appearance, very likable, quiet, and clever. When I try now
to recall his long face I imagine him with pince-nez, though he
may not have worn them at all. His wife was even quieter and
gentler than he was—a faded woman with flaxen hair close to her
head, twenty-five years younger than her husband, but not at all
young in her behavior. We were fond of them, and they probably
liked us, particularly in contrast to our grasping landlord and his
greedy family. .

In the evenings the four of us would sit on the steps of the porch.
They were quiet, warm, moonlit evenings, not as yet rent by the
rumble of planes and by exploding bombs, but anxiety about the
German advance was stealing over us like the invisible clouds
stealing over the milky sky to smother the small and defenseless
moon. Every day new trainloads of refugees stopped at the station,
on their way to Stalingrad. Refugees filled the marketplace of the
settlement with rumors, terrors, 100-ruble notes that seemed to
burn holes in their pockets, then they continued their journey.
They named towns which had surrendered, about which the Infor-
mation Bureau, afraid to tell people the truth, would keep silent
for a long time to come. (Bronevitsky spoke of these towns not as
having “surrendered” but as having been “taken.”)

We were sitting on the steps and talking. We younger people
were full of ourselves, of anxiety for the future, but we really had
nothing more intelligent to say about it than what was written in
the newspapers. We were at ease with the Bronevitskys: we said
whatever we thought without noticing the discrepancies between
our way of looking at things and theirs.

For their part, they probably saw in us two surprising examples
of naively enthusiastic youth. We had just lived through the thir-
ties—and we might as well not have been alive in that decade at
all. They asked what we remembered best about 1938 and 1939.
What do you think we said? The university library, examinations,
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the fun we had on sporting trips, dances, amateur concerts, and
of course love affairs—we were at the age for love. But hadn’t any
of our professors been put away at that time? Yes, we supposed
that two or three of them had been. Their places were taken by
senior lecturers. What about students—had any of them gone
inside? We remembered that some senior students had indeed been
jailed. And what did you make of it? Nothing; we carried on
dancing. And no one near to you was—er—touched? No; no one.

It is a terrible thing, and I want to recall it with absolute
precision. It is all the more terrible because I was not one of the
young sporting and dancing set, nor one of those obsessive people
buried in books and formulae. I was keenly interested in politics
from the age of ten; even as a callow adolescent I did not believe
Vyshinsky and was staggered by the fraudulence of the famous
trials—but nothing led me to draw the line connecting those min-
ute Moscow trials (which seemed so tremendous at the time) with
the huge crushing wheel rolling through the land (the number of
its victims somehow escaped notice). I had spent my childhood in
queues—for bread, for milk, for meal (meat was a thing unknown
at that time)—but I could not make the connection between the
lack of bread and the ruin of the countryside, or understand why
it had happened. We were provided with another formula: “tem-
porary difficulties.” Every night, in the large town where we lived,
hour after hour after hour people were being hauled off to jail—
but I did not walk the streets at night. And in the daytime the
families of those arrested hung out no black flags, nor did my
classmates say a word about their fathers being taken away.

According to the newspapers there wasn’t a cloud in the sky.

And young men are so eager to believe that all is well.

I understand now how dangerous it was for the Bronevitskys
to tell us anything. But he gave us just a peep into his past, this
old engineer who had got in the way of one-of the OGPU’s*
cruelest blows. He had lost his health in prison, been pulled in a
time or two, got to know quite a few camps, but he talked with
blazing passion only about Dzhezkazgan in its early days—about
the water poisoned by copper; about the poisoned air; about the
murders; about the futility of complaints to Moscow. The very
word Dzhez-kaz-gan made your flesh creep—like steel wool
rubbed on the skm, or like the tales of its pitiless ways. (And yet

. did this Dzhezkazgan have the slightest effect on our way of
lookmg at the world? Of course not. It was not very near. It was'
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not happening to us. You have to experience it for yourself. It is
better not to think about it. Better to forget.)

There in Dzhezkazgan, when Bronevitsky was allowed outside
the guarded area, his present wife, then a mere girl, had come to
him, and they had been married with the barbed wire for witness.
When war broke out they were, by some miracle, at liberty in
Morozovsk, with black marks in their passports, of course. He was
working in some wretched construction agency, and she was a
bookkeeper.

I went off to the army, and my wife left Morozovsk. The settle-
ment came under German occupation. Then it was liberated. And
one day my wife wrote to me at the front: “Can you imagine it
—they say that Bronevitsky acted as burgomaster for the Ger-
mans while they were in Morozovsk. How disgusting!” I was just
as shocked. “Filthy thing to do!” I thought.

But a few more years went by. Lying on the sleeping platform
in some dark jail and turning things over in my mind, I remem-
bered Bronevitsky. And I was no longer so schoolboyishly self-
righteous. They had unjustly taken his job from him, given him
work that was beneath him, locked him up, tortured him, beaten
him, starved him, spat in his face—what was he supposed to do?
He was supposed to believe that all this was the price of progress,
and that-his own life, physical and spiritual, the lives of those dear
to him, the anguished lives of our whole people, were of no signifi-
cance.

Through the smoke screen of the personality cult, thin and
ineffectual as it is, through the intervening layers of time in which
we have changed, each of which has its own sharp angle of refrac-
tion, we see neither ourselves nor the thirties in true perspective
and true shape. Idolization of Stalin, boundless and unquestioning
faith, were not characteristic of the whole people, but only of the
Party and the Komsomol; of urban youth in schools and universi-
ties; of ersatz intellectuals (a surrogate for those who had been
destroyed or dispersed); and to some extent of the urban petty
bourgeoisie (the working class)’—their loudspeakers were never
switched off from the morning chimes of the Spassky belfry to the
playing of the Internationale at midnight, and for them the voice
of the radio announcer Levitan* became:the voice of conscience.

7. It was in the thirties that the working class merged completely with the petty bourgeoi-
sie, and became its main constituent part.
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(I say “to some extent” because labor legislation like the “twenty
minutes late” decree and the tying of the workers to their factories
enlisted no supporters.) All the same, there was an urban minor-
ity, and not such a small one, numbering at the least several
millions, who pulled out the radio plug in disgust whenever they
dared. On every page of every newspaper they saw merely a
spreading stain of lies, and polling day for these millions was a day
of suffering and humiliation. For this minority the dictatorship
existing in our country was neither proletarian nor national in
character, nor yet (for those who recalled the original sense of the
word) Soviet, but the dictatorship of another minority, a usurping
minority, which was very far from being a spiritual elite.
Mankind is almost incapable of dispassionate, unemotional
thinking. In something which he has recognized as evil man can
seldom force himself to see also what is good. Not everything in
our lives was foul, not every word in the papers was false, but the
minority, downtrodden, bullied, beset by stool pigeons, saw life in
our country as an abomination from top to bottom, saw every page
in the newspapers as one long lie. Let us recall that in those days
there were no Western broadcasts it Russian (and the number of
private radio sets was inconsiderable), so that a citizen could
obtain information only from our newspapers and the official
radio, in which Bronevitsky and his like expected:from experience
to find only cowardly suppression of facts ora.vexatious tangle of
lies. Everything that was written about other countries, about the
inevitable collapse of the West in 1930, about the treachery of
Western socialists, about the passionate hostility of all Spain to
Franco (or in 1942 about Nehru’s treasonable aspiration to free-
dom in India—which of course weakened our ally the British
Empire), all this proved to be nothing but lies. The maddeningly
monotonous, hate-filled propaganda conducted on the principle
that “he who is not for us is against us” had never drawn distinc- -
tions between the attitudes of Mariya Spiridonova and Nicholas
II, those of Léon Blum and Hitler, those of the British Parliament
and the Gérman Reichstag. So when Bronevitsky read apparently
fantastic stories about bonfires of books in German squares, and
the resurrection of some sort of ancient Teutonic savagery (we
must not forget that Tsarist propaganda during the First World
War had also told a few fibs about Teuton savagery), how could
he be expected to distinguish them from all the rest, single them
out as true, recognize in German Nazism (reviled in almost the
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same—inordinate—terms as Poincaré, Pilsudski, and the British
conservatives earlier) a quadruped as dangerous as that which in
reality and in the flesh had for a quarter of a century past been
squeezing the life out of him, poisoning his existence, clawing him
till he bled, and with him the whole Archipelago, the Russian
town, the Russian village? Then the newspapers were forever
changing their minds about the Hitlerites: at first it was friendly
encounters between nice sentries in nasty Poland, and the newspa-
pers were awash with sympathy for the valiant warriors standing
up to French and English bankers, and Hitler’s speeches, verba-
tim, filled a page of Pravda at a time; then one morning (the
second morning of the war) an explosion of headlines—all Europe
was piteously groaning under the Nazi heel. This only confirmed
that newspaper lies changed -as the wind shifted, and could do
nothing to persuade Bronevitsky that other butchers on this earth
were a match for ours, about whom he knew the truth. If someone
had tried to convince him by putting BBC bulletins before him
daily, he might at most have been made to believe that Hitler was
a secondary danger to Russia but certainly not, while Stalin lived,
the greatest. As it was, the BBC provided no bulletins; the Soviet
Information Bureau from the day it was born commanded no
more credit than Tass; the rumors carried by evacuees were not
firsthand information (from Germany or from the occupied areas
no living witness had yet appeared). What he did know at first
hand was the camp at Dzhezkazgan, and 1937, and the famine of
1932, and “dekulakization,” and the destruction of the churches.
So that as the German army approached, Bronevitsky (and tens
of thousands of lonely individuals like him) felt that their hour was
drawing near—the hour which they had ceased to hope for twenty
years ago, which is given to a man only once, then lost forever,
since our lives are so short measured against the slow pace of
historical change—the hour in which he can repudiate what has
befallen, what has been visited upon, flogged, and trampled into
his people, serve in some way still obscure his agonized country,
help to revive some sort of public life in Russia. Yes, Bronevitsky
had remembered everything and forgiven nothing. He could never
accept as his own a regime which had thrashed Russia unmerci-
fully, brought it to collectivized beggary, to moral degeneracy, and
now to a stunning military defeat. He choked with anger as he
looked at naive creatures like me, like us, for it was beyond his
power to convert us. He was waiting for someone, anyone, to take
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power in place of Stalin! (The well-known psychological phe-
nomenon of reaction to extremes: anything rather than the
nauseous reality we know! Can we -imagine, anywhere 'in the
world, anyone worse than our rulers? Incidentally, this was in
the Don region—where half the population were just as ea-
gerly awaiting the Germans.) So then Bronevitsky, who had ~
been an apolitical being all his life, resolved in his seventh dec-
ade to make a political move.

He consented to head the Morozovsk municipal authority. . . .

There, I think, he must quickly have seen what a silly situation
he had landed himself in, seen that for the new arrivals Russia was
even more insignificant and detestable than for those who had
gone away—that the vampire needed only Russia’s vital fluids,
and that the body could wither and perish. The new burgomaster’s
task was to be in charge not of public-spirited Russians, but of
auxiliaries to the German police. But he was fastened to the axle
and now, like it or not, he could only spin. Having freed himself
from one lot of butchers, he must help another. The patriotic idea,
which he had thought of as diametrically opposed to the Soviet
idea, he suddenly saw fused with it: in some incomprehensible
fashion patriotism had slipped away like water through a sieve
from the minority who had preserved it, and passed to the major-
ity; it was forgotten how people had been shot for patriotism, how
it had been ridiculed, and now it was the main stem of someone
else’s tree.

He, and others like him, must have felt trapped and terrified:
the crack had narrowed and the only way out led to death or to
katorga.

Of course, they were not all Bronevitskys. Of course, many
birds of prey greedy for power and blood had flocked to that brief
feast in time of plague. But their like will flock wherever there are
pickings. They were very much at home in the NKVD, too. Such
a one was Mamulov, or Antonov at Dudinsk, or Poisui-Shapka—
can anyone imagine fouler butchers? (See Volume II.) Yet they
lorded it for decades and bled the people dry a hundred times over.
We shall shortly meet Warder Tkach—one of those who managed
to fit into both contexts.

We have been talking about the towns, but we should not forget
the countryside. Liberals nowadays commonly reproach the vil-
lage with its political obtuseness and conservatism. But before the
war the village to a man, or overwhelmingly, was sober, much
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more sober than the town: it took no part at all in the deification
of Daddy Stalin (and needless to say had no time for world revolu-
tion either). The village was, quite simply, sane and remembered
clearly how it had been promised land, then robbed of it; how it
had lived, eaten, and dressed before and after collectivization; how
calves, ewes, and even hens had been taken away from the peas-
ant’s yard; how churches had been desecrated and defiled. Even
in 1941 the radio’s nasal bray was not yet heard in peasant huts,
and not every village had even one person able to read the newspa-
pers, so that to the Russian countryside all those Chang Tso-lins,

MacDonalds, and Hitlers were indistinguishably strange and
meaningless lay figures.

» In a village in Ryazan Province on July 3, 1941, peasants gath-
ered near the smithy were listening to Stalin’s speech relayed by
a loudspeaker. The man of iron, hitherto unmoved by the tears of
Russian peasants, was now a bewildered old gaffer almost in tears
himself, and as soon as he blurted out his humbugging “Brothers
and Sisters,” one of the peasants answered the black paper mouth-
piece. “This is what you want, you bastard,” and he made in the
direction of the loudspeaker a rude gesture much favored by Rus-
sians: one hand grips the opposite elbow, and the forearm rises and
falls in a pumping motion.

The peasants all roared with laughter.

If we questioned eyewitnesses in every village, we should learn
of ten thousand such incidents, some still more pungent.

Such was the mpod of the Russian village at the beginning of
the war—the mood, then, of the reservists drinking the last half-
liter and dancing in the dust with their kinsmen while they waited
at some wayside halt for a train. On top of all this came a defeat
without precedent in Russian memories, as vast rural areas
stretching to the outskirts of both capitals and to the Volga, as
many millions of peasants, slipped from under kolkhoz rule, and
—why go on lying and prettifying history?—it turned out that the
republics only wanted independence, the village only wanted free-
dom from the kolkhoz! The workers freedom from feudal decrees!
If the newcomers had not been so hopelessly arrogant and stupid,
if they had not preserved the bureaucratic kolkhoz administration
for Great Germany’s convenience, if they had not conceived the
obscene idea of turning Russia into a colony, the patriotic cause
would not have devolved on those who had always tried to
smother it, and we should hardly have been called upon to cele-
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brate the twenty-fifth anniversary of Russian Communism.
(Somebody, someday, will have to tell us how the peasants in
occupied areas never joined the partisan movement of their own
free will, and how to begin with they took up arms against the
partisans rather than hand over their grain and cattle.)

Do you remember the great exodus from the Northern Cauca-
sus in January, 1943—and can you think of any analogy in world
history? A civilian population, and a peasant population at that,
leaving with a defeated enemy, with an alien army, rather than
stay behind with the victors, their fellow countrymen—the wagon
trains rolling as far as the eye could see through the fierce, icy
January winds!

Here, too, lie the social roots of those hundreds of thousands
of volunteers who, monster though Hitler was, were desperate
enough to don enemy uniform. The time has come for us to give
our views on the Vlasov movement* once again. In the first part
of this book the reader was not yet prepared for the whole truth
(nor am I in possession of the whole truth; special studies will be
written on the subject, which is for me of secondary importance).
There at the beginning, before the reader had traveled the high-
roads and byroads of the camp world with me, he was merely
alerted, invited to think. Now, after all those prison transports,
transit jails, lumber gangs, and camp middens, perhaps the reader
will be a little more open to persuasion. In Part I, I spoke of those
Vlasovites who took up arms in desperation, because they were
starving in camps, because their position seemed hopeless. (Yet
even here there is room for reflection: the Germans began by using
Russian prisoners of war only for nonmilitary tasks in the rear, in
support of their own troops, and this, you might think,~was the
best solution for those who only wanted to save their skins—so
why did they take up arms and confront the Red Army head on?)
But now, since further postponement is impossible, should I not
also talk about those who even before 1941 had only one dream
—to take up arms and blaze away at those Red commissars,
Chekists,* and collectivizers? Remember Lenin’s words: “An op-
pressed class which did not aspire to possess arms and learn how
to handle them would deserve only to be treated as slaves”
(Fourth Edition, Volume 23, page 85). There is, then, reason to
be proud if the Soviet-German war showed that we are not such
slaves as all those studies by liberal historians contemptuously
make us out to be. There was nothing slavish about those who
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reached for their sabers to cut off Daddy Stalin’s head (nor about

those on the other side, who straightened their backs for the first

time when they put on Red Army greatcoats—in a strange brief
interval of freedom which no student of society could have fore-
seen).

These people, who had experienced on their own hides twenty-
four years of Communist happiness, knew by 1941 what as yet no
one else in the world knew: that nowhere on the planet, nowhere
in history, was there a regime more vicious, more bloodthirsty,
and at the same time more cunning and ingenious than the Bol-
shevik, the self-styled Soviet regime. That no other regime on
earth could compare with it either in the number of those it had
done to death, in hardiness, in the range of its ambitions, in its
thoroughgoing and unmitigated totalitarianism—no, not even the
regime of its pupil Hitler, which at that time blinded Western eyes
to all else. Came the time when weapons were put in the hands
of these people, should they have curbed their passions, allowed
Bolshevism to outlive itself, steeled themselves to cruel oppression
again—and only then begun the struggle with it (a struggle which
has still hardly started anywhere in the world)? No, the natural
thing was to copy the methods of Bolshevism itself: it had eaten
into the body of a Russia sapped by the First World War, and it
must be defeated at a similar moment in the Second.

Our unwillingness to fight had already shown itself in the Sovi-
et-Finnish war of 1939. V. G. Bazhanov, formerly Secretary of the
Politburo and Orgburo of the CPSU(b)* and Stalin’s close assist-
ant, tried to exploit this mood: to turn captured Red Army men
against the Soviet lines under the command of Russian émigré
officers—not to fight their compatriots but to convert them. The
attempt was abruptly terminated by the sudden capitulation of
Finland.

When the Soviet-German war began, ten years after the slaugh-
terous collectivization, eight years after the great Ukrainian fam-
ine (six million dead, unnoticed by neighboring Europe), four
years after the devil’s dance of the NKVD, one year after the
workers were shackled to the new labor laws—and all this when
there were 15 million in camps about the country, and while the
older generation all clearly remembered what life was like before
the Revolution—the natural impulse of the people was to take a
deep breath and liberate itself, its natural feeling one of loathing
for its rulers. “Caught us unawares”; “numerical superiority in
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aircraft and tanks” (in fact, all-round numerical superiority was
enjoyed by the Red Army)—it was not this that enabled the enemy
to close so easily those disastrous salients, taking 300,000 armed
men at a time (Bialystok, Smolensk), or 650,000 (Bryansk, Kiev);
not this that caused whole fronts to cave in, and rolled our armies
back farther and faster than anything Russia had seen in all its one
thousand years, or, probably, any other country in any other war
—not this, but the instant paralysis of a paltry regime whose
subjects recoiled from it as from a hanging corpse. (The raikoms
and gorkoms* were blown away in five minutes, and Stalin was
gasping for breath.) In 1941 this upheaval might have run its full
course (by December, 60 million Soviet people out of a population
of 150 millions were no longer in Stalin’s power). The alarmist
note in Stalin’s Order No. 0019, July 16, 1941, was justified. “On
all [1] fronts there are numerous [[] elements who even run to meet
the enemy [1], and throw down their arms at the first contact with
him.” (In the Bialystok salient in July, 1941, among 340,000
prisoners there were 20,000 deserters.) Stalin thought the situation
80 desperate that in October, 1941, he sent a telegram to Churchill
suggesting that twenty-five to thirty British divisions be landed on
Soviet territory. What Communist has ever suffered a more com-
plete moral collapse! This was the mood of the time: on August
22, 1941, the commanding officer of the 436th Light Infantry
Regiment, Major Kononov, told his regiment to their faces that
he was going over to the Germans, to join the “Liberation Army”
for the overthrow of Stalin, and invited all who wished to go with
him. Not only did he meet with no opposition—the whole regiment
followed him! Only three weeks later Kononov had created a
regiment of Cossack volunteers behind the enemy lines (he was a
Don Cossack himself). When he arrived at the prisoner-of-war
camp near Mogilev to enlist volunteers, 4,000 of the 5,000 prison-
ers there declared their readiness to join him, but he could not take
them all. In the same year, half the Soviet prisoners of war in the
camp near Tilsit—12,000 men—signed a declaration that the time
had come to convert the war into a civil war. We have not forgot-
ten how the whole population of Lokot-Bryansky, before the ar-
rival of the Germans and independently of them, joined in the
creation of an autonomous Russian local administration over a
large and flourishing province, with eight districts, and more than
a million inhabitants. The demands of the Lokot-Bryansky com-
munity were quite precise: a Russian national government to be
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established, Russians to administer themselves in all the occupied
provinces, Russia to be declared independent within its 1938 fron-
tiers, a “Liberation Army” to be formed under Russian command.
Or again, a group of young people in Leningrad numbering more
than 1,000 (led by the student Rutchenko) went out in the woods
near Gatchina to await the Germans and fight against the Stalin
regime. (The Germans, however, sent them behind the lines to
work as drivers and kitchen orderlies.) The Germans were met
with bread and salt in the villages on the Don. The pre-1941
population of the Soviet Union naturally imagined that the com-
ing of a foreign army meant the overthrow of the Communist
regime—otherwise it could have no meaning for us at all. People
expected a political program which would liberate them from
Bolshevism.

From where we were, separated from them by the wilderness
of Soviet propaganda, by the dense mass of Hitler’s army—how
could we readily believe that the Western allies had entered this
war not for the sake of freedom in general, but for their own
Western European freedom, only against Nazism, intending to
take full advantage of the Soviet armies and leave it at that? Was
it not more natural for us to believe that our allies were true to
the very principle of freedom and that they would not abandon us
to a worse tyranny? . . . True, these were the same allies for whom
Russians had died in the First World War, and who then, too, had
abandoned our army in the moment of collapse, hastening back
to their comforts. But this was a lesson too cruel for the heart to
learn.

Having rightly taught ourselves to disbelieve Soviet propa-
ganda, whatever it said, we naturally did not believe tall stories
about the Nazis’ wishing to make Russia a colony and ourselves
German slaves; who would expect to find such foolishness in
twentieth-century heads, unless he had experienced its effects for
himself? Even in 1942 the Russian formation in Osintorf attracted
more volunteers than a unit still not fully deployed could absorb,
while in the Smolensk region and Byelorussia, a volunteer “peo-
ple’s militia” 100,000 strong was formed for purposes of self-
defense against the partisans directed from Moscow (the Germans
took fright and banned it). As late as spring, 1943, on his two
propaganda tours in the Smolensk and Pskov regions, Vlasov was
greeted with enthusiasm wherever he went. Even then, the popula-
tion was still waiting and wondering when we should have our
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own independent government and our own army. I have testi-
mony from the Pozherevitsky district of the Pskov oblast about
the friendly attitude of the peasant population to the Vlasov unit
there—which refrained from looting and brawling, wore the old
Russian uniform, helped with the harvest, and was regarded as a
Russian"organ of authority opposed to kolkhozes. Volunteers
from among the civilian population came to sign on (just as they
did in Lokot-Bryansky with Voskoboinikov’s unit}—and we are
bound to wonder what made them do so. It was not as though they
were getting out of a POW camp. In fact, the Germans several
times forbade Vlasovites to take in reinforcements (let them sign
on with the Polizei). As late as March, 1943, prisoners of war in
a camp near Kharkov read leaflets about the Vlasov movement (so
called) and 730 officers signed an application to join the “Russian
Liberation Army”; they had the experience of two years of war
behind them, many were heroes of the battle for Stalingrad, their
number included divisional commanders and regimental commis-
sars—moreover, the camp was very well fed, and it was not the
desperation of hunger that induced them to sign. (The Germans,
however, behaved with typical stupidity; of the 730 who signed,
722 had still not been released from the camp and given a chance -
to act when the war ended.) Even in 1943 tens of thousands of
refugees from the Soviet provinces trailed along behind the re-
treating German army—anything was better than remaining
under Communism.

I will go so far as to say that our folk would have been worth
nothing at all, a nation of abject slaves, if it had gone through that
war without brandishing a rifle at Stalin’s government even from
afar, if it had missed its chance to shake its fist and fling a ripe oath
at the Father of the Peoples. The Germans had their generals’ plot
—but what did we have? Our generals were (and remain to this
day) nonentities, corrupted by Party ideology and greed, and have
not preserved in their own persons the spirit of the nation, as
happens in other countries. So that those who raised their hands
and struck were almost to a man from the lowest levels of society
—the number of former gentry émigrés, former members of the
wealthier strata, and intellectuals taking part was microscopically
small. If this movement had been allowed to develop unhindered,
to flow with the same force as in the first weeks of the war, it would
have been like a second Pugachev rising*— resemblihg the first in
the numbers and social level of those swept in its train, in the
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weight of popular support, in the part played by the Cossacks, in
spirit (its determination to settle accounts with evildoers in high
places), in the contrast between its elemental force and the weak-
ness of its leadership. However this may be, it was very much more
a movement of the people, the common people, than the whole
“liberation movement” of the intelligentsia from the beginning of
the twentieth century right up to February, 1917, with its pseudo-
popular aims and its harvest in October. It was not, however,
destined to run its course, but to perish ignominiously, stigmatized
as “treason to our holy Motherland™!

We have lost the taste for social analysis of events—because
such explanations are juggled around to suit the need of the mo-
ment. But what-of our friendship pact with Ribbentrop and Hit-
ler? The braggadocio of Molotov and Voroshilov before the war?
And then, the staggering incompetence, the unpreparedness, the
fumbling (and the craven flight of the government from Moscow),
the armies abandoned, half a million at a time, in the salients—
was this not betrayal of the Motherland? With more serious conse-
quences? Why do we cherish ‘these traitors so tenderly in their
apartments on Granovsky Street?

Oh, the length of it! The length of the prisoners’ bench with
seats for all those who tormented and betrayed our people, if we
could bring them all, from first to last, to account.

Awkward questions get no answers in our country. They are
passed over in silence. Instead, this is the sort of thing they yell
at us:

“It’s the principle! The very principle of the thing! Does any
Russian, to achieve his own political ends, however just they
appear to him, have the right to lean on the strong right arm of
German imperialism?! . . . And that at the moment of war to the
death?”

True enough, this is the crucial question: Ought you, for what
seem to you noble ends, to avail yourself of the support of German
imperialists at war with Russia?

Today, everyone will join in a unanimous cry of “No!”

‘What, then, of the sealed German carriage from Switzerland to
Sweden, calling on the way (as we have now learned) at Berlin?
The whole Russian press, from the Mensheviks to the Cadets,*
also cried “No!” but the Bolsheviks explained that it was permissi-
ble, that it was indeed ridiculous to reproach them with it. But this
is not the only train journey worth mentioning. How many rail-
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road cars did the Bolsheviks rush out of Russia in summer, 1918,
some carrying foodstuffs, others gold—all of them into Wilhelm’s
capacious maw! Convert the war into a civil war! This was Lenin’s
proposal before the Vlasovites thought of it.

—Yes, but his aims! Remember what his aims werel

Well, what were they? And what has become of them, those
aims?

—Yes, but really—that was Wilhelm! The Kaiser! The little
Emperor! A bit different from Hitler! And anyway, was there
really any government in Russia at the time? The Provisional
Government doesn’t count. . . .

Well, there was a time when, inflamed with martial ardor, we
never mentioned the Kaiser in print without the words “fero-
cipus” or “bloodthirsty,” and incautiously accused the Kaiser’s
soldiers of smashing the heads of babes against stones. But let’s
agree—the Kaiser was different from Hitler. The Provisional Gov-
ernment, though, was also different: it had no Cheka, shot no one
in the back of the head, imprisoned no one in camps, herded no
one into collective farms, poisoned no one’s life: the Provisional
Government was not Stalin’s government.

We must keep things in proportion.

Tt was not that someone took fright as kaforga killed off one
“alphabet” after another, but simply that with the war drawing
to an end there was no need for such a savage deterrent: no new
Polizei units could be formed, working hands were needed, and
in katorga people were dying off uselessly. So as early as 1945 huts
in katorga ceased to be prison cells, doors were opened to let in
the daylight, slop buckets were carried out to the latrines, prison-
ers were allowed to make their own way to the Medical Section
and were trotted to the mess hall at the double to keep their spirits
up. The thieves who used to filch other prisoners’ rations were
removed, and mess orderlies appointed from among the politicals
themselves.. Later on, prisoners were allowed to receive letters,
two a year.

The line between katorga and the ordinary camps became
blurred in the years 1946-1947. Unfastidious managing engineers
did not let political distinctions stand in the way of plan fulfillment
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and began (in Vorkuta at least) to transfer political offenders with
good qualifications to ordinary Camp Divisions, where nothing
but the numbers on their backs reminded them of katorga, while
rank-and-file manual laborers from Corrective Labor Camps were
shoved into katorga to fill the gaps.

In this way the thoughtless managers might have thwarted -
Stalin’s great idea of resurrecting katorga—except that in 1948 a
new idea came to him just in time, that of dividing the natives of
Gulag into distinct groups, separating the socially acceptable
thieves and delinquents from the socially irredeemable 58’s.

All this was part of a still greater concept, the Reinforcement
of the Home Front (it is obvious from the choice of words that
Stalin was preparing for war in the-near future). Special Camps®
were set up with a special regime, slightly milder than that of the
katorga earlier on, but harsher than that of the ordinary camps.

To distinguish them from other camps, fantastic poetical titles
were invented for them instead of ordinary geographical names.
Such new creations included Gorlag* at Norilsk, Berlag on the
Kolyma, Minlag on the Inta, Rechlag on the Pechora, Dubroviag
at Potma, Ozerlag at Taishet, Steplag, Peschanlag, and Luglag in
Kazakhstan, Kamyshlag in Kemerovo Province.

Dark rumors crept around the Corrective Labor Camps, that
58’s would be sent to Special Extermination Camps. (It did not,
of course, enter the heads either of those carrying out the orders
or of the victims that any formal additional sentences might be
necessary.)

The Registration and Distribution and the Security Opera- =
tions sections worked furiously. Secret lists were made and
driven away somewhere for approval. Long red prisoner-tran-
sport trains were moved in, companies of brisk red-tabbed
guards* marched up with Tommy guns, dogs, and hammers,
and the enemies of the people, as their names were called,
meekly obeyed the inexorable summons to leave their cozy
huts and begin the long transit.

But not all 58’s were summoned. It was only later, comparing
notes on their acquaintances, that the prisoners realized which of
them had been left behind on Corrective Labor islands with the
minor offenders. Among them were those convicted under Article
58, Section 10, with no further charges. This covered simple Anti-

8. Cf. the Special Purpose Camps set up in 1921.
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Soviet Agitation, which meant that it was a gratuitous act, without
accomplices, and not aimed at anyone in particular. (Though it
may seem almost impossible to imagine such agitators, millions of
them were on the books, and were left behind on the older islands
of Gulag.) Agitators who had formed duets or trios, shown any
inclination to listen to ecach other, to exchange views, or to grum-
ble in chorus, had been burdened with an additional charge under
Article 58, Section 11 (on hostile groups) and, as the leaven of
anti-Soviet organizations, now went off to Special Camps. So,
needless to say, did traitors to the Motherland (58-1a and 1b),
bourgeois nationalists and separatists (58-2), agents of the interna-
tional bourgeoisie (58-4), spies (58-6), subversives (58-7), terror-
ists (58-8), wreckers (58-9), and economic saboteurs (58-14). This
was-also the most convenient place to put those prisoners of war,
German (in Minlag) or Japanese (in Ozerlag), whom it was in-
tended to detain beyond 1948.

On the other hand, noninformers (58-12) and abettors of the
enemy (58-3) in Corrective Labor Camps remained where they
were. Whereas prisoners in katorga sentenced specifically for aid-
ing and abetting the enemy now went to the Special Camps with
all the rest.

The wisdom of the separators was even harder to fathom than
appears from this description. Criteria still unexplained left in the
Corrective Labor category female traitors serving twenty-five
years (Unzhlag) and here and there whole Camp Divisions includ-
ing nothing but 58’s, Vlasovites and ex-Polizei among them. These
were not Special Camps, the prisoners wore no numbers, but the
regime was severe (Krasnaya Glinka, on the Samara bend of the
Volga, the Tuim camp, in the Shirin district of Khakassiya, and
the Southern Sakhalin camp were examples). These camps were
s0 harsh that prisoners would have been no worse off in the Special
Camps.

So that the Archipelago, once the Great Partition had been
carried out, should never again lapse into confusion, it was pro-
vided from' 1949 onward that every newly naturalized immigrant
from the world outside should have written in his prison book,
apart from his sentence, a ruling (of the State Security authorities
and the Prosecutor’s Office in the oblast) as to the type of cage in
which this particular bird should always be kept.
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Thus, like the seed that dies to produce a plant, Stalin’s katorga
grew into the Special Camp.

The red prisoner-transport trains traveled the length and
breadth of the Motherland and the Archipelago carrying the new
intake.

At Inta they had the sense simply to drive the herd out of one
gate and in through another.

Chekhov complained that we had no “legal definition of
katorga, or of its purpose.”

But that was in the enlightened mneteenth century! In the mid-
dle of the twentieth, the cave man’s century, we didn’t even feel
the need to understand and define. Old Man Stalin had decided
that it would be so—and that was all the definition necessary.

We just nodded our heads in understanding.



Chapter 2

The First Whiff of Revolution

Dismayed by the hopeless length of my sentence, stunned by my
first acquaintance with the world of Gulag, I could never have
believed at the beginning of my time there that my spirit would
recover by degrees from its dejection: that as the years went by,
I should ascend, so gradually that I was hardly aware of it myself,
to an invisible peak of the Archipelago, as though it were Mauna
Loa on Hawaii, and from there gaze serenely over distant islands
and even feel the lure of the treacherous shimmering sea between.

The middle part of my sentence I served on a goldenisle, where
prisoners were given enough to eat and drink and kept warm and
clean. In return for all this not much was required of me: just
twelve hours a day sitting at a desk and making myself agreeable:
to the bosses.

But clinging to these good things suddenly became distasteful.
I was groping for some new way to make sense of prison life.
Looking around me, I realized now how contemptible was the
advice of the special-assignment prisoner from Krasnaya Presnya:
“At all costs steer clear of general duties.”* The price we were
paying seemed disproportionately high.

Prison released in me the ability to write, and I now gave all my
time to this passion, brazenly neglecting my boring office work.
There was something I had come to value more than the butter
and sugar they gave me—standing on my own feet again.

Well, they jerked a few of us to our feet—en route to a Special_
Camp.

They took a long time getting us there—three months. (It could
be done more quickly with horses in the nineteenth century.) So

37
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long that this journey became, as it were, a distinct period in my
life, and it even seems to me that my character and outlook
changed in the course of it.

The journey was bracing, cheerful, full of good omens.

A freshening breeze buffeted our faces—the wind of katorga
and of freedom. People and incidents pressed in on every hand to
assure us that justice was on our side! on our side! on our side! not
with our judges and jailers. .

The Butyrki, our old home, greeted us with a heartrending
female shriek from a window—probably that of a solitary-confine-
ment cell. “Help! Save me! They’re killing me! They’re killing me!”
Then the cries were choked in a warder’s hands.

At the Butyrki “station” we were mixed up with raw recruits
of the 1949 intake. They all had funny sentences—not the usual
tenners, but quarters. Wheh at each of the numerous roll calls they
had to give dates of release, it sounded like a cruel joke: “October,
19741 “February, 1975!"

No one, surely, could sit out such a sentence. A man must get
hold of some pliers and cut the wire.

These twenty-five-year sentences were enough to transform the
prisoners’ world. The holders of power had bombarded us with all
they had. Now it was the prisoners’ turn to speak—to speak freely,
uninhibitedly, undeterred by threats, the words we had never
heard in our lives and which alone could enlighten and unite us.

We were sitting in a Stolypin car* at the Kazan station when
we heard from the station loudspeaker that war had broken out
in Korea. After penetrating a firm South Korean defense line to
a depth of ten kilometers on the very first day, the North Koreans
insisted that they had been attacked. Any imbecile who had been
at the front understood that the aggressors were those who had
advanced on the first day.

This war in Korea excited us even more. In our rebellious mood
we longed for the storm. The storm must break, it must, it'must,
or else we were doomed to a lingering death! . . .

Somewhere past Ryazan the red rays of the rising sun struck
with such force through the mole’s-eye windows of the prison car
that the young guard in the corridor near our grating screwed up
his eyes. Our guards might have been worse: they had crammed
us into compartments fifteen or so at a time, they fed us on
herring, but, to be fair, they also brought us water and let us out
morning and evening to relieve ourselves, so that we should have
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had no quarrel with them if this lad hadn’t unthinkingly, not
maliciously, tossed the words “‘enemies of the people” at us.

That started itl Our compartment and the next pitched into
him.

“All right, we’re enemies of the people—but why is there no
grub on the kolkhoz?”

“You’re a country boy yourself by the look of you, but I bet
you’ll sign on again—I bet you’d sooner be a dog on a chain than
go back to the plow.”

“If we’re enemies of the people, why paint the prison vans
different colors? Who are you hiding us from?”

“Listen, kid! I had two like you who never came back from the
war—and you call me an enemy of the people?”

It was a very long time since words like this had flown through
the bars of our cages! We shouted only the plainest of facts, too
self-evident to be refuted.

A sergeant serving extra time came to the aid of the flustered
youngster, but instead of hauling anyone off to the cooler, or
taking names, he tried to help his subordinate to fight back.

Here, too, we saw a faint hint that times were changing—no,
this was 1950, too soon to speak of better times; what we saw were
signs of the new relationship between prisoners and jailers created
by the new long sentences and the new political camps.

Our argument began to take on the character of a genuine
debate. The young men took a good look at us, and could no
longer bring themselves to call us, or those in the next compart-
ment, enemies of the people. They tried trotting out bits from
newspapers and from their elementary politics course, but their
ears told them before their minds could that these set phrases rang
false.

“Look for yourselves, lads! Look out the window,” was the
answer they got from us. “Look what you’ve brought Russia down
to!” .

Beyond the windows stretched a beggarly land of rotted thatch
and rickety huts and ragged folk (we were on the Ruzayev line,
by which foreigners never travel). If the Golden Horde had seen
it so befouled, they would not have bothered to conquer it.

On the quiet station at Torbeyevo an old man walked along the
platform in bast shoes. An old peasant woman stopped opposite
the lowered window of our car and stood rooted to the spot for
a long time, staring through the outer and inner.bars at us prison-
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ers tightly packed together on the top bed shelf. She stared at us
with that look on her face which our people have kept for “unfor-
tunates” throughout the ages. A few tears trickled down her
cheeks. She stood there, work-coarsened and shabby, and she
looked at us as though a son of hers lay among us. “You mustn’t
look in there, mamma,” the guard told her, but not roughly. She
didn’t even turn her head. At her side stood a little girl of ten with
white ribbons in her plaits. She looked at us very seriously, with
a sadness strange in one of her years, her little eyes wide and
unblinking. She looked at us so hard that she must have imprinted
us on her memory forever. As the train eased forward, the old
woman raised her blackened fingers and devoutly, unhurriedly
made the sign of the cross over us.

Then at another station some girl in a spotted frock, anything
but shy or timid, came right up to our window and started boldly
asking us what we were in for and for how long. “Get away,”
bellowed the guard who was pacing the platform. “Why, what will
you do? I'm the same as them! Here’s a pack of cigarettes—give
it to the lads,” and she produced them from her handbag. (We had
already realized that the girl had done time. So many of them, now
roaming around free, had received their training on the Ar-
chipelago!) The deputy guard commander jumped out of the train.
“Get awayl I’ll put you insidel” She stared scornfully at the old
sweat’s ugly mug. “You go and yourself, you ’?
“Give it to ’em, lads,” she said to encourage us. And made a
dignified departure.

So we rode on, and I don’t think the guards felt that they were
protecting the people from its enemies. On we went, more and
more inflamed with the conviction that we were right, that all
Russia was with us, that the time was at hand to abolish this
institution.

At the Kuibyshev Transit Prison, where we sunbathed (i.e.,
loafed) for more than a month, more workers came our way. The
air was suddenly rent by the sickening, hysterical yells of thieves
(they even whine in a loathsome shrill way). “Help! Get us out of
here! The Fascists are beating us! Fascists!”

Here was something new! “Fascists” beating thieves? It always
used to be the other way around.

But shortly after, there was a reshuffle of prisoners, and we
found that no miracles had happened yet. It was only the first
swallow—Pavel Boronyuk. His chest was a millstone; his gnarled
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hands were ever ready for a friendly clasp or a blow; he was dark
in complexion, aquiline, more like a Georgian than a Ukrainian.
He had been an officer at the front, had prevailed in a machine-gun
duel with three “Messerschmitts,” had been recommended for the
order of Hero of the Soviet Union and turned down by the Special
Section, had been sent to a punitive battalion and returned with
a'decoration; and now he had a tenner, which as times now were,
was hardly a “man’s sentence.”

He had sized up the thieves while he was still on his way from
the jail at Novograd-Volynsk and had fought with them before.
Now he was sitting in the next cell on the upper bed platform,
quietly playing chess. The whole cell were 58’s, but the. adminis-
tration had slipped two thieves in among them. On his way to clear
his rightful sleeping space by the window, a Belomor cigarette
dangling carelessly from his lip, Fiksaty said jokingly, “Might
have known they’d put me with gangsters again!” The naive Ve-
liev, who didn’t know much about thieves, hastened to reassure
him: “No, we’re all 58’s here. What about you?”’ “I’m an embez-
zler, I'm an educated man!” The thieves chased two men away,
slung their own sacks onto their “reserved” places, and walked
through the cell examining other people’s sacks and looking for
trouble. The 58’s—no, they hadn’t changed yet; they put up no_
resistance. Sixty grown men waited tamely for their turn to be
robbed. There is something hypnotically disarming about the im-
pudence of thieves, who never for a moment expect to meet resist-
ance. (Besides, they can always count on the support of authority.)
Boronyuk went on pretending to move his chessmen, but by now
he was rolling his eyes in fury and wondering how best to take care
of them. When one of the thieves stopped in front of him, he
swung his dangling foot and booted him in his ugly face, then
jumped down, grabbed the stout wooden lid of the sanitary
bucket, and brought it down in a stunning blow on the other thief’s
head. Then he began hitting them alternately with the lid until it
fell to pieces, leaving its base, two solid bars joined crosswise, in
his hands. The thieves changed their tune to a pathetic whine, but
it must be admitted that there was a certain humor in their moans,
that they seemed to see the funny side of it. “What do you think
.you’re doing—hitting people with a cross/” “Just because you're
strong you shouldn’t bully others!” Boronyuk kept on hitting
them till one of the thieves rushed to the window shouting, “Helpl
The Fascists are beating us!”
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The thieves never forgot it, and threatened Boronyuk many
times afterward. “You smell like a dead man already! We'll take
you with us!” But they never attacked him again.

Soon afterward our cell also clashed with the bitches.* We were
out in the yard to stretch our legs, and relieve ourselves while we
were at it, when a woman prison officer sent a trusty to chase some
of us out of the latrine. His arrogance (to the “politicals) out-
raged Volodya Gershuni, a high-strung youngish man, recently
sentenced. Volodya pulled the trusty up short, and the trusty
felled the lad with a blow. Previously the 58’s would simply have
swallowed this, but now Maxim the Azerbaijani (who had killed
the chairman of his kolkhoz) threw a stone at the trusty, while
Boronyuk laid one on his jaw. He slashed Boronyuk with his knife
(the warders’ assistants went around with knives; there was noth-
ing unusual in this), and ran to the warders for protection, with
Boronyuk chasing him. They quickly herded us all into the cell,
and senior prison officers arrived to discover who was to blame
and threaten us with additional sentences for gang fighting (the
MVD man’s heart always bleeds for his nearest and dearest, his
trusties). Boronyuk’s blood was up, and he stepped forward of his
own accord. “I beat those bastards, and I’ll go on beating them
as long as I live!” The “godfather”* warned us that we Counter-
Revolutionaries couldn’t afford to put on airs and that it would
be safer for us to hold our tongues. At this up jumped Volodya
Gershuni. He was hardly more than a boy, a first-year university
student when he was arrested, and not just a namesake but the
nephew of that Gershuni who once commanded the SR* terrorist
squad. He screamed at the godfather, as shrill as a fighting cock.
“Don’t dare call us Counter-Revolutionaries! That’s all in the
past. We’re re-vo-lu-tion-aries again now! Against the Soviet state
this time!”

How we enjoyed ourselves! This was the day we’d lived for! And
the godfather just frowned and scowled and swallowed it all.
Nobody was taken off to the lockup, and the prison officers beat
an inglorious retreat. Was zhis how life in prison would be from
now on? Could we then fight? Turn on our tormentors? Say out
loud just what we thought? All that time we had endured it all like
idiots! It’s fun beating people who weep easily. We wept—so they
beat us.

Now, in the legendary new camps to which they were taking us,
where men wore number patches as in the Nazi camps, but where
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there would at last be only political prisoners, cleansed of the
slimy criminal scum, perhaps the new life would begin. Volodya
Gershuni, with his dark eyes and his peaked, dead-white face, said
hopefully: “Once we get to the camp we shall scon know with
whom we belong!” Silly lad! Did he seriously expect to find there
a vigorous political life, with parties of many different shades
feverishly contending, discussions, programs, underground meet-
ings? “With whom we belong!” As though the choice had been left
to us! As though those who drew up the target figures for arrests
in each republic, and the bills of lading for camp-transport trains,
had not decided it for us.

In our very long cell—once a stable, with two lines of two-tier
bed platforms where the two rows of mangers used to stand, with
pillars made of crooked tree trunks along the aisle propping up a
decrepit roof, with typical stable windows in the long wall, shaped
so that the hay could be forked straight into the mangers (and
made narrower by “muzzles”*)—in our cell there were 120 men,
of all sorts and conditions. More than half of them were from the
Baltic States, uneducated people, simple peasants: the second
purge was under way in that area, and all who would not voluntar-
ily join collective farms, or who were suspected in advance of
reluctance to join, were being imprisoned or deported. Then there
were quite a few Western Ukrainians—members of the OUN,!
together with anyone who had once given them a night’s rest or
a meal. Then there were prisoners from the Russian Soviet Federa-
tion—with fewer new boys among them, most of them “repeat-
ers.” And, of course, a certain number of foreigners.

We were all being taken to the same camp complex (we found
out from the records clerk that it was the Steplag group). I looked
carefully at those with whom fate had brought me together, and
tried to see into their minds.

I found the Estonians and Lithuanians particularly congenial.
Although I was no better off than they were, they made me feel
ashamed, as though I were the one who had put them inside.
Unspoiled, hard-working, true to their word, unassuming—what
had they done to be ground in the same mill as ourselves? They
had harmed no one, lived a quiet, orderly life, and a more moral
life than ours—and now they were to blame because we were

1. Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists.
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hungry, because they lived cheek by jowl with us and stood in our
path to the sea.

“I am ashamed to be Russian!” cried Herzen when we were
choking the life out of Poland. I felt doubly ashamed in the pres-
ence of these inoffensive and defenseless people.

My attitude to the Latvians was more complicated. There was
a fatality in their plight. They had sown the seed themselves.*

And the Ukrainians? We have long ago stopped saying
“Ukrainian nationalists”; we speak only of “Banderists,” and this
has become such a dirty word that no one thinks of inquiring into
the reality. (We also call them “bandits,” following our estab-
lished rule that anyone, anywhere, who kills for us is a “partisan,”
whereas those who kill us are always “bandits,” beginning with
the Tambov peasants* in 1921.)

The reality is that although long ago in the Kiev pmod we and
the Ukrainians constituted a single people, we have since then
been torn asunder and our lives, our customs, our languages for
centuries past have taken widely different paths. The-so-called
“re-union” was a very awkward though perhaps in some minds a
sincere attempt to restore our former brotherhood. But we have
not made good use of the three centuries since. No statesman in
Russia ever gave much thought to the problem of binding the
Ukrainians and Russians together in kinship, of smoothing out the
lumpy seam. (Had the join been neater, the first Ukrainian Com-
mittees would not have been formed in spring, 1917, nor the Rada
later on.)

The Bolsheviks before they came to power found the prob-
lem uncomplicated. In Pravda for June 7, 1917, Lenin wrote
as follows: “We regard the Ukraine and other regions not in-
habited by Great Russians as territories annexed by the Tsar
and the capitalists.” He wrote this when the Central Rada was
already in existence. Then on November 2, 1917, the “Declara-
tion of the Rights of the Peoples of Russia” was adopted. Was
it just meant as a joke? Was it just a trick when they declared
that the peoples of Russia did indeed have the right of self-
determination, up to and including secession? Six months later
the Soviet government reguested the-good offices of the Kai-
ser’s Germany in helping Soviet Russia to conclude peace and
define its boundaries with the Ukraine, and Lenin signed a
treaty to this effect with Hetman Skoropadsky on June 14,
1918. By doing so he showed himself fully reconciled to the
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detachment of the Ukraine—even if it became a monarchy as a
result!

But strangely enough, as scon as the Germans were defeated by
the Entente (which could not affect in the least the principles
governing our relations with the Ukraine), as soon as the Hetman
had fallen, together with his patrons, as soon as we proved
stronger than Petlyura (there’s another word of abuse, “Petlyuro-
vite”: but these were merely Ukrainian townsfolk and peasants,
who wanted to order their lives without our interference), we
immediately crossed the border which we had recognized and
imposed our rule on our blood brothers. True, for fifteen to twenty
years afterward we made great play with the Ukrainian language,
pushed it perhaps too hard, and impressed it on our brothers that
they were completely independent and could break away when-
ever they pleased. Yet when they tried to do so at the end of the
war we denounced them as “Banderists,” and started hunting
them down, torturing them, executing them, or dispatching them
to the camps. (But “Banderists,” like “Petlyurovites,” are just
Ukrainians who do not want to be ruled by others; once they
discovered that Hitler would not bring them the freedom they had
been promised, they fought against the Germans, as well as our-
selves, throughout the war, but we kept quiet about this, since like
the Warsaw rising of 1944 it shows us in an unfavorable light.)

Why are we so exasperated by Ukrainian nationalism, by the
desire of our brothers to speak, educate their children, and write
their shop signs in their own language? Even Mikhail Bulgakov
(in The White Guard) let himself be misled on this subject. Given
that we have not succeeded in fusing completely; that we are still
different in some respects (and it is sufficient that they, the smaller
nation, feel the difference); that however sad it may be, we have
missed chance after chance, especially in the thirties and forties;
that the problem became most acute not under the Tsar, but after
the Tsar—why does their desire to secede annoy us so much?
Can’t we part with the Odessa beaches? Or the fruit of Circassia?

For me this is a painful subject. Russia and the Ukraine are
united in my blood, my heart, my thoughts. But from friendly
contact with Ukrainians in the camps over a long period I have
learned how sore they feel. Our generation cannot avoid paying
for the mistakes of generations before it.

Nothing is easier than stamping your foot and shouting: “That’s
mine!” It is immeasurably harder to proclaim: “You may live as
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you please.” We cannot, in the latter end of the twentieth century,
live in the imaginary world in which our last, not very bright
Emperor came to grief. Surprising though it may be, the prophecy
of our Vanguard Doctrine* that nationalism would fade has not
come true. In the age of the atom and of cybernetics, it has for
some reason blossomed afresh. Like it or not, the time is at hand
when we must pay out on all our promissory notes guaranteeing
self-determination and independence—pay up of our own accord,
and not wait to be burned at the stake, drowned in rivers, or
beheaded. We must prove our greatness as a nation not by the
vastness of our territory, not by the number of peoples under our
tutelage, but by the grandeur of our actions. And by the depth of
our tilth in the lands that remain when those who do not wish to
live with us are gone.

The Ukraine will be an extremely painful problem. But we must
realize that the feelings of the whole people are now at white heat.
Since the two peoples have not succeeded over the centuries in
living harmoniously, it is up to us to show sense. We must leave
the decision to the. Ukrainians themselves—let federalists and
separatists try their persuasions. Not to give way would be fool-
hardy and cruel. And the gentler, the more tolerant, the more
careful to explain ourselves we are now, the more hope there will
be of restoring unity in the future.

Let them live their own lives, let them see how it works. They
will soon find that not all problems are solved by secession.?

For some reason the cell in the converted stables was our home
for a long time, and it looked as though they would never send us
on to Steplag. Not that we were in any hurry; we enjoyed life
where we were, and the next place could only be worse.

We were not left without news—they brought us daily a sort of
half-sized newspaper. I sometimes had the task of reading it aloud
to the whole cell, and I read it with expression, for there were
things there which demanded it.

The tenth anniversary of the “liberation” of Estonia, Latvia,

2. The fact that the ratio b those who consider themselves Russian and those who
consider themselves Ukrainian varies from province to province of the Ukraine will cause
manyoomphmhons.Aplebmmtemeachpmwnce,mdaﬁuwardahdpﬁﬂandeons:dmte
attitude to those who wish to move, may be necessary. Not all of the Ukraine in its present
official Soviet borders is really Ukrainian. Some of the left-bank provinces undoubtedly feel
drawn to Russia.
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and Lithuania came around just at this time. Some of those who
understood Russian translated for the rest (I paused for them to
do so), and what can only be called a howl went up from the bed
platforms as they: heard about the freedom and prosperity intro-
duced into their countries for the first time in history. Each of
these Balts (and a good third of all those in the transit prison were
Balts) had left behind a ruined home, and was lucky if his family
was still there and not on its way to Siberia with another batch
of prisoners.

But what of course most excited the transit prison were the
reports from Korea. Stalin’s blitzkrieg had miscarried. The United
Nations volunteers had by now been assembled. We saw in Korea
the precursor, the Spain, of the Third World War. (And Stalin
probably intended it as a rehearsal.) Those U.N. soldiers were a
special inspiration to us. What a flag to fight under! Whom would
it not unite? Here was a prototype of the united mankind of the
future! —

We were wretched, and we could not rise above our wretched-
ness. Should this have been our dream—to perish so that those
who looked unmoved on our destruction might survive? We could
not accept it. No, we longed for the storm!

Some will be surprised. —What a desperate, what a cynical
state of mind. Had you no thought for the hardships war would
bring to those outside? —Well, the free never spared us a thought!
—TYou mean, then, that you were capable of wishing for a world
war? —When all those people were given sentences in 1950 lasting
till the mid-1970s, what hope were they left with except that of
world war?

I am appalled myself when I remember now the false and
baneful hopes we cherished at the time. General nuclear destruc-
tion was no way out for anyone. And leaving aside the nuclear
danger, a state of war only serves as an excuse for domestic
tyranny and reinforces it. But my story will be distorted if I do
not tell the truth about our feelings that summer.

Romain Rolland’s generation in their youth were depressed by
the constant expectation of war, but our generation of prisoners
was depressed by its absence—and not to say so would be to tell
less than the truth about the spirit of the Special Political Camps.
This was what they had driven us to. World war might bring us
either a speedier death (they might open fire from the watchtow-
ers, poison our bread, or infect us with germs, German fashion),
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or it just might bring freedom. In either case, deliverance would
be much nearer than the end of a twenty-five-year sentence.

This was what Petya P——v counted on. Among those in our
cell Petya P——v was the last living soul to arrive from Europe.
Immediately after the war, cells everywhere were packed with
these Russkies returning from Europe. But the first arrivals were
long ago in camps or in the ground, and the rest had vowed to stay
. away. Where, then, had Petya sprung from? He had come home
of his own free will in November, 1949, when normal people were
no longer returning.

The war had overtaken him just outside Kharkov, where he
attended an industrial school in which he had been compulsorily
enrolled. Just as unceremoniously the Germans carried these
young lads off to Germany. There he remained as an “Ost-
Arbeiter” to the end of the war, and there his philosophy of life
-was formed: a man must find an easy way of living, not work as
he had been made to work from infancy. In the West, taking
advantage of European credulity and lax frontier controls, he had
smuggled French vehicles into Italy and Italian vehicles into
France and sold them off cheaply. The French, however, had
tracked him down and arrested him. He then wrote to the Soviet
Embassy, saying that he wanted to return to his beloved Father-
land. P——v’s reasoning was that in France he might get ten
years, but would have to serve his sentence in full, whereas in the
Soviet Union he would get twenty-five as a traitor—but then, the
first drops of the coming storm, the Third World War, were
already falling; the Union, he thought, wouldn’t last even three
years, so it would pay him to go to a Soviet prison. Instant friends
arrived from the embassy and clasped Petya P——v to their bos-
oms. The French authorities were glad to hand over a thief.* Some
thirty others just like Petya were assembled in the embassy. They
were given a comfortable sea passage to Murmansk, let loose to
wander freely about the town, and picked up agam one by one in
the course of the next twenty-four hours.

For his cellmates Petya now took the place of Western
newspapers (he had followed the Kravchenko trial in detail),
Western theatre (he skillfully performed Western tunes with

3. French statistics are said to show that between the First and Second World Wars the
crime rate was lower among Russian émigrés than among any other ethnic group. After
the Secand World War the opposite was the case: of all the ethnic groups, the Russians
—Soviet citizens who had fetched up in France—had the highest crime rate.
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his cheeks and lips), and Western films (he told us the stories
and mimed the action).

How free and easy things were in the Kuibyshev Transit Prison!
The inmates of different cells occasionally met in the common
yard. From under the muzzles we could exchange remarks with
other transports as they were driven across the yard. On our way
to the latrine we could approach the open windows (which were
barred but unscreened) of the family barracks, where women with
several children were held. (They, too, were on their way into exile
from the Baltic States and the Western Ukraine.) And between the
two converted stables there was a crack, known as the “tele-
phone,” where interested persons lay on either side of the wall
discussing the news from morning to night.

All these freedoms excited us still more; we felt the ground
firmer under our own feet and imagined that it was becoming
uncomfortably warm under the feet of our jailers. When we
walked about the yard we raised our faces to the sun-bleached July
sky. We should not have been surprised, and not at all alarmed,
if a V formation of foreign bombers had emerged from nowhere.

~Life as it was meant nothing to us.

Prisoners traveling in the other direction from the Karabas
Transit Prison brought rumors of notices stuck on walls: “We
won’t take any more!” We worked ourselves up to white heat, and
one sultry night in Omsk when we were being crammed and
screwed into a prison van, like lumps of sweating, steaming meat
through a mincer, we yelled out of the depths at our warders:
“Just wait, you vermin! Truman will see you off! They’ll drop the
atom bomb on your heads!” And the cowards said nothing. They
were uneasily aware that our resistance was growing stronger and
—s0 we sensed—that justice was more and more clearly on our
side. We were so sick with longing for justice that we should not
have minded if we and our tormentors were incinerated by the
same bomb. We were in that final stage at which there is nothing
to lose.

If this is not brought into the open, the full story of the Ar-
chipelago in the fifties will not have been told.

The prison at Omsk, which had known Dostoyevsky, was not
like any-old Gulag transit prison, hastily knocked together from
matchwood. It was a formidable jail from the time of Catherine
11, and its dungeons were particularly terrible. You could never
imagine a better film set than one of its underground cells. The
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small square window is at the top of an cblique shaft up to ground
level. The depth of this opening—three meters—tells you what the
walls are like. The cell has no ceiling, but massive, menacing
vault§ converge overhead. One wall is wet—water seeps through
from the soil and leaks onto the floor. In the morning and in the
evening it is dark, on the brightest afternoon half-dark. There are
no rats, but you fancy that you can smell them. Although the
vaulted roof dips so low that you can touch it in places, the jailers
have contrived to erect two-tier bed platforms even here, with the
lower level barely raised above the floor, ankle high.

You might think that this jail would stifle the vague mutinous
anticipations which had grown in us in the slack Kuibyshev Tran-
sit Prison. But no! In the evening, by the light of a 15-watt bulb,
no brighter than a candle, Drozdov, the bald, sharp-featured
churchwarden of the cathedral church at Odessa, takes his stand
near the mouth of the window shaft, and in a voice that is weak
yet full of feeling, the voice of a man whose life is ending, sings
an old revolutionary song.

Black as the conscience of tyrant or traitor,

The shades of the autumn night fall.

Blacker than night, looming out of the darkness,
Ghostlike—the grim prison wall.

He sings only for us, but in this place if you shouted aloud no
one would hear. As he sings, his prominent Adam’s apple runs up
and down under the withered brown skin of his neck. He sings and
shudders, he remembers, lets decades of Russian life flow through
him, and we shudder in sympathy.

Though all’s silent within, it’s a jail, not a graveyard—
Sentry, ah, sentry, beware! )

A song like that in a prison like that!* Not a false note, not a
false word! Every note, every word in tune with what awaited our
generation of prisoners.

Then we settle down to sleep in the yellow gloom, the cold, the
damp. Right, who’s going to tell us a story?

A voice is heard—that of Ivan Alekseyevich Spassky, a sort of
composite voice of all Dostoyevsky’s heroes. A voice that falters,

4. It is a great pity that Shostakovich did not hear this song in that place. Either he

wouldn’t have touched it or he would have expressed its modern instead of its dead
significance. -
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chokes, is never calm, seems about to break at any moment into
weeping or a cry of pain. The most primitive tale by Breshko-
Breshkovsky, “The Red Madonna,” for instance, retold in such a
voice, charged with faith, with suffering, with hatred, sounds like
the Chanson de Roland. Whether it is true or pure fiction, the
story of Victor Voronin, of how he raced 150 kilometers on foot
to Toledo, and how the siege of Alcazar was raised, etches itself
on our memories like an epic.

Spassky’s own life would make a better novel than many. In his
youth he took part in the Campaign on the Ice.* He fought
throughout the Civil War. He emigrated to Italy. He graduated
from a Russian ballet school abroad (Karsavina’s, I think), and
also learned cabinetmaking in the household of some Russian
countess. (Later on, in the camps, he amazed us by making himself
some miniature tools and fashioning for the bosses furniture of
such exquisite workmanship, with such elegantly curving lines,
that they were left speechless. True, it took him a month to make
a little table.) He toured Europe with the ballet. He was a news
cameraman for an Italian company during the Spanish Civil War.
Under the slightly disguised name of Giovanni Paschi, he became
a major commanding a battalion in the Italian army and in sum-
mer, 1942, arrived back on the Don. His battalion was promptly
surrounded though the Russians were still retreating almost
everywhere. Left to himself, Spassky would have fought to the
death, but the Italians, mere boys, started weeping—they wanted
to live! After some hesitation Major Paschi hung out the white
flag. He could have committed suicide, but by now he was itching
to take a look at some Soviet Russians. He might have gone
through an ordinary prisoner-of-war camp and been back in Italy
within four years, but his Russian soul was impatient of restraint
and he got into conversation with the officers who had captured
him. A fatal mistake! If you are unlucky enough to be Russian,
conceal the fact like a shameful disease, or it will go hard with you!
First they kept him for a year in the Lubyanka. Then for three
years in the International Camp at Kharkov. (There was such a
place—full of Spaniards, Italians, Japanese.) Then without taking
into account the four years he had already served, they doled out
another twenty-five. Twenty-five—what a hope! He was doomed
to a speedy end in katorga.

The jails at Omsk, and then at Pavlodar, took us in because—
and this was a serious oversight!—there was no specialized transit
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prison in either city. Indeed, in Pavlodar—what a disgracel—there
wasn’t even a prison van and they marched us briskly from the
station to the jail, many blocks away, without worrying about the
local population—just like before the Revolution, or in the first
decade after. In the parts of town we went through there were still
neither pavements nor piped water, and the little one-story houses
were sinking into the gray sand. The city proper began with the
two-story white stone jail.

But by twentieth-century standards this was a jail to soothe
rather than horrify, to inspire laughter rather than terror. A spa-
cious, peaceful yard, with wretched grass growing here and there,
divided by reassuringly low fences into little squares for exercise.
There were widely spaced bars across the cell windows on the
second floor, and no muzzles, so that you could stand on the
window sill and examine the neighborhood. Directly below, under
your feet, between the wall of the building and the outer prison
wall, an enormous dog would run across the yard dragging his
chain when something disturbed him, and give a couple of gruff
barks. But he, too, was not a bit like a prison dog—not a terrifying
German shepherd trained to attack people, but a shaggy yellow-
white mongrel (they breed dogs like that in Kazakhstan), and
already pretty old by the look of him. He was like one of those
good-natured elderly wardens transferred to the camps from the
army, who thought prison service a dog’s life, and did not care
who knew it.

Beyond the prison wall we could see a street, a beer stall, and
people walking or standing there—people who had come to hand
in parcels for the prisoners and were waiting to get their boxes and
wrapping paper back. Farther on there were blocks and blocks of
one-story houses, the great bend of the Irtysh and open country
vanishing beyond the river into the distance.

A lively girl, who had just got back from the guardhouse with
her empty basket, looked up and saw us waving to her from the
window, but pretended not to notice. She walked unhurriedly,
demurely past the beer stall, until she could not be seen from the
guardhouse, and there her whole manner changed abruptly: she
dropped the basket, frantically waved both arms in the air, and
smiled at us. Then she signaled with nimble fingers: “Write notes!”
then (an elliptical sweep of the arm): “Throw them to me, throw
them to me!” then (pointing in the direction of the town): “I’ll take
them and pass them on for you.” Then she opened both arms wide:
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“What else do you need? What can I do for you? I'm a friend!”

Her behavior was so natural and straightforward, so unlike that
of the harassed and hag-ridden “free population,” our bullied and
baffled free citizens. What could it mean? Were times changing?
Or was this just Kazakhstan? Where half the population, remem-
ber, were exiles . . .

Sweet, fearless girll How quickly and atcurately you had
learned the prison-gate skills! How happy it made me (and I felt
a tear in my eye) to know that there are still people like you!
Accept our homage, whoever you are! If our people had all been
like you there would have been not a hope in hell of imprisoning
them.

The infamous machine would have jammed!

We had, of course, bits of pencil lead in our jackets. And scraps
of paper. And it would have been easy to pick off a lump of plaster,
tie a note to it with thread, and throw it clear of the wall. But there
was absolutely nothing we could ask her to do for us in Pavlodar!
So we simply bowed to her and waved our greetings.

We were driven into the desert. Even the unprepossessing over-
grown village of Pavlodar we should soon remember as a glittering
metropolis.

We were now taken over by an escort party from Steplag (but
not, fortunately, from the Dzhezkazgan Camp Division: through-
out the journey we had kept our fingers crossed that we would not
end up in the copper mines). The trucks sent to collect us had
built-up sides and grilles were attached to the rear of their cabs,
to protect the Tommy-gunners from us as though we were wild
animals. They packed us in tightly, facing backward, with our legs
twisted under us, and in this position jogged and jolted us over the
potholes for eight hours on end. The Tommy-gunners sat on the
roof of the cab, with the muzzles of their guns trained on our backs
throughout the journey.

Up front rode licutenants and sergeants, and in the cab of our
truck there was an officer’s wife with a little girl of six. When we
stopped the little girl would jump down and run through the grass
picking flowers and calling in a clear voice to her mother. She was
not in the least put out by the Tommy guns, the dogs, the ugly
shaven heads of the prisoners sticking up over the sides of the
lorries; our strange world cast no shadow on the meadow and the
flowers, and she didn’t even spare us a curious glance. . . . I
remembered the son of a sergeant major at the Special Prison in
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Zagorsk. His favorite game was making two other little boys, the
sons of neighbors, clasp their hands behind their backs (sometimes
he tied their hands) and walk along the road while he walked
alongside with a stick, escorting them.

As the fathers live, so the children play.

We crossed the Irtysh. We rode for a long time through water
meadows, then over dead flat steppe. The breath of the Irtysh, the
freshness of evening on the steppe, the scent of wormwood, en-
veloped us whenever we stopped for a few minutes and the swirl-
ing clouds of light-gray dust raised by the wheels sank to the
ground. Thickly powdered with this dust, we looked at the road
behind us (we were not allowed to turn our heads), kept silent (we
were not allowed to talk), and thought about our destiny, the
camp with the strange, difficult, un-Russian name. We had read
the name on our case files, hanging upside down from the top shelf
in the Stolypin—ExKIBASTUZ. But nobody could imagine where it
was on the map, and only Lieutenant Colonel Oleg Ivanov remem-
bered that it was a coal-mining area. We even supposed that it
might be somewhere quite close to the Chinese border (and this
made some of us happy, since they had yet to learn that China was
even worse than our own country). Captain Second Class Bur-
kovsky (a new boy and a 25-er, he still looked askance at us,
because he was a Communist imprisoned in error, while all around
were enemies of the people: he acknowledged me only because I
was a former Soviet officer and had not been a prisoner of war)
reminded me of something I had learned at the university and
forgotten: if we traced a meridian line on the ground at the autum-
nal equinox and subtracted the meridional altitude of the sun on
September 23 from 90, we should find our latitude. This was
reassuring—although there was no way of discovering our longi-
tude.

On and on they drove. Darkness fell. The stars were big in the
black sky and we saw clearly now that we were being carried
south-southwest.

Dust danced in the beams of headlights behind us. Patches of
the dust cloud whipped up over the whole road, but were visible
only where the headlights picked them out. A strange mirage rose
before me: the world was a heaving sea of blackness, except for
those whirling luminous particles forming sinister pictures of
things to come.

To what far corner of the earth, what godforsaken hole, were
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they taking us? Where were we fated to make our revolution?

Our legs, doubled under us, became so numb that they might
not have been ours. It was very near midnight when we reached
a camp surrounded by a high wooden fence and—out in the dark
steppe, beside a dark sleeping settlement—bright ‘with electric
light, in the guardhouse and around the boundary fence.

After another roll call with full particulars—*“March, nineteen
hundred and seventy-five!”—they led us through the towering
double gates for what was left of our quarter-century.

The camp was asleep, but all the windows of all the huts were
brightly lit, as though the tide of life was running high. Lights on
at night—that meant prison rules. The doors of the huts were
fastened from outside by heavy padlocks. Bars stood out black
against the brightly lit rectangles of the windows.

The orderly who came out to meet us had number patches stuck
all over him.

You've read in the newspapers that in Nazi camps people had
numbers sewn on their clothes, haven’t you?



Chapter 3

Chains, Chains. ..

Our eager hopes, our leaping expectations, were soon
crushed. The wind of change was blowing only in drafty corri-
dors—in the transit prisons. Here, behind the tall fences of the
Special Camps, its breath did not reach us. And although
there were only political prisoners in these camps, no mutinous
leaflets hung on posts.

They say that at Minlag the blacksmiths refused to forge bars
for hut windows. All glory to those as yet nameless heroes! They
were real people. They were put in the camp jail, and the bars for
Minlag were forged at Kotlas. No one supported the smiths.

The Special Camps began with that uncomplaining, indeed
eager submission to which prisoners had been trained by three
generations of Corrective Labor Camps.

Prisoners brought in from the Polar North had no cause to be
grateful for the Kazakh sunshine. At Novorudnoye station they
jumped down from the red boxcars onto ground no less red. This
was the famous Dzhezkazgan copper, and the lungs of those who
mined it never held out more than four months. There and then
the warders joyfully demonstrated their new weapon on the first
prisoners to step out of line: handcuffs, which had not been used
in the Corrective Labor Camps, gleaming nickel handcuffs, which
went into mass production in the Soviet Union to mark the thirti-
eth anniversary of the October Revolution. (Somewhere there was
a factory in which workers with graying mustaches, the model
proletarians of Soviet literature, were making them—unless we
suppose that Stalin and Beria did it themselves?) These handcuffs
were remarkable in that they could be clamped on very tight.

56
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Serrated metal plates were let into them, so that when a camp
guard banged a man’s handcuffed wrists against his knee, more of
the teeth would slip into the lock, causing the prisoner greater
pain. In this way the handcuffs became an instrument of torture
instead of a mere device to inhibit activity: they crushed the wrists,
causing constant acute pain, and prisoners were kept like that for
hours, always with their hands behind their backs, palms outward.
The warders also perfected the practice of trapping four fingers in
the handcuffs, which caused acute pain in the finger joints.

In Berlag the handcuffs were used religiously: for every trifle,
even for failure to take off your cap to a warder, they put on the
handcuffs (hands behind the back) and stood you by the guard-
house. The hands became swollen and numb, and grown men
wept: “I won’t do it again, sir! Please take the cuffs offt”” (Won-
drous were the ways of Berlag: not only did prisoners enter the
mess hall on command, they lined up at the tables on command,
sat down on command, lowered their spoons into the gruel on
command, rose and left the room on command.)

It was easy enough for someone to scribble the order: “Es-
tablish Special Camps! Submit draft regulations by such and
such a date!” But somewhere hard-working penologists (and
psychologists, and connoisseurs of camp life) had to think out
the details: How could screws already galling be made yet
tighter? How could burdens already backbreaking be made yet
heavier? How could the lives of Gulag’s denizens, already far
from easy, be made harder yet? Transferred from Corrective
Labor Camps to Special Camps, these animals must be aware
at once of their strictness and harshness—but obviously some-
one must first devise a detailed program!

Naturally, the security measures were strengthened. In all Spe-
cial Camps the perimeter was reinforced, additional strands of
barbed wire were strung up, and coils of barbed wire were scat-
tered about the camp’s fringe area. On the path by which prisoners
went to work, machine guns were set up in readiness at all main
crossroads and turnings, and gunners crouched behind them.

Every Camp Division had its stone jailhouse—its Disciplinary
Barracks (BUR).! Anyone put in the Disciplinary Barracks invari-

1. 1 shall continue to call it by this name, which prisoners remembered from the

Corrective Labor Camps and went on using out of habit, although it is not quite accurate
in this context: it was the camp jail, neither more nor less.

PR a
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ably had his padded jacket taken from him: torture by cold was
an important feature of the BUR. But every hut was just as much
a jail, since all windows were barred, and latrine buckets were
brought in for the night so that all doors could be locked. More-
over, there were one or two Disciplinary Barracks in each camp
area, with intensified security, each a separate camplet within the
camp; these were locked as soon as the prisoners got in from work
* —on the model of the earlier katorga. (They were BUR's really,
but we called them “rezhimki.”)

Then again, they quite blatantly borrowed from the Nazis a
practice which had proved valuable to them—the substitution of
a numbser for the prisoner’s name, his “I,” his human individual-
ity, so that the difference between one man and another was a digit
more or less in an otherwise identical row of figures. This measure,
too, could be a great hardship, provided it was implemented con-
sistently and fully. This they tried to do. Every new recruit, when

“he “played the piano” in the Special Section (i.e., had his finger-

prints taken, as was the practice in ordinary prisons, but not in
Corrective Labor Camps), had to hang around his neck a board
suspended from a rope. His number—Shch 262 will do as an
example—was set up on the board (in Ozerlag by now there were
even numbers beginning with yery:* the alphabet was too short!)
and in this guise he had his picture taken by the Special Section’s
photographer. (All those photographs are still preserved some-
where! One of these days we shall see theml)

They took the board from around the prisoner’s neck (he wasn’t
adog, after all) and gave him instead four (or in some camps three)
white patches measuring 8 centimeters by 15. These he had to sew
onto his clothes, usually on the back, the breast, above the peak

" of his cap, and on one leg or arm (Plate No. 2)—but the regula-
tions varied slightly from camp to camp.-Quilted clothing was
deliberately damaged in stipulated places before the patches were
sewn on: in the camp workshops a separate team of tailors was
detailed to damage new clothing: squares of fabric were cut out
to expose the wadding underneath. This was done so that prison-
ers trying to escape could not unpick their number patches and
pass as free workmen. In some other camps it was simpler still:
the number was burned into the garments with bleaching fluid.

Warders were ordered to address prisoners by their numbers
only, and to ignore and forget their names. It would have been
pretty unpleasant if they had kept it up—but they couldn’t. Rus-
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sians aren’t Germans. Even in the first year warders occasionally
slipped up and called people by their names, and as time went by
they did it more often. To make things easier for the warders, a
plywood shingle was nailed onto each bunk, at every level, with
the occupant’s number on it. Thus the warder could call out the
sleeper’s number even when he could not see it on his garments,
and if a man was missing the warder would know at once who was
breaking the rules. Another useful field of activity opened up for
warders: they could quietly turn the key in the lock and tiptoe into
the hut before getting-up time, to take the numbers of those who
had risen too soon, or they could burst into the hut exactly on time
and take the numbers of those who were not yet up. In both cases
you could be summarily awarded a spell in the hole, but in the
Special Camp it was usually thought better to demand a written
explanation—although pens and ink were forbidden and no paper
was supplied. This tedious, long-winded, offensive procedure was
rather a clever invention, especially as the camp administration
had plenty of salaried idlers with leisure to scrutinize the explana-
tions. Instead of simply punishing you out of hand, they required
you to explain in writing why your bed was untidy, why the
number  plate at your bunk was askew and why you had done
nothing about it, why a number patch on your jacket was soiled
and why you had not put that right; why a cigarette had been
found on you in the hut; why you had not taken your cap off to
a warder.? Questions so profound that writing answers to them
was even more of a torment to the literate than to the illiterate.
But refusal to write meant that your punishment would be more
severel The note was written, with the neatness and precision
which respect for the disciplinary staff demanded, delivered to the
warder in charge of the hut, then examined by the assistant disci-
plinary officer or the disciplinary officer, who in turn wrote on it
his decision about punishment.

In work rolls, too, it was the rule to write numbers before
names. Why before and not instead of names? They were afraid
to give up names altogetherl However you look at it, a name is a
reliable handle, a man is pegged to his name forever, whereas a
number is blown away at a puff. If only the numbers were branded
or picked out on the man himself, that would be something! But

2. Doroshevich was surprised to find prisonsers taking their caps off to the prison
governor on Sakhalin. But we had to uncover whenever we met an ordinary warder.
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they never got around to it. Though they might easily have done
so; they came close enough.

The oppressive number system tended to break down for yet
another reason—because we were not in solitary confinement,
because we heard each other’s voices and not just those of the
warders. The prisoners themselves not only did not use each
other’s numbers, they did not even notice them. (How, you may
wonder, could anyone fail to notice those glaring white patches on
a black background? When a lot of us were assembled—on work
line-up, or for inspection—the bewildering array of figures gave
you spots before your eyes. It was like staring at a logarithm table
—but only while it was new to you.) So little did you notice them
that you did not even know the numbers of your closest friends
and teammates; your own was the only one you remembered.
(Some dandified trusties carefully saw to it that their numbers
were neatly, even jauntily, sewn on, with the edges tucked in, with
minute stitching, to make them really pretty. Lackeys born and
bred! My friends and I, on the contrary, took care that our num-
bers should look as ugly as possible.)

The Special Camp regime assumed a total Iack of publicity,
assumed that no one would ever complain, no one would ever be
released, no one would ever break out. (Neither Auschwitz nor
Katyn had taught our bosses anything.) And so the first Special
Camps were Special Camps with truncheons. It was, as a rule, not
the warders who carried them (they had the handcuffs!), but
trusted prisoners—hut orderlies and foremen; they, however,
could beat us to their hearts’ content, with the full approval of
authority. At Dzhezkazgan before work line-up the work assign-
ers stood by the doors of the huts with clubs and shouted: “Out
you come—and no last man!!”’ (The reader will have understood
that if there should be a last man, it was immediately as though
he had never been.)’ For the same reason, the authorities were not
greatly upset if, for instance, a winter transport from Karbas to
Spassk—two hundred men—froze on the way, if all the wards and
corridors of the Medical Section were packed with the survivors,
rotting alive with a sickening stench, and Dr. Kolesnikov am-
putated dozens of arms, legs, and noses.* The wall of silence was

3. In Spassk in 1949 something snapped. The foremen were called to the staff hut,
ordered to put away their clubs, and advised to do without them in future

4. This Dr. Kolesnikov was one of the “experts” who had shortly before signed the
mendacious findings of the Katyn commission (to the effect that it was not we who had
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so reliable that the celebrated disciplinary officer at Spassk, Cap-
tain Vorobyov, and his underlings first “punished” an imprisoned
Hungarian ballerina by putting her in the black hole, then hand-
cuffed her, then, while she was handcuffed, raped her.

The disciplinary regime envisaged patient attention to every
detail. Thus prisoners were not allowed to keep photographs—
either of themselves (which might help escapers!) or of their rela-
tives. Should any be found they were confiscated and destroyed.
A barracks representative in the women’s division at Spassk, an
elderly schoolteacher, put a small picture of Tchaikovsky on a
table. The warder removed it and gave her three days in the black
hole. “But it’s a picture of Tchaikovsky!” “I don’t care whose
picture it is; in this camp women aren’t allowed to hdve pictures
of men.” In Kengir prisoners were allowed to receive meal in their
food parcels (why not?), but there was a rigorous prohibition
against boiling it, and if a prisoner managed to make a fire between
a couple of bricks the warder would kick over the pot and make
the culprit smother the flames with his hands. (Later on, it is true,
they built a little shed for cooking, but two months later the stove
was demolished and the place was used to accommodate some pigs
belonging to the officers, and security officer Belyaev’s horse.)

While they were introducing various disciplinary novelties, our
masters did not forget what was best in the practice of the Correc-
tive Labor Camps. In Ozerlag Captain Mishin, head of a Camp
Division, tied recalcitrants behind a sleigh and towed them to
work.

By and large, the regime proved so satisfactory that prisoners
from the former political camps (kaforga) were now kept in the
Special Camps on the same footing as the rest and in the same
quarters, distinguished only by the serial letters on their number
patches. (Though if there was a shortage of huts, as at Spassk, it
was they who would be put to live in barns and stables.)

"So that the Special Camp, though not officially called katorga,
was its legitimate successor and merged with it.

For a prison regime to have a satisfactory effect on the prison-
ers, it must be grounded also on sound rules about work and diet.

The work chosen for the Special Camps was always the hardest
murdered the Polish officers). For this a just Providence had put him in this camp. But

why did the powers of this world want him there? So that he would not talk too much.
“Othello’s occupation’s gone.”
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in the locality. As Chekhov has truly remarked: “The established
view of society, and with some qualifications of literature, is that
no harder and more degrading form of hard labor can be found
than that in the mines. If in Nekrasov’s Russian Women the hero’s
job had been to catch fish for the jail or to fell trees, many readers
would have felt unsatisfied.” (Why speak so disparagingly of tree
felling, Anton Pavlovich? Lumbering is not so bad; it will do the
trick.) The first divisions of Steplag, those it began with, were all
engaged in copper mining (the First and Second Divisions at
Rudnik, the Third at Kengir, and the Fourth at Dzhezkazgan).
They drilled dry, and the dust from the waste rock quickly
brought on silicosis and tuberculosis.® Sick prisoners were sent to
die in the celebrated Spassk camp (near Karaganda)—the “All-
Union convalescent home” of the Special Camps.

Spassk deserves a special mention here.

It was to Spassk that they sent terminal cases for whom other
camps could no longer find any use. But what a surprise! No
sooner did the sick cross the salubrious boundary lines of Spassk
than they turned into able-bodied workers. For Colonel Chechev,
commandant of the whole Steplag complex, the Spassk Camp
Division was one of his special favorites. This thick-set thug would
fly in from Karaganda, have his boots cleaned in the guardhouse,
and walk through the camp trying to spot prisoners not working.
He liked to say: “I’ve only got one invalid in the whole Spassk
camp—he’s short of both legs. And even he’s on light duties—he
runs errands.” All one-legged men were employed on sedentary
work: breaking stones for road surfacing, or grading firewood.
Neither crutches nor even a missing arm was any obstacle to work
in Spassk. One of Chechev’s ideas: putting four one-armed men to
carry a stretcher (two of them left-armed, two of them right-
armed). An idea thought up for Chechev: driving the machines in
the engineering shop by hand when there was no electric power.
Something Chechev - liked: having his “own professor.” So he
allowed the biophysicist Chizhevsky to set up a laboratory at
Spassk (with empty benches). But when Chizhevsky, using worth-
less waste materials, devised an antisilicosis mask for the Dzhez-
kazgan workers—Chechev would not put it into production.
They've always worked without masks; why complicate things?

S. Under a law of 1886, no form of work which might be injurious to health was
permitted even if it was the prisoner’s own choice.
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After all, there must be a regular turnover, to make room for the
new intake.

At the end of 1948 there were about 15,000 prisoners, male and
female, in Spassk. It was a huge camp area; the posts of the
boundary fence went uphill in some places, and the corner watch-
towers were out of sight of each other. The work of self-segrega-
tion gradually proceeded: the prisoners built inner walls to sepa-
rate women, workers, complete invalids (this would hinder
communications within the camp and make things easier for the
bosses). Six thousand men building a dike had to walk 12 kilome-
ters to work. Since they were sick men, it took them more than
two hours each way. To this must be added an eleven-hour work-
ing day. (It was rare for anyone to last two months on that job.)
The job next in importance was in the stone quarries—which were
inside the camp itself, both in the men’s and in the women’s
section (the island had its own minerals!). In the men’s section the
quarry was on a hillside. The stone was blasted loose with am-
monal after the day’s work was over, and next day the sick men
broke the lumps up with hammers. In the women’s zone they
didn’t use ammonal—instead, the women dug down to the rock
layers with picks, then smashed the stone with sledge hammers.
The hammer heads, of course, came away from the handles, and
new ones sometimes broke. To replace a head, a hammer had to
be sent to a different camp zone. Nonetheless, every woman had
an output norm of 0.9 cubic meters a day, and since they could
not meet it there was a long period during which they were put
on short rations (400 grams)—until the men taught them to pinch
stone from old piles before the daily accounting. Remember that
all this work was done not only by sick people, not only without
any mechanical aids at all, but in the harsh winter of the steppes
(at temperatures as low as 30 to 35 degrees below freezing, and
with a wind blowing), and what is more, in summer clothing, since
there was no provision for the issue of warm clothing to nonwork-
ers, i.e, to the unfitt P——r recalls how she wielded a huge
hammer, practically naked, in frosts as severe as this. The value
of this work to the Fatherland becomes very clear when we add
that for some reason the stone from the women’s quarry proved
unsuitable as building material, and on a certain day a certain high
official gave instructions that the women should dump all the
stone they had quarried in a year back where it came from, cover
it with soil, and lay out a park (they never, of course, got quite
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that far). In the men’s zone the stone was good. The procedure for
delivering it to the construction site was as follows: after inspec-
tion, the whole work force (around eight thousand men—all-those
who were alive on that particular day) was marched up the hill,
and no one-was allowed down again unless he was carrying stone.
On holidays patients took their constitutional twice daily—morn-
ing and evening.

Then came such jobs as self-enclosure, building quarters for the
camp administration and the guards (dwelling houses, a club, a
bathhouse, a school), and work in the fields and gardens.

The produce from these gardens also went to the free personnel,
while the prisoners got only beet tops: this stuff was brought in by
the truckload and dumped near the kitchen, where it rotted until
the cooks pitchforked it into their cauldrons. (A bit like feeding
cattle, would you say?) The eternal broth was made from these
beet tops, with the daily addition of one ladleful of mush. Here is
a horticultural idyll from Spassk: about 150 prisoners made a
concerted rush at one of the garden plots, lay on the ground, and
gnawed vegetables pulled from the beds. The guards swarmed
around, beating them with sticks, but they just lay there munch-
ing.

Nonworking invalids were given 550 grams of bread, working
invalids 650. Medicines were as yet unknown in Spassk (where
would you find enough for a mob like that! and they were there
to peg out anyway), and so were proper beds. In some huts bunks
were moved up together, and four men instead of two squeezed
onto a double bed platform.

Oh, yes—there is one job I haven’t yet mentioned! Every day
110 to 120 men went out to dig graves. Two Studebakers carried
_ the.corpses in slatted boxes, with their legs and arms sticking out.
Even in the halcyon summer months of 1949, sixty or seventy
people died every day, and in winter it was one hundred (the
Estonians who worked in the morgue kept the count).

(In other Special Camps mortality was not so high; prisoners
were better fed, but their work was harder, too, since they were
not unfit: the reader can make the necessary adjustment himself.)

All this was in 1949 (the year one thousand nine hundred and
forty-nine), the thirty-second year after the October Revolution,
four years after the war, with its harsh imperatives, had ended,
three years after the conclusion of the Nuremberg Trials, where
mankind at large had learned about the horrors of the Nazi camps
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and said with a sigh of relief: “It can never happen again.”®

Add to all this that on transfer to a Special Camp your links
with the outside world, with the wife who waited for you and for
your letters, with the children for whom you were becoming a
mythical figure, were as good as severed. (Two letters a year—but
even these were not posted, after you had put into them thoughts
saved up for months. Who would venture to check the work of the
women censors on the MGB staff? They often made their task
lighter by burning some of the letters they were supposed to
censor. If your letter did not get through, the post office could
always be blamed. In Spassk some prisoners were once called in
to repair a stove in the censors’ office, and they found there hun-
dreds of unposted letters which the censors had forgotten to burn.
Conditions in the Special Camps were such that the stove menders
were afraid to tell their friends—the State Security boys might
make short work of them. . . . These women censors in the Minis-
try of State Security who burned the souls of prisoners to save
themselves a little trouble—were they any more humane than the
SS women who collected the skin and hair of murdered people?)
As for family visits, they were unthinkable—the address of every
Special Camp was classified and no outsider was allowed to go
there.

Let us also add that the Hemingwayesque question fo have or
to have not hardly arose in the Special Camps, since it had been
firmly resolved from the day of their creation in favor of not
having. Not having money and receiving no wages (in Corrective
Labor Camps it was still possible to earn a pittance, but here not
a single kopeck). Not having a change of shoes or clothing, nor
anything to put on underneath, to keep yourself warm or dry.
Underwear (and what underwear—Hemingway’s pauper would
hardly have deigned to put it on) was changed twice a month;
other clothes, and shoes, twice a year; it was all laid down with
a crystalline clarity worthy of Arakcheyev. (Not in the first days
of the camp, but later on, they fitted out a permanent storeroom,

6. Let me hasten to put the reader’s mind at rest by assuring him that all these Chechevs,
Mishins, and Vorobyovs, and also Warder Novgorodov, are flourishing: Chechev in Kara-
ganda, retired with the rank of general. Not one of them has been brought to trial, or ever
will be. And what could they be tried for? They were simply carrying out orders. They are
nouobecomparedwhhthoseﬂaziswhowmsimplyeanyinsmordemlftheyinany
way went beyond their orders, it was of course because of their ideological purity, with
the sincerest intentions, out of simple unawareness that Beria, “Great Stalin’s faithful
comrade in arms,” was also an agent of international imperialism.
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where clothes were kept until the day of “release,” and not hand-
ing in any article of wear among your personal belongings was
considered a serious offense: it counted as preparation to escape,
and meant the black hole and interrogation.) Not to keep food in
your locker (you queued in- the evening to hand it in at the food
store, and in the morning to draw it out again—which effectively
occupied those half hours in the morning and evening when you
might have had time to think). Not to have anything in manu-
script, not to have ink, indelible pencils, or colored pencils, not to
have unused paper in excess of one school notebook. And finally,
not to have books. (In Spassk they took away books belonging to
a prisoner on admission. In our camp we were allowed to keep one
or two at first, but one day a wise decree was issued: all books
belonging to prisoners must be registered with the Culture and
Education Section, where the words “Steplag, Camp Division No.
*” would be stamped on the title page. Henceforward all
unstamped books would be confiscated as illegal, while stamped
books would be considered the property of the library, not that of
their former owners.)

Let us further remind ourselves that in Special Camps searches
were more frequent and intensive than in Corrective Labor
Camps. (Prisoners were carefully searched each day as they left
for and returned from work [Plate No. 3]; huts were searched
regularly—floors raised, fire bars levered out of stoves, boards
pried up in porches; then there were prison-type personal
searches, in which prisoners were stripped and probed, linings
ripped away from clothes and soles from shoes.) That after a while
they started weeding out every last blade of grass in the camp area
“in case somebody hides a weapon there.” That free days were
taken up by chores about the camp.

If you remember all this, it may not surprise you to hear that
making him wear numbers was not the most hurtful and effective
way of damaging a prisoner’s self-respect: when Ivan Denisovich
says, “They weigh nothing, the numbers,” it does not mean that
he has lost all self-respect—as some haughty critics, who never
themselves wore numbers or went hungry, have disapprovingly
said—it is just common sense. The numbers were vexatious not
because of their psychological or moral effects, as the bosses in-
tended, but for a purely practical reason—that on pain of a spell
in the hole we had to waste our leisure hours sewing up hems that
had come unstitched, getting the figures touched up by the “art-
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ists,” or searching for fresh rags to replace patches torn at work.

The people for whom the numbers were indeed the most
diabolical of the camp’s devices were the devout women members
of certain religious sects. There were some of these in the Women’s
Camp Division near the Suslovo station (Kamyshlag)—about a
third of the women there were imprisoned for their religion. Now,
it is plainly foretold in the Book of Revelation (Chapter 13, Verse
16) that “it* causes all . . . to be marked on the right hand or the
foreh

These women refused, therefore, to wear numbers—the mark
of Satan! Nor would they give signed receipts (to Satan, of course)
in return for regulation dress. The camp authorities (Chief of
Administration General Grigoryev, head of Separate Camp Site
Major Bogush) showed laudable firmness! They gave orders that
the women should be stripped to their shifts, and have their shoes
taken from them (the job went to wardresses who were members
of the Komsomol), thus enlisting winter’s help in forcing these
senseless fanatics to accept regulation dress and sew on their
numbers. But even with the temperature below freezing, the
women walked about the camp in their shifts and barefoot, refus-
ing to surrender their souls to Satan!

Faced with this spirit (the spirit of reaction, needless to say;
enlightened people like ourselves would never protest so strongly
about such a thing!), the administration capitulated and gave. their
clothing back to the sectarians, who put it on without numbers!
(Yelena Ivanovna Usova wore hers for the whole ten years; her
outer garments and underwear rotted and fell to pieces on her
body, but the accounts office could not authorize the issue of any
government property without a receipt from herl)

Another annoying thing about the numbers was their size,
which enabled the guards to read them from a long way off. They
only ever saw us from a distance at which they would have time
to bring their guns to the ready and fire, they knew none of us,
of course, by name, and since we were dressed identically would
have been unable to distinguish one from another but for our
numbers. But now, if the guards noticed anybody talking on the
march, or changing ranks, or not keeping his hands behind his
back, or picking something up from the ground, the guard com-
mander only had to report it to the camp and the culprit could
expect the black hole.

The guards were yet another force which could crush a prisoner
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like a sparrow caught in a pulping machine. These “red tabs,”
regular soldiers, these little lads with Tommy guns, were a dark,
unreasoning force, knowing nothing of us, never accepting expla-
nations. Nothing could get through from us to them, and from
them to us came only angry shouts, the barking of dogs, the
grating of breechblocks, bullets. And they, not we, were always
right.

In Ekibastuz, where they were adding gravel to a railroad bed,
working without a boundary fence but cordoned by guards, a
prisoner took a few steps, inside the permitted area, to get some
bread from his coat, which he had thrown down—and one of the
guards went for him and killed him. The guard, of course, was in
the right. He would receive nothing but thanks. I’'m sure he has
no regrets to this day. Nor did we express our indignation. Need-
less to say, we wrote no letters about it (and if we had, our
complaints would not have gone any further).

On January 19, 1951, our column of five hundred men had
reached work site ARM. On one side of us was the boundary
fence, with no soldiers between us and it. They were about to let
us in through the gates. Suddenly a prisoner called Maloy (“Lit-
tle,” who was in fact a tall, broad-shouldered young man) broke
ranks for no obvious reason and absent-mindedly walked toward
the guard commander. We got the impression that he was not
himself, that he did not know what he was doing. He did not raise
his hand, he made no threatening gesture, he simply walked on,
lost in thought. The officer in charge, a nasty-looking, foppish
little fellow, took fright and started hastily backing away from
Maloy, shouting shrilly, and try as he would, unable to draw his
pistol. A sergeant Tommy-gunner advanced briskly on Maloy and
when he was within a few paces gave him a short burst in the chest
and the belly, slowly backing away in his turn. Maloy slowly
advanced another two paces before he fell, and tufts of wadding
sprang into sight in the back of his jacket, marking the path of the

" invisible bullets. Although Maloy was down, and the rest of the
column had not stirred, the guard commander was so terrified that
he rapped out an order to the soldiers and there was a rattle of
Tommy guns on all sides, raking the air just above our heads; a
machine gun, set up beforehand, began chattering, and many

voices vying with each other in hysterical shrillness screamed: ~

“Lie down! Lie down! Lie down!” While the bullets came lower
and lower, to the level of the boundary wires. There were half a
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thousand of us, but we did not hurl ourselves on the men with the
guas and trample on them; we prostrated ourselves and lay with
our faces buried in the snow, in a humiliating and helpless posi-
tion, lay like sheep for more than a quarter of an hour on that
Epiphany morning. They could easily have shot every last one of
us without having to answer for it: why, this was attempted mu-
tiny!

This was what we were like in the first and second years of the
Special Camps—pathetic, crushed slaves—but enough has been
said about this period in Ivan Denisovich.

How did it come about? Why did so many thousands of these
misused creatures, the 58’s—damn it all, they were political
offenders, and now that they were separated, segregated, concen-
trated, surely they would behave like politicals—why, then, did
they behave so contemptibly, so submissively?

These camps could not have begun differently. Both the op-
pressed and their oppressors had come from Corrective Labor
Camps, and both sides had decades of a master-and-slave tradition
behind them. Their old way of life was transferred with them, they
kept the old way of thinking alive and warm in each other’s minds,
because they traveled a hundred or so at a time from the same
Camp Division. They brought with them to their new place the
firm belief inculcated in all of them that men are rats, that man
eats man, and that it canbe no other way. Each of them brought
with him a concern for his own fate alone, and a total indifference
to the fate of others. He came prepared to give no quarter in the
struggle for a foreman’s job or a trusty’s cozy spot in a warm
kitchen, in the bread-cutting room, in the stores, in the accounts’
office, or in the Culture and Education Section.

When a man is being moved to a new place all by himseif, he
can base his hopes of getting fixed up there only on luck and his
own unscrupulousness. But when men are transported together
over great distances in the same boxcar for two or three or four
weeks, are kept stewing.in the same transit prisons, are marched

_along in the same columns, they have plenty of time to put their
heads together, to judge which of them has a foreman’s fist, which
knows how to crawl to the bosses, to play dirty tricks, to feather
his nest at the expense of the working prisoners—and a close-knit
Jfamily of trusties naturally does not indulge in dreams of freedom
but joins forces to uphold the cause of slavery, clubs together to
seize the key posts in the new camp and keep out trusties from
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elsewhere. While the benighted workers, completely reconciled to
their harsh and hopeless lot, get together to form good work teams
> and find themselves a decent foreman in the new place.

All these people had forgotten beyond recall not only that each
of them was a man, that he carried the divine spark within him,
that he was capable of higher things; they had forgotten, too, that
they need not forever bend their backs, that freedom is as much
man’s right as air, that they were all so-called politicals, and that
there were now no strangers in their midst.

True, there were still a very few thieves among them. The
authorities had despaired of deterring their favorites from fre-
quent attempts to break out (under Article 82 of the Criminal
Code the penalty was not more than two years, and the thieves had
already collected decades and centuries of extra time, so why
should they not run away if there was no one to dissuade them?)
and decided to pin charges under Article 58, Section 14 (economic
sabotage), on would-be escapers.

Altogether not very many thieves went into Special Camps, just
a handful in each transport, but in their code there were enough
of them to bully and insult people, to act as hut wardens and walk
around with sticks (like the two Azerbaijanis in Spassk who were
subsequently hacked to death), and to help the trusties plant on
these new islands of the Archipelago the flag (shit-colored,
trimmed with black) of the foul and slavish Destructive-Labor
Camps.

The camp at Ekibastuz had been set up a year before our arrival
—in 1949—and everything had settled down in the old pattern
brought there in the minds of prisoners and masters. Every hut
had a warden, a deputy warden, and senior prisoners, some of
whom relied on their fists and others on talebearing to keep their
subjects down. There was a separate hut for the trusties, where
they took tea reclining on their bunks and amicably settled the fate
of whole work sites and whole work teams. Thanks to the peculiar
design of the Finnish huts,* there were in each of them separate
cabins occupied ex officio by one or two privileged prisoners.
Work assigners rabbit-punched you, foremen smacked you in the
kisser, warders laid on with the lash. The cooks were a mean and
surly lot. All storerooms were takén over by freedom-loving
Caucasians. Work-assignment duties were monopolized by a
clique of scoundrels who were all supposed to be engineers. Stool
pigeons carried their tales to the Security Section punctually and
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with impunity. The camp, which had started a year ago in tents,
now had a stone jailhouse—which, however, was only half-built
and so always badly overcrowded: prisoners sentenced to the hole
had to wait in line for a month or even two. Law and order had
broken down, no doubt about it! Queuing for the hole! (I was
sentenced to the hole, and my turn never came.)

True, the thieves (or bitches, to be more precise, since they
were not too grand to take posts in the camp) had lost a little -
of their shine in the course of the year. They felt themselves
somehow cramped—they had no rising generation behind
them, no reinforcements in sight, no one eagerly tiptoeing after
them. Things somehow weren’t working out for them. Hut
warden Mageran, when the disciplinary officer introduced him
to the lined-up prisoners, did his best to glower at them de-
fiantly, but self-doubt soon took possession of him and his star
sank ingloriously.

We, like every party of new arrivals, were put under pressure
while we were still taking our bath on admission. The bathhouse
attendants, barbers, and storemen were on edge and ganged up to
attack anyone who tried to make the most diffident complaint
about torn underwear or cold water or the heat-sterilization proce-
dure. They were just waiting for such complaints. Several of them
at once flew at the offender, like a pack of dogs, yelling in unnatu-
rally loud voices—*You aren’t in the Kuibyshev Transit Prison
now”—and shoving their hamlike fists under his nose. (This was
good psychology. A naked man is ten times more vulnerable than
one in clothes. And if newly arrived prisoners are given a bit of
a fright before they emerge from the inaugural bath, they will
begin camp life with their wings clipped.)

That same Volodya Gershuni, the student who had imagined
himself taking a good look around in the camp and deciding
“whom to join,” was detailed on his very first day to strengthen
the camp—by digging.a hole for one of the poles to which lights
were strung. He was too weak to complete his stint. Orderly
Baturin, one of the bitches, who was beginning to sing smaller but
still had a bit of bluster in him, called him a pirate, and struck him
in the face. Gershuni threw down his crowbar and walked right
away from the hole. He went to the commandant’s office, and
made a declaration: “You can put me in the black hole if you like,
but I won’t go to work as long as your pirates hit people.” (The
word “pirate” had particularly upset him, because it was strange
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to him.) His request was not refused, and he spent two consecutive
spells in the black hole, eighteen days in all. (This is how it’s done:
a prisoner is given five or ten days for a start, then when his time
is up, instead of letting him out they wait for him to start protest-
ing and cursing—whereupon they cari legitimately stick him with
a second spell.) After the black hole, they awarded him a further
two months ‘of Disciplinary Barracks—which meant that he
stayed on in the jailhouse but would go out to work at the lime-
kilns and get hot foed and rations according to his output. Realiz-
ing that he was sinking deeper and deeper into the mire, Gershuni
sought salvation through the Medical Section—he hadn’t yet
taken the measure of “Madame” Dubinskaya, who was in charge
of it. He assumed that he could just present his flat feet for inspec-
tion and be excused from the long walk to and from the limekilns.
But they wouldn’t even take him to the Medical Section—the
Ekibastuz Disciplinary Barracks had no use for the out patients’
clinic. Gershuni was determined to get there, and he had heard a
lot about methods of protest, so one morning when the prisoners
were being lined up for work, he stayed on the bed platform,
wearing only his underpants. Two warders, “Polundra” (a crack-
brained ex-sailor) and Konentsov, dragged him off the bed.plat-
form by his feet and hauled him just as he was, in his underpants,
to the line-up. As they dragged him he clutched at stones lying on
the ground, ready for the builders, and tried to hang on to them.
By now he was willing to go to the limekilns—*“Just let me get my
trousers on” he yelled—but they dragged him along just the same.
At the guardhouse, while four thousand men were kept waiting
for their work assignments, this puny boy struggled as they tried
to handcuff him, shouting, “Gestapo! Fascists!” Polundra and
Konentsov, however, forced his head to the ground, put the hand-
cuffs on, and prodded him forward. For some reason, it was not
they who were embarrassed, nor the disciplinary officer, Lieuten-
ant Machekhovsky, but Gershuni himself. How could he walk
through the whole settlement in his underpants? He refused to do
it! A snub-nosed dog handler was standing nearby. Volodya
remembered how he muttered: “Stop making such a fuss—fall in
with the others. You can sit by the fire—you needn’t work.” And
he held tightly onto his dog, which was struggling to break loose
and get at Volodya’s throat, because it could see that this lad was
defying men with blue shoulder tabs! Volodya was removed from
the work-assignment area and taken back to the Disciplinary

N
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Barracks. The handcuffs cut more and more painfully into his
wrists behind his back, and another warder, a Cossack, gripped
him by the throat and winded him with his knee. Then they threw
him on the floor, somebody said in a businesslike, professional
voice, “Thrash him till he himself,” and they started kick-
ing him with their jackboots about the temples and elsewhere,
until he lost consciousness. The next day he was summoned to the
Chief Security Officer, and they tried to pin a charge of errorist
intentions on him—when they were dragging him along he had
clutched at stones! Why?

On another occasion Tverdokhleb tried refusing to report for
work assignment. He also went on a hunger strike—he was not
going to work for Satan! Treating his declarations with contempt,
they forcibly dragged him out. This took place in an ordinary hut,
so that he was able to reach the windowpanes and break them. The
jangle of breaking glass could be heard by the whole line-up, a
dismal accompaniment to the voices of work assngners and ward-
ers counting.

To the droning monotony of our days, weeks, months, years.

And there was no ray of hope in sight. Rays of hope were not
budgeted for in the MVD plan when these camps were set up.

Twenty-five of us newcomers, mostly Western Ukrainians,
banded together in a work team and persuaded the work assigners
to let us choose a foreman from our own number—Pavel Boro-
nyuk, whom I have mentioned before. We made a well-behaved
and hard-working team. (The Western Ukrainians, farm workers
only yesterday and not in collectives, needed no urging on—at
times they had to be reined in!) For some days we were regarded
as general laborers, but then some of us turned out to be skilled
bricklayers, others started learning from them, and so we became
a building brigade. Our bricklaying went well. The bosses noticed
it, took us off the housing project (building homes for free person-
nel), and kept us in the camp area. They showed our foreman the
pile of stones by the Disciplinary Barracks—the same stones
which Gershuni had tried to hang on to—and promised uninter-
rupted deliveries from the quarry. They explained that the Disci-
plinary Barracks as we saw it was only half a Disciplinary Bar-
racks, that the other half must now be built onto it, and that this
would be done by our team.

So, to our shame, we started building a prison for ourselves.

It was a long, dry autumn, not a drop of rain fell throughout
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September and the first half of October. In the mornings it was
calm, then the wind would rise, grow stronger by the middle of
the day, and die away again toward evening. Sometimes this wind
blew continuously, a thin, nagging wind which made you more
painfully aware than ever of the heartbreaking flatness of the
steppe, visible to us even from the scaffolding around the Discipli-
nary Barracks: neither the settlerent with the first factory build-
ings, nor the hamlet where the guards lived, still less the wire
fences around the camp, could conceal from us the endlessness,
the boundlessness, the perfect flatness, and the hopelessness of
that steppe, broken only by the first line of roughly barked tele-
graph poles running northeast to Pavlodar. Sometimes the wind
freshened, and within an hour it would bring in cold weather from
Siberia, forcing us to put on our padded jackets and whipping our
faces unmercifully with the coarse sand and small stones which it
swept along over the steppe. There is nothing for it; it will be
simpler if I repeat the poem that I wrote at this time while I was
helping to build the Disciplinary Barracks.

THE MASON
Like him of whom the poet sings, a mason, I
Tame the wild stones to make a jail. No city jail—
Here naught but fences, huts, and guard towers meets the eye,
And in the limpid sky the watchful buzzards sail.
None but the wind moves on the steppe—none to inquire
For whom I raise these walls . . . why dogs, machine guns, wire
Are still not jail enough. Trowel in hand, I too
Work thoughtlessly until—*“The wall is out of truel
You’ll be the first inside!” The major’s easy jest
Adds naught to my fears. Informers have played their role.
My record is pocked like a face marked by black pest;
Neat brackets tie me to others bound. for the hole.
Breaking, trimming, hammer to merry hammer calls.
Wall after gloomy wall springs up, walls within walls.
While we mix mortar we smoke, and await with delight—
Extra bread, extra slops in our basins tonight.
Back on our perch, we peer into cells walled with stones—
Black pits whose depths will muffle tortured comrades’ groans.
Our jailers, like us, have no link with the world of men
But the endless road and the humming wires overhead. . . .
Oh, God, how lost we are, how impotent!
Was ever slave more abject, hope more dead!
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Slaves! Not so much because, frightened by Major Mak-
simenko’s threats, we took care to lay the stones crisscross, with
an honest layer of mortar between them, so that future prisoners
would not easily be able to pull that wall down. But because even
though we somewhat underfulfilled our norm, our team of prison
builders was issued with supplementary rations, and instead of
flinging them in the major’s face we ate them. Our comrade Volo-
dya Gershuni was sitting at that very time in the completed wing
of the Disciplinary Barracks. And Ivan Spassky, for no known
offense, but because of some mysterious black mark on his record,
was already in the punishment cells. And for many of us the future
held a spell in that same Disciplinary Barracks, in the very cells
which we were building with such precision and efficiency. During
working hours, when we were nimbly handling stones and mortar,
shots suddenly rang out over the steppe. Shortly after, a prison van
drove up to the guardhouse, where we were (it was assigned to the
guard unit, a genuine prison van such as you see in towns—but
they hadn’t painted “Drink Soviet Champagne” on its sides for
the benefit of the gophers).* Four men were bundled out of the
van, all of them battered and covered with blood. Two of them
stumbled, one was pulled out; only the first out, Ivan Vorobyov,
walked proudly and angrily.

They led the runaways past us, right under our feet, under the
catwalks we stood on, and turned with them into the already
completed right wing of the Disciplinary Barracks. . . .

While we . . . went on laying our stones.

Escapel What desperate courage it took! Without civilian
clothes, without food, with empty hands, to cross the fence under
fire and run into the bare, waterless, endless open steppe! It wasn’t
a rational idea—it was an act of defiance, a proud means of sui-
cide. A form of resistance of which only the strongest and boldest
among us were capable!

But we . . . went on laying our stones.

And talking it over. This was the second escape attempt in a
month. The first had also failed—but that had been rather a silly
one. Vasily Bryukhin (nicknamed “Blyuker’’), Mutyanov the en-
gineer, and another formier Polish officer had dug a hole, one cubic
meter in capacity, under the room in which they worked in the
engineering shop, settled down in it with a stock of food, and
covered themselves over. They naively expected that in the eve-
ning the guard would be taken off the working area as usual, and
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that they would then be able to climb out and leave. But when at
knocking-off time three men were missed, with no breaks in the
wire to account for it, guards were left on duty round the clock
for days. During this time people walked about over their heads,
and dogs were brought in—but the men in hiding held petrol-
soaked wadding by a crack in the floor to throw the dogs off the
scent. Three days and nights they sat there without talking or
stirring, with their legs and arms contorted and entwined, three
of them in a space of one cubic meter, until at last they could stand
it no longer and came out.

Other teams came back into the camp area and told us how
Vorobyov’s group had tried to escape: they had burst through the
fences in a lorry. .

Another week. We were still laying stones. The layout of the
second wing of the Disciplinary Barracks was now clearly discern-
ible—here would be the cozy little punishment cells, here the
solitary-confinement cells, here the “box rooms.” We had by now
erected a huge quantity of stone in a little space, and they kept
bringing more and more of it from the quarries: the stone cost
nothing, labor in the quarries or on the site cost nothing; only the
cement was an expense to the state.

The week went by, time enough for the four thousand of Ekibas-
tuz to reflect that trying to escape was insanity, that it led no-
where. And—on another equally sunny day—shots rang out again
on the steppe. An escapelll It was like an epidemic: again the guard
troops’ van sped into the camp, bringing two of them (the third
had been killed on the spot). These two—Batanov and another, a
small, quite young man—were led past us, all bloody, to the
completed wing, there to be beaten, stripped, tossed onto the bare
floor, and left without food or drink. What are your feelings, slave,
as you look upon them, mangled and proud? Surely not a mean
satisfaction that it is not you who have been caught, not you who
have been beaten up, not you.who have been doomed.

“Get on with it—we’ve got to finish the left wing soon!” yells
Maksimenko, our potbellied major.

And we . . . lay our stones. We shall get extra kasha in the
evening.

Captain Second Class Burkovsky carries the mortar. Whatever
is built, he thinks, is for the good of the Motherland.

In the evening we were told that Batanov, too, had tried to
break out in a lorry. It had been stopped by gunfire.
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Surely you have understood by now, you slaves, that running
away is suicide, that no one will ever succeed in running farther
than one kilometer, that your lot is to work and to die.

Less than five days later, no shots were heard—but it was as
though the sky were of metal and someone was banging on it with
a huge iron bar when the news came. An escape! Another escapell!
And this time a successful one.

The escape on Sunday, September 17, was executed so neatly
that the evening inspection went off without trouble—as far as the
screws could see, the numbers tallied. It was only on the morning
of the eighteenth that their sums wouldn’t work out right—and
work line-up was canceled for a general recount. There were
several inspections on the central tract, then inspections by huts,
inspections by work teams, then a roll call from filing cards—the
dogs couldn’t count anything except the money in the till. They
arrived at a different answer every time! They still didn’t know
how many had run away, who exactly, when, where to, and
whether on foot or with a vehicle.

By now it was Monday evening, but they gave us no dinner (the
cooks, too, had been turned out onto the central tract to help with
the countingl), but we didn’t mind. We were only too happy! Every
successful escape is a great joy to other prisoners! However bru-
tally the guards behave afterward, however harsh discipline
becomes, we don’t mind a bit, we’re only too happy! What d’you

think of that, you dogs! Some of us have escaped! (We look our
masters in the eye, all the time secretly thinking: Let them not be
caught! Let them not; B2 caught!)

What is more, they didn’t lead us out to work, and Monday
went by like a second day off. (A good thing the lads hadn’t legged
it on Saturday! They’d taken care not to spoil our Sunday for usf)

But who were they? Who were they?

On Monday evening the news went round: Georgi Tenno and
Kolya Zhdanok.

We built the prison higher. We had already made the straight
arches over the doors, built above the little window spaces, and
we were now leaving sockets for the beams.

Three days since they had escaped: Seven. Ten. Fifteen.

Still no news!

They had got awayll



Chapter 4

'Why Did We Stand For It?

Among my readers there is a certain educated Marxist Histo-
rian. Sitting in his soft armchair, and leafing through this book to
the passage about how we built the Disciplinary Barracks, he takes
off his glasses, taps the page with something flat, a ruler perhaps,
and nods his head repeatedly.

“Yes, yes . . . This bit I can believe. But all that stuff about the
—er—whiff of revolution. T'll be damned if I do! You could not
have a revolution, because revolutions take place in accordance
with the laws of history. In your case all that had happened was
that a few thousand so-called “politicals” were picked up—and
did what? Deprived of human appearance, of dignity, family,
freedom, clothing, food—what did you do? Why didn’t you re-
volt?”

“We were earning our rations. I told you—building a prison.”

“That’s fine. Just what you should have been doing! It was
for the good of the people. It was the only correct solution.
But don’t call yourselves revolutionaries, my friends! To make
a revolution you must be linked wnth the one and only pro-
gressive class. .

“Yes, but weren’t we all workers by then?”

_ “That is neither here nor there. That is a philistine quibble.
‘Have you any idea what historical necessity means?”

I rather think I have. I honestly have. I have an idea that when
camps with millions of prisoners exist for forty years—that’s
where we can see historical necessity at work. So many millions,
for so many years, cannot be explained by Stalin’s vagaries or
‘Beria’s perfidy, by the naive trustfulness of the ruling party, o’er

78
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which the light of the Vanguard Doctrine never ceased to shine.
But I won’t cast this example of historical necessity in my oppo-
nent’s teeth. He would only smile sweetly and tell me that that was
not the subject under discussion, that I was straying from the
point.

He sees that I am at a loss, that I have no clear conception of
historical necessity, and explains:

“Those were revolutionaries, who rose up and swept Tsarism
away with their broom. Very simple. If Tsar Nicky had so much
as tried to squeeze his revolutionaries so hard! If he had just tried
to pin numbers on them! If he had even tried . . .”

“You are right. He didn’t try. He didn’t try, and that’s the only
reason why they survived to try it when he had gone.”

“But he couldn’t try it! He couldn’t!”

. Probably also correct. Not that he might not have liked to—but
that he couldn’t.

In the conventional Cadet (let alone socialist) interpretation,
the whole of Russian history is a succession of tyrannies. The
Tatar tyranny. The tyranny of the Moscow princes. Five centuries
of indigenous tyranny on the Oriental model, and of a social order
firmly and frankly rooted in slavery. (Forget about the Assemblies
of the Land,* the village commune, the free Cossacks, the free
peasantry of the North.) Whether it is Ivan the Terrible, Alexis
the Gentle, heavy-handed Peter, or velvety Catherine, all the
Tsars right up to the Crimean War knew one thing only—how to
crush. To crush their subjects like beetles or caterpillars. If a man
was sentenced to hard labor and deportation, they pricked on his
body the letters “SK”* and chained him to his wheelbarrow. The
state bore hard on its subjects; it was unflinchingly firm. Mutinies
and uprisings were invariably crushed.

Only ... only... Crushed, yes, but the word needs qualification.
Not crushed in our modern technical sense. After the war with
Napoleon, when our army came back from Europe, the first
breath of freedom passed over Russian society. Faint as it was, the
Tsar had to reckon with it. The common soldiers, for instance,
who took part in the Decembrist rising®*—was a single one of them
strung up? Was a single one shot? And in our day would a single
one of them have been left alive? Neither Pushkin nor Lermontov
could be simply put inside for a tenner—roundabout ways of
dealing with them had to be found. “Where would you have been
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in Petersburg on December 14?” Nicholas I asked Pushkin. Push-
kin answered honestly, “On the Senate Square.”* And by way of
punishment . . . he was told to go home! Whereas all of us who
have felt on our own hides the workings of a mechanized judicial
system, and of course all our friends in public prosecutors’ offices,
know the proper price for Pushkin’s answer: Article 58, Section
2 (armed insurrection), or—the mildest possible treatment—Arti-
cle 19 (criminal intent)—and if not shooting, certainly nothing
short of a tenner. Our Pushkins had heavy sentences slapped on
them, went to the camps, and died. (Gumilyev never even got as
far as a camp; they settled accounts with him in a cellar.)

Of all her wars, the Crimea was Russia’s luckiest! It brought the
emancipation of the peasants and Alexander’s reforms, and what
is more, the greatest of social forces—public opinion—appeared
simultaneously in.Russia.

On the face of it the Siberian katorga went on festering, and
even spread: more transit prisons were brought into operation,
prisoners were still transported in droves, courts were always in
session. But what is this? The courts were in session but Vera
Zasulich, who shot at the chief of police in the capital (1), was
acquitted?

Seven attempts were made on the life of Alexander II himself
(Karakozov’s;' Solovyov’s; one near Aleksandrovsk; one outside
Kursk; Khalturin’s explosion; Teterka’s mine; Grinevitsky). Alex-
ander 11 went around Petersburg with fear in his eyes (but, inci-
dentally, without a bodyguard), “like a hunted animal” (accord-
ing to Tolstoi, who met the Tsar on the staircase of a private
house).2 What did he do about it? Ruin and banish half Peters-
burg, as happened after Kirov’s murder? You know very well that
such a thing could never enter his head. Did he apply the methods
of prophylactic mass terror? Total terror, as in 1918? Take kos-
tages? The concept didn’t exist. Imprison dubious persons? It
simply wasn’t possible. . . . Execute thousands? They executed
... five. Fewer than three hundred were convicted by the courts

in this period. (If just one such attempt had been made on Stalin,

1. Karakozov, incidentally, hed a brother. Brother of the man who tried to shoot the
Tsar! Measure that by our yardstick. What was his punishment? “He was ordered to
chansehmnamewVMmuov”Hemﬂ'uednuthalmsofpmputynghtsmmmcuom

2. Lev Tolstoi v Vaspominaniakh Sovremennikov (Lev Tolstoi Remembered by His Can-
temporaries), Vol. 1, 1955, p. 180.
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how many million lives would it have cost us?)

The Bolshevik Olminsky -writes that in 1891 he was the only
political prisoner in the whole Kresty Prison. Transferred to Mos-
cow, he was the only one in the Taganka. It was only in the
Butyrki, awaiting deportation, that a small party .of them was
assembled.

With every year of education and literary freedom the invisible
but terrible power of public opinion grew, until the Tsars lost their
grip on both reins and mane, and Nicholas II could only clutch
at crupper and tail. It is true that the inertial undertow of dynastic
tradition prevented him from understanding the demands of his
age, and that he lacked the courage to act. In the age of airplanes
and electricity he still lacked all social awareness, and thought of
Russia as his own rich and richly variegated estate, in which to
levy tribute, breed stallions, and raise armies for a bit of a war now
and again with his imperial brother of the house of Hohenzollern.
But neither he, nor any of those who governed for him, any longer
had the will to fight for their power. They no longer crushed their
enemies; they merely squeezed them gently and let them go. They
were forever looking over their shoulders and straining their ears:
what would public opinion say? They persecuted revolutionaries
just sufficiently to broaden their circle of acquaintance in prisons,
toughen them, and ring their heads with haloes. We now have an
accurate yardstick to establish the scale of these phenomena—and
we can safely say that the Tsarist government did not persecute
revolutionaries but tenderly nurtured them, for its own destruc-
tion. The uncertainty, half-heartedness, and feebleness of the Tsar- _
ist government are obvious to all who have experienced an infalli-
ble judicial system.

Let us examine, for instance, some generally known biographi-
cal facts about Lenin. In spring, 1887, his brother was executed
for an attempt on the life of Alexander ITI.> Like Karakozov’s
brother, Lenin was the brother of a would-be regicide. And what

3. It was incidentally established in the course of investigation that Anna Ulyanova had
received a coded telegram from Vilna: “Sister dangerously ill,” which meant *“Weapons
on the way.” Anna was not surprised, although she had no sister in Vilna, and for some
reason passed it on to Aleksandr; she was cbviously his accomplice, and in our day she
could have been sure of a tenner. BntAnnawasnmwmnskedtoaccountfont!lnthe
same case it was blished that her Anna (Serdyukova), a sch her at
Yekaterinodar, hadd:reaknawledgeoftheglannedammonﬂ:eTw.mquﬂmlmL
What would have happened to her in our time? She would have been shot. And what did
they give her? Two years . . .
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happened to him? In the autumn of that very year Vladimir Ulya-
nov was admitted to the Imperial University at Kazan, and what
is more, to the Law Faculty! Surprising, isn’t it?

True, Vladimir Ulyanov was expelled from the university in the
same academic year. But this was for organizing a student demon-
stration against the government. The younger brother of a would-
be regicide inciting students to insubordination? What would he
have got for that in our day? He would certainly have been shot!
(And of the rest, some would have got twenty-five and others ten
years.) Whereas he was merely expelled. Such cruelty! Yes, but he
was also banished. . . . To Sakhalin?* No, to the family estate of
Kokushkino, where he intended to spend the summer anyway. He
wanted to work—so they gave him an opportunity. . . . To fell
trees in the frozen north? No, to practice law in Samara, where
he was simultaneously active in illegal political circles. After this
he was allowed to take his examinations at St. Petersburg Univer-
sity as an external student. (With his curriculum vitae? What was
the Special Section thinking of?)

Then a few years later this same young revolutionary was ar-
rested for founding in the capital a “League of Struggle for the
Liberation of the Working Class”—no less! He had repeatedly
made “seditious” speeches to workers, had written political leaf-
lets. Was he tortured, starved? No, they created for him conditions
conducive to intellectual work. In the Petersburg investigation
prison, where he was held for a year, and where he was allowed
to receive the dozens of books he needed, he wrote the greater part
of The Development of Capitalism in Russia, and, moreover, for-
warded—Ilegally, through the Prosecutor’s Office—his Economic
Essays to the Marxist journal Novoye Slovo. While in prison, he
followed a prescribed diet, could have dinners sent in at his own
expense, buy milk, buy mineral water from a chemist’s shop, and
receive parcels from home three times a week. (Trotsky, too, was
able to put the first draft of his theory of permanent revolution on
paper in the Peter and Paul Fortress.)

But then, of course, he was condemned by a three-man tribunal
and shot? No, he wasn’t even jailed, only banished. To Yakutya,
then, for life? No, to a land of plenty, Minusinsk, and for three
years. He was taken there in handcuffs? In a prison train? Not at

4. There were, incidentally, political prisoners on Sakhalin. But, as it happened, not a
single notable Bolshevik (or for that matter Menshevik) was ever there.
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alll He traveled like a free man, went around Petersburg for three
days without interference, then did the same in Moscow—he had
to leave instructions for clandestine correspondence, establish
connections, hold a conference of revolutionaries still at large. He
was even allowed to go into exile at his own expense—that is, to
travel with free passengers. Lenin never sampled a single convict
train or a single transit prison on his way out to Siberia or, of
course, on the return journey. Then, in Krasnoyarsk, two more
months’ work in the library saw The Development of Capitalism
finished; and this book, written by a political exile, appeared in
print without obstruction from the censorship. (Measure that by
our yardstickl) But what would he live on in that remote village,
where he would obviously find no work? He asked for an allow-
ance from the state, and they paid him more than he needed. It
would have been impossible to create better conditions than Lenin
enjoyed in his one and only period of banishment. A healthy diet,
at extremely low prices, plenty of meat (a sheep every week), milk,

vegetables; he could hunt to his heart’s content (when he was
dissatisfied with his dog, friends seriously considered sending him
one from Petersburg; when mosquitoes bit him while he was out
hunting, he ordered kid gloves); he was.cured of his gastric disor-
ders and the other illnesses of his youth, and rapidly put on
weight. He had no obligations, no work to do; no duties, nor did
his womenfolk exert themselves; for two and a half rubles a
montbh, a fifteen-year-old peasant girl did all the rough work about
the house. Lenin had no need to write for money, turned down
offers of paid work from Petersburg, and wrote only things which
could bring him literary fame.

. He served his term of banishment (he could have “escaj
without difficulty, but was too circumspect for that). Was his
sentence automatically extended? Converted to deportation for
life? How could it be—that would have been illegal. He was given
permission to reside in Pskov, on condition that he did not visit
the capital. He did visit Riga and Smolensk. He was not under
surveillance. Then he and his friend (Martov):took a basket of
forbidden literature to the capital, traveling via Tsarskoye Selo,
where there were particularly strict controls (they had been too
clever by half). He was picked up in Petersburg. True, he no longer
had the basket, but he did have a letter to Plekhanov in invisible
ink with the whole plan for launching Iskra. * The police, though,
could not put themselves to all that trouble; he was under arrest
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and in a cell for three weeks, the letter was in their hands—and
it remained undeciphered.

What was the result of this unauthorized absence from Pskov?
Twenty years’ hard labor, as it would have been in our time? No,
just those three weeks -under arrest! ‘After which he was freed
completely, to travel around Russia setting up distribution centers
for Iskra, then abroad, to arrange publication (“the police see no
objection” to granting him a passport for foreign travell). ’

But this was the least of it! As an émigré he would send home
to Russia an article on Marx for the Granat Encyclopedia! And
it would be printed.* Nor was it the only one!

Finally, he carried on subversive activity from a little town in
Austrian Poland, near the Russian frontier, but no one sent under-
cover thugs to abduct him and bring him back alive. Though it
would have been the easiest thing in the world.

Tsardom was always weak and irresolute in pursuit of its ene-
mies—you can trace the same pattern in the story of any impor-
tant Social Democrat (Stalin in particular—though here suspicion
of other contributory factors insinuates itself). Thus, in 1904
Kamenev’s room in Moscow was searched and “compromising
correspondence”, was seized. Under interrogation he refused all
explanation. And that was that. He was banished—to his parents’
place of residence.

The SR’s, it is true, were persecuted more severely. But how
severely? Would you say that Gershuni (arrested in 1903) had no
serious crimes to answer for? Or Savinkov (arrested in 1506)?
They organized the assassination of some of the highest-placed
people in the empire. Yet they were not executed. Then Mariya
Spiridonova was allowed to escape. She shot General Lu-
zhenovsky, who put down the peasant rising in Tambov, shot him
point-blank, and once again they could not bring themselves to
execute a terrorist, and only sent her to forced labor.¢ Just imagine
what would have happened if a seventeen-year-old schoolgirl had
shot the suppressor of the 1921 peasant rising (also in Tambov!)
—how many thousands of high school pupils and intellectuals

5. Just imagine the Bolshaya Entsiklopedia publishing an émigré article on Berdyayev.
6. She was released from forced labor by the February Revolution. But then in 1918 she
was arrested on a number of occasions by the Cheka. Like other socialists, she was shuffled,
redealt, and finally discarded in the Great Game of Patience. She spent some time in exile

in Samarkand, Tashkent, and Ufa. Afterward her trail is lost in one of the political
“isolators.” Somewhere or other she was shot.
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would have been summarily shot without trial in the wave of
“retaliatory” red terror?

Were people shot for the naval mutiny at Sveaborg? No, just
exiled.

Ivanov-Razumnik recalls how students were punished (for the
great demonstration in Petersburg in 1901). The scene in the
Petersburg prison was like a student picnic—roars of laughter,
community singing, students walking around freely from cell to
cell. Ivanov-Razumnik ‘even had the .impertinence to ask the
prison governor to let him attend a performance by the touring
company of the Moscow Art Theatre, so as not to waste his ticket!
Later he was sentenced to banishment—to Simferopol, which-was
his own choice, and he hiked all over the Crimea with a rucksack.

Ariadna Tyrkova writes about this period as follows: “We stuck
to our principles, and the prison regime was not strict.” Gendarme
officers offered them meals from the best restaurant, Dodon’s.
According to the indefatigably curious Burtsev, “The Petersburg
prisons were much more humane than those of Western Europe.”

For calling on the Moscow workers to rise up in arms (f) and
overthrow (I) the autocracy, Leonid Andreyev was . . . kept in a
cell for fifteen whole days. (He himself thought it was rather little,
and added three weeks in his own account.) Here are some entries
in his diary at the time:” “Solitary confinement! Never mind, it’s
not so bad. I make my bed, pull up my stool and my lamp, put
some cigarettes and a pear nearby. . . . I read, eat my pear—just
like home. I feel merry. That’s the word, merry.” “Sirl Excuse me,
sirl” The warder calls to him through the feeding hatch. Several
books have arrived. And notes from neighboring cells.

Summing it up, Andreyev acknowledged that as far as board
and lodging were concerned, hehvedbettermhlscellthanhehad
as a student.

At this very time Gorky was writing Children of the Sun in the
Trubetskoi Bastion.

The Bolshevik elite published a pretty shameless piece of self-
advertisement in the shape of Volume 41 of the Granat Encyclope-
dia: “Prominent Personalities of the U.S.S.R. and the October
Revolution—Autobiographies and Biographies.” Read whichever
of them you like; you will be astounded to find how lightly by our
standards they got away with their revolutionary activity. And, in

7. Quoted from V. L. Andreyev, Detstvo (Childhood).
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particular, what favorable conditions they enjoyed in prison. Take
Krasin, for instance: “he always remembered imprisonment in the
Taganka with great pleasure. After the initial interrogations the
gendarmes left him in peace’ (why?), “and he devoted his involun-
tary leisure to unremitting toil: he learned German, read almost
all the works of Schiller and Goethe in the original, acquainted
himself with Schopenhauer and Kant, thoroughly studied Mill’s
Logic and Bundt’s psychology,” and so on. For his place of exile
Krasin chose Irkutsk, the capital of Siberia and its most civilized
town.

This is Radek, in prison in Warsaw in 1906. He “was in for half
a year, of which he made splendid use, learning Russian, reading
Lenin, Plekhanov, and Marx. While in prison, he wrote his first
article [on the trade union movement] . . . and was terribly proud
when he received [in jail] the issue of Kautsky’s journal containing
his contribution.”

At the other extreme, Semashko’s “imprisonment [Moscow,
1895] was unusually harsh”: after three months in jail he was
exiled for three years . . . to his native town, Yelets!

The reputation of the “terrible Russian Bastille” was created in
the West by people demoralized by imprisonment, like Parvus,
who wrote his highly colored, bombastic-sentimental reminis-
cences to avenge himself on Tsarism.

The same pattern can be traced in the experience of lesser
personalities, in thousands of individual life stories.

I have on hand an encyclopedia, not the most obviously rele-
vant, since it is the Literary Encyclopedia, and an old edition at
that (1932), complete with “errors.” Before someone eradicates
these “errors” I will take the letter “K” at random.

Karpenko-Kary. While secretary to the city police (!) in Yeliza-
vetgrad, provided passports for revolutionaries. (Translating as we
go into our own language: an official in the passport section sup-
plied an underground organization with passports!) Was he . . .
hanged for it? No, banished for . . . 5 (five) years—to his own farm!
In other words, to his country home. He became a writer.

Kirillov, V. T. Took part in the revolutionary movement of the
Black Sea sailors. Shot? Hard labor for life? No; three years’
banishment to Ust-Sysolsk. Became a writer.

Kasatkin, I. M. While in prison wrote stories which were pub-
lished in newspapers! (In our time even ex-prisoners cannot get
published.)
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Karpov, Yevtikhi-After two (1) periods of banishment, was put
in charge of the Imperial Aleksandrinsky Theatre and the Suvorin
Theatre. (In our time he would never have obtained permission to
reside in the capital; and in any case the Special Section would not
have taken him on as a prompter.)

Krzhizhanovsky returned from banishment when the “Stolypin
reaction”* was at its wildest and (while remaining a member of -
the underground Bolshevik Central Committee) took up his pro-
fession as an engineer without hindrance. (In our time he would
have been lucky to find a job as mechanic in a Machine and
Tractor Stationf)-

Although Krylenko hasn’t got into the Literary Encyclopedia,
it seems only right to mention him among the “K” ’s. In all his
years as a revolutionary hothead he three times “successfully
avoided arrest™® and was six times arrested, but spent in all only
fourteen months in prison. In 1907 (that year of reaction again)
he was accused of agitation among the troops and participation in
a military organization—and acquitted by the Military District
Court (). In 1915, for “evading military service” (he was an
officer, and there was a war on), this future commander in chief
(and murderer of his predecessor in that post) was punished by
being . . . sent to a front-liné {but not a punitive) unit. (This was
how the Tsar’s government' proposed to damp down the fires of
revolution while simultaneously defeating the Germans. . . .) And
for fifteen years it was under the shadow of his unclipped
procuratorial wing that the endless lines of those condemned in
countless trials shuffied through the courts to receive their bullet
in the back of the head.-

During the Stofi§in reaction again, V. A. Staroselsky, governor
of Kutaisi, who unhesitatingly supplied revolutionaries with pass-
ports and arms, and betrayed the plans of the police and the
government forces to them, got away with something like two
weeks’ imprisonment.’

Translate that into our language, if you have imagination
enough!

During this same “reactionary” phase the Bolshevik philosoph-
ical and political journal Mys! was legally published. And the

8. This and what follows is taken from his autobiography in the Granat Encyelopedia,

Vol. 41, pp. 237-245.
9. “Tovarishch Gubernator” (“Comrade Governor”), Novy Mir, 1966, No. 2.
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“reactionary” Vekhi openly wrote about the “obsolete autoc-
racy,” “the evils of despotism and slavery”—fine, keep it up; we
don’t mind a bit!

The severity of those times was beyond human endurance. V.
K. Yanovsky, an art photographer in Yalta, made a sketch show-
ing the shooting of the Ochakov sailors and exhibited it in his
shopwindow (much as if someone nowadays had exhibited epi-
sodes from the punitive operation at Novocherkassk®* in a window
on Kuznetsky Most). And what did the Yalta police chief do?
Because Livadia* was so near he behaved with particular cruelty.
He began by shouting at Yanovsky. And he went on to destroy
. . . not Yanovsky’s studio—oh, dear, no—not the sketch of the
shooting, but . . . a copy of the sketch. (Some will explain this by
Yanovsky’s sleight of hand. But let us note that the governor did
not order the window to be broken in his presence.) Thirdly; a very
heavy penalty was inflicted on Yanovsky himself: as long as he
continued to reside in Yalta he must not appear in the street
. . . while the imperial family was passing through.

Burtsev, in an émigré journal, went so far as to cast aspersions
on the private life of the Tsar. When he returned to the Mother-
land (on the flood tide of patriotism in 1914)—was he shot? He
spent less than a year in prison, with permission to receive books
and to carry on his literary pursuits.

No one stayed the axman’s hand. And in the end the tree would
fall.
When Tukhachevsky was “repressed,” as they call it, not only
was his immediate family broken up and imprisoned (it hardly
needs to be said that his daughter was expelled from her institute),
but his two brothers and their wives, his four sisters and their
husbands, were all arrested, while all his nephews and nieces were
scattered about various orphanages and their surnames changed
to Tomashevich, Rostov, etc. His wife was shot in a camp in
Kazakhstan, his mother begged for alms on the streets of Astra-
khan and died there." Similar stories can be told about the rela-
tives of hundreds of other eminent victims. That is real persecu-
tion!

The most important special feature of persecution (if you can

10. I cite this example in sympathy for his innocent relatives. Tukhachevsky himself is
becoming the cbject of a new cult, to which I do not intend to subscribe. What he reaped,
he had sown when he directed the suppression of the Kronstadt rising and of the peasant
rising in Tambov.



Why Did We Stand For It? | 89

call it that) in Tsarist times was perhaps just this: that the revolu-
tionary’s relatives never suffered in the least. Natalya Sedova
(Trotsky’s wife) returned to Russia without hindrance in 1907,
when Trotsky was a condemned criminal. Any member of the
Ulyanov family (though nearly all of them were arrested at one
time or another) could readily obtain permission to go abroad at
any moment. When Lenin was on the “wanted” list for his exhor-
tations to armed uprising, his sister Anna legally and regularly.
transferred money to his account with the Crédit Lyonnais in
Paris. Both Lenin’s mother and Krupskaya’s mother as long as
they lived received state pensions for their deceased husbands—
one a high-ranking civil servant, the other an army officer—and
it would have been unthinkable to make life hard for them.

Such were the circumstances in which Tolstoi came to believe
that only ‘moral self-improvement was necessary, not political
freedom.

Of course, no one is in need of freedom if he already has it. We
can agree with him that political freedom is not what matters in
the end. The goal of human evolution is not freedom for the sake
of freedom. Nor is it the building of an ideal polity. What matter,
of course, are the moral foundations of society. But that is in the
long run: what about the beginning? What about the first step?
Yasnaya Polyana in those days was an open club for thinkers. But
if it had beeén blockaded as Akhmatova’s apartment was when
every visitor was asked for his passport, if Tolstoi had been pressed
as hard as we all were in Stalin’s time, when three men feared to
come together under one roof, even’ he would have demanded
political freedom.

At the most dreadful moment of the Stolypin terror the liberal
newspaper Rus was allowed to report, in bold type on its front
page: “Five executions!” “Twenty executed at Kherson!” Tolstoi
broke down and wept, said that he couldn’t go on living, that it
was impossible to imagine anything more horrible.

Then there is the previously mentioned list in Byloye: 950 exe-
cutions in six months.”

Let us take this issue of Byloye. Note that it appeared well
within the eight-month period of Stolypin’s “military justice”
(August, 1906—April, 1907), and that the list was compiled from

11. Tolstoy v Vaspominaniakh Sovremennikov, Vol. 11, 1955, p. 232.
12. Byloye, No. 2/14, February, 1907.
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, data published by Russian news agencies. Much as though the
Moscow papers in 1937 had given lists of those shot, which were
then collated and republished, with the NKVD tamely turning a
blind eye.

Secondly, this eight-month period of martial justice, which had
no precedent and was not repeated in Tsarist Russia, could not be
prolonged because the “impotent” and “docile” State Duma
would not ratify such measures (indeed, Stolypin.did not venture
to submit them to the Duma for discussion).

Thirdly, the events during the previous six months invoked in
justification of “military law” included the “murder of innumera-
ble police officers for political motives,” “many attacks on offi-
cials,”" and the explosion on Aptekarsky Island. If, it was argued,
“the state does not put a stop to these terrorist acts then it will
forfeit its right to exist.” So Stolypin’s ministry, impatient and
angry with the jury courts and their leisurely inconsequences,
their powerful and uninhibited bar (not a bit like our oblast courts
or district tribunals, obedient to a telephone call), snatched at a
chance to curb the revolutionaries (and also straightforward ban-
dits, who shot at the windows of passenger trains and killed ordi-
nary citizens for a few rubles) by means of the laconic court-
martial. (Even so there were restrictions: a court-martial could be
set up only in places in which martial law or a state of emergency
had been declared; it convened only when the evidence of crime
was fresh, not more than twenty-four hours after the event, and
when a crime had manifestly been ¢committed.) -

If contemporaries were stunned and shocked, it was obviously
because this was something new to Russial

In the 1906-1907 situation we see that the revolutionaries must
take their share of the blame for the “Stolypin terror,” as well as
the government. A hundred years after the birth of revolutionary
terror, we can say without hesitation that the terrorist idea and
terrorist actions were a hideous mistake on the part of the revolu-
tionaries and a disaster for Russia, bringing her nothing but confu-
sion, grief, and inordinate human losses.

Let us turn over a few more pages in the same number of By-
loye.* Here is one of the earliest proclamations, dating from 1862,
which were the start of it all.

13. The article in Byloye cited above does not deny these facts.
14. Byloye, 2/14, p. 82.
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“What is it that we want? The good, the happiness of Russia.
Achieving a new life, a better life, without casualties is impossible,
because we cannot afford delay—we need speedy, immediate re-
form!”

What a false path! They, the zealots, could not afford to wait,
and so they sanctioned human sacrifice (of others, not themselves)
to bring universal happiness nearer! They could not afford to wait,
and so we, their great-grandsons, are not at the same point as they
were (when the peasants were freed), but much farther behind.

Let us admit that the terrorists were worthy partners of Stoly-
pin’s courts-martial.

What for us makes comparison between the Stolypin and the
Stalin periods impossible is that in our time the barbarity was all
on one side: heads were cut off for a sigh or for less than a sigh.'

“Nothing more horrible!” exclaimed Tolstoi. It is, however,
very easy to imagine things more horrible. It is more horrible
when executions take place not from time to time, and in one
particular city of which everybody knows, but everywhere and
every day; and not twenty but two hundred at a time, with the
newspapers saying nothing about it in print big or small, but
saying instead that “life has become better, life has become more
cheerful.”

They bash your face in, and say it was always ugly.

No, things weren’t the same! Not at all the same, although the
Russian state even then was considered the most oppressive in
Europe.

The twenties and thirties of our century have deepened man’s
understanding of the possible degrees of compression. The terres-
trial dust, the earth which seemed to our ancestors as compact as
may be, is now seen by physicists as a sieve full of holes. An
isolated speck in a hundred meters of emptiness—that is a model
of the atom. They have discovered the nightmarish possibility of
“atom packing”—forcing all the tiny nuclear specks from all those
hundred-meter vacuums together. A thimbleful of such packing
weighs as much as a normal locomotive. But even this packing is
too much like fluff: the protons prevent you from compressing the
nuclei as tight as you could wish. If you could compress neutrons

15. lsmuwnhmﬂdmuthmwrmhasnhosurmedthﬂoﬁhcﬁmvmthewale

andtechnwallevdofmaummarymxd operations. (Suppression of peasant revolt in
1918-1919; Tambov rising, 1921; Kuban and Kaukhstan. 1930.)
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alone, a postage stamp made of such “neutron packing” would
weigh five million tons!

And that is how tightly they squeezed us, without any help from
pioneering physicists!

Through Stalin’s lips our country was bidden henceforth to
renounce complacency. But under the word used for complacency
Dal* gives “kindness of heart, a loving-state of mind, charity, a
concern for the general good.” That was what we were called upon
to renounce, and we did so in a hurry—renounced all concern for
the general good! Henceforth our own feeding trough was enough
for us!

Russian public opinion by the beginning of the century con-
stituted a marvelous force, was creating a climate of freedom. The
defeat of Tsarism came not when Kolchak was routed, not when
the February Revolution was raging, but much earlier! It was
overthrown without hope of restoration once Russian literature
adopted the convention that anyone who depicted a gendarme or
policeman with any hint of sympathy was a lickspittle and a
reactionary thug; when you didn’t have to shake a policeman’s
hand, cultivate his acquaintance, nod to- him in the'street, but
merely brush sleeves with him in passing to consider yourself
disgraced.

Whereas we have butchers who—because they are now redun-
dant and because their qualifications are right—are in charge of
literature and culture. They order us to extol them as legendary
heroes. And to do so is for some reason called . . . patriotism.

Public opinion! I don’t know how sociologists define it, but it
seems obvious to me that it can only consist of interacting individ-
ual opinions, freely expressed and independent of government or
party opinion.

So long as there is no independent public opinion in our coun-
try, there is no guarantee that the extermination of millions and
millions for no good reason will not happen again, that it will not
begin any night—perhaps this very night.

The Vanguard Doctrine, as we have seen, gave us no protection
against this plague.

But I can see my opponent pulling faces, winking at me, wag-
ging his head. In the first place, the enemy may overhear me. And
secondly, why such a broad treatment of the subject? The question
was posed much more narrowly. It was not why were we jailed?
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Nor why did those who remained free tolerate this lawlessness?
Everyone knows that they didn’t realize what was going on, that
they simply believed (the party)'® that if whole peoples. are ban-
ished in the space of twenty-four hours, those peoples must be
guilty. The question is a different one: Why did we in the camps,
where we did realize what was going on, suffer hunger, bend our
backs, put up with it all, instead of fighting back? The others, who
had never marched under escort, who had the free use of their
arms and legs, could be forgiven for not fighting—they couldn’t,
after all, sacrifice their families, their positions, their wages, their
authors’ fees. They’re making up for it now by publishing critical
reflections in which they reproach us for clinging to our rations
instead of fighting, when we had nothing to lose.

But I have all along been leading up to my answer to this
question. The reason why we put up with it all in the camps is that
there was no public opinion outside.

What conceivable ways has the prisoner of resisting the regime -
to which he is subjected? Obviously, they are:

1. Protest.
2. Hunger strike.
3. Escape.
4. Mutiny.

So, then, it is obvious to anybody. as the Great Deceased liked
to say (and if it isn’t, we’ll ram it into him), that if the first two
have some force (and if the jailers fear them), it is only because
of public opinion! Without that behind us we can protest and fast
as much as we like and they will laugh in our faces!

It is.a yery dramatic way of obtaining your demands—-standmg
before the prison authorities and tearing open your shirt, as
Dzerzhinsky did. But only where public opinion exists. Without
it—you’ll be gagged with the tatters and pay for a government-
issue shirt into the bargain!

Let me remind you of a celebrated event which took place
in the Kara hard-labor prison at the end of the last century.
Political prisoners were informed that in future they would be
liable to corporal punishment. Nadezhda Sigida was due to be
thrashed first (she had slapped the commandant’s face . . . to
force him to resign!). She took poison and died rather than

16. V. Yermilov’s answer to 1. Ehrenburg.
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submit to the birch. Three other women then poisoned them-
selves—and also died! In the men’s barracks fourteen prisoners
volunteered to commit.suicide, though not all of them suc-
ceeded.'” As a result, corporal punishment was abolished out-
right and forever! The prisoners had counted on frightening
the prison- authorities. For news of the tragedy at Kara would
reach Russia, and the whole world.

But if we measure this case against our own experience, we shall
shed only tears of scorn. Smack the commandant’s face? For an
injury inflicted on someone else? And what is so terrible about a
few thwacks across the backside? You’ll go on living! And why did
her women friends take poison, too? And why fourteen men be-
sides? We are only given one life! We must make the best of it! As
long as we get foed and drink, why part with life? Besides, maybe
there will be an amnesty, maybe they’ll start giving us good con-
duct marks.

You see from what a lofty plane prison behavior has declined.
And how low we have fallen. And how by the same token our
jailers have risen in the world! No, these are not the bumpkins of
Karal Even if we had plucked up our courage and risen above
ourselves—four women and fourteen men—we should all have
been shot before we got at any poison. (Where, in any case, would
it come from in a Soviet prison?). If you did manage to poison
yourself, you would only make the task of the authorities easier.
And the rest would be treated to a dose of the birch for not
denouncing you. And needless to say, no word of the occurrence
would ever leak through the boundary wires.

This is the point; ‘this is where their power lies: no news
could leak out. If some muffled rumor did, with no confirma-
tion from newspapers, with informers busily nosing it out, it
would not get far enough to matter: there would be no out-
burst of public indignation. So what is there to fear? So why

17. We may note here some significant details from E. N. Kovalskaya, Zhenskaya
Katorga (Women Political Prisoners), Gosizdat, 1920, pp. 8-9; and G. F. Osmolovsky,
Kariiskaya Tragedia (The Tragedy at Kara), Moscow, 1920. Sigida struck and spat on an
officer for absolutely no_reason, because of the “neurotic atmosphere™ among political
pnwner&Aﬂerth:sthe d officer (Masyukov) asked a political prisoner (Os-

ky) o i 8 him.'l'he, ofth:pnson(Bobmvsky) dled repentant, and
would not even accept consolation from the priest. (If only we had had jailers with
consciences like thesel) Sigida was beaten with her clothes on, and Kovalskaya's dress was
changed by other women, and not, as rumor had it, in the presence of men.
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should they lend an ear to our protests? If you want to poison
yourselves—get on with it.

The hopelessness of our hunger strikes has been sufficiently
shown in Part L.

Escape, then? History has preserved for us accounts of some
major escapes from Tsarist prisons. All of them, let us note, were
engineered and directed from outside—by other revolutionaries,
Party comrades of the escapers, with incidental help from many
sympathizers. Many people were involved in the escape itself, in
concealing the escapers afterward, and in slipping them across the
frontier. (“Ahal” My Marxist Historian has caught me out here.
‘“That was because the population sided with the revolutionaries,
and because the future belonged to them!” “Perhaps also,” I'hum-
bly reply, “because it was all a jolly game, and a legal one? Flutter-
ing your handkerchief from a window, letting a runaway share
your bedroom, helping him with his disguise? These were not
indictable offenses. When Pyotr Lavrov ran away from his place
of banishment, the governor of Vologda [Khominsky] gave his
civil-law wife permission to leave and catch up with her man.

. . Even for forging passports you could just be rusticated to your
own farm, as we saw. People were not afraid—do you know, from
your own experience, what that means? While I think of it, how
is it that you were never inside?” “Well, you know, it was all a
lottery. . . .")

There is, however, evidence of another kind. We were all made
to read Gorky’s Mother at school, and some of you may remember
the account of conditions in the Nizhni Novgorod jail: the warders
had rusty pistols with which they would knock nails into the walls,
and there was no difficulty at all in placing a ladder against the
prison wall and calmly discharging yourself. The high police offi-
cial Ratayev writes as follows: “Banishment existed only on paper.
Prison didn’t exist at all. Prison conditions at that time were such
that a revolutionary who landed in prison could continue his
former activities without hindrance. . . . The Kiev revolutionary
committee were all in jail together, and while there directed a
strike in the city and issued appeals.”"

18. Letter from L. A. Ratayev to P. N. Zuyev in Byloye, No. 2/24, 1917. Ratayev goes
on to speak of the general situation in Russia, outside. “Seqret agents and free-lance
detectives didn't exist anywhere [except in the two capitals—A.S.]. Surveillance was car-
ried out if absolutely necessary by noncommissioned gendarme officers in dasguise. who
sometimes forgot to remove their spurs when they put on civilian clothes, . . . In these
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I have at present no access to information about security at the
principal locations of the Tsarist katorga; but if escape from them
was ever as desperately difficult as it was from their Soviet coun-
terparts, with one chance in 100,000 of success, I have never heard
it. There was obviously no reason for prisoners to take great risks:
they were not threatened with premature death from exhaustion
by hard labor, nor with extensions of sentence which they had
done nothing to deserve: the second half of their term they served
not in prison but in places of banishment, and they usually put off
escapes till then.

Laziness would seem to be the only reason for not escaping from
Tsarist places of banishment. Evidently, exiles reported to the
police infrequently, surveillance was poor, there were no secret
police posts along the roads, you were not tied to your work day
in and day out by police supervision; you had money (or it could
be sent to.you), and places of banishment were not remote from
the great rivers and roads; again, no threat hung over anyone who
helped a runaway, nor indeed was the runaway himself in danger
of being shot by his pursuer, or savagely beaten, or sentenced to
twenty-five years’ hard labor, as in our day. A recaptured prisoner
was usually reinstalled in his previous place, to complete his previ-
ous sentence. And that was all. You couldn’t lose. Fastenko’s
departure abroad (Part I, Chapter 5) is typical of such ventures.
But perhaps the Anarchist A. P. Ulanovsky’s escape from the
Turukhan region is even more so. In the course of his escape it was
enough for him to look in at a student reading room and ask for
Mikhailovsky’s What Is Progress? and the students gave him a
meal, a bed, and his fare. He escaped abroad by simply walking
up the gangway of a foreign ship—no MVD patrol there, of
coursel—and finding a warm spot in the stokehold. More wonder-
ful yet, during the 1914 war he voluntarily returned to Russia and
to his place of banishment in Turukhan. Obviously a foreign spy!
Shoot him! Come on, you reptile, tell us whose pay you're in! Well,
circumstances a revolutionary only had to transfer his activities outside the capitals

. and they would remain an impenetrable secret for the department of police. lnthis
wayru!mofmahmandhmbedsofpmpagandaandagmuonmcmted.
Our readers will readily grasp the difference between this and the Soviet period. lgor
Samav wmnnghsclmneetohllMxmsterPlehvc.d:sgmsedhmsdfasacabbyand, with
bhiddeni idethe main of the police department ()
forawholeday—andnoonemokanynomofhimotaskedhlmwhathewmdomgl

Kalyaev, snﬂmexpeueuced,spmtawholedayontmterhooksmPlehveshouseonthe
Fontanka, fully expecting to be and no one d'him! . . . Golden days!




Why Did We Stand For It? | 91

no. For three years’ absence abroad the magistrate ordered him
to pay a fine of three rubles, or spend one day in the cells! Three
rubles was a lot of money, and Ulanovsky preferred one day in
detention.

Beginning with attempts to escape from Solovki by sea in some
flimsy little boat, or in a hold among the timber, and ending with
the insane, hopeless, suicidal breakouts from the camps in the late
Stalin period (some later chapters are devoted to them), escape in
our time has always been an enterprise for giants among men, but
for doomed giants. Such daring, such ingenuity, such will power
never went into prerevolutionary escape attempts—yet they were
very often successful, and ours hardly ever.

“Because your attempts to escape were essentially reactionary
in their class character! . . .”

Can a man’s urge to stop being a slave and an animal ever be
reactionary?

The reason for their failure was that success depends in the later
stages of the attempt on the attitude of the population. And our
population was afraid to help escapers, or even betrayed-them, for
mercenary or ideological reasons.

“‘So much for public opinion! . . .”

As for prison mutinies, involving as many as three, five, or eight
thousand men—the history of our three revolutions knew nothing
of them.

Yet we did.

But the same curse was upon them, and very great eiforts, very
great sacrifices, produced the most trivial results.’

Because society was not ready. Because without a response from
public opinion, a mutiny even in a huge camp has no scope for

development:
* So that when we are asked: “Why did you put up with it?” it
is time to answer: “But we didn’ ”Readonandyouwnllseethat
we didn’t put up with it at all.

In the Special Camps we raised the banner of the politicals—
and politicals ‘we became.



Chapter 5

Poetry Under a Tombstone,
Truth Under a Stone -

At the beginning of my camp career I was very anxious to avoid
general duties, but did not know how. When I arrived at Ekibastuz
in the sixth year of my imprisonment I had changed completely,
and set out at once to cleanse my mind of the camp prejudices,
intrigies, and schemes, which leave it no time for deeper matters.
So that instead of resigning myself to the grueling existence of a
general laborer until I was lucky enough to become a trusty, as
educated people usually have to, I resolved to acquire a skill, there
and then, in katorga. When we joined Boronyuk’s team (Oleg
Ivanov and I), a suitable trade (that of bricklayer) came our way.
Later my fortunes took a different turn and I was for some time
a smelter.

I was anxious and unsure of myself to begin with. Could I keep
it up? We were unhandy cerebral creatures, and the same amount
of work was harder for us than for our teammates. But the day
when I deliberately: let myself sink to the bottom and felt it firm
under my feet—the hard, rocky bottom which is the same for all
—was the beginning of the most important years in my life, the
years which put the finishing touches to my character. From then
onward there seem to have been no upheavals in my life, and I
have been faithful to the views and habits acquired at that time.

I needed an unmuddled mind because I had been trying to write
a poem for two years past. This was very rewarding, in that it
helped me not to notice what was being done with my body.
Sometimes in a sullen work party with Tommy-gunners barking

98
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about me, lines and images crowded in so urgently that I felt
myself borne through the air, overleaping the column in my hurry
to reach the work site and find a corner to write. At such moments
I was both free and happy.'

But how could I write in a Special Camp? Korolenko tells us
that he wrote in jail—but how different his conditions were! He
wrote in pencil (why didn’t they feel the seams of his clothes and
take it away from him?), which he had carried in among his curls
(and why wasn’t his hair cropped?), wrote among all the noise (he
ought to have been thankful that there was room to sit down and
stretch his legs!). Indeed, he was so privileged that he could keep
manuscripts or send them out (and that is hardest of all for our
contemporaries to understand!).

You can’t write like that nowadays, even in the camps! (Even
saving names for a future novel was dangerous—the membership
list of some organization, perhaps? I used to jot down only the
etymologii:a.l root, in the form of a common noun or an adjectival
derivative.) Memory was the only hidey-hole in which you could
keep what you had written and carry it through all the searches
and journeys under escort. In the early days I had little confidence
in the powers of memory and decided therefore to write in verse.
It was of course an abuse of the genre. I discovered later that
prose, too, can be quite satisfactorily tamped down into the deep
hidden layers of what we carry in our head. No longer burdened
with frivolous and superfluous knowledge, a prisoner’s memory is
astonishingly capacious, and can expand indefinitely. We have too
little faith in memory!

-But before you commit something to memory you feel a need
to write it down and improve it on paper. In the camps you are
allowed to have a pencil and clean paper but may not keep any-
thing in writing (unless it is a poem about Stalin).? And unless you
get-a trusty’s job in the Medical Section or sponge on the Culture
and Education Section, you have to go through the morning and

1. Everything is;zelative! We read of Vasily Kurochkin that the nine years of his life after
Iskra was closed down were “years of real agony”: he was left without a press organ of
his own! We who dare iot even dream of an organ of our own find him incomprehensible:
hehadamm.quk&ads&mhpape: there were no body searches, and ncbody
eonﬁwatedwhatheh&dwnnm—why.ﬁ!m.!heagony?

2. Dyakov describes one instance of such “artistic activity.” Dmitrievsky and Chet-
verikov outlined a projected novel to the authoritics and obtained their approval. The
secuntyoﬁoersawtoltthatﬂ;qwerenotputongencralduues!htaonthcywm
secretly taken out of the camp area (“in case the Banderiststore them to pieces™) to

continue their work: More poétry under the grayestone. But where is the novel?
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evening searches at the guardhouse. I decided to write snatches of
twelve to twenty lines at a time, polish them, learn them by heart,
and burn them. I made it a firm rule not to content myself with
tearing up the paper.

In prisons the composition and polishing of verses had to be
done in my head. Then I started breaking matches into little pieces
and arranging them on my cigarette case in two rows (of ten each,
one representing units and the other tens). As I recited the verses
to myself, I displaced one bit of broken match from the units row
for every line. When I had shifted ten units I displaced one of the
“tens.” (Even this work had to be done circumspectly: such inno-
cent match games, accompanied by whispering movements of the
lips or an unusual facial expression, would have aroused the suspi-
cion of stool pigeons. I tried to look as if I was switching the
matches around quite absent-mindedly.) Every fiftieth and every
hundredth line I memorized with special care, to help me keep
count. Once a month I recited all that I had written. If the wrong
line came out in place of one of the hundreds or fifties, I went over
it all again and again until I caught the slippery fugitives.

In the Kuibyshev Transit Prison I saw Catholics (Lithuanians)
busy making themselves rosaries for prison use. They made them
by soaking bread, kneading beads from it, coloring them (black
ones with burnt rubber, white ones with tooth powder, red ones
with red germicide), stringing them while still moist on several
strands of thread twisted together and thoroughly soaped, and
letting them dry on the window ledge. I joined them and said that
I, too, wanted to say my prayers with a rosary but that in my
particular religion I needed one hundred beads in a ring (later,
when I realized that twenty would suffice, and indeed be more
convenient, I made them myself from cork), that every tenth bead
must be cubic, not spherical, and that the fiftieth and the hun-
dredth beads must be distinguishable at a touch. The Lithuanians
were amazed by my religious zeal (the most devout among them
had no more than forty beads), but with true brotherly love helped
me to put together a rosary such as I had described, making the
hundredth bead in the form of a dark red heart. I never afterward
parted with this marvelous present of theirs; I fingered and
counted my beads inside my wide mittens—at work line-up, on
the march to and from work, at all waiting times; I could do it
standing up, and freezing cold was no hindrance. I carried it safely
through the search points, in the padding of my mittens, where
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it could not be felt. The warders found it on various occasions, but
supposed that it was for praying and let me keep it. Until the end
of my sentence (by which time I had accumulated 12,000 lines)
and after that in my place of banishment, this necklace helped me
to write and remember.

Even so0, things were not so simple. The more you have written,
the more days in each month are consumed by recitation. And the
particularly harmful thing about these recitals is that you cease to
see clearly what you have wriften, cease to notice the strong and
weak points. The first draft, which in any case you approve in a
hurry, so that you can burn it, remains the only one. You cannot
allow yourself the luxury of putting it aside for years, forgetting
it and then looking at it with a fresh critical eye. For this reason,
you can never write really well.

Nor can you hang on to unburned scraps of paper for long.
Three times I was caught, and was saved only because I never
wrote the most dangerous names in full, but put dashes in their
place. Once I was lying on the grass away from everyone else, too
near the boundary wire (it was quieter there), and writing, con-
cealing my scrap of paper in a book. Senior Warder Tatarin crept
up behind me very quietly and saw that I was not reading, but
writing.

“Right, let’s have it!” I rose, in a cold sweat, and handed it over.
These lines were written on it:

All we have lost will be made good—

None of our claims will be denied us.

The Osterode-Brodnitsy route

Was five weary days and nights on foot

With an [escort] of K[azakhs] and Tfatars] beside us. . . .

If the words “escort” and “Tatars™ had been written in full,
Tatarin would have hauled me before the security officer and they
would have found me out. But the blanks told him nothing.

With an of K—— and T—— beside us. . . .

Our minds were running on different lines. I was afraid for the
poem, and he had thought that I was making a sketch of the camp
area and plotting escape. Still, even what he did find he read with
a frown. Certain words seemed to him suggestive. But what really
set his brain working fariously was the phrase “five weary days.”
I had overlooked its possible associations! “Five days” was a set
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formula in the camp, when prisoners were consigned to the hole.

“Who gets five days? Who’s this all about?”” he asked, looking
black.

I barely managed to convince him (by pointing to the names
Osterode and Brodnitsy) that I was trying to remember an army
song someone had written, but couldn’t recall all the words. .

* “Why do you want to do that? You aren’t here to remember
things!” was his surly warning. “If I catch you lying here again,
you’re in for it!”

When I talk about this incident now, it sounds trivial. But at
the time, for a wretched slave like myself, it was an enormous
event: I could never again lie on the grass away from all the noise,
and if Tatarin caught me with any more verses, they might easily
open a new file on me and put me under close surveillance.

But I could not stop writing now!

On another occasion I broke my usual rule. At the work site I
wrote down sixty lines of a play* at one go, and failed to conceal
this piece of paper at the camp entrance. True, I had again left a
number of discreet blanks. The warder, a sxmple, flat-nosed young
fellow, examined his catch with some surprise.

“A letter?” he asked.

(A letter taken to the work site had a whiff of the black hole
about it. But it would seem a mighty strange letter if they passed
it on to the security officerl)

“It’s for a concert,” I said, brazening it out. “I’m trying to write
down a sketch from memory. Come and see it when we put it on.”

The young man stared and stared at the paper, and at me, then
said:

“You’re a bigger fool than you look!”

And he ripped my page into two, four, eight pieces. I was
terrified that he would throw the scraps, which were still large, on
the ground there in front of the guardhouse, where they might
catch the eye of a more vigilant staff member. Chief Disciplinary
Officer Machekhovsky himself was only a few steps away, looking
on while we were searched. But they evidently had orders not to
leave litter by the guardhouse, or they would have to tidy it up
themselves, and the warder put the torn-up pieces into my hand
as though it were a refuse bin. I went through the gates and made
haste to throw them into the stove.

3. Pir Pobeditelei (Feast of the Victors).
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On a third occasion, while I still had a-sizable piece of a poem
unburned, I was working on the Disciplinary Barracks and the
temptation to put “The Mason” on paper was too strong for me.
At that time we never left the camp area, so that we did not
undergo daily personal searches. When “The Mason” was three
days old, I went out in the dark, before evening inspection, to go
over it for the last time and then burn it at once. I was looking
for a quiet, lonely spot, which meant somewhere toward the
boundary fence, and I forgot entirely that I was near the place
where Tenno had recently gone under the wire. A warder who had
evidently been lying in ambush grabbed me immediately by the
scruff of my neck and marched me through the darkness to the
black hole. I took advantage of the darkness to crumple “The
Mason” surreptitiously and toss it at random behind me. A breeze
was beginning to blow and the warder did not hear the paper
crackling and rustling.

I had quite forgotten that I still had another fragment of a poem
on me. They found it when they searched me in the Disciplinary
Barracks; fortunately it contained almost nothing that could
incriminate me (it was a descriptive section .from Prussian
Nights).

The duty officer, a perfectly literate senior sergeant, read -it
through. - -

“Wh.at’s thls 9

“Tvardovsky,” I -answered unhesitatingly. Vasily Tyorkin.*

‘(This was where Tvardovsky’s path and mine first crossed!)

“Tvardo-ovsky!” said: the sergeant, nodding his head respect-
fully. “And what do you want:it for?”

“Well, there aren’t any books. I write down what I can remem-
ber and read it sometimes.”

They took my weapon—half a razor. blade—from me, but re-
turned the poem, and they would have let me go:(I wanted to run
and find “The Mason”). But by then-evening inspection was over
and no one was allowed to move about the camp. The warder took
me back to the hut and locked me in-himself.

I slept badly that night. A gale-force wind had sprung up out-
side. Where would it carry the little ball of paper with “The
Mason” on it? In spite of all: the blanks, the sense of -the poem
remained obvious. And it was clear from the text that its author
was in the team building the Disciplinary Barracks. Among all
those Western Ukrainians it wouldn’t be hard to find me.
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So that the work of many years—that already done, and that
I was planning—was a scrap of crumpled paper blown helplessly
about the camp or over the steppe. I could only pray. When things
are bad, we are not ashamed of our God. We are only ashamed
of Him when things go well.

At five in the morning, as soon as we rose, I went to the spot,
gasping for breath in the wind. It was so strong that it swept up
small stones and hurled them in your face. It was a waste of time
even looking! From where I was, the wind was blowing in the
direction of the staff barracks, then the punishment cells (this
place, too, was infested with warders, and there was a lot of
tangled barbed wire), then beyond the camp limits, on to the street
of the settlement. I prowled around, bent double, for an hour
before dawn, and found nothing. By now I was in despair. Then
when it got light . . . I saw something white three steps from the
place where I had thrown it! The wind had rolled the ball of paper
to one side and it had lodged among a pile of boards. .

I still consider it a miracle.

So I went on writing. In winter in the warming-up shack, in
spring and summer on the scaffolding at the building site: in the
interval between two barrowloads of mortar I would put my bit
of paper on the bricks and (without letting my neighbors see what

_ I was doing) write down with a pencil stub the verses which had
rushed into my head while I was slapping on the last hodful. I

. lived in a dream, sat in the mess hall over the ritual gruel some-
times not even noticing its taste, deaf to those around me—feeling
my way about my verses and trimming them to fit like bricks in
a wall. I was searched, and counted, and herded over the steppe
—and all the time I saw the sets for my play, the color of the
curtains, the placing of the furniture, the spotlights, every move-
ment of the actors across the stage:

Some of the lads broke through the wire in a lorry, others
crawled under it, others walked up a snowdrift and over it—but
for me the wire might not have existed; all this time I was making
my own long and distant escape journey, and this was something
the warders could not discover when they counted heads.

-I realized that I was not the only one, that I was party to a great
secret, a secret maturing in other lonely breasts like mine on the
scattered islands of the Archipelago, to reveal itself in years to
come, perhaps when we were dead, and to merge into the Russian
literature of the future.
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(In 1956 I read the first small collection of Varlam Shala-
mov’s poems in samizdat, which existed even then, and trem-
bled as though I had met a long-lost brother. Here he declares
his willingness to die like Archimedes during the siege of Syra-
cuse: :

I know, none better, this is not a game—
Or else a deadly game. But like the sage

I'll welcome death rather than drop my pen,
Rather than crumple my half-written page.

He, too, wrote in a camp. Keeping his secret from all around,
like me expecting no answer to his lonely cry in the dark:

A long, long row of lonely graves
Are all I remember now.

And I should have laid myself there,
Laid my bare body down there,

Had I not taken a vow:

To sing and to weep to the very end
And never to heed the pain,

As though in the heart of a dead man
Life yet could begin again.

How many of us were there? Many more, I think, than have
come to the surface in the intervening years. Not all of them were
to survive. Some buried manuscripts in bottles, without telling
anyone where. Some put their work iri careless or, on the contrary,
in excessively cautious hands for safekeeping. Some could not
write their work down in time.

Even on the isle of Ekibastuz, could we really get to know each
other? encourage each other? support each other? Like wolves, we
hid from everyone, and that meant from each other, too. Yet even
so I was to discover a few others in Ekibastuz.

Meeting the religious poet Anatoly Vasilyevich Silin was a sur-
prise which I owed to the Baptists. He was then over forty. There
was nothing at all remarkable about his face. A reddish fuzz had
grown in place of his cropped hair and beard, and his eyebrows
were also reddish. Day in and day out he was meek and gentle
with everyone, but reserved. Only when we began talking to each
other freely, and strolling about the camp for hours at a stretch
on our Sundays off, while he recited his very long religious poems
to me (like me, he had written them right there in the camp), I
was startled not for the first time or the last to realize what far
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from ordinary souls are concealed within deceptively ordinary

A homeless child, brought up an atheist in a children’s
home, he had come across some religious books in a German
prisoner-of-war camp, and had been carried away by them.
From then on he was not only a believer, but a philosopher
and theologian! “From then on” he had also been in prison or
in camps without a break, and so had spent his whole theolog-
ical career in isolation, rediscovering for himself things already
discovered by others, perhaps going astray, since he had never
had either books or advisers. Now he was- working as a man-
ual laborer and ditchdigger, struggling to fulfill an impossible
norm, returning from work with bent knees and trembling
hands—but night and day the poems, which he composed
from end to end without writing a word down, in iambic tet-
rameters with an irregular rhyme scheme, went round and
round in his head. He must have known some twenty thou-
sand lines by that time. He, too, had a utilitarian attitude to
them: they were a way of remembering and of transmitting
thoughts.

His sensitive response to the riches of nature lent warmth and
beauty to his view of the world. Bending over one of the rare
blades of grass which grew illegally in our barren camp, he ex-
claimed:

“How beautiful are the grasses of the earth! But even these the
Creator has given to man for a carpet under his feet. How much
more beautiful, then, must we be than they!”

“But. what about ‘Love not this world and the things that
are of this world’?” (A saying which the sectarians often re-
peated.) .

He smiled apologetically. He could disarm anyone with that
smile.

“Why, even earthly, carnal love is a manifestation of a lofty
aspiration to Union!” )

His theodicy, that is to say his justification of the existence of
evil in the world, he formulated like this:

Does God, who is Perfect Love, allow
This imperfection in our fives?

The soul must suffer first, to know
The perfect bliss of paradise. . . .
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Harsh is the law, but to obey
Is for weak men the only way
To win eternal peace.

Christ’s sufferings in the flesh he daringly explained not only by
the need to atone for human sins, but also by God’s desire to feel
earthly suffering to the full.

“God always knew these sufferings, but never before had he
Jelt them,” Silin boldly asserted. Even of the Antichrist, who
had

Corrupted man’s Free Will—perverted
His yearning toward the One True.Light

Silin found something fresh and humane to say:

The bliss that God had given him
That angel haughtily rejected:

He nothing knew of human pain;

He loved not with the love of men—
By grief alone is love perfected.

Thinking so freely himself, Silin found a warm place in his
generous heart for all shades of Christian belief.

This is the crux:
Thatt.houghChnststeachmgnsntstheme
Gemu_smusteverspeakmthmownvowe.

The atheist’s impatient refusal to believe that spirit could beget
matter only made Silin smile.

“Why don’t they ask themselves how crude matter could beget
spirit? That way round, it would surely be a miracle. Yes, a still
greater miracle!”

My brain was full of my own verses, and these fragments are
all that I have succeeded in preserving of thé poems I heard from
Silin—fearing perhaps that he himself would preserve nothing. In
one of his poems, his favorite hero, whose ancient Greek name I
have forgotten, delivered an imaginary speech at the General
Assembly of the United Nations—a spiritual program for all man-
kind. A doomed and exhausted slave, with four number patches
on his clothes, this poet had more in his heart to say to living
human beings than the whole tribe of hacks firmly established in
journals, in publishing houses, in radio—and of no use to anyone
except themselves.



108 | THE GULAG ARCHIPELAGO

Before the war Anatoly Vasilyevich had graduated from a
teachers’ college, where he had specialized in literature. Like
me, he now had about three years left before his “release” to a
place of banishment. His only training was as a teacher of lit-
erature in schools. It seemed rather improbable that ex-prison-
ers like us would be allowed into schools. But if we were—
what then?

“I won’t put lies into children’s heads! I shall tell the children
the truth about God and the life of the Spirit.”

“But they’ll take you away after the first lesson.”

Silin Jowered his head and answered quietly: “Let them.”

And it was obvious that he would not falter. He would not play
the hypocrite just to go on handling a class register rather than
a pickax.

I looked with pity and admiration at this unprepossessing
man with ginger hair, who had known neither parents nor
spiritual directors, for whom life was no harder in Ekibastuz,
turning over the stony soil with a spade, than it always had
been elsewhere.

Silin ate from the same pot as the Baptists, shared his bread and
warm victuals with them. Of course, he needed appreciative listen-
ers, people with whom he could join in reading and interpreting
the Gospel, and in concealing the little book itself. But Orthodox
Christians he either did not seek out (suspecting that they would
reject him as a heretic), or did not find: there were few of them
in our camp except for the Western Ukrainians, or else they were
no more consistent in their conduct than others, and so inconspic-
uous. The Baptists, however, seemed to respect Silin, listened to
him; they even considered him one of their own: but they, too,
disliked all that was heretical in him, and hoped in time to bend
him to their ways. Silin was subdued when he talked to me in their
presence, and blossomed out when they were not there—it was
difficult for him to force himself into their mold, though their faith
was firm, pure, and ardent, helping them to endure katorga with-
out wavering, and without spiritual collapse. They were all honest,
free from anger, hard-working, quick to help others, devoted to
Christ.

That is why they are being rooted out with such determination.
In the years 1948-1950 several hundred of them were sentenced
to twenty-five years’ imprisonment and dispatched to Special
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Camps for no other reason than that they belonged to Baptist
communes (a commune is of course an organization).*

The camp is different from the Great Outside. Outside, everyone
uninhibitedly tries to express and emphasize his personality in his
outward behavior. In prison, on the contrary, all are depersonal-
ized—identical haircuts, identical fuzz on their cheeks, identical
caps, identical padded jackets. The face presents an image of the
soul distorted by wind and sun and dirt and heavy toil. Discerning
the light of the soul beneath this depersonalized and degraded
exterior i8 an acquired skill.

But the sparks of the spirit cannot be kept from spreading,
breaking through to each other. Like recognizes and is gathered
to like in a manner none can explain.

You can understand a man better and more quickly if you
know at least a fragment of his biography. Here are some
trench diggers working side by side. Thick, soft snow has
begun to fall. Perhaps because it is time for a break, the whole
team goes into the dugout for shelter. But one man remains
standing outside. At the edge of the.trench, he leans on his
spade and stands quite motionless, as though he found it com-
fortable, or as though he were a statue.

The snowflakes gathering on his head, shoulders, and arms
make him still more like a statue. Doesn’t he care? Does he even
like it? He stares through the flurry of snowflakes—at the camp,
at the white steppe. He has broad bones, broad shoulders, a broad
face, with a growth of stiff blond bristles. He is always deliberate,
slow-moving, very calm. He remains standing there—looking at
the world and thinking. He is elsewhere.

1 do not know him, but his friend Redkin tells me his story. This
man is a Tolstoyan. He grew up with the auntiquated notion that
a man may not kill (even in the name of the Vanguard Doctrine!)
and must not, therefore, take up arms. In 1941 he was called up.
Near Kushka, to which he had been posted, he threw his gun away
and crossed the Afghan border. There were no Germans around
Kushka and none were expected, so that he could have had a quiet

4. The persecution became less severe in the Khrushchev period only in that shorter
sentences were given: otherwise it was just as bad. (See Part VIL.)
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war, never shooting at a living thing, but even lugging that piece
of iron around on his back went against his convictions. He sup-
posed that the Afghans would respect his right not to kill people
and let him go through to India, where there was religious toler-
ance. But the Afghan government turned out to be as cynically
self-interested as governments always are. Fearing the wrath of its
all-powerful neighbor, it put the runaway in the stocks. And kept
him in prison, with his legs cramped in the stocks, unable to move,
for three years, waiting to’see which side would win. The Soviets
did—and the Afghans obligingly returned the deserter to them.
His present sentence was reckoned only from that date.

Now he stood motionless out in the snow, like part of the
landscape. Had he been brought into the world by the state? Why,
then, had the state usurped the right to decide how this man
should live?

We don’t mind having a fellow countryman called Lev Tolstoi.
It’s a good trademark. (Even makes a good postage stamp.) Fo-
reigners can be taken on trips to Yasnaya Polyana. We are always
ready to drool over his opposition to Tsarism and his excommuni-
cation (the announcer’s voice will tremble at this point). But, my
dear countrymen, if someone takes Tolstoi seriously, if a real live
Tolstoyan springs up among us—hey, look out there! Mind you
don’t fall under our caterpillar tracks!

.. . Perhaps on the building site you run and ask the foreman,
a prisoner, for his folding ruler, to measure how much wall you’ve
laid. He sets great store by this ruler, and doesn’t know you by
sight—there are so many teams on the job—but for some reason
he hands you his treasure without demur. (sheer stupidity, to the
camp-trained mind). And when you actually return the ruler to
him, he will thank you very warmly. How can such a weird
character be a foreman in a camp? He has an accent. Ah, yes—
he turns out to be a Pole, his name is Jerzy Wegierski. You will
hear more of him.

. . . Perhaps you are marching along in the column, and you
ought to be telling your beads inside your mitten, or thinking
about your next stanzas—but you find yourself very much inter-
ested by your neighbor in the ranks, a new face. (They have just
sent a new brigade to your work site.) An elderly, likable Jewish
intellectual with a mocking, intelligent expression. His name is
Masamed, and he is a university graduate. From . . . ? Bucharest,
Faculty of Biology and Psychology. He is, among other things, a
physiognomist and graphologist. Moreover, he is a yogi, and will
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start you on a course in Hatha Yoga tomorrow. (That’s the pity
of it: our term in this university is so short! I can never get my
breath! There’s no time to take it all in.)

Later on I took a good look at him in the work zone and the
living area. His fellow countrymen had offered to fix him up with
an office job, but he wouldn’t take it: it was important to him to
show that Jews, too, make excellent general laborers. So at the age
of fifty he fearlessly wields his pickax. Like a true yogi, he really
is master of his own body: at minus 10 degrees Centigrade he strips
and asks his workmates to hose him down from the fire hydrant.
Unlike the rest of us, who shovel that wretched gruel into our
mouths as fast as we can, he eats slowly, with concentration,
looking away from his plate, swallowing a little at a time from a
tiny spoon of his own.’

It does happen, and not so very rarely, that you make an in-
teresting new acquaintance on the way to or from work. But
you can’t always get going in the column: with the guards
shouting, and your neighbors hissing (“because of you . . . us
as well . . .”), on the way to work you’re too sluggish, and on
the way back in too much of a hurry, and very likely there’s a
wind to shut your gob. Yet suddenly . . . well, of course these
are untypical cases, as the socialist realists say. Quite excep-
tional cases. '

In the outermost line walks a little man with a thick black beard
(because he had it when he was last arrested, and was photo-
graphed with it, it has not been shaved off in the camp). He walks
briskly, very much on his dignity, carrying a carefully tied roll of
draftsman’s paper under his arm. This is a “rationalization pro-
posal” or invention of his, some new thing of which he is proud.
He drew it at work, brought it to show to somebody in the camp,
and is now taking it with him back to work. Suddenly a mischie-
vous wind plucks the roll from under his arm and bowls it along
away from the column. Arnold Rappoport (the reader already
knows him) instinctively takes a step in pursuit of it, a second, a
third . . . but the roll drifts on farther, between two guards, beyond
the escort! This is where Rappoport should stop—*“One step to
right or left,” remember, “and you get it without warning.” But
that’s mine, my drawing, it’s over there! And Arnold trots after
it, bending forward, arms extended—an evil fate is carrying off his
idea! Arnold reaches out eagerly, his hands rake the air. Barbar-

5. Nonetheless, he was to die soon, like an ordinary mortal, of an ordinary heart attack.
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ian! Don’t touch my blueprints! The column sees him, stumbles
to a halt of its own accord. Guns are pointed, bolts click back!
. . . Everything so far was typical, but now came something
untypical: no one acted like a fool! No one fired! The barbarians
realized that this was not an escape! Even to their befuddled brains
this was an immediately comprehensible scene: the author pursu-
ing his fleeing creation! Rappoport ran on another fifteen paces or
so beyond the escort guards, caught his roll, straightened up, and
returned to the ranks very pleased with himself. Returned . . . from
the next world.

Although Rappoport had landed more than the average camp
stint (after a kid’s sentence and a tenner had come banishment,
and now he was doing another tenner), he was full of life, agile,
bright-eyed—and those eyes of his, although they were always
merry, were made for suffering, were very expressive eyes. It was
a matter of pride to him that years of prison had not aged and
broken him. As an engineer, he had, however, always worked as
a trusty on some production job, so that it was easy for him to keep
his spirits up. He took a lively interest in his work, but over and
beyond it he created for his soul’s sake.

He was one of those versatile characters eager to embrace every-
thing. At one time he was thinking of writing a book like this of
mine, all about the camps, but he never got around to it. Another
of his works made us, his friends, laugh: Arnold had for some
years been patiently compiling a universal technical reference
book, which would cover all the ramifications of modern science
and technology (everything from types of radio valves to the
average weight of elephants), and which was to be . . . pocket-size.
The wiser for this laughter, Amold showed me another of his
favorite works in secret. Finding Stendhal’s treatise On Love com-
pletely unsatisfactory, he had written a new one, in a glossy black
exercise book. It consisted of unpolished, and for the present
disconnected, remarks. For a man who had spent half his life in
the camps, how chaste it all was! Here are some brief extracts.®

To possess a woman without love is the unhappy lot of the poor in
body and spirit. Yet men boast of it as a “conquest.”

Possession, without the preliminary organic development of feeling,
brings not joy but shame and revulsion. The men of our age, who devote
all their energy to making money, to their jobs, to the exercise of power,

6. This was all many years ago. Rappoport later abandoned his ise, and I have his
permission to quote it.
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have lost the gene of higher love. On the other hand, woman’s unerring
instinct tells her that possession is only the first stage toward genuine
intimacy. Only after it does a woman acknowledge a man as near and
dear, and show it in her way of speaking to him. Even a woman who gives
herself unintentionally feels an access of grateful tenderness.

Jealousy is injured self-esteem. Real love, unrequited, is not jealous but
dies, ossifies.
Love, as much as science, art, and religion, is a mode of cognition.

Combining as he did such very different intevests, Arnold Lvo-
vich naturally knew the most various people. He introduced me
to a man whom I should have passed by without noticing: at first
sight he was just another of the walking dead, doomed to die of
malnutrition, with collarbones sticking out from his unbuttoned
camp jacket like those of a corpse. His lankiness made him even
more astonishingly thin. He was naturally swarthy, and his shaven
head had become still darker in the Kazakh sun. He still dragged
himself out of the camp to work, still clung to his barrow to stay
on his feet. He was a Greek and, once more, a poet! Yet another!
A volume of his verse in modern Greek had been published in
Athens. But since he was not an Athenian but a Soviet prisoner
(and a Soviet citizen), our newspapers shed no tears for him.

He was only middle-aged, although so close to death. I made
pitifully clumsy attempts to wave these thoughts away. He
laughed wisely, and explained to me in imperfect Russian that not
death itself, but only the moral preparation for it, holds terrors.
He had finished with fear and grief and regret, shed all his tears,
already lived through his inevitable death and was quite ready. It
only remained for his body to finish dying.

So many people turn out to be poets! It’s almost unbelievable.
(Sometimes I was at .a loss to understand it.) While the Greek
waits to die, here are two young men waiting only for the end of
their sentence and for future literary fame. They are poets—
openly, without concealment. What they have in common is a
certain radiant purity. Both are students who never graduated.
Kolya Borovikov, an admirer of Pisarev (and therefore an enemy
of Pushkin), works as a clinical orderly in the Medical Section.
Yurochka Kireyev, from Tver, who admires Blok, and himself
writes in the manner of Blok, goes out of camp to work in the office
of the engineering shop. His friends (and what strange friends they
are for him—twenty years older and fathers of families) tease him
about the time in a Corrective Labor Camp up north when some
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generally available Rumanian woman offered herself to him, but
he didn’t understand and wrote sonnets to her. If you look at his
innocent face you can very easily believe it. Now his virginity is
a curse and a burden to be carried all through the camps!

. . . Sometimes people catch your eye, sometimes you catch
theirs. In the big chaotic barracks where four hundred men live,
moving restlessly around or lying on their bunks, I read after
supper and during the tedious inspections the second volume of
Dal’s dictionary—the only book which I had brought as far as
Ekibastuz, where 1 was forced to see it defaced with a stamp
saying “Steplag, Culture and Education Section.” I never flipped
through the pages, because in the fag end of the evening I could
hardly read through half a page. So I sat, or shuffled along for the
inspection, engrossed in one particular passage. I was used to
newcomers’ asking what that fat book was, and wondering why
the devil I wanted to read it. I used to answer with a joke. “It’s
the safest thing to read. No danger of catching a new sentence.”’

But that book brought me a lot of interesting acquaintances,
too. For instance, a small man like a bantam cock, with a fierce
nose and a sharp mocking look, comes up to me and says in a
singsong northern accent:

“May I inquire what book you have there?”

We exchange a few words and then as Sunday follows Sunday,
as month follows month, in this one man a microcosm in which
half a century of my country’s history is densely packed opens out
before me. Vasily Grigoryevich Vlasov (the one who was in the
Kady trial,* and has now got through fourteen long years of his
twenty) thinks of himself as an economist and politician, and has
no idea that he is an artist in words—in the spoken word. Whether
he tells me about haymaking or merchants’ shops (he had worked
in one as a boy), a Red Army unit or an old country house, an
executioner from the Provincial Deserter Interception Organiza-
tion or an insatiable woman in some small town, I see it all in the

7. But what is it not dangerous to read in a Special Camp? Aleksandr Stotik, an
economist in the Dzhezkazgan Camp Division, used to read an adaptation of The Gadfly
in the evening on the quiet. In spite of his secrecy he was denounced. The camp commander
himself, and a pack of officers, came to join in the search. “Waiting for the Americans?”
They made him read aloud in English. “How much longer are you in for now?” *“Two
years.” “Make it twenty!” They also found some verses, “Interested in love, are you?

. Make him so uncomfortable that not only his English but even his Russian will
evapomtel (What's more, the slavish trusties hissed at Stotik: “You'll land us m it, tool
They’ll drive us all back to work again.”)
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round and absorb it as thoroughly as if it had been part of my own
experience. I wanted to write it all down at once—but it couldn’t
be done. I wish I could remember it word for word ten years later,
but it is impossible.

I noticed that one man often stole glances at me and my book,
but hesitated to start a conversation—a thin, fine-drawn, long-
nosed young man whose politeness, diffidence even, seemed
strange in those surroundings. I got to know him, too. He spoke
in a quiet, shy voice, groping for words in Russian, and making
hilarious mistakes, which he immediately redeemed with a smile.
It emerged that he was Hungarian, and his name was Janos Roz-
sas. He nodded when I showed him Dal’s dictionary, with my eyes
on his shriveled, camp-worn face. “Yes, yes,” he said, “a man
must distract his attention to other things, not think about food
all the time.” He was only twenty-five, but there was no youthful
flush in his cheeks; the dry, papery skin, made transparent by the
winds, seemed to be stretched over the long, narrow bones of his
skull with no flesh between. His joints ached—he had caught
rheumatic fever, felling trees in the north.

There were two or three of his compatriots in the camp, but all
day and every day they were obsessed with one thought only—
how to survive and how to eat their fill. Whereas Janos ate what-
ever the foreman obtained for him, and even though he remained
hungry, he made it a rule not to look for more. He was all eyes
and ears; he wanted to understand. Understand what, you ask?
... Us. He wanted to understand us Russians!

“My personal fate became very uninteresting when I got to
know people here. I am most extremely surprised. They loved
their own people, and for that they get katorga. But I think—
this is wartime muddle, yes?’ (He asks this in 1951! If it was
still a wartime muddle then, maybe it dated from the First
World War?...)

In 1944, when our troops captured him in Hungary, he was
eighteen (and not in the army). “I had still had no time to do
people either good or evil,” he said, with a smile. “People had seen
neither profit nor harm from me.” Janos’s interrogation went like
this: the interrogator didn’t understand a word of Hungarian, nor
Janos a word of Russian. Occasionally some very bad interpreters
came along, Carpathian Ukrainians. Janos signed a sixteen-page
statement, with no idea what was in it. Nor, when an unknown
officer read him something from a piece of paper, did he realize
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that this was the Special Board’s sentence.® They sent him to the
North, to fell trees, and there he went under and landed in the
hospital.

Till then Russia had shown him only one side of herself (the
part used for sitting on), but now she turned the other. In the
camp hospital at the Symsk Separate Camp Site near Soli-
kamsk there was a forty-five-year-old nurse called Dusya. She
was a nonpolitical offender, not a part of the professional un-
derworld, was in for five years, and had a pass. Her job as she
saw it was not just to grab all she could and get through her
sentence (a very common assumption in the camps, though
Janos with his rosy view of things did not know it), but to
look after these useless, dying people. What the hospital gave
was not enough to save them. So Dusya used to exchange her
morning ration of 300 grams for half a liter of milk in the vil-
lage, and with this milk she nursed Janos back to life (as she
had nursed others before him).” For this motherly woman’s
sake Janos came to love Russia and all Russians. He started
diligently learning, there in the camp, the language of his
warders and convoy guards, the great, the mighty Russian lan-
guage. He spent nine years in our camps, and saw nothing of
Russia except from prison trains, on little picture postcards,
and in the camp. Yet he loved it.

Janos belonged to a breed which is steadily becoming rarer in
our time: those whose only passion in childhood is reading. He
kept this inclination as an adult, and even in the camps. In the
north, and in the Ekibastuz Special Camp, he missed no opportu-
nity to obtain and read new books. By the time I met him he
already knew and loved Pushkin, Nekrasov, and Gogol. I ex-
plained Griboyedov to him. But more than anyone else, more
perhaps than even Petofi and Arany, he came to love Lermontov,
whom he had first read in captivity, not long before.”® Janos iden-
tified himself particularly with Mtsyri*—like himself a prisoner,

8. It is said that when Janos was rehabilitated after Stalin's death, curiosity prompted
him to ask for a copy of the sentence in Hungarian, so that he could find out just why he
had spent nine years in prison. But he was afraid to do so. “They may wonder what I want
to do with it. And anyway, I don’t really need it all that much. . . .” He had understood
our way of thinking: why, indeed, did he need to know now?. . .

9. Can someone explain to me what ideology this behavior fits into? (Compare the
Communist medical orderly in Dyakov: “Toothache, eh, you pig-faced Ukrainian bandit!")

10. I have been told more than once by foreigners that Lermontov is dearer to them than
any other Russian poet. After all, they point out, Pushkin did write “To Russia’s Slander-
ers.” Whereas Lermontov never did Tsarism the smallest service.
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young and doomed. He had much of it by heart, and for years on
end, as he dragged himself along with his hands behind his back,
in a column of foreigners through an alien land, he would murmur
to himself in the strangers’ tongue:

I knew then in my troubled mind
My eager foot would no more find
The native land I'd left behind.

Friendly, affectionate, with vulnerable pale-blue eyes—that was
Janos Rozsas in our heartless camp. He would perch on my bunk,
lightly, on the very edge, as though my sack of sawdust could be
made any dirtier, or would lose its shape under his weight, and
say in a low voice full of genuine feeling:

“With whom should I share my secret dreams?”

He never complained about anything."

You move among-the camp population as you would through
a minefield, photographing each of them with the rays of intuition
for fear of blowing yourself-up. Yet in spite of this general rule of
caution, how often I discovered a poetic personality under a zek’s
shaven skull and black jacket.

How many others kept their secret to themselves?

How many more—surely a thousand times as many—did not
come my way at all?

11. All the Hungarians were allowed to go home after Stalin’s death, so Janos escaped
the fate of Mitsyri, for which ke was fully prepared.

Twelve years have passed, 1956 among them. Janos is a bookkeeper in the little town
of Nagy Kanizsa, where nobody knows Russian or reads Russian books. And what does
he now write to me?

“After all that has happened, I can sincerely say that I would not give back my past.
1 learned in a harsh school what others can never know. . . . When I was freed I promised
mmmmmwmxmumfmmnmmqumm
sufferings but for their good hearts. Why do I follow newspaper reports about my former
“motherland” with such interest? The works of the Russian classics are a whole shelf in
mylibmy 1 have forty-one volumes in Russian and four in Ukrainian (Shevchenko).

Other people read the Russians as they read the English or the Germans, but I read
themdsﬂ'mtly To me Tolstoi is closer than Thomas Mann, and Lermontov much closer
than Goethe.

“You cannot guess how much I miss Russia without talking about it. Sometimes people
ask me what kind of crank I am, what good did the place ever do me, why do I feel drawn
to Russians? How can I explain that all tny youth went by there, and that life is an eternal
farewell from the swiftly passing days. . . . How could I turn my back like a sulky child
—for nine years my fate coincided with yours. How can I explain why my heart misses
a beat when I hear a Russian folk song on the radio? I start singing to myself under my
breath. ‘See the reckless troika speeding . . .* But it is too painful for me to go on. My
children ask me to teach them Russian. Wait awhile, children; for whom do you think I
collect Russian books?”
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And how many, in those decada, did you smother, infamous
Leviathan?

Ekibastuz also had an official, though very dangerous, center for
cultural intercourse—the Culture and Education Section, where
they stamped black words on books and freshened up our num-
bers.

An important and very colorful figure in our CES was Vladimir
Rudchuk, now an artist, but formerly an archdeacon, and possibly
even personal secretary to the Patriarch. There is somewhere in
the camp rules an unexpunged proviso that persons in holy orders
shall not be shorn. Of course, this rule is never made public, and
priests who do not know of it are shorn. But Rudchuk knew his
rights, and he was left with wavy auburn locks, unusually long for
a man. He took great care of them, and of his appearance gener-
ally. He was tall, well-made, attractive, with a pleasant bass voice,
and it was easy to imagine him conducting a solemn service in a
huge cathedral. Drozdov, the churchwarden who arrived at Eki-
bastuz with me, recognized the Archdeacon at once: he had for-
merly served in the cathedral church at Odessa.

Here in the camp he neither looked nor lived like a man of
our convict world. He was one of those dubious personages
who had insinuated themselves, or been insinuated, into the
Orthodox Church as soon as they were no longer in official
disfavor: They did much to bring the Church into disrepute.
The story of how Rudchuk came to be in jail was also rather
mysterious: for some reason he kept exhibiting a photograph
(inexplicably left in his possession) of himself with Anastasi,
the Metropolitan of the Russian Orthodox Church in Exile, on
a New York street. He bad a cabin to himself in the camp.
When he got back from work line-up, where he disdainfully
painted the numbers on our caps, jackets, and trousers, he
would spend the day in idleness, occasionally making crude’
copies of tasteless pictures. He was allowed to keep a volume
of reproductions from the Tretyakov Gallery, and it was be-
cause of these that I found my way to him: I wanted to take
another look, perhaps my last. He had the Bulletin of the Mos-
cow Patriarchate sent to him in the camp, and sometimes. dis-
coursed pompously on the great martyrs, or on details of the
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liturgy, but it was all affectation, all insincere. He also had a
guitar, and the only thing he ever did sincerely was to sing, in
a pleasant voice, to his own accompaniment. Even then his
writhing was intended to suggest that he was haloed with a
convict’s crown of sorrow.

The better a man lives in the camp, the more exquisite his .
, suffering. . . .

I was cautious to the nth degree in those days. I never called
on Rudchuk again, I told him nothing about myself, and as a
harmless insignificant worm escaped his sharp eye. Rudchuk’s eye
was the eye of the MGB.

Anyway, every old hand in the camps knew that any CES was
riddled with informers, and the least suitable place imaginable to
seek new acquaintances and company. In mixed Corrective Labor
Camps the CES attracted prisoners as a meeting place for men and
women. But in katorga, what reason could there be for going
there?

" It turned out that even a CES in katorga (full of informers
though it was) could serve the cause of freedom. I learned this
from Georgi Tenno, Pyotr Kishkin, and Zhenya Nikishin.

It was in the CES that I met Tenno, and that single brief
meeting stayed clearly in my mind because Tenno himself was so
memorable. He was a tall, slender man of athletic build. For some
reason, they still hadn’t stripped him of his naval tunic and
breeches (some prisoners were wearing their own clothes for one
last month). And although instead of the shoulder tabs of a cap-
tain second class he wore in various places the number SKh 520,
he was every inch the naval officer, ready to step aboard at any
moment. When his movements bared his arms above the wrists
you saw little reddish hairs and tattoo marks: on one arm the word
“Liberty” around an anchor, on the other “Do or die” [in En-
glish]. Tenno simply could not lower his lids or squint, to hide the
sharpness of his eyes and the pride in them. And another thing he
could not hide was his big, bright smile. (I did not yet know it,
but that smile meant: My plan of escape is drawn upf) .

That’s the camp for you—a minefield! Tenno and I were both
there, yet elsewhere: I was on the roads of East Prussia,* he on
the route of his next escape. Bach of us was charged with secret
thoughts, but as we shook hands and exchanged casual words, not
the smallest spark could leap from palm to palm or eye to eye! We
said something unimportant, I buried myself in my newspaper,
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and he began discussing amateur performances with Tumarenko,
a political in for fifteen years, but nonetheless in charge of the
CES, a complicated man of many layers: I thought I knew the
answer to him, but had no means of verifying it.

Ridiculous as it may seem, in katorga there was also a concert
group attached to the CES, or rather in process of formation!
Membership conferred none of the privileges of such groups in
Corrective Labor Camps, exempted a man from nothing, so that
only incurable enthusiasts would ever want to join. Among them,
it appeared, was Tenno, though from his looks you would have
thought better of him. Besides, he had been in the punishment
cells ever since his arrival in Ekibastuz—it was from there that he
had volunteered for the CES! The authorities interpreted this as
an earnest of amendment and permitted him to attend. . . .

Petya Kishkin was no CES activist but the most famous man
in the camp. All Ekibastuz knew of him. Any work site was proud
to have him—with Kishkin around, no one could be bored. He
appeared to be crazy, and was anything but. Though he acted the
fool, everybody said, “He’s cleverer than the lot of us.” He was
the same sort of fool as the “simple” youngest brother in a fairy
tale! The Kishkins are a phenomenon of great antiquity in Russia:
they loudly tell the truth to the wicked and powerful, they make
the people see themselves as they are, and all this by foolery which
involves no risk to themselves.

One of his favorite turns was dressing like a clown in a
funny green waistcoat and collecting the dirty bowls from the
tables. This in itself was a demonstration: the most popular
man in the camp gathering dirty dishes so as not to die of
hunger. A second reason for doing it was that while he was
jigging and clowning around the tables, always the center of
attention, he rubbed shoulders with the working convicts and
sowed mutinous thoughts.

He would suddenly snatch a bowl from the table with the mush
yet untouched—the prisoner was still only sipping his broth. The
startled prisoner would grab at the bowl and Kishkin would dis-
solve in smiles (he had a moon face, but with a certain hardness
in it): “Till somebody touches your mush, you never grasp any-
thing-”

And he dances lightly away with his mountain of dishes.

Before the day is out, Kishkin’s latest joke will be going the
rounds in other work teams, too.
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Another time he leans out across the table, and the rest all look
up at him from their plates. Rolling his eyes like a toy cat, with
a buffoonish look on his face, Kishkin says:

“Listen, lads! If the father’s a fool and the mother a whore, will
the children be fed or go hungry?”

Without waiting for the obvious answer, he points at the litter
of fish bones on the table, and says:

“Divide seven to eight billion poods per annum by two hundred
million!”

And off he goes. It was so simple—why had none of us thought
of it before? It had been reported long ago that we were harvesting
eight billion poods of grain a year, which meant two kilograms of
bread a day for everyone, including babes in arms. Right, we’re
grown men, making holes in the ground the whole day long—
where’s our share?

Kishkin varied his material. Sometimes he would put the same
thought the other way around—with a lecture on anything and.
everything. When the column was waiting before the guardhouse,
at the camp or the work site, and talking was allowed, he made
use of the time to harangue us. One of his regular slogans was
“Educate your faces!” “I walk around the camp and I look at you:
you all have such uneducated faces. Can’t think of anything except
their barley cake.”

Or he would suddenly, for no obvious reasbn, shout at a
crowd of zeks: “Dardanelle! Tommyrot!” It seemed to make no
sense. But after one or two shouts everybody clearly understood
who “Dardanelle” was, and it seemed so apt and so funny that
you almost saw the menacing mustache on his face. “Dar-
danelle!”

One of the bosses barks at Kishkin outside the guardhouse,
trying to get a rise out of him for a change. “How come you’re
baldheaded, Kishkin, you so-and-so? Got dry rot, have you?”
Without a minute’s hesitation, Kishkin answered so that all the
crowd could hear: “Is that what made Vladimir Ilyich bald,
then?”

Or he might go around the mess hut announcing that after the
dishes had been collected he would teach the goners* to do the
Charleston.

Suddenly—a great surprise. A film had arrived. It was
shown in the evening, in the same old mess hut, without a
screen, on the whitewashed wall. The hut was filled to over-
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fiowing—there were people sitting on benches, on tables, be-
tween benches, on top of each other. But before it had run far,
the film was stopped. A blank white beam played on the wall,
and we saw that several warders had come in and were look-
ing for the most comfortable places. They selected a befich and
ordered the prisoners to vacate it. The prisoners decided to
stay where they were—it was years since they’d seen a film!
The warders’ voices grew more threatening, and somebody
said, “Right, take their numbers!” That was that; they had to
give way. Then suddenly a familiar mocking voice, like the
screech of a cat, was heard through the darkened hall:

“Now, lads, really, you know the warders can’t see a film any-
where else—let’s move.”

They exploded in laughter. What a force is laughter! All the
power belonged to the warders, but they beat an inglorious retreat,
without taking numbers.

“Where’s Kishkin?” they shouted.

Not another sound out of Kishkin; Kishkin was missing.

The warders went away, and the film continued.

Next day Kishkin was called before the disciplinary officer.
He’d get five days, for sure! No, he came back smiling. He had
given a written explanation as follows: “During the argument
between warders and prisoners about seats for the film show, I
called upon the prisoners to give up their seats, as they are sup-
posed to, and to move away.” What had he done to be put in the
holé?

The prisoner’s irrational passion for shows, his ability to forget
himself; his grief, and his humiliation for a scrap of nonsense, on
film or live, insultingly showing that all’s right with the world, was
another subject for Kishkin’s skillful satire. Before a film show or
concert, would-be spectators flock together like sheep. Time goes
by and still the door stays shut, while they wait for the head
warder to bring his lists and admit the best work teams. They wait
half an hour, slavishly pressed together, crushing each other’s ribs.
Kishkin, at the back of the crowd, slips off his shoes, vaults with
a hand from his neighbors onto the shoulders of those in front, and
passes quickly, nimbly from shoulder to shoulder over the whole
crowd—right up to the gate of paradise! He knocks, his short body
writhes from head to foot in a pantomime of impatience to enter.
Then he runs back just as quickly over all those shoulders, and
hops down. At first the crowd just laughs. But then they feel
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deeply ashamed. Standing here like sheep! Right, let’s give it a
miss.
They disperse. When the warder comes with the lists, nobody
is trying to break the door down,; in fact, there’s hardly anyone to
let in. If he wants an audience he’ll have to round them up.
Another time a concert was just beginning in the spacious mess
hall. They were all in their seats. Kishkin wouldn’t think of boy-
cotting a concert, There he was in his green waistcoat, fetching
and carrying chairs, helping to draw back the curtain. Each of his
appearances drew applause and friendly shouts from the hall.
Suddenly he runs across the front of the stage as though someone
were pursuing him and, waving a warning hand, shouts, ‘“Dar-
danelle! Tommyrot!” Roars of laughter. Then there was some sort
of hitch. The curtain was up, but the stage was deserted. Kishkin
dashed onto the stage. The audience started laughing, but immedi-
ately fell silent: he looked now no longer comic but insane, there
was a wild glare in his eyes, he was terrifying. He declaimed a
poem, trembling, gazing around unseeingly.

I look and, ah, the sight I see:

The police rain blows, the blood flows free—
Streets littered with the dead and dying,

Son beside father murdered lying. . . .

This was for the Ukrainians, who were half of the audience.
They had only lately been brought from seething provinces, and
it was like salt on a fresh wound. They howled. A warder was
rushing at the stage and Kishkin. But Kishkin’s tragic face relaxed
in a clown’s grin. He shouted, in Russian this time, “When I was
in fourth grade we learned that poem for the Ninth of January!”*

And he left the stage, hobbling absurdly.

Zhenya Nikishin was a nice, simple, sociable lad, with an open
freckled face. (There were many like him in the countryside,
before its destruction. Nowadays you see mainly hostile expres-
sions there.) Zhenya had a small voice, and liked singing for his
friends, in the hut or from the stage.

One day “Wife of Mine, Little Wife” was announced. “Music
by Mokrousov, words by Isakovsky. Performed by Zhenya Niki-
shin, with guitar accompaniment.”

A sad, simple melody trickled from the guitar. And Zhenya
faced that large hall and sang to each of us, showing us how much
warmth and tenderness there still was in our hearts.
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Wife, oh, little wife,
Dearer far than life—
You and you alone live in my heart!

You and you alone! The long platitudinous slogan about output .
plans up above the stage grew dim. In the blue-gray half-light of
the hall, the long years of camp life—years already lived through,
years still remaining—faded. You and you alone! Not the crimes
we were alleged to have committed, nor our reckoning with au-
thority. Not our wolfish preoccupations. . . . You and you alone!

None could be more dear,
None could be so near,
Whether we're together or apart.

It was a song about endless waiting for news that never comes.
About loneliness and despair. How appropriate it was. Yet prison
was never directly mentioned. It could all equally well refer to a
lengthy war.

Though I was an underground poet, my instinct failed me: I did
not realize at the time that the verses ringing from the stage were
those of another underground poet (how many of them are
there?!), but a more flexible one than I, better equipped to reach
his public.

What could they do to him? Send for the music sheet, check
whether it really was Isakovsky and Mokrousov? He had probably
said that he could do it from memory.

In the blue-gray dimness sat or stood some two thousand men.
They were so quiet and still that they might not have been there
at all. Men calloused, brutalized, turned to stone—but now
touched to the heart. Tears, it appeared, could still break through,
still find a way.

Wife, oh, little wife,
Dearer far than life—
You and you alone live in my heart!



Chapter 6 ’

The Committed Escaper

‘When Georgi Pavlovich Tenno talks nowadays about past es-
capes—his own, those of comrades, and those of which he knows
only by repute—his words of praise for the most uncompromising
and persistent heroes—Ivan Vorobyov, Mikhail Khaidarov, Grig-
ory Kudla, Hafiz Hafizov—are these:

“There was a committed escaper!”

A committed escaper! One who never for a minute doubts that
a man cannot live behind bars—not even as the most comfortable
of trusties, in the accounts office, in the Culture and Education
Section, or in charge of the bread ration. One who once he lands
in prison spends every waking hour thinking about escape and
dreams of escape at night. One who has vowed never to resign
himself, and subordinates every action to his need to escape. One
for whom a day in prison can never be just another day; there are
only days of preparation for escape, days on the run, and days in
the punishment cells after recapture and a beating.

A committed escaper! This means one who knows what he is
undertaking. One who has seen the bullet-riddled bodies of other
escapers on display along the central tract. He has also seen
those brought back alive—like the man who was taken from hut
to hut, black and blue and coughing blood, and made to shout:
“Prisoners! Look what happened to me! It can happen to you,
tool” He knows that a runaway’s body is usually too heavy to be
delivered to the camp. And that therefore the head alone is
brought back in a duffel bag, sometimes (this is more reliable
proof, according to the rulebook) together with the right arm,
chopped off at the elbow, so that the Special Section can check

125



126 | THE GULAG ARCHIPELAGO

the fingerprints and write the man off.

A committed escaper! It is for his benefit that window bars are
set in cement, that the camp area is encircled with dozens of
strands of barbed wire, towers, fences, reinforced barriers, that
ambushes and booby traps are set, that red meat is fed to gray
dogs.

The committed escaper is also one who refuses to be under-
mined by the reproaches of the average prisoner: You escapers
make it worse for the rest! Discipline will be stiffer! Ten inspec-
tions a day! Thinner gruell He ignores the whispered suggestions
of other prisoners—not only those who urge resignation (“Life’s
not so bad even in a camp, especially if you get parcels™), but those
who want him to join in protests or hunger strikes, because all that
is not struggle but self-deception. Of all possible means of struggle,
he has eyes only for one, believes only in one, devotes himself only
to one—escape!

He cannot do otherwise! That is how he is made. A bird cannot
renounce seasonal migration, and a committed escaper cannot
help running away.

In the intervals between unsuccessful attempts, peaceful prison-
ers would -ask Tenno: “Why can’t you just sit still? Why do you
keep running? What do you expect to find on the Outside—espe-
cially now?” Tenno was amazed. “What d’you mean—what do I
expect to find? Freedom, of course! A whole day in the taiga
without chains—that’s what I call freedom!”

Gulag and the Organs had known no prisoners like him or
Vorobyov in their middle period—the age of the chicken-hearted.
Such prisoners came along only in the very early days or after the
war.

That was Tenno for you. In each new camp (he was transferred
frequently) he was depressed and miserable until his next escape
plan matured. Once he had a plan, Tenno was radiant, and a smile
of triumph never left his lips.

In fact, he recalls that when the general review of sentences and
the rehabilitations began, he was dismayed: he felt the hope of
rehabilitation sapping his will to escape.

There is no room in this book for his complicated life story. But
the urge to escape had been with him from birth. As a small boy
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he had run away from boarding school in Bryansk to “America”
—down the Desna in a rowboat. He had climbed the iron gates
of the Pyatigorsk orphanage in his underwear in midwinter, and
run away to his grandmother. He was a very unusual amalgam of
sailor and circus performer. He had gone through a school for
seamen, served before the mast on an icebreaker, as boatswain on
a trawler, as navigation officer in the merchant navy. He had
graduated from the army’s Institute of Foreign Languages, spent
the war with the Northern Fleet, sailed to Iceland and England
as liaison officer with British convoys (Plate No. 4). But he had
also, from his childhood on, practiced acrobatics; he had appeared
in circases during the NEP* period, and later in the intervals
between voyages; had trained gymnasts on the beam, performed
as a memory man (memorizing masses of words and figures) and
as a mind reader. The circus, and living in seaports, had led to
some slight contact with the criminal world: he had picked up
something of their language, their adventurousness, their quick-
wittedness, their daredeviltry. Later on, serving time with thieves
in numerous Disciplinary Barracks, he had absorbed more and
more from them. This, too, would come in handy for the commit-
ted escaper.

A man is the product of his whole experience—that is how we
come to be what we are.

In 1948 he was suddenly demobilized. This was a signal from
the other world (he knew languages, had sailed on an English
vessel, and was, moreover, an Estonian, though it is true a Peters-
burg Estonian), but if we are to live we must hope against hope.
On Christmas Eve that year in Riga, where Christmas still feels
like Christmas, like a holiday, he was arrested and taken to a cellar’
on Amatu Street, next door to the conservatory. As he entered his
first cell he couldn’t resist the temptation to tell the apathetically
silent warder, ‘“My wife and I had tickets for The Count of Monte
Cristo and should be watching it right now. He fought for free-
dom, and I shall never accept defeat.”

But it was too early yet to start fighting. We are always at the
mercy of our assumption that a mistake has been made. Prison?
For what? It’s impossible! They’ll soon get it sorted out. Indeed,
before his transfer to Moscow they deliberately reassured him
(this is done as a safety measure when prisoners are in transit).
Colonel Morshchinin, chief of counterespionage, even came to the
station to see him off and shook hands with him. “Have a good
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journey!” There were four of them, Tenno and his special escort,
and they traveled in a separate first-class compartment. When the
major and the first lieutenant had finished talking about all the fun
they would have in Moscow on New Year’s Eve (perhaps special
escort duties are merely an excuse for such trips?), they lay down
on the upper bunks and appeared to be sleeping. On the other
lower bunk lay a chief petty officer. He stirred whenever the
prisoner opened his eyes. There was dim light from a blue bulb
overhead. Under Tenno’s pillow was his first, and last, hastily
made parcel from his wife—a lock of her hair and a bar of choco-
late. He lay and thought. The rhythm of the carriage wheels was
soothing. We can fill their rattle with any meaning, any prophecy
* we please. It filled Tenno with hope that they would “get it sorted
out.” And s0 he had no serious intention of running away. He was
only sizing up the best way to do it. (Later on he would often
remember that night and cluck with annoyance. Never again
would it be so easy to run, never again would freedom be so near?)

Twice in the course of the night Tenno went out along the
deserted corridor, and the petty officer went with him. He had his
pistol slung low, as sailors always do. He even squeezed into the
lavatory together with the prisoner. For a master of judo and
wrestling it would have been child’s play to pin him there and then
take his gun from him, order him to keep quiet, and calmly leave
the train when it stopped. ’

The second time the petty officer was afraid to go into that
narrow place, and waited outside the door. But the door was shut,
and Tenno could have stayed there as long as he liked. He could
have broken the window and jumped out onto the tracks. It was
night! The train was not moving quickly—this was 1948—and it
made frequent stops. True, it was winter, and Tenno had no
overcoat and only five rubles on him, but his watch had not yet
been taken away.

The luxury of a special escort came to an end at the station in
Moscow. They waited for all the passengers to leave the train, and
then the sergeant major with light-blue shoulder tabs who had
brought the prison van came in and said, “Where is he?”

The admission routine, sleepless nights, solitary confinement,
more solitary confinement. A naive request to be called for inter-
rogation soon. The warder yawned. “Don’t be in such a hurry;
you’ll get more than you want shortly.”

At last, the interrogator. “Right, tell me about your criminal
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activities.” “I’'m absolutely innocent!” “Only Pope Pius is abso-
lutely innocent.”

In his cell he was téte-a-téte w1th a stool pigeon. Trying to box
him in. Come on, tell me what really happened. A few interroga-
tions and it was all quite clear: they’d never straighten it out, never
let him go. So he must escape!

The world fame of the Lefortovo Prison did not daunt Tenno.
Perhaps he was like a soldier new to the front who has experienced
nothing and therefore fears nothing? It was the interrogator,
Anatoly Levshin, who inspired Tenno’s escape plan. By turning
mean and arousing his hatred.

People and peoples have different criteria. So many millions had
endured beatings within those walls, without even calling it tor-
ture. But for Tenno the realization that he could be beaten with
impunity was intolerable. It was an outrage, and he would sooner
die than suffer it. So when Levshin, after verbal threats, first
advanced on him and raised his fist, Tenno jumped up and an-
swered with trembling fury: “Look, my life’s worth nothing any-
way! But I can gouge one or both of your eyes out right now! That
much I can do!”

The interrogator retreated. One rotten prisoner’s life in ex-
change for a good eye was not much of a bargain. Next he tried
to wear Tenno down in the punishment cells, to sap his strength.
Then he put on a show, pretending that a woman screaming with
pain in the next office was Tenno’s wife, and that if he did not
confess she would undergo still worse tortures.

Again he had misjudged his man! If a blow from a fist was hm'd
for Tenno to bear, the idea that his wife was being interrogated
was no less so. It became increasingly obvious to the prisoner that
the interrogator must be killed. This and his escape were com-
bined in a single plan. Major Levshin, too, wore naval uniform,
was tall and fair-haired. As far as the sentry on the interrogation
block was concerned, Tenno could very easily pass for Levshin.
True, Levshin’s face was round and sleek whereas Tenno had
grown thin. (It wasn’t easy for a prisoner to get a look at himself
in a mirror. Even if you asked to go to the lavatory when you were
under interrogation, the mirror there was draped with a black
curtain. Once he saw his chance, made one quick movement and
twitched the curtain aside. God, how pale and worn out he looked!
How sorry for himself he felt!)

In the meantime they had removed the useless stoolie from the
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cell. His bed was left there and Tenno examined it. A metal
crosspiece was rusted through at the point where it was fixed to
one of the legs. It was about 70 centimeters long. How could he
break it off?

First he must . . . perfect his skill in counting seconds precisely.
Then calculate for each warder the interval between two peeps
through the spy hole. (You had to put yourself in the place of
whichever warder was on duty, as he strolled at his own pace
along the corridor.) The interval varied between 45 and 65 sec-
onds.

During one such interval he tried his strength, and the metal bar
cracked off at the rusted end. Breaking. the other, solid end was
harder. He would have to stand on it with both feet—but then it
would crash onto the floor. So in the interval between two visits
he must make time to put a pillow on the cement floor, stand on
the bed frame, break it, replace the pillow, and hide the bar for
the time being; say, in his bed. And all the time he must be
counting seconds.

It broke. The trick was donel .

But the problem was only half solved: if they came in and found
it, he would be rotting in the punishment cells. Twenty days of
that and he would lose the strength he needed to escape, or even
to defend himself against the interrogator. Yes, that was it: he
would tear the mattress with his fingernails. Extract a little of the
flock. Wrap flock around the ends of the bar, and put it back where
it had been. Counting the seconds! Right—it was there!

But this was still good only for a short time. Once every ten days
you went to the bathhouse, and while you were away your cell was
searched. They might discover the breakage. So he must act
quickly. How was he to take the bar from the cell to the interroga-
tion room? When they let you out of the cellblock there was no
search. They only slapped your clothing when you came back
from interrogation, and then only your sides and chest, where
there were pockets. They were looking for a blade, to prevent
suicide.

Under his naval jacket Tenno wore the traditional sailor’s
striped jersey—it warms body and soul alike. “The sailor leaves
his troubles ashore.” He asked a warder for a needle (they will give
you one at certain fixed times), as if to sew on buttons made of
bread. He undid his jacket, undid his trousers, pulled out the edge
of his jersey, and turned it up and stitched it so that it formed a
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little pocket (for the lower end of the rod). He had previously
snapped off a bit of tape from his underpants. Now he pretended
to be sewing a button on his jacket and stitched this tape to the
inside of his jersey at chest level, so that it formed a loop to hold
the rod steady.

Next he put the jersey on back to front, and began practicing
day after day. The rod was set in position down his back and under
his jersey: it was pushed through the loop at the top until it rested
in the pocket down below. The upper end of the rod came up to
his neck, under his tunic collar. His training routine went like this:
In the short time between two inspections he would have to fling
his hand to the back of his neck, seize the end of the rod while
bending his trunk backward, then with a reverse movement
straighten like a released bowstring while simultaneously drawing
the rod—and strike the investigating officer a smart blow on the
head. Then he would put-everything back in place. An eye at the
spy hole. The prisoner would be leafing through a book.

The movement became quicker and quicker, until the rod fairly
whistled through the air. If the blow was not fatal, the investigat-
ing officer would certainly be knocked out. If they had arrested his
wife, too, he would show none of them mercy!

He also provided himself with two wads of flock, from the same
mattress. These he could insert between his gums and his cheeks

- to make his face fuller.

He must also, of course, be clean-shaven on the day—and they
scraped you with blunt razors only once a week. So that the day
must be chosen carefully.

How was he to put some color into his cheeks? He would rub
just a little blood on them. That fellow’s blood.

An escaper cannot use his eyes and ears idly as other people
do. He must look and listen for his own special purpose. He
must let no trifle pass him by without comment. Wherever he is
taken—to interrogation, to the exercise yard, to the lavatory—
his feet count their steps, count stairs (not all of this will be
useful, but they count anyway); his body notes the turns; he
keeps his eyes on the ground as ordered, and they examine the
floor (what is it made of? is the surface unbroken?), they search
his surroundings as far as he can see, inspecting all doors (dou-
ble or single? what sort of handles? what sort of locks? do they
open inward or outward?); his mind assesses the function of
every door; his ears listen and make comparisons (that’s a sound
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I've heard before from my cell; now I know what it means).

The famous K-shaped block of the Lefortovo Prison has one
main stairway to all floors, metal galleries, a controller who sticks
little flags on a chart. You cross into the interrogation block. The
interrogators change rooms according to a roster. So much the
better—you can study the layout of all the corridors and the
position of the doors in the interrogation block. How do the
interrogators get into the building? Through that door with the
square window. The main document check is of course carried out
not here but in the guardhouse outside, but here, too, they sign
themselves in or are scrutinized. Listen. One man goes downstairs
and shouts to somebody up above: “Right, I'm off to the minis-
tryl” Splendid; that sentence could be useful to an escaper.

As to the rest of the route from here to the guardhouse, he
would have to make a good guess and take the right way without
hesitation. But no doubt a path had been worn in the snow. Or
the asphalt would be darker and dirtier. How did they get past the
guard? By showing an identification card? Or did they leave their
cards on entry and give their names to reclaim them? Or perhaps
they were all known by sight, and it would be a mistake to give
a name instead of just holding your hand out?

You could find the answer to many things if you observed the
interrogator closely, instead of attending to his silly questions. To
sharpen his pencil he takes a razor blade from inside a little book,
perhaps a personal document, which he keeps in his breast pocket.
Questions immediately ask’ themselves.

“That’s not his pass. Is his pass in the guardhouse?”

““That little book looks very much like a driver’s license. So he
comes by car? He must have his car key, then. Does he park
outside the prison gates? I shall have to read the license number
in his logbook before I leave the office or I may make for the wrong
one.”

They have no cloakroom. He hangs his overcoat and cap here
in-the office. So much the better.

Mustn’t forget anything important, and must pack it all into
four or five minutes. When he's lying there, knocked out, I must:

1. Slip off my jacket and put on his newer one with shoulder

2. Remove his shoelaces and lace my own floppy shoes up—
that will take time.
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3. Tuck his razor blade into a specially prepared place in the
heel of my shoe (if they catch me and sling me into the nearest
cell I can cut my veins).

4. Examine all his documents and take what I need.

-5. Memorize the license plate number and find the ignition
key.

6. Shove my own doss1er into his bulky briefcase and take it
with me.

7. Remove his watch.

8. Redden my cheeks with blood.

9. Drag his body behind the desk or screen, so that anybody
coming in will think he’s left and not raise a hue and cry.

10. Roll the flock into little balls and put them in my cheeks.

11. Put on his coat and cap.

12. Disconnect the wires to the light switch. If anybody
comes soon afterward, finds it dark, and tries the switch, he will
be sure to think that the bulb has burned out and that’s why the
interrogator has gone to another office. Even if they screw
another bulb in, they won’t immediately realize what has hap-
pened.

That makes twelve things to be done, and the escape itself will
be number thirteen. . . . All this must be done during the night
session. It won’t be so good if the little book is not a driver’s
license.'[‘hatwillmeanthathecomesandgoesbyaspecialbus
for interrogators (there must be special transport in the middle of
themght),andtheothersmllthmkltstmngethntl.evshm
couldn’t wait till four or five o’clock but went off on foot in the
middle of the night.

Something else to remember: when I go through the door with
the square window I must raise my handkerchief to my face as
though blowing my nose, and simultaneously turn my head to
look at my watch. And to set the sentry’s mind at rest I'll call
upstairs, “Perov!” (That’s his friend.) “I'm off to the ministry!
We'll have a talk tomorrow!”

Of course, the odds were against him. For the moment, he gave
himself a 3 to 5 percent chance of success: the outer guardroom
was completely unknown and he had no real hope of getting past
it. But he couldn’t diethere like a slavel Couldn’t feebly submit
to kicks! At least he would have the razor blade in the heel of his
shoe!
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So Tenno turned up, freshly shaven, for one nocturnal interro-
gation, with the iron bar behind his back. The interrogator ques-
tioned, abused, threatened, and all the time Tenno looked at him
in surprise: couldn’t he sense that his hours were numbered!

It was eleven o’clock. Tenno’s plan was to sit tight till two in
the morning. Interrogators sometimes wangled themselves a short
night and began leaving about that time.

Now he must seize the right moment: either wait for the interro-
gator to bring some pages over for signature, as he always did,
suddenly pretend to feel faint, let the pages slide to the floor, cause
him to bend his head for a minute, and . . . Or else, without waiting
for the papers, stand up, swaying, plead illness, ask for water.
When he brought the enamel mug (the glass was reserved for his
own use), Tenno would drain it, drop it, simultaneously raising his
right hand to the back of his neck, which would seem quite natural
since he was supposed to be dizzy; the interrogator would be
bound to look down at the mug on the ground, and . . .

Tenno’s heart thumped. A day of rejoicing was at hand. Or

_perhaps his last day.

Things turned out quite differently. Around midnight another
interrogator hurried into the room and began whispering in Lev-
shin’s ear. This had never happened before. Levshin made hurried
preparations to leave, pressed the button for the warder to come
and remove the prisoner.

That was that. Tennowent back to his cell and replaced the iron
bar.

Another time the interrogator sent for. him when he was un-
shaven, and there was no point in taking the bar with him.

Then came a daytime interrogation. And it took a strange turn:
the interrogator refrained from yelling, and weakened his resolve
by predicting that he would get five to seven years, so that there
was no need to be downhearted. Somehow Tenno no longer felt
angry enough to split his head open. Tenno s wrath was not the
sort that lasted.

The mood of high excitement had passed. It seemed to him now
that the odds were too great, that it was too much of a gamble.

The escaper’s moods are perhaps even more capricious than
those of the artist.

All his lengthy preparations had gone for nothing. . . .

But the escaper must be ready for this, too. He had brandished
his bar in the air a hundred times, killed a hundred interrogators.
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A dozen times he had lived through every minute of his escape in
detail—in the office, past the square window, along to the guard-
room, beyond the guardroom. He had worn himself out with an
escape which he would after all not be making. .

Soon afterward they changed his interrogator and transferred
him to the Lubyanka. There Tenno did not actively prepare to
escape (his heart was not in it now that his interrogation seemed
to have taken a more hopeful turn), but he was tirelessly observ-
ant, and he devised a training routine.

Escape from the Lubyanka? Is it even possible? If you think
about it, it is perhaps easier than escaping from Lefortovo. You
soon begin to know your way around those long, long corridors
through which you are taken to interrogation. In the corridor you
sometimes come across arrows on the wall: “To main entrance
No. 2,” “To main entrance No. 3.” (You are sorry that you were
so thoughtless when you were free—that you didn’t walk around
the outside of the Lubyanka to see where each of the entrances
was.) It’s easier here precisely because this is not just the territory
of a prison but a ministry, where there are large numbers of
interrogators and other officials whom the guards cannot know by
sight. So that entry and exit is by pass, and the interrogator has
his pass in his pocket. Again, if an interrogator is not known by
sight, it is not so important to look exactly like him; a rough
resemblance is good enough. The new interrogator wears khaki,
-not naval dress. So that it will be necessary to change into his
uniform. No iron bar this time—but if the will is there you can
manage. There are all sorts of suitable objects in his office—a
marble paperweight, for instance. Anyhow, you needn’t necessar-
ily kill him—just stun him for ten minutes and you’re away!

But vague hopes of clemency and reasonableness clouded
Tenno’s resolution. Only.in the Butyrki Prison was he relieved of
this burden: his sentence, read out from a piece of paper with a
Special Board stamp, was. confinement in camps for twenty-five
years. He signed his name and felt relieved, found himself smiling,
felt his legs carrying him easily to the cell for twenty-five-year
prisoners. That sentence released him from humiliation, from the
temptation to compromise, from humble submission, from truck-
ling, from promises of five to seven years bestowed like alms on
a beggar. Twenty-five is it, you bastards? Right; if that’s all we can
expect from you—we escapell

Or die. But death was surely no worse than a quarter of a



136 | THE GULAG ARCHIPELAGO

century of slavery. Even the shaving of his head after his trial—
just an ordinary convict crop, never upset anybody—outraged
Tenno, as though they had spat in his face.

Now he must seek allies. And study the history of other escapes.
Tenno was a novice in this world. Someone must have tried to
escape before him.

How often we had all followed the warder through those iron
bulkheads which divide the corridors of the Butyrki into sections
—yet how many of us have noticed what Tenno saw at once: each
door had two locks, but swung open when the warder undid only
one of them. This meant that the second lock was for the moment
not in use: it consisted of three prongs which could emerge from
the wall and slide into the iron door.

Other people in the cell might talk about what they liked, but
Tenno wanted stories about escape attempts and those who took
part in them. There was even one prisoner—Manuel Garcia—who
had been in a riot and seen the three prongs used. It had happened
a few months earlier. The prisoners in one of the cells had been
let out to relieve themselves, had seized the warder (although it
was against the rules that he was alone—there had been no trouble
for years, and they were used to submissiveness!), stripped him,
tied him up, and left him in the latrine, while one of the prisoners
put on his uniform. The lads took the keys and ran around open-
ing all the doors on the corridor (they couldn’t have chosen a
better place—some of the prisoners on that corridor were under
sentence of death!). They started shouting, whooping with joy,
calling to each other to go and liberate other corridors and take
over the whole prison. They were oblivious of the need for caution.
They should have stayed in their cells quietly preparing for flight,
allowing only the prisoner disguised as a warder to walk the
corridor, but instead they poured out in a noisy crowd. Hearing
all the noise, a warder from the next corridor looked through the
two-way 'spy hole in the iron door and pressed the alarm button.
When the alarm is given the second lock in each of the corridor
doors is turned from a central control point, and there is no key
to it on warders’ key rings. The mutinous corridor was cut off. A
large body of prison guards was called out. They stood in facing
ranks, let the mutineers through one by one and beat them up,
identified the ringleaders and led them away. These men already
had a quarter each. Was the sentence doubled? Or were they shot?

In transit to the camp. The “watchman’s cabin,” so well known



The Committed Escaper | 137

to prisoners, at the Kazan station—at a certain distance, of course,
from busy public places. Here prisoners are brought in plain vans
and the prison cars are loaded before they are coupled to the
trains. Tense escort troops line the tracks on both sides. Dogs
strain to be at someone’s throat. The order is given: “Escort—at
the readyl” and there is a deadly rattle of breechblocks. These
people really mean it. The dogs go with them when they lead the
prisoners along the tracks. Make a break for it? If you do a dog
will catch you.

(But for the committed escaper, who is continually shunted
from camp to camp, from jail to jail because of his attempts to
escape, the future holds many such stations, many marches under
escort along the tracks. And sometimes he will be marched along
without dogs. Pretend to be lame and sick, scarcely able to drag
your duffel bag and jacket behind you, and the escort will be more
at ease. If there are several trains standing on the tracks—you
might be able to get lost among them. That’s it: drop your things,
bend down, and hurl yourself under a railroad car. But as soon
as you bend over you will see the boots of an extra guard striding
along on the other side of the train. . . . Every contingency has
been foreseen. All you can do is to pretend that weakness has
caused you to fall and drop your things. Unless you are lucky
enough to find a through train passing swiftly alongside! Run
across the tracks right in front of the engine—no guard will run
after you! You can risk your life for freedom, but why should he
risk his? By the time the train flashes by you have gone! But for
this you need two strokes of luck: the train must come jast at the
right time, and you must get past its wheels in one piece.)

From the Kuibyshev Transit Prison they were taking prisoners
to the station in open trucks—making up a long train of red prison
cars. In the transit prison Tenno obtained from a local sneak thief
who “respected escapers™ two local addresses to which he might
go for initial support. He shared these addresses with two other
would-be runaways and they concerted a plan; all three would try
to sit in the back row and when the truck slowed down at a turning
(Tenno had made the inward journey in a dark van and although
his eyes would not recognize the turning, his sides had taken note
of it) they would jump, all three of them at once—right, left, and
rear—past the guards, knocking them over if necessary. The
guards would open fire, but they would not hit all three. They
might not shoot at all—there would be people in the streets.
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Would they give chase? No, they couldn’t abandon the other
prisoners in the truck. So they would just shout and fire into the
air. If the runaways were stopped, it would be by ordinary people,
our Soviet people, passers-by. To frighten them off, the runaways
must pretend to be holding knives! (They had no knives.)

The three of them maneuvered at the search point and hung
back so that they would get onto the last truck and not leave
before dusk. The last truck arrived, but . . . it was not a shallow
three-tonner, like its predecessors, but a Studebaker with high
sides. When he sat down even Tenno found that the top of his head
was below the rim. The Studebaker moved quickly. Here was the
turn! Tenno looked around at his comrades in arms. There was
terror on their faces. No, they wouldn’t jump. No, they were not
committed escapers. (“But can you be sure of yourself?”” he won-
dered.)

In the dark, with lanterns to light their way, to a confused
accompaniment of barking, yelling, cursing, clanking, they were
installed in cattle cars. Here Tenno let himself down—he was too
slow to inspect the outside of the car (and your committed escaper
must see everything while the seeing is good; he is not allowed to
miss anything at alll).

At stops the guards anxiously sounded the cars with mallets.
They sounded every single plank. They were afraid of something,
then—but of what? Afraid that a plank might be sawn through.
So that was the thing to do!

A small piece broken off a hacksaw and sharpened was pro-
duced (by the thieves). They decided to cut through a solid plank
under the bottom bed shelf. Then when the train slowed down, to
lower themselves through the gap, drop onto the line, and lie still
until the cars had passed over them. True, the experts said that
at the end of a cattle train carrying prisoners there was usually a
drag—a metal scraper, with teeth which passed close to the ties,
caught the body of anyone trying to escape, and dragged him over
the ties to his death.

All night long they took turns slipping under the bed shelf and
sawing away at a plank in the wall, gripping the blade, which was
only a few centimeters long, with a piece of rag. It was hard going.
Nonetheless, the first breach was made. The plank began to give
a little. Loosening it, they saw in what was now the morning light
white, unplaned boards outside their car. Why white? The reason
was that an additional footboard for guards had been built onto
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their car. Right there, by the breach they had made, stood a
sentry. It was impossible to go on sawing till the board came away.

Prison escapes, like all forms of human activity, have their own
history, and their own theory. It’s as well to know about them
before you try your own hand.

The history is that of previous escapes. The security branch
publishes no popular pamphlets on escape technology—it stores
experience only for its own use. You can learn the history from
others who once escaped and were recaptured. Their experience
has been dearly bought—with blood, with suffering, almost at the
cost of their lives. But to inquire in il, step by step, about the
attempts of one escaper, then a third, then a fifth, is no laughing
matter; it can be very dangerous. It is not much less dangerous
than asking whether anyone knows whom you should see about
joining an underground organization. Stoolies may listen in to
your long conversations. And worst of all, the narrators them-
selves, under torture after an attempted flight, forced to choose
between life and death, may have lost their nerve and gone over
to the other side, so that now they are live bait rather than fellow
spirits. One of the godfathers’ main tasks is to determine in good
time who sympathizes with escape attempts or takes an interest
in them—to forestall the lurking would-be escaper, make an entry-
in his dossier; from then on he’ll be in a disciplinary squad and
escape will be much more difficult.

Still, as he moved from prison to prison, camp to camp, Tenno
eagerly interrogated escapers. He carried out escapes himself, he
was caught, he had other escapers for cellmates in the camp jails
—and that was his chance to question them. (Sometimes he made
mistakes. The heroic escaper Stepan ——— sold him to the Ken-
gir security officer Belyaev, who repeated to Tenno all the ques-
tions he had asked.)

As for the theory of escape—it is very simple. You do it any way
you can. If you get away—that shows you know your theory. If
you’re caught—you haven’t yet mastered it. The elementary prin-
ciples are as follows. You can escape from a work site or you can
escape from the living area. It is easier from work sites: there are
many of them, the security measures are less rigid, and the escaper
has tools to hand. You can run away alone—it is more difficult,
but no one will betray you. Or you can run away in a group, which
is easier, but then everything depends on whether you are a well-
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matched team. Theory further prescribes that you should know
the geography as well as if you had an illuminated map in front
of you. But you will never catch sight of a map in the camp. (The
thieves, incidentally, are completely ignorant of geography: they
take as north the transit prison where they felt cold last time
through.) A further precept: you must know the people through
whose region your escape route lies. Then there is the following
general advice as to method: you must constantly prepare to es-
cape according to plan, but be ready at any minute to do it quite
differently, to seize a chance.

Here is an example of opportunism. At Kengir once, all the
prisoners in the Disciplinary Barracks were marched out to make
mud bricks. Suddenly they were hit by one of those dust storms
which are so frequent in Kazakhstan: it grows darker and darker,
the sun is hidden, handfuls of dust and small stones lash your face
so painfully that you cannot keep your eyes open. Nobody was
ready to run at such short notice, but Nikolai Krykov rushed to
the boundary fence, flung his jerkin onto the barbed wire, scram-
bled across, scratching himself all over, and hid just outside the
camp area. The storm passed. The jerkin on the wire told them
that he had escaped. They sent out a mounted search party; the
riders had dogs on leashes. But the cold storm had swept scent and
tracks clean away. Krykov sat out the search in a pile of rubbish.
Next day, however, he had to move on! And the motor vehicles
sent to-scour the steppe picked him up.

Tenno’s first camp was Novorudnoye, near Dzh&kazgan
Now you're in the very place where they have doomed you to
die. This is the place of all places from which you must es-
cape! All around there is desert—salt flats and dunes, or firmer
ground held together by tufted grass or prickly camel weed. In
some parts of the plain Kazakhs roam with their herds, in oth-
ers there is not a soul. There are no rivers, and you are very
unlikely to come npon a well. The best time for flight is April
or May, while melting snow still lingers here and there in pud-
dles. But the camp guards are very well aware of this. At this
time of year thie search of prisoners going out to work becomes
stricter, and they are not allowed to take with them a single
bite or a single rag more than is necessary.

That autumn, in 1949, three runaways, Slobodyanyuk, Bazi-
chenko, and Kozhin, risked a dash to the south: their idea was to
walk along the river Sary Su to Kyzyl Orda. But the river had
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dried up completely. When they were caught they were nearly
dead of thirst.

Taught by this experience, Tenno decided that he would not
make his escape in autumn. He went along to the Culture and
Education Section regularly—to show that he was no runaway, no
rebel, but one of those rational prisoners who hope to mend their
ways by the time their twenty-five-year sentence is up. He helped
‘in every way he could, promised to perform his acrobatic stunts
and his memory-man turn at camp concerts, and in the meantime
went through every bit of paper in the Culture and Education
Center until he found a rather poor map of Kazakhstan which the
godfather had carelessly left around. Right. There was an old
caravan route to Dzhusaly, 350 kilometers away, and there would
quite probably be a well along the way. Then he could go north-
ward 400 kilometers, toward Ishim; here there would perhaps be
water meadows. Whereas in the direction of Lake Balkhash lay
the Betpak-Dala—500 kilometers of unrelieved desert. But pur-
suit was unlikely in that direction.

Those were the distances. That was the choice.

The strangest ideas force their way into the mind of the inquisi-
tive escaper. A sewage truck sometimes called at the camp—a
tank with a suction pipe. The mouth of the pipe was wide. Tenno
could easily crawl through it, stand up inside the tank, with his
head bent, and then the driver could take in the liquid sewage as
long as he didn’t fill up to the top. You would be covered with filth,
you might choke, drown, suffocate on the way—but this seemed
less revolting to Tenno than slavishly serving out his sentence. He
examined himself. Was he game? He was. What about the driver,
though? He was a minor offender, serving a short sentence, and
with an exit permit. Tenno had a smoke with him and looked him
over. No, he was not the right man. He wouldn’t risk his pass to
help someone else. He had the mentality of the Corrective Labor
Camp: only fools help other people.

In the course of that winter Tenno devised a plan and also
picked himself four comrades. But one day while the plan was still
being patiently worked out, as theory requires, he was unexpect-
edly marched out to a newly opened work site—a stone quarry.
It 'was in a hilly spot, and invisible from the camp. As yet there
were no watchtowers and no security fence: just stakes knocked
into the ground and a few strands of wire. At one point there was
a gap in the wire—which served as a gate. Six guards stood outside
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the wire, with nothing to raise them above ground level.

Beyond them was the April steppe, its grass still fresh and
green, and a blaze of tulips as far as the eye could see! Those tulips,
that April air, were more than the heart of an escaper could bear!
Perhaps this was his chance?... While you’re still not suspected,
not yet in the Disciplinary Barracks—now’s the time to run!

During his time there Tenno had got to know a lot of people
in the camp and he now quickly assembled a team of four: Misha
Khaidarov (he had been with the marines in North Korea, had
crossed the 38th parallel to avoid a court-martial; not wishing to
spoil the good relations firmly established in Korea, the Ameri-
cans had handed him back and he had got a guarter); Jazdik, a
Polish driver from the Anders army (he vividly summarized his
life story with the help of his unmatching boots—“one from Hit-
ler, one from Stalin”); and, lastly, Sergei, a railwayman from
Kuibyshev.

Then a lorry arrived with real posts and rolls of barbed wire for
a boundary fence—just as the dinner break was beginning.
Tenno’s team, loving forced labor as they did, especially when it
was to make their prison more secure, volunteered to unload the
lorry in the rest period. They scrambled onto the back. But since
it was, after all, dinnertime, they took their time while they
thought things over. The driver had moved away from his vehicle.
The prisoners were lying all over the place, basking in the sun.

Should they run for it or not? They had nothing ready—no
knife, no equipment, no food, no plan. But Tenno knew from his
little map that if they were driving they must make a dash for
Dzhezdy and then to Ulutau. The lads were eager to try it: this
was their chance! Their lucky chance!

From where they were to the sentry at the “gate,” the way was
downhill. Just beyond the gate the road rounded a hill. If they
drove out fast they’d soon be safe from marksmen. And the sen-
tries could not leave their posts!

They finished unloading before the break was over. Jazdik was
to drive. He jumped off, and puttered about the lorry while the
other three lazily lay down in the rear, out of sight—hoping that
some of the sentries hadn’t seen where they had got to. Jazdik
brought the driver over. We haven’t kept you waiting—so let’s
have a smoke. They lit up. Right, wind her up! The driver got into
the cab, but the engine obstinately refused to start. (The three in
the back of the lorry didn’t know Jazdik’s plan and thought their
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attempt had misfired.) Jazdik began turning the crank. Still the
engine would not start. Jazdik was tired and he suggested to the
driver that they change places. Now Jazdik was in the cab. And
the engine immediately let out a roar! The lorry rolled down the
slope toward the sentry at the gate. (Jazdik told them later that
he had tampered with the throttle while the driver was at the
wheel, and quickly turned it on again before he himself took over.)
The driver was in no hurry to jump in; he thought that Jazdik
would stop the lorry. Instead it passed through the “gate” at

Two shouts of “HaltP” The lorry went on. Sentries opened fire
—shooting into the air at first, because it looked very much like
a mistake. Perhaps some shots were aimed at the lorry—the runa-
ways couldn’t tell; they were lying flat. Around a bend. Once
behind the hill they were safe from bullets. The three in the back
kept their heads down. It was bumpy, they were traveling fast.
Then—suddenly—they came to a stop and Jazdik cried out in
despair: he had taken the wrong turn and they were pulled up
short by the gates of a mine, with its own camp area and its own
watchtowers.

More shooting. Guards ran toward them. The escapers tumbled
out onto the ground face downward and covered their heads with
their hands. Convoy guards kick, aiming particularly at the head,
the ears, the temples, and, from above, at the spine.

The wholesome universal rule “Don’t kick a man when he’s
down” did not apply in Stalin’s katorga/ If a man was down, that’s
just what they did—kicked him. And if he was on his feet, they
shot him. -

But the inquiry revealed that there had been no breakout! Yes!
The lads said in unison that they’d been dozing in the back when
the lorry started moving, then there was shooting and it was too
late for them to jump off in case they were shot. And Jazdik? He
was inexperienced, couldn’t handle the lorry. But he’d steered for
the mine next door, not for the steppe.

So they got off with a beating.'

1. Misha Khaidarov was to make many other attempts to escape. Even in the easiest
years of the Khrushchev period, when habitual escapers were lying low and waiting to be
released legally, he and his pals who had no hope of pardon would try to escape from the
All-Union special prison Andzyoba-307: accomplices would throw homemade grenades
under the watchtowers to distract the attention of the guards while the escapers tried to
hack through the wire of the inner camp area with axes. But they would be kept back by
machine-gun fire.
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Preparations for planned escape take their own course. To make
a compass: take a plastic container and mark the points on it.
Break a bit off a spoke, magnetize it, and mount it on a wooden
float. Then pour in water. And that’s your compass. . . . Drinking
water can conveniently be poured into an inner tube, which the
escaper will carry like a greatcoat roll. All these things (together
with food and clothing) are carried gradually to the woodworking
plant, from which the escape is to be made, and hidden in a hole
near the band saw. A free driver sells them an inner tube. Filled
with water, this too now lies in the hole. Sometimes trains arrive
by night and the loaders are left at the work site to deal with them.
That’s when they must run for it. One of the free employees, in
return for a sheet brought out from the camp area (best prices
paid!), has already cut the two lower strands of wire near the band
saw, and the night for unloading timber is getting closer and
closer! But one prisoner, a Kazakh, tracks them to the hole they
use as a hiding place and denounces them.

Arrest, beatings, interrogations. In Tenno’s case there were too
many “coincidences” which looked like preparations to escape.
They were sent off to the Kengir jail, and Tenno was standing face
to the wall, hands behind his back, when the captain in charge of
the Culture and Education Section went by, stopped near him, and
exclaimed:

“Who’d have thought it of you! And you a member of the
concert party!”

What most amazed him was that a peddler of prison-camp
culture should want to escape. On concert days he was allowed an
extra portion of mush—and yet he had tried to run away! Some
people are never satisfied!!

On May 9, 1950, the fifth anniversary of victory in the Father-
land War, naval veteran Georgi Tenno entered a cell in the cele-
brated Kengir Prison. The cell was almost dark, with only one
little window high up, and there was no air, but there were plenty
of bugs—the walls were covered with splotches of bug blood. That
summer a heat wave was raging, with temperatures between 40
and 50 degrees centigrade, and everyone lay around naked. It was
a little cooler under the sleeping platform, but one night two
prisoners shot out from there with a yell: poisonous spiders had
perched on them.

It was a select company in the Kengir jail, brought together
from various camps. In every cell there were experienced escapers,
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hand-picked champions. Tenno had found his committed escapers
at last! .

Among the prisoners was Captain Ivan Vorobyov, Hero of the
Soviet Union. During the war he had been with the partisans in
the Pskov oblast. He was a resolute man of indomitable courage.
He had already made unsuccessful attempts to escape, and would
make others. Unfortunately, he could not take on the jailbird
coloring, the half-caste look which is so helpful to a runaway. He
had preserved his soldier’s straightforwardness; he had a.chief of
staff and they sat on the bed platform drawing a map of the
locality and openly discussing plans. He could not adjust to the
sly, furtive ways of the camps, and was invariably betrayed by
stool pigeons.

A plan fermented in their heads: to overpower the warder su-
pervising the issue of the evening meal if he came alone. Then open
all the cells with his keys. Rush to the jailhouse exit and take
control of it. Then open the jailhouse door and mob the camp
guardroom. Take the guards along as prisoners and break out of
the camp area as soon as darkness fell. Later they were taken out
to work on a housing site, and a plan for escaping through the
sewage system was born.

Baut these plans were never implemented. Before the summer
was out this whole select company was manacled and transported
for some reason to Spassk. There they were put into a hut with
a separate security system. On the fourth night the committed
escapers removed the bars from a window, got out into the service
yard, noiselessly killed a dog, and tried to cross a roof to the huge
main camp area. But the iron roof bent under their feet, and the
noise in the quiet of night was like thunder. The warders gave the
alarm. But when they arrived inside the hut, everyone was peace-
fully sleeping and the bars were back in place. The warders had
simply imagined it all.

They were destined never, never to remain long in one place!
The committed escapers, like Flying Dutchmen, were driven ever
onward by their troubled destiny. If they didn’t-run away, they
were transferred. This whole band of men in a hurry was switched,
in handcuffs, to Ekibastuz camp jail. There the camp’s own unsuc-
cessful runaways—Bryukhin and Mutyanov—were added to their
strength.

As part of their special punitive regime they were taken out to
work at the limekilns: They unloaded quicklime from lorries with
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a wind blowing, and the lime was slaked in their eyes, mouths,
windpipes. When they raked out the furnaces, their sweaty naked
bodies were coated with slaked lime. This daily poisoning, in-
tended to reform them, only forced them to hurry up with their
escape.

The plan dictated itself. The lime was brought by lorries—they
must make their break in a lorry. Break through the boundary
fence, which still consisted of barbed wire in this place. Take a
lorry with plenty of petrol in the tank. The ace driver among the
escapers was Kolya Zhdanok, Tenno’s partner in the unsuccessful
breakout from the sawmill. It was agreed that he would drive the
lorry. But agreement or no agreement, Vorobyov was too strong-
willed, too much the man of action, to put himself in anyone else’s
hands. So that when they pinched the lorry (armed with knives,
they climbed into the cab one on each side, and the white-faced
driver could only sit there between them, an involuntary accom-
plice) it was Vorobyov who took over the steering wheel.

Every minute counted! They must all jump-onto the lorry and
break through the barrier. “Ivan, move over!” Tenno begged him.
But that was something Ivan Vorobyov could not do! Having no
faith in his skill as a driver, Tenno and Zhdanok stayed behind.
There were now only three escapers: Vorobyov, Salopayev, and
Martirosov. Suddenly, from nowhere, Redkin ran up—an intellec-
tual, a mathematician, an eccentric, with no record at all as an
escaper: he was in the Disciplinary Barracks for something quite
different. But on this occasion he had been standing near, realized
what was happening, and hopped onto the lorry, holding for some
reason a lump not of bread but of soap.

“Freedom bound? I'm coming with you.”

(Like somebody boarding a bus: “Is this right for Razgulyai?”’)

The lorry swung around and moved forward at low speed, so
as to break through the strands gradually—the first of them with
its bumpers, then it would be the turn of the engine, then of the
cab. In the outer security zone the lorry could pass between the
posts, but in the main boundary area it had to knock posts down,
because they were staggered. In first gear, the lorry started push-
ing a post over.

The guards on the towers were taken aback: there had been an
incident at another site a few days earlier, when a drunken driver
had smashed a post in the maximum-security zone. Perhaps this
was another drunk? The thought was with them for fifteen sec-
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onds. But by then the post was down, and the lorry had changed
into second gear and driven over the barbed wire without a punc-
ture. Shoot now! But there was nothing to shoot at: to protect the
guards from the winds of Kazakhstan, their towers had been
boarded up on three sides. They could only shoot into the enclosed
area ahead of them. . . . By now the lorry was invisible to them,
speeding over the steppe and raising dust. The watchtowers fired
impotently into the air. '

The roads were all free, the steppe was smooth, and in five
minutes Vorobyov’s lorry could have beén on the horizon—but
purely by chance, a prisoner-transport van belonging to the camp
guards division drove up, on its way to the transport base for
repairs. It quickly took some of the sentries aboard and gave chase
to Vorobyov.

The breakout was over . . . within twenty minutes. The battered
runaways, with Redkin the mathematician among them, his
bloodied mouth full of the warm, salty taste of freedom, staggered
their way to the camp jail.?

All the same, word went around the camp: the break had been
a beautiful job! and they had been stopped only by accident! So ten
days later the former air cadet Batanov and two of his friends
repeated the maneuver: they broke through the barbed-wire barri-
ers at another work site and raced offl Only in their haste they had
taken the wrong road, and came under fire from a watchtower at
the limekilns. A tire was punctured and the lorry came to a stop.
Tommy-gunners surrounded it. “Out you come!” Should they get
out? Or should they wait to be dragged out by the scruff of the
neck? One of the three, Pasechnik, obeyed the order, got out of
the lorry, and was immediately riddled with a furious burst of
bullets. .

In something like a month there had been three attempts to
escape from Ekibastuz—and still Tenno was not on the run! He
was pining away. A jealous longing to cutdo them gnawed at him.
From the sidelines, you see all the mistakes more clearly and
always think that you could do better. If, for instance, Zhdanok

2. In November, 1951, Vorobyov again escaped from a work site, on a dump truck with
five others. They were caught within a few days. Rumor has it that in 1953 Yorobyov was
one of the mutinous “center” in the Norilsk rising, and was afterward in the Aleksandrovsk
Ceatral Prison. A biography of this remarkable man, beginning with his early years before
the war and his wartime career as a partisan, would probably help us to understand our
age much better than we do.
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had been at the wheel instead of Vorobyov, they could, or so
Tenno thought, have got away from the prison van. The minute
Vorobyov’s lorry was stopped, Tenno and Zhdanok sat down to
discuss how they would make their own break. °

Zhdanok was small, swarthy, very agile, and a “half-caste.”*
He was now twenty-six. He had been taken from his native Byelo-
russia to Germany and worked for the Germans as a driver. He,
too, was serving a quarter. When he caught fire he was very
energetic, he put everything he had into his work, into an impulse,
a fight, an escape. Of course, he lacked discipline, but Tenno had
plenty of that.

Everything pointed to the limekilns as the best place for their
escape. If they couldn’t make their break in a lorry, they must
seize one outside the restricted area. But before the guards or the
security officer could interfere with their plans, Tenno was called
aside by the foreman of the punitive work gang, Lyoshka the
Gypsy (Lyoshka Navruzov), a “bitch,” and a puny creature who
nonetheless struck terror into everybody, because in his time in the
camps he had murdered dozens of people (he thought nothing of
killing a man for a parcel or even a pack of cigarettes).

“I’'m an escaper myself and I love escapers. Look at all these
bullet scars; that’s from when I ran away in the taiga. I know you
meant to run away with Vorobyoy. Just don’t do it from the work
site: I'm responsible there, and I'll get another stretch.”

In other words, he loved escapers but loved himself more.
Lyoshka the Gypsy was content with a “bitch’s” life and wouldn’t
let anybody ruin it. That’s how much your professional criminal
“loves freedom.”

But perhaps escape attempts at Ekibastuz really were becoming
hackneyed? Everybody tried to escape from a work site, nobody
from the living area. Dare he risk it? The living area also was at
present surrounded only by wire; there was no solid fence.

One day at the limekilns they damaged the electric cable of a
cement mixer. An electrician was called in from outside. While
Tenno helped him with his repairs, Zhdanok stole some wire
cutters from his pocket. The electrician missed them. Should he
inform the guards? He couldn’t—he would be punished himself
for his carelessness. He begged the professional criminals to give
him back his cutters, but they denied taking them.

While they were at the limekilns the would-be escapers
made themselves two knives: they chiseled strips of metal from
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shovels, sharpened them at the blacksmith’s shop, tempered
them, and cast tin handles for them in clay molds. Tenno's
was a “Turkish” knife; it would be a handy weapon to use,
and what was more important, the flashing curve of its blade
was terrifying. Their intention was to frighten people, not kill
them. Wire cutters and knives they carried to the living area
held to their ankles by the legs of their underpants, and
stowed them away in the foundations of the hut.

Once again their escape plan hinged on the Culture and Educa-
tion Section. While the weapons were being made and transferred,
Tenno chose a suitable moment to announce that he and Zhdanok
would like to take part in a camp concert. (This would be the first
ever at Ekibastuz, and the camp command could not wait to get
it rolling: they needed an extra item in their list of measures to take
prisoners’ minds off plotting, and besides, it would be fun to see
them posturing on a stage after eleven hours of hard labor.) Sure
enough, Tenno and Zhdanok were given permission to leave the
punishment wing after it was locked for the night, and while the
camp area as 2 whole was still alive and in motion for another two
hours. They roamed the still unknown camp, noting how and
when the guard was changed on the watchtowers, and which were
the most convenient spots to crawl under the boundary fence. In
the Culture and Education Section itself Tenno carefully read the
Pavlodar provincial newspaper, trying to memorize the names of
districts, state farms, collective farms, farm chairmen, Party secre-
taries, shock workers* of all kinds. Next he announced that he
would put on a sketch, for which he must get hold of his ordinary
clothes from the clothing store and borrow a briefcase. (A runa-
way with a briefcase—that was something out of the ordinary! It
would help him to look important.) Permission was given. Tenno
was still wearing his naval jacket, and now he took out his Icelan-
dic gear, a souvenir of a Northern convoy. Zhdanok took from his
pal’s suitcase a gray Belgian suit, which looked incongruously
elegant in camp surroundings. A Latvian prisoner had a briefcase
among his belongings. This, too, was taken. Also real caps instead
of the camp issue.

- The sketch required 3o much rehearsing that the time left till
lights out in the main camp area was too short. So there was one
night, and later on another, when Tenno and Zhdanok did not
return to the punishment wing at all, but spent the night in the
hut which housed the Culture and Education Section, to accustom
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their own warders to their absence. (Escapers must have at least
one night’s head start!)

What would be the most propitious moment for escape? Eve-
ning roll call. When the lines formed outside the huts, the warders
were all busy checking in prisoners, while the prisoners had eyes
only for the doors, longing to get to their beds; no one was watch-
ing the rest of the camp area. The days were getting shorter, and
they must hit on one when roll call would come after sundown,
in the twilight, but before the dogs were stationed around the
boundary fence. They must not let slip those five or ten uniquely
precious minutes, because there would be no crawling out once the
dogs were there. They chose Sunday, September 17. It would help
that Sunday was a nonworking day, so that they could recruit
their strength by evening, and take time over the final prepara-
tions.

The last night before escape! You can’t expect much sleep. You
think and think. . . . Shall I be alive this time tomorrow? Possibly
not. And if I stay here in the camp? To die the lingering death of
a goner by a cesspit? . . . No, you mustn’t even begin to accept the
idea that you are a prisoner.

The question is this: Are you prepared to die? You are? Then
you are also prepared to escape.

A sunny Sunday. To rehearse their sketch, both of them were
let out of the punishment wing for the whole day. To Tenno’s
. surprise, there was a letter from his mother in the CES. On that
day of all days. Prisoners can call to mind so many coincidences
of this kind. . . . It was a sad letter, but perhaps it helped to steel
his resolve: his wife was still in prison; she had not yet gone on
to a camp. And his sister-in-law was demanding that his brother
should break off relations with the traitor.

The runaways were very short of food: in the punishment wing
they were on short rations, and hoarding bread would excite
suspicion. They banked on seizing a lorry in the settlement and
traveling quickly. However, that Sunday there was also a parcel
from home—his mother’s blessing on his escape. Glucose tablets,
macaroni, oatmeal—these they could carry in the briefcase. The
cigarettes they would exchange for makhorka.* Except for one
packet, which they would give to the orderly in the sick bay—and
Zhdanok would be on the list of those excused from duty for the
day. The purpose of this was as follows: Tenno could go to the
CES and say, “My Zhdanok is sick; we shan’t be coming to
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rehearse this evening.” While in the punishment barracks he
would tell the warder and Lyoshka the Gypsy: “We shan’t come
back to the hut this evening; we're rehearsing.” So no one could
be expecting them in either place. They must also get hold of a
“katyusha”—an improvised lighter consisting of a wick in a tube
—and a steel and flint to light it. This was better than matches for
a man on the run. Then they must pay their last visit to Hafiz in
his hut. The old Tatar, an experienced escaper, was to have made
the break with them. But then he had decided that he was too old
and would only be a hindrance to their flight. Now he was the only
man in the camp who knew about their plans. He was sitting on
his stool with his legs tucked under him. He spoke in a whisper.
“God give you good fortune! I shall pray for you!” He whispered
a few more words in Tatar, running his hands over his face.

Also in Ekibastuz was Tenno’s old cellmate in the Lubyanka,
Ivan Koverchenko. He did not know about the escape plan, but
he was a good comrade. He was a trusty, and lived in a cabin of
his own: it was there that the runaways kept all the things for the
sketch. It was the obvious place for them to boil the oatmeal which
had arrived in the meager parcel from Tenno’s mother. Some
strong black tea was brewex at the same time. They were enjoying
their miniature banquet, the guests overcome by the thought of
what was before them, their host by the pleasure of a fine Sunday,
when they suddenly saw through the window a coffin of rough
boards being carried across the camp from the guardhouse to the

.. .

It was for Pasechnik, who had been shot a few days before.

“Yes,” sighed Koverchenko. “It’s useless trying to escape.”

(if only he knew ...)

Some devil prompted Koverchenko to rise, pick up their bulg-
ing briefcase, stride self-importantly about the cabin, and sternly
declare:

“The investigating officer knows all about it! You are planning
to mw!”

He was joking. He had taken it into his head to play the part
of an interrogator. . . .

Some joke.

(Or perhaps it was a delicate hint? I can guess what you’re up
to, boys. But I advise against itl)

When Koverchenko went out, the runaways put on their suits
under the clothes they were wearing and unpicked all their num-
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ber patches, leaving them attached by the merest threads so that
they would tear off with one pull. The caps without numbers went
into the briefcase.

Sunday was coming to an end. A golden sun was setting. Tenno,
tall and leisurely, and Zhdanok, small and vivacious, now draped
padded jackets around their shoulders, took the briefcase (by now
everyone in the camp was used to their eccentric appearance), and
went to the prearranged departure point—on the grass between
some huts, not far from the boundary fence and directly opposite
a watchtower. The huts screened them from two other watchtow-
ers. There was only this one sentry facing them. They opened out
their padded jackets, lay down on them, and played chess, so that
the sentry would get used to them.

The sky turned gray. There was the signal for roll call. The
prisoners flocked to their huts. In the half-light, the sentry on his
watchtower should not be able to make out that two men were still
lying on the grass. His watch was nearly over, and he was less alert
than he had been. A stale sentry always makes escape easier.

They intended to cut the wire, not in the open, but directly
under the tower. The sentry certainly spent more time watching
the boundary fence farther away than the ground under his feet.

Their heads were down near the grass, and besides, it was dusk,
so they could not see the spot at which they would shortly crawl
under. But it had been thoroughly inspected in advance. Immedi-
ately beyond the boundary fence a hole had been dug for a post,
and it would be possible to hide there a minute. A little farther
on there were mounds of slag: and a road running from the guards’
hamlet to the settlement.

The plan was to take a lorry as soon as they reached the settle-
ment. Stop one and say to the driver, “Do you want to earn
something? We have to bring two cases of vodka up here from old
Ekibastuz.” What driver would refuse drink? They would bargain
with him. “Half a liter all right? A liter? Right, step on it, but not
a word to anybody.” Then on the highway, sitting with the driver
in his cab, they would overpower him, drive him out into the
steppe, and leave him there tied up. While they tore off to reach
the Irtysh in a single night, abandon the lorry, cross the river in
a little boat, and move on toward Omsk.

It got a little darker still. Up in the towers searchlights were
switched on. Their beams lit up the boundary fence, but the runa-
ways for the time being were in a shadowy patch. The very time!
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Soon the watch would be changed and the dogs would be
brought along and posted for the night.

Now lights were switclied on in the huts, and they could see the
prisoners going in after roll call. Was it nice inside? It would be
warm, comfortable. . . . Whereas here you could be riddled with
Tommy-gun bullets, and it would be all the more humiliating
because you were lying stretched on the ground.

Just so long as they didn’t cough or sneeze under the tower.

Guard away, you guard dogs! Your job is to keep us here, ours
is to run away!

But now let Tenno himself take up the story.



Chapter 7

|
The White Kitten
(Georgi Tenno’s Tale)

I am the senior partner, so I must go first. Sheath knife at my
belt, wire cutters in my hands. “Catch up with me when I cut the
boundary wire!” -

I crawl flat on my belly. Trying to press myself into the ground.
Shall I look toward the sentry or not? If I do, I shall see what
danger I'm in, and perhaps even draw his gaze upon me. How I'm
tempted to look! But I won’t.

Nearer to the watchtower. Nearer to death. I expect a burst of
machine-gun fire to hit me. Any minute now I shall hear its
chatter. Perhaps he can see me perfectly well, and is standing there
laughing at me, letting me scrabble a bit further? . . .

Here’s the boundary wire. I turn around and lie parallel
with it. I cut the first strand. The severed wire twangs as it
loses its tautness. Now for the machine-gun burst? . . . No.
Perhaps no one else could hear that sound. Though it was very
loud. I cut the second strand. And the third. I swing one leg
over, then the other. My trousers catch on the barb of a trail-
ing strand. I free myself.

I crawl over several meters of plowed land. There is a rustling
behind me. It's Kolya—but why is he making so much noise? Of
course, it's the briefcase dragging along the ground. Here are the
abutments to the main fence. The wires are crisscrossed.

I cut a few of them. Now there is a spiral entanglement. I cut
it twice and clear a way. Now I cut some strands of the mainfénce.
Are we breathing at all? Probably not.

154
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Still he doesn’t shoot. Is he dreaming of home? Or thinking of
the dance tonight?

I heave my body over the outer fence. There is yet another
barbed-wire entanglement. I get canght in it. I cut my way out.
I mustn’t forget and mustn’t get stuck: there must still be the outer
sloping barriers ahead. Here they are. I cut them.

Now I am crawling toward the hole. Here it is, just where it
should be. I lower myself into it. Kolya follows. We pause to get
our breath. But we must hurry on! Any minute now the guard will
be relieved and the dogs will be here,.

We hoist ourselves out of the hole and crawl toward the slag
heaps. We still can’t bring ourselves to look around. In his eager-
ness to be out of the place, Kolya rises onto all fours. I push him
down again.

We negotiate the first siag heap in a leopard crawl. I put the wire
cutters under a stone.

Here’s the road. A little way from it, we get to our feet.

No one opens fire.

We saunter along, without hurrying; the time has come to make
ourselves look like inmates of the “open prison™ nearby. We tear
the numbers from our chests and knees, and suddenly two men
come toward us out of the darkness. They are on their way from
the garrison to the settlement. They are soldiers. And we still have
numbers on our backs!

“Vanyal” I say loudly. “Maybe we can.manage half a liter?”

We walk slowly, still not on the road itself, but toward it. We
walk slowly, to let them go by first, but straight toward them, and
without hiding our faces. They pass within two meters of us. To
avoid turning our backs on them, we almost come to a standstill.
They go by, talking about their own affairs, and we tear the
numbers off each other’s backs!

Have we escaped notice? . . . Are we free? Now to the settlement
to find a lorry.

But what’s that? A flare roars up over the camp! Another one!
A third!

They have found us out! The pursuit will start right away! We
must runl!

No more looking around, no more stopping to think, no more
careful calculation—our magnificent plan is in ruins. We rush into
the steppe, to get as far from the camp as we can! We gasp for
breath, tumble over bumps in the ground, jump up again—while
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rocket after rocket shoots up into the sky! Remembering previous
escape attempts, we imagine them shortly sending out mounted
search parties with dogs on leashes, over the steppe in every
direction. So we spnnkle all our precious makhorka in our tracks,
and take big jumps.!

Now we shall have to make a wide detour around the settle-
ment, and keep to the steppe. It takes a lot of time and trouble.
Kolya begins to doubt whether I am leading him the right way.
I am offended.

But here is the embankment of the Pavlodar railway. We are
very glad to see it. From the embankment we are astounded by
the widely scattered lights of Ekibastuz—it looks bigger than we
have ever seen it.

We choose ourselves a stick. Holding on to it, we walk along,
one on each rail. Once a train goes by, the dogs will be unable to
pick up the scent from the rails.

We go on like that for about 300 meters, then take a few jumps
—and into the steppe.

At last we can breathe freelyl We want to sing and shout! We
hug one another. We really are freel How we admire ourselves for
resolving ta escape, Succeeding in doing so, and eluding the dogs.

Although the test of our will power is only just beginning, we
feel as though the worst of it were already over.

The sky is clear. Dark and full of stars—you never see it like
that from the camp because of all the lights. Guided by the pole-
star, we travel north-northeast. Later on we shall veer right and
reach the Irtysh.

We must try to get as far away as possible this first night. In
that way we shall increase by the power of two the area which our
pursuers must keep under observation. All the brave cheerful

1. Pure chance! Like the prison van which those other escapers met! An unfc bl
accident! Chance events, favorable or hostile, lie in wait for us at every step. But it is only
a runaway, on the razor edge of danger, who discovers how heavily they weigh in the
balance. Quite accidentally, the lighting in the camp area failed a few minutes after Tenno
and Zhdanok crawled out—and it was for this reason only that flares, of which there were
still a great many in Ekibastuz, were 80 lavishly let off. If the runaways had crawled out
five minutes later, the sentries, by then on the alert, might have noticed, and shot them.
If the runaways had kept their self-possession under the brilliantly lit sky, coolly.observed
the camp area and seen that the lamps and the boundary searchlights were out, they could
have calmly made their way to some motor vehicle, and their escape would have taken an
entirely different course. But in their position—with flares over the camp just after they
had crawled out—they could have no doubt that the hunt was on, and they must run for
their lives.

A brief failure of the lighting system—and their whole escape plan was upset.
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songs we can remember, in various languages, we sing as we go
along, covering eight kilometers an hour. But because we have
been confined for many months to our cells, we find that our legs
have forgotten how to walk and are soon tired. (We had foreseen
‘this, but had expected to be riding!) We start lying down to rest
with our legs together in the air like the poles of a wigwam. Then
on again. Then another lie-down.

Behind us the glow of Ekibastuz is a surprisingly long time
fading. We have been walking for several hours, and still the glow
is in the sky.

But now the night is ending, and the east grows pale. By
day we cannot walk over the bare open steppe, nor indeed will
it be easy for us to hide there: there are neither bushes nor
long grass, and we know that they will be looking for us from
the air, too.

So we dig ourselves a foxhole with our knives (the ground is
hard and strong and digging is difficult), half a meter wide and
thirty centimeters deep, and we lie there head to toe, covering
ourselves with dry, prickly yellow steppe gorse. Now is the time
to sleep and recover our strength! But sleep is impossible. This
helpless lying around in the daytime, for more than twelve hours
at a time, is much harder to bear than the nighttime walking. You
cannot stop thinking. . . . The September sun is baking hot, there
is nothing to drink, and there will be nothing. We have broken the
rule for escapers in Kazakhstan—you must run away in the
spring, not in the autumn. . . . But of course we had expected to
be riding. . . . We suffer this misery from five in the morning until
eight in the evening. Our bodies are painfully numb but we must
not change position; if we raise ourselves or disturb the gorse, a
man on horseback may see us from a distance. Wearing two suits
each, we are dying from the heat. Grin and bear it!

Until at last the darkness comes—the only time for escapers.

We rise. Our legs hurt, and standing is difficult. We walk slowly,
trying to ease our cramped limbs. There is little strength in us.
Except for chewing bits of dry macaroni and gulping down our
glucose tablets, we have had nothing all day. We are thirsty.

Even in the dark we must beware of ambush tonight: they have
of course broadcast the news far and wide, dispatched motor
vehicles in all directions, and especially in the direction of Omsk.
We wonder how and when they found our jerkins and the chess-
men on the ground. They would realize at once from the numbers
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that we were the runaways—no need to consult the card index and
call the roll.?

We move at not more than four kilometers an hour. Our
legs ache. We often lie down to rest. Water, water! We cover
no more than twenty kilometers that night. Then we have to
look again for somewhere to hide, and lie down for our day-
time torment.

We think we see buildings. We start crawling cautiously toward
them. Unexpectedly, out there on the steppe, they turn out to be
huge rocks.

Perhaps there will be water in their cavities? No . . . but there
is a niche under one of the rocks. Scratched out by jackals, per-
haps. Squeezing into it is difficult. And what if the rock topples
over? It could flatten you like a pancake—and you might not die
immediately. It is already rather cold. Morning finds us still
awake. Nor can we sleep in the daytime. We take our knives and
begin honing them on a stone: they lost their edge when we dug
our foxhole at the last stopping place.

In the middle of the day we heard the rumble of wheels nearby.
That was bad—we were near a road. A Kazakh rode right by us.
Muttering to himself. Should we jump out and run after him? He
might have water. But how could we tackle him without inspect-
ing the area first? Perhaps we could be seen.

Might not the search party pass down this very road? We slid
cautiously out of our hole and looked around from ground level.
A hundred meters or so away there was a dilapidated structure.
We crawled over. There was no one there. A wellll No; it was
choked with rubbish.

There was some trampled straw in a corner. Should we lie down
here for a bit? We lay down. Sleep would not come. Lord, how
the fleas did bite! Fleas!l Such big ones, and so many of them!
Kolya’s light-gray Belgian jacket was black with fleas. We shook

2. What happened was this. In the morning some working prisoners found the padded
jackets, 50 cold that they had obviously been out all night. They tore off the numbers and
pinched them: a padded jacket is something worth having. The warders simply didn’t see
the things. Nor did they spot the cut wires till late on Monday afternoon. They had in fact
mwawmaywmmmmmmwﬁoomwhommm
runaways could still have gone on walking or riding without Iment in the ing!
You can see what a difference was made by their failure to investigate the flares.

Back in the camp, the picture of the escape on Sunday evening gradually b clear;
peopleranﬂnbaedthmthehghtshmigoneout.mdexdmmedmadmmnon ‘Aren’t they
craftyl Aren’t they clever! However did they manage to put the lights out?” For a long time
everybody thought that the light failure had been a help to them.
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ourselves, cleaned ourselves. We crawled back again to the jackal’s
hole. Time was running out, our strength was running out, and
we were not moving.

At dusk we got up. We were very weak. We were tortured by
thirst. We decided to bear still more sharply to the right, so as to
reach the Irtysh sooner. A clear night, a black sky with stars. The
constellations of Pegasus and Perseus fuse as I look at them to
form the outline of a bull, head down, pressing forward urging us
on. And on we go.

Suddenly, rockets shoot into the sky before us! They’re ahead
of us now! We freeze in our tracks. We see an embankment. A
railway line. No more rockets, but the beam of a searchlight
travels along the rails, swinging from side to side. A handcar is
reconnoitering the steppe. Any moment now they will spot us—
and it will be all over. . . . We feel stupid and helpless: lying in
range of the beam, waiting to be spotted.

It passed over us, and we were not seen. We jump up. We
cannot run, but hurry as best we can away from the embankment.
But the sky quickly clouds over and with our dashing from right
to left we have lost our sense of direction. Now we are moving
almost by guesswork. We cover only a few kilometers, and even
these may be pointless zigzagging.

A wasted night! . . . It’s getting light again. Once more we pluck
steppe gorse. We must dig a hole, but I no longer have my curved
Turkish knife. I lost it either when I was lying down or in my
headlong dash away from the embankment. A disaster! How can
an escaper manage without a knife? We dig our hole with Kolya’s.

There’s one good thing about it. A fortuneteller had told me
that I should meet my end at the age of thirty-eight. Sailors can’t ~
help being superstitious. But the day now dawning is September
20—my birthday. Fam thirty-nine today. The prophecy no longer
affects me. I shall livel

Once more we lie in a hole motionless, without water. If only
we could fall asleep—but we cannot. If only it would rain! Time
drags by. Things are bad. We’ve been on the run for very nearly
three days now, and still haven’t had a single drop of water. We
are swallowing five glucose tablets a day. And we haven’t made
much progress—perhaps a third of the way to the Irtysh. And our
friends in the camp are feeling glad that we are enjoying freedom
in the realm of the “green prosecutor.”*

Twilight. Stars. Course—north by east. We struggle on. Sud-
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denly we hear a shout in the distance: “Va-va-va-val” What’s this?
We remember Kudla, an old hand at escaping: according to him,
this is how the Kazakhs frighten wolves away from their sheep.

A sheep! Give us a sheep and we are saved! As free men we
would never have dreamed of drmkmg blood. But here and now
—just let us get at it.

We approach stealthily. Crawling. Bulldmgs We cannot see a
well. Going into the house is too dangerous—if we meet people
we shall leave a trail. We creep up to the adobe sheepfold. Yes,
it was a Kazakh woman shouting, to scare off wolves. We heave
ourselves over a low part of the wall into the enclosure. I have my
knife between my teeth. We creep along the ground, sheep-hunt-
ing. I hear one of them breathing near me. But they shy away from
us, again and again! Once more, we creep up on them from differ-
ent. directions. Can I somehow grab one by the leg? They run
away! (Later on, my mistake will be explained to me. Because we
are crawling, the sheep take us for wild animals. We should have
approached them erect, as though we were their masters, and they
would have submitted tamely.)

The Kazakh woman senses that something is wrong, comes
close, and peers into the darkness. She has no light, but she picks
up lumps of earth, starts throwing them, and hits Kolya. She’s
walking straight toward me; any minute now she will step on me!
She either sees us or senses our presence, and screeches: “Shaitan!
Shaitan!” She rushes away from us and we from her—over the
wall, where we lie still. Men’s voices. Calm voices. Probably say-
ing, “Silly woman’s seeing things.”

A defeat. All right, let’s wander on.

The silhouette of a horse. Ah, the beauty! Just what we need.
We go up to it. It stands still. We pat its neck, slip a belt around
it. I give Zhdanok a leg up, but cannot scramble on myself; I'm
too weak. I cling on with my hands, press my belly against it, but
cannot cock my leg over. The horse fidgets. Suddenly it breaks
loose, bolts with Zhdanok and throws him. Luckily the belt re-
mains in his hand; we’ve left no trace, andtheycanblameltall
on Shaitan.

We have worn ourselves out with the horse. Walking is harder
than ever. And now there is plowed land to cross. Our feet catch
in the furrows and we have to drag them along. But this is not
altogether a bad thing: where there are plowed fields, there are
people, and where there are people, there is water. °
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We walk on, struggle on. Drag ourselves along. More sil-
houettes. Again we lie flat and crawl. Haystacks! Meadows? Fine!
Are we near the Irtysh? (Alas, we are still a long, long way from
it.) With one last effort we scramble onto the hay and burrow into
it. . : :

And this time-we slept the whole day through. Counting the
sleepless night before our escape; we had now missed five nights’
sleep.

We wake at the end of the day and hear a tractor. Cauuously
we part the straw, and poke our heads out an inch. Two tractors
have arrived. There is a hut. Evening is drawing on.

A bright idea! There will be water-in the tractors’ cooling sys-
tem! When the drivers go to bed we can drink-it.

Darkness falls. We have reached the end of our fourth day on
the run. We crawl up to the tractors.

Luckily there is no dog. Quietly, we make our way to the
drainage cap and take a swig. No good—there is kerosene in the
water. It’s undrinkable. We spit it out.

These people have everything—they have food and thiey have
water. Why don’t we just knock on the door like beggars: “Broth-
ers! Good people! Help us! We are convicts, escaped prisoners!”
Just like it used to be in'the nineteenth century—when people put
pots of porridge, clothing, copper coins by the paths through the
taiga.

I had bread from the wives of the village
And the lads saw me right for makhorka.

Like hell we willl Times have changed. Nowadays they turn you
in. Either to salve their consciences, or to save their skins. Because
for aiding and. abetting you can have a guarter slapped-on you.
The nineteenth century failed to realize that a gift of bread and
water could be a political crime.

So we drag ourselves farther. Drag ourselves on all through the
night. We can’t wait to reach the Irtysh; we look eagerly for signs
of the river’s proximity. There are none. We drive ourselves merci-
lessly on and on. Toward morning we come across another hay-
stack. With even more difficulty than yesterday, we climb into it.
We fall asleep. Something to be thankful for. When we wake up
it is nearly evening.

How much can a man endure? Five days now we have been on
the run. Not far away we see a yurt with an open shed near it.
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Quietly we creep up to it. Coarse millet had been strewn on the
ground. We stuff the briefcase with it, try to munch some, but we
cannot swallow—our mouths are too dry. Suddenly we catch sight
of a huge samovar near the yurt, big enough to hold several
gallons. We crawl up to it. We turn the tap—the bloody thing is
empty. When we tip it we get a couple of mouthfuls. .

We stagger on again. Staggering and falling. Lying down, you
breathe more easily. We can no longer get up off our backs. First
we have to roll over onto our bellies. Then raise ourselves onto all
fours. Then, swaying, onto our feet. Even this leaves us out of
breath. We have grown so thin that our bellies seem stuck to our
backbones. As dawn approaches we cover some 200 meters, no
more. And lie down.

That morning no haystack came our way. There was some kind
of burrow in a hill, dug by an animal. We lay in it through the
day, but could not get to sleep. That day it got colder, and we felt
a chill from the ground. Or perhaps our bleod was no longer
warming us? We tried to chew some macaroni.

Suddenly I see a line of soldiers advancing! With red shoulder
tabs! They’re surrounding us! Zhdanok gives me a shake: You’re
imagining things, it’s a herd of horses.

Yes, it was a mirage. We lay down again. The day was endless.
Suddenly a jackal arrived, coming home to his hole. We put some
macaroni down for him and crawled away, hoping to lure him
after us, stab him and eat him. But he wouldn’t touch it. He went
away.

To one side of us there was a slope, downhill a little the salt flats
of a dried-up lake, and, on the other bank, a yurt and smoke '
drifting in the air.

Six days have gone by. We have reached the limit: we see red
tabs in our hallucinations, our tongues are stuck to the roofs of
our mouths. If we pass water at all there is blood in it. It’s no good!
Tonight we must get food and water at any price. We'll go over
there, to the yurt. If they refuse us, we’ll take it by force. I
remember, the old fugitive Grigory Kudla and his war cry: Makh-
madera! (Meaning: “Stop asking—and grabl’’) Kolya and I come
to an understanding: at the right moment I will say “Makhmad-
era!,’

In the darkness we crept quietly toward the yurt. There was a
well. But no bucket. Not far away a saddled horse stood at a
hitching post. We glanced through the narrow opening. By the
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light of an oil lamp we saw a Kazakh couple and some children.
We knocked and went in. I said, “Salaam!” And all the time there
were big spots in front of my eyes and I was afraid of falling. Inside
there was a low, round table (even lower than our modernist
designers make them) for the beshbarmak.* Round the yurt were
benches covered with felt. There was a big metal-bound chest.
The Kazakh muttered something in reply, and looked sullen—
he was not a bit pleased to see us. To make myself look important
(and anyway, I needed to conserve my strength), I sat down and
put the briefcase on the table. “I’m in charge of a geological survey
team, and this is my driver. We’ve left our transport back in the
steppe with the others, five or maybe seven kilometers from here:
the radiator leaks and the water’s all run out. We ourselves haven’t
had anything to eat for three days; we’re starving. Giye us some-
" thing to eat and drink, aksakal.* And tell uis what you think we
should do.” .
But the Kazakh screws up his eyes and offers no food and drink.
“What you hame, boss?” he asks.
I had it all ready once, but my head is buzzing, and I’ve forgot-
ten.
“Ivanov,” I answer. (Stupid, of course.) “Come on then, sell us
some groceries, aksakal!” “No. Go to my neighbor.” “Is it far?”
“Two kilometers.”

I sit there on my dignity, but Kolya can’t hold out any longer,
seizes a griddle cake and tries to chew it, though it is obviously
hard work for him. Suddenly the Kazakh picks up a whip, with
a short handle and a long leather lash, and threatens Zhdanok
with it. I get to my feet. “So that’s the sort of people you are!
That’s your famous hospitality!” Now the Kazakh is prodding
Zhdanok in the back with the whip handle, trying to drive him out
of the yurt. I give the command. “Makhmadera!” I take out my
knife and tell the Kazakh, “In the corner! Lie down!” The Kazakh
dives through a curtain. I am right behind him: he may have a gun
there, may shoot us at any moment. But he flops on the bed,
shouting, “Take it all! I won't say anything!” Oh, you miserable
cur, you! What do I want with your “all”? Why couldn’t you give
me the little bit I asked for in the first place?

To Kolya I say, “Keep your eyes peeled!” I stand by the door
with my knife. The Kazakh woman is screaming, the children
start crying. “Tell your wife we won’t hurt any of you. We just
want to eat. Is there any meat?” He spread his hands. “Yok.”* But
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Kolya pokes about in the yurt and produces dried mutton out of
a meat safe. “Why did you lie?” Kolya also grabs a basin with
baursaki in it—lumps of dough, deep fried. I suddenly realize that
there is kumiss in the jugs on the table. Kolya and I drink. With
every swig life comes back to us! What a drink! My head begins
to spin, but intoxication seems to help me, I feel stronger all the
time. Kolya is beginning to enjoy himself. He passes some money
to me. There turn out to be 28 rubles. There’s probably more
tucked away somewhere.

We drop the dried mutton into a sack, and scoop baursak:,
griddlecakes, and sweets of some sort—dirty “satin cushions”—
into another. Kolya also pinches a dish of roasted mutton scraps.
A knifel That’s something we really need. We try not to forget
anything—wooden spoons, salt. . . . I carry the sack out. I come
back and take a bucket of water. I take a blanket, a spare bridle,
the whip. (He mutters to himself—he doesn’t like this: how is he
going to catch us?)

“Right, then,” I tell the Kazakh. “Let that be a lesson to you,
and mind you don’t forget it. You should be more friendly to your
guests! We would have gone on our knees to you for a bucket of
water and a dozen baursaki. We do no harm to decent people.
Here are your final instructions: lie where you are without stirring!
We have friends outside.” .

I leave Kolya outside the door while I lug the rest of the loot
over to the horse. I suppose we should be hurrying, but my mind
works calmly. I take the horse to the well and let it drink its fill.
It, too, has quite a job ahead of it; it will have to carry its excessive
load all through the night. I drink from the well myself. So does
Kolya. Just then some geese come up to us. Kolya has a weakness
for poultry. “Shall we grab the geese?”” he says. “Shall we wring
their necks?” “It’'ll make too much noise. Don’t waste time.”

I let down the stirrups and tighten the girths. Zhdanok puts the
blanket behind the saddle, and climbs onto it from the well wall.
He takes the bucket of water in his hands. We have tied the two
sacks together and slung them over the horse’s back. I get into the
saddle. And so by the light of the stars we ride off eastward, to
throw our pursuers off the trail.

The horse objected to having two riders, strangers at that, and
kept tossing its head, trying to turn back toward home. We mas-
tered it somehow. It set off briskly. There were lights nearby. We
made a detour. Kolya sang quietly in my ear.
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Out on the range, where the wind blows. free,
A cowboy’s life is the life for me,
With a horse I can trust beneath me.

“I saw his passport, too,” said Kolya. “Why didn’t you take it?
A passport always comes in handy. You can give them a peep at
the cover—not too close.”

On the road, we took frequent drinks of water and snacks
without dismounting. Our mood was entirely different now! All
we wanted now was to gallop as far away as we could before
daylight!

We heard the cries of birds. A lake. It would be a long way
around it, and we grudged the time. Kolya dismounted and led
the horse along a slippery causeway. We got across. But we sud-
denly noticed—no blanket. It had slipped off. We had left a trail.

This was very bad. From the Kazakh’s place many paths led in
all directions, but if they found the blanket and drew a line from
the yurt to that point, our route would be clear. Should we go back
and look for it? There was no time. In any case, they must know
we were going north.

We called a halt. I held the horse by a rein. We ate and drank,
ate and drank, endlessly. The water was nearly down to the bot-
tom of the bucket—we could hardly believe it.

Course—due north. The horse wouldn’t break into a trot,
but walked quickly, at 8 to 10 kilometers an hour. In six
nights we had notched only 150 kilometers, but that night we
did another 70. If we hadn’t zigzagged about, we should be on
the Irtysh by now.

Dawn. But nowhere to hide. We rode on. It was getting danger-
ous. Then we saw a deep hollow, almost a hole. We took the horse
down into it, and ate and drank again. Suddenly, a motorcycle
stuttered nearby. That was bad—there was a road. We must find
a safer hiding place. We climbed out and looked around. Not too
far off there was a dead and deserted Kazakh village.* We made
our way there. We shed our load between the three walls of a
ruined house, then hobbled the horse and turned it out to graze.

But there was no sleep that day: with the Kazakh and the
blanket, we had left d trail.

3. The years l930-l933ldtmanymchminedﬁﬂagesdoﬂedabommmFm
Budenny passed through with his cavalry (to this day there is not a single kolkhoz called
after him, not a single picture of him anywhere in Kazakhstan), then famine.
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Evening. Seven days now. The horse was grazing some way off.
We went after it—and it shied away, evaded us. Kolya grabbed
it by the mane, but it dragged him along and he fell. It had freed
its front legs—and now there was no holding it. We hunted it for
three hours, wearing ourselves out, drove it in among the ruins,

-tried to slip a noose made from our belts around its neck, but still
it wouldn’t give in. We bit our lips, but we had to abandon it. All
we had left was the bridle and the whip.

We ate, and drank our last water. We shouldered the sacks with
the food, and the empty bucket. And off we went. Today we had
the strength for it.

The following morning caught us in an awkward spot and we
had to hide in some bushes not far from a road. Not the best of
places—we could be spotted. A cart rattled by. We didn’t sleep
that day either.

As the eighth day ended we set off again. When we had gone
a little way we suddenly felt soft earth underfoot: the plow had
been here. We went on and saw headlights along the roads. Care-
ful now!

There was a young moon up among the clouds. Yet another
dead and ruined Kazakh hamlet. Farther on, the lights of a village,
and the words of a song reached our ears:

“Hey, lads, unharness the horses. . . .”

We put the sacks down among the ruins, and made for the
village with the briefcase and bucket. We had our knives in our
pockets. Here’s the first house—with ‘a grunting piglet. If only
we’d met him out on the steppe. A lad rode toward us on a bike.
“Hey, pal, we’ve got a truck over there; we’re moving grain.
Where can we get some water for the radiator?”” The boy got off,
went ahead of us, and pointed. There was a tank on the edge of
the village; probably the cattle drank from it. We dipped the
bucket in and carried it away full, without taking a drink. We
parted with the lad, then sat down and drank and drank. We
half-emptied the bucket at one go (we were thirstier than ever
today, because we had eaten our fill).

There seemed to be a slight chill in the air. And there was real
grass under our feet. There must be a river nearl We must look
for it. We walk and walk. The grass is higher, there are bushes.
A willow—where they are there is always water. Reeds! Waterlll
No doubt a backwater of the Irtysh. Now we can splash around
and wash ourselves. Reeds two meters high! Ducks start up from
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under our feet. We can breathe freely herel We shan’t come to grief
here!

And this was when for the first time in eight days the stomach
discovered that it was still working. After eight days out of action,
what torment it was! Birth pains are probably no worse.

Then back we went to the abandoned village. There we lit a fire
between the walls and boiled some dried mutton. We should have
used the night to move on, but all we wanted was to eat and eat
insatiably. We stuffed ourselves until we could hardly move. Then,
feeling pleased with life, we set off to look for the Irtysh. At a fork
in the road something happened for the first time in eight days—
we quarreled. I said, “Right,” Zhdanok said, “Left.” I felt sure
that it should be right, but he wouldn’t listen. Another of the
dangers that lie in wait for escapers—falling out with one another.
When you are on the run, one of your number must be allowed
to have the last word, otherwise you are in trouble. Determined
to have my way, I went off to the right. I walked a hundred meters,
and still heard no footsteps behind me. My heart ached. We
couldn’t just part like that. I sat down by a haystack and looked
back. . . . Kolya was coming! I hugged him. We walked on side
by side as though nothing had happened.

There are more bushes now and the air is chillier.-We walk to
the edge of a sharp drop. Down below, the Irtysh splashes and
babbles and playfully breathes on us. We are overjoyed.

We find a haystack and burrow into it. What about it; tracker
dogs, still think you can find us? You haven’t a hope! We fall into
a heavy sleep.

We were awakened by a shot! And dogs barking quite near! . . .

Was this it, then? Was our freedom to end so soon? We clung
together and stopped breathing. A man went by. With a dog. A
hunter! . . . We fell into an even deeper sleep . . . and slept the day
through. This was how we spent our ninth- day.

When it got dark we set off along the river. Three days had gone
by since we left a trail. The dog handlers would only be looking
for us along the Irtysh by now. They would realize that we were
making for the water. If we went along the bank we might easily
stumble into an ambush. Besides, it was hard work—we had to go
around bends, creeks, reed beds. We needed a boat!

A light, a little house on the riverbank. The splash of oars, then
silence. We lay low and waited for some time. They put the light
out. We went quietly down to the water. There was the boat. And
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a pair of oars. Splendid! (Their owner might have taken them with
him.) “The sailor leaves his troubles ashore.” My native element!
Quietly, to begin with, without splashing. Once out in midstream,
I rowed hard.

We move on down the Irtysh, and from around a bend a
brightly lit steamer comes toward us. So many lights! The win-
dows are all ablaze, the whole ship rings with dance music. Pass-
engers, free and happy, stroll on the deck and sit in the restaurant,
not realizing how happy they are, not even aware of their freedom.
And how cozy it is in their cabins! . . .

In this way we traveled more than twenty kilometers down-
stream. Our provisions were running out. The sensible thing
would be to stock up again while it was still night. We heard cocks
crowing, put in to shore, and quietly climbed toward the sound.
A little house. No dog. A cattle shed. A cow with a calf. Hens.
Zhdanok is fond of poultry, but I say we’ll take the calf. We untie
it. Zhdanok leads it to the boat while I, in the most literal sense, *
. wipe out our tracks, otherwise it will be obvious to the tracker
dogs that we are traveling by boat.

The calf came quietly as far as the bank, but stubbornly refused
to step into.the boat. It was as much as the two of us could do
to get him in and make him lie down. Zhdanok sat on him, to hold
him down, while I rowed—once in the clear we would kill him.
But that was our mistake—trying to carry him alive! The calf
started getting to his feet, threw Zhdanok off, and heaved his
forelegs into the water.

All hands on deck! Zhdanok hangs on to the calf’s hindquarters,
I hang on to Zhdanok, we all lean too far to one side, and water
pours in on us. We are as near as need be to drowning in the Irtysh!
Still, we drag the calf back in! But the boat is very low in the water
and must be bailed out. Even that must wait, though, till we kill
the calf. I take the knife and try to sever the tendon at the back
of his neck—I know the place is there somewhere. But either I

can’t find it or the knife is too blunt; it won’t go through. The calf
trembles, struggles, gets more and more agitated—and I am agi-
tated, too. I try to cut his throat—but this is no good either. He
bellows, kicks, looks as if to jump clean out of the boat or sink us.
He wants to live—but we have to live, tool

I saw away, but cannot cut deep enough. He rocks the boat,
kicks its sides—the silly idiot will sink us any minute now! Because
he is so nasty and so stubborn, a red hatred for him sweeps over
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me, as though he were my worst enemy, and I start savagely,
randomly pricking and jabbing him with the knife.* His blood
spurts forth and sprays us. He bellows loudly and kicks out des-
perately. Zhdanok clamps his hands around the calf’s muzzle, the
boat rocks, and I stab and stab again. To think that at one time
I couldn’t hurt a mouse or a fly! But this is no time for pity: it’s
him or us!

At last he lay still. We started hurriedly scooping out water with
a bail and some tin cans, each of us using both hands. Then we
rowed on.

The current drew us into a side channel. Ahead lay an is-
land. This would be a good place to hide; it would soon be
morning. We wedged the boat well into the reeds: We dragged
the calf and all our goods onto the bank, and to make the boat
still safer, strewed reeds over it. It wasn’t easy to haul the calf
by its legs up the steep overhang. But once there, there was
grass waist high; and trees. Like a fairy -tale! We had spent
several years in the desert by now. We had forgotten what for-
ests and grass and rivers were like. . . .

It was getting light. The calf looked aggrieved, we thought. But
thanks to this little friend of ours we could now live for a while
on the island. We sharpened the knife on a fragment of file made
from our “katyusha.” I' had never before skinned a beast, but now
I was learning. I slit the belly, pulled back the skin, and removed
the entrails. In the depths of the wood we lit a fire and started
stewing veal with oats. A whole bucketful of it.

A feast! And best of all, we feel at ease. At ease because we are
on an island. The island segregates us from mean people. There
are good people, too, but somehow runaways don’t often come
across them—only mean ones.

It is a hot, sunny day. No need for painful contortions to hide
in a jackal’s hole. The grass is thick and lush. Those who trample
it every day don’t know how precious it is, don’t know what it
means to plunge into it breast high, to bury your face in it.

We roam about the island. It is overrun by dog roses, and the
hips are already ripe. We eat them endlessly. We eat more soup.
And stew some more veal. We make kasha with kidneys.

We feel light-hearted. We look back at our difficult journey and
find plenty to laugh at. We think of them waiting back there for

4. Is this not like the hatred our oppressors feel for us as they destroy. us?-.
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our sketch. Cursing us, explaining themselves to the administra-
tion. We make a play of it. We roar with laughter!

We tear bark from a thick trunk and burn in the following
inscription with red-hot wire: “Here on their way to freedom in
October, 1950, two innocent people sentenced to hard labor for
life took refuge.” Let this sign of our presence remain. Out in the
wilds here it will not help our pursuers, and someday people will
read it. .

We decide not to hurry on. All that we ran away for we have:
our freedom! (It can hardly be more complete when we reach
Omsk or Moscow.) We also have warm, sunny days, clean air,
green grass, leisure. And meat in plenty. Only we have no bread,
and miss it greatly.

We lived on the island for nearly a week: from our zenth to the
beginning of our sixteenth day. In the thickest part of the wood
we built ourselves a shelter of dry boughs. It was cold at night even
there, but we made up for lost sleep in the daytime. The sun shone
on us all this time. We drank a lot, trying to store water as camels
do. We sat serenely, looking for hours through the branches at life
over yonder, on shore. Over there vehicles went by. The grass was
being mown again, the second crop this summer. No one dropped
in on us.

One afternoon while we were dozing in the grass, enjoying the
last rays of the sun, we suddenly heard the sound of an ax at work
on the island. Cautiously raising ourselves, we saw, not far away,
a man lopping branches and moving gradually toward us.

In a fortnight, with no means of shaving, I had grown a beard,
a terrible reddish bristling bush, and was now a typical escaped
convict. But Zhdanok had no growth at all; he was like a smooth-
faced boy. So I pretended to be asleep and sent-him to head the
man off, ask for a smoke, tell him that we were tourists from
Omsk, and find out where he came from himself. If needs be, I was
ready to act.

Kolya went over and had a chat with him. They lit up. He
turned out to be a Kazakh from a nearby kolkhoz. Afterward we
saw him walk along the bank, get into. his boat, and row off
without the branches he had cut.

What did this mean? Was he in a hurry to report us? (Or
perhaps it was the other way round: perhaps he was afraid that
we might inform on him; you can do time for wood-stealing, too.
That was what our lives had come to—everybody feared every-
body else.) “What did you say we were?” “Climbers.” I didn’t
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know whether to laugh or to cry—Zhdanok always made a mud-
dle of things. “I told you to say hikers! What would climbers be
doing on the flat steppe?”

No, we couldn’t stay there. Our life of bliss was over. We
dragged everything back to the boat and cast off. Although it was
daytime, we had to leave quickly. Kolya lay on the bottom, out
of sight, so that from a little way off it would look as if there was
just one man in the boat. I rowed, keeping to the middle of the
Irtysh.

One problem was where to buy bread. Another was that we
were now coming to inhabited places, and I could no longer go
unshaven. We planned to sell one of our suits in Omsk, buy tickets
several stations down the line, and get away by train.

Toward evening we reached a buoy keeper’s hut and went up
there. We found a woman, alone. She was frightened, and began
rushing around. “I'll call my husband at once!” And off she went.
With me following to keep an eye on her. Suddenly Zhdanok
called out from the house in alarm: “Zhora!” Damn yon and your
big mouth! We had agreed that I would call myself Viktor Alek-
sandrovich. I went back. Two men, one with a hunting rifle. “Who
are you?” “Tourists, from Omsk. We want to buy some grocer-
ies.” And, to lull their suspicions: “Let’s go into the house—why
are you so inhospitable?” It worked, and they relaxed. “We’ve got
nothing here. Maybe at the sovkhoz.* Two kilometers farther
down.”

We went to the boat and traveled another twenty kilometers
downstream. It was a moonlit night. We climbed the steep bank:
a little house. No light burning. We knocked. A Kazakh came out.
And this first man we saw sold us half a loaf and a quarter of a
sack of potatoes. We also bought a needle and thread (probably
rather rash of us). We asked for a razor, tco, but he was beardless
and had no use for one. Still, he was the first kind person we had
met. We got ambitious and asked whether there was any fish. His
wife rose and brought us two little fishes and said, “Besh denga.”
“No money.” This was more than we had hoped for—she was
giving them to us free! These really were kind people! I started
stowing the fish in my sack, but she pulled them back again. “Besh
denga—five rubles,” the man of the house explained.* Ah, so that’s

5. The narrator misunderstands the Kazakh words “besh denga™ (“five rubles”) as
Russian “bez deneg” (“without money™).
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it! No, we won’t take them; too dear. We rowed on for the rest

- of the night. Next day, our seventeenth on the run, we hid the boat
in the bushes and slept in some hay. We spent the eighteenth and
nineteenth in the same way, trying not to meet people. We had all
we needed: water, fire, meat, potatoes, salt, a bucket. On the
precipitous right bank there were leafy woods, on the left -bank
meadows, and a lot of hay. In the daytime we lit a fire among the
bushes, made a stew, and slept.

But Omsk was not far off, and we should be compelled to mix
with people, which meant that I must have a razor. I felt com-
pletely helpless: with neither razor nor scissors, I couldn’t imagine
how I was going to rid myself of all that hair. Pluck it out a hair
at a time?

On a moonlit night we saw a mound high over the Irtysh.
Was it, we wondered, a lookout post? From the times of Yer-
mak? We climbed up to look. In the moonlight we saw a mys-
terious dead township of adobe houses. Probably also from the
early thirties . . . What would burn they had burned, the mud-
brick walls they had knocked down, some of the people they
had tied to the tails of their horses. Here was a place the tou-
rists .never-visited. . . .

It had not rained once in those two weeks. But the nights were
already very cold. To speed things up, I did most of the rowing,
while Zhdanok sat at the tiller, freezing. And sure enough, on the
twentieth night he started asking for a fire, and hot water to warm
himself. I put him at the oars, but he shivered feverishly and could
think of nothing but a fire.

His comirade in flight could not deny him a fire—Kolya should
have known that and denied himself. But that was the way with
Zhdanok—he could never control his desires: remember how he
had snatched the griddlecake from the table, and what a tempta-
tion the poultry was to him.

He kept shivering and begging for a fire. But they would be
keeping their eyes skinned for us all along the Irtysh. It was
surprising that no search party had crossed our path so far. That
we had not been spotted on a moonlit night in the middle of the
Irtysh and stopped.

Then we saw a light on the higher bank. Kolya stopped begging
for a fire and wanted to go inside for a warm-up. That would be
even more dangerous. I should never have agreed. We had gone
through so much, suffered so many hardships—and for what? But
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how could I refuse him—perbaps he was seriously ill. And he
could refuse himself nothing.

In the light of an oil lamp two Kazakhs, a man and a woman,
were sleeping on the floor. They jumped up in fright. “I have a
sick man here,” I explained. “Let him get warm. We are on official
business from the Grain Procurement Agency. They ferried us
over from the other side.” “Lie down,” the Kazakh said. Kolya
lay down on a heap of felt, and I thought it would look better if
I lay down a bit, too. It was the first roof we had had over our
heads since our escape, but I was on hot bricks. I couldn’t even
lie still, let alone go to sleep. I felt as though we had betrayed
ourselves, stepped into a trap with our eyes open.

The old man went out, wearing nothing but his underwear
(otherwise I would have gone after him), and was away a long
time. I heard whispering in Kazakh behind the curtain. Young
men. “Who are you?” I asked. “Buoy keepers?”” “No, we’re from
the Abai State Livestock Farm, number one in the republic.” We
couldn’t have chosen a worse place. Where there was a state farm
there was officialdom and police. And the best farm in the repub-
lic, at that! They must be really keen. . . .

I pressed Kolya’s hand. “I'm off to the boat—come after me.
With the briefcase.” Out loud I said, “We shouldn’t have left the
provisions on the bank.” I went through to the entranceway and
tried the outer door; it was locked. That’s it, then. I went back in,
alerted Kolya by pulling his sleeve, and returned to the door. The
carpenters had made a botched job of it, and one of the lower
planks was shorter than the rest. I shoved my hand through,
stretched my arm as far as I could and felt around. . . . Ah, there
we were—it was held by a peg outside. I dislodged it.

I went out. Hurried down to the bank. The boat was where it
had been. I stood waiting in broad moonlight. But there was no
sign of Kolya. This was dreadfull Evidently he couldn’t make
himself get up. He was enjoying an extra minute in the warmth.
Or else they had seized him. I should have to go and rescue him.

I climbed the cliff again. Four people were coming toward me
from the house, Zhdanok among them. “Zhora!” he shouted.
(“Zhora” again!) “Come here! They want to see our papers.” He
wasn'’t carrying the briefcase, as I had told him to.

I go up to them. A new arrival with a Kazakh accent says,
“Your papers!” I behave as calmly as I can. “Who are you, then?”
“I'm the commandant.” “All right, then,” I say reassuringly.
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“Let’s go. You can check our papers anytime. There’s more light
in the house there.” We go into the house.

I slowly lifted the briefcase from the floor, and went over to the
lamp, looking for an opportunity to side-step them and dash out
of the house, and talking all the time to distract them: “Welcome
to see our papers anytime, of course. Papers must always be
checked in such circumstances. You can’t be too careful. We had
a case once in the Procurement Agency . . .” My hand was on the
lock now, ready to undo the briefcase. They crowded around me.
Then. . . I butted the commandant with my shoulder, he bumped
into the old man, and they both fell. I gave the young man on my
right a straight punch on the jaw. They yelled, they howled.
“Makhmadera,” I shouted, and bounded with the briefcase
through the inner then the outer door. Then Kolya shouted after
me from the entrance way: “Zhoral They’ve got me!” He was
clinging to the doorpost, while they tried to pull him back inside.
I tugged at his arm, but couldn’t free him. Then_I braced myself
against the doorpost with my foot and gave such a heave that
Kolya flew over my head as I fell to the ground. Two of them flung
themselves on top of me. I don’t know how I wriggled out from
under them. Our precious briefcase was left behind. I ran to the
cliff, and bounded down it! Behind me I hear someone say in
Russian: “Use the ax on him! The ax!” Probably trying to scare
us—otherwise they would be speaking Kazakh. I can almost feel
their outstretched hands on me. I stumble, and almost fall! Kolya
is in the boat already. “Good thing they didn’t have a gun,” I
shout. I pushed the boat out and was up to my knees in water
before I jumped into it. The Kazakhs were reluctant to get wet.
They ran along the bank, yelling, “Gir-gir-gir!” I shouted back at
them: “Thought you had us, didn’t you, you bastards?”

Yes, it was lucky they had no gun. I made the boat race with
the current. They bayed after us, running along the bank, until a
creek barred their way. I took off my two pairs of trousers—naval
and civilian—and wrung them out. My teeth were chattering.
“Well, Kolya,” I said, “we got warmed up, all right.” He was
silent.

It was obviously time to say goodbye to the Irtysh. At daybreak
we must go ashore and thumb rides the rest of the way to Omsk.
It wasn’t so very far now.

The “katyusha” and the salt had been left behind in the
briefcase. And where could we get a razor? It wasn’t worth
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asking myself how we could dry our clothes. Look—on the
bank there: a boat and a hut. Obviously a buoy keeper. We
went ashore and knocked. No light came on. A deep male
voice: “Who is it?” “Let us in for a warm-up! Our boat cap-
sized and we nearly drowned.” There was a lot of fumbling,
then the door opened. In the dimly lit entrance a sturdy old
man, Russidn, stood to one side of the door, arms raised,
threatening us with an ax. He could bring it down on one of
us, and there would be no stopping him. I tried to reassure
him. “Don’t be afraid. We'’re from Omsk. We’ve been on busi-
ness to the Abai State Farm. We intended to go by boat to the
district center downstream, but there were nets in the shallows
a bit higher up; we fouled them and turned over.” He still
looked suspicious and didn’t lower his ax. Where had I seen
him before, in what picture? An old man out of a folk tale,
with his gray mane, his gray beard. At last he decided to an-
swer: “You were going to Zhelezyanka, you mean?” Fine, now
we know where we are. “That’s right, Zhelezyanka. The worst
of it is ‘my briefcase sank and there’s a hundred and fifty ru-
bles in it. We bought some meat at the state farm, but we have
no use for it now. Perhaps you'll buy it from us?” Zhdanok
went to get the'meat. The old man let me into the inner room,
where there was a kerosene lamp, and a sporting gun on the
wall. “Now we'll check your papers.” I tried to speak as confi-
dently as I could. “I always keep my documents on me; it’s
lucky they were in my top pocket or they would be soaked.
I’m Stolyarov; Viktor Aleksandrovich, representing the Provin-
cial Livestock Administration.” Now I must quickly seize the
initiative. “What about you?” “I'm a buoy keeper.” “Name
and patronymic?” Just then Kolya arrived and the old man
didn’t mention papers again. He said that he couldn’t afford to
buy meat but that he could give us a drink of tea.

We sat with him about an hour. He warmed up some tea
for us on a fire of wood chips, gave us bread, and even cut off
a piece of fat bacon. We talked about the navigation channels
of the Irtysh, how much we had paid for our boat, where to
sell it. He did most of the talking. He looked at us with com-
passion in his wise old eyes, and it seemed to me that he knew
all about us, that he was a real human being. I even felt like
confiding in him. But it wouldn’t have helped us: he obviously
had no razor—he was as shaggy as everything else in the for-
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est. Besides, it was less dangerous for him not to know: other-
wise it would be “You knew and didn’t tell.”

We left him our veal, and he gave us some matches. He came
out to see us off, and explained which side we should keep to at
which points. We pushed off and rowed quickly to get as far away
as possible in our last night. They would be looking for us on the
right bank, so now we hugged the left most of the time. The moon
was hidden by our bank but the sky was clear, and we saw a boat
following the steep wooded right bank, going downstream like
ourselves, but not as fast.

Could it be an MVD operations group? . . . We were following
parallel courses. I decided to brazen it out, rowed strongly, and
came closer to them. “Hey, pall Where are you headed?” “Omsk.”
“And where are you from?” “Pavlodar.” “Why so far?” “We're
moving for good.” His voice, with its peasant “0”’s, was tco
uneducated for an operations officer, he answered unhesitatingly,
and . . . he even seemed glad to see us. His wife was sleeping in
the boat, while he spent the night at the oars. I looked in: it was
more like an ox wagon, crammed with goods and chattels, heaped
high with packages. '

I did a bit of quick thinking. A meeting like this—on our last
night, in our last hours on the river! If he’s pulling up his roots
they must be carrying provisions, and money, and passports, and
clothing, and even a razor. And no one, anywhere, will wonder
where they are. He'’s alone and there are two of us—his wife
doesn’t count. I'll travel on his passport. Kolya can dress up like
a woman: he’s small, has a smooth face, we’ll mold him a figure.
They must surely have a suitcase, to help us look like genuine
travelers. Any driver we meet will drop us in Omsk this very
morning.

Who ever heard of a Russian river without pirates? Fate is cruel,
but what else can we do? Now that we have left a trail on the river,
this is our last, our only chance. It’s a pity to rob a workingman
of his belongings—but who ever took pity on us? And who ever
would?

All this flashed through my mind, and through Zhdanok’s, too,
in a moment. I only had to ask quietly, “Uh-huh?” And he quietly
replied, “Makhmadera.”

I get steadily nearer and am now forcing their boat toward the
steep bank, toward the dark forest. I must be quick to prevent
them from reaching the next bend in the river, in case the forest
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ends there. I change my voice to one of authority and give my
orders.

“Attention! We are an MVD operations group. Put in to shore.
I want to inspect your papers!”

" The rower threw down his oars: had he lost his head, or was
he perhaps overjoyed to find that we were policemen and not
robbers?

“Of course,” he said. “You can inspect them here, or on the
river.”

I said put in to the shore, and that’s what you’ll do. And be
quick about it.”

We got close to them. Our sides were almost touching. We
jumped across, he scrambled with difficulty over his bundles, and
we saw that he had a limp. His wife woke up. “Is it far now?”” The
young man handed over his passport. “What about your draft
card?” “I was invalided out, wounded; 'm exempt. Here’s the
certificate.” I saw a gleam of metal in the prow of their boat—an
ax. I signaled to Kolya to remove it. He rushed too abruptly and
seized the ax. The woman felt that something was wrong and set
up a howl. “What’s all that noise?” I said sternly. “Cut it out.
We’re looking for runaways. Criminals. And an ax is as good a
weapon as any.” She calmed down a little.

I give Kolya his orders.

“Lieuteénant! Slip down to the observation post. Captain Voro-
byov should be there.”

(The name and rank came to me automatically—I'll tell you
why: we had left a pal of ours, Captain Vorobyov, behind in
Ekibastuz, confined to the cells for trying to escape.) Kolya under-
stood: he was to see whether there was anyone around up top, or
whether we could act. Up he ran. In the meantime I carried on
questioning and inspecting. My suspect obligingly struck matches
for me. I ran through their passports and certificates. His age was
just right, too—the veteran was under forty. He had worked as a
buoy keeper. Now they had sold their home and their cow. (He
would have all the money with him, of course.) They were going
to seek their fortune. They couldn’t get there in a day, so they had
set off by night.

A rare chance, an extraordinary chance, above all because no
one would miss them. But what did we need from them? Did we
need their lives? No, I had never murdered, and I didn’t want to
now. An interrogator, or an operations. officer, when he was tor-
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menting me—yes; but I couldn’t raise my -hand against ordinary
working people. Should I take their money? All right, but just a
little. How little, though? Enough for two tickets to Moscow, and
some food. And some of their gear. That wouldn’t ruin them.
What if we left them their papers and the boat, and made a deal
with them not to report us? It wouldn’t be easy to trust them.-And
how could we manage without papers?

If we took their papers, they would have no choice but to report
us. To prevent their doing so we must tie them up here and now.
Tie them up well and truly so that we should have two or three
days’ head start. ’

But in that case wouldn’t it be better simply to . . . ?

Kolya came back and signaled that everything was all right up
above. He was waiting for me to say “Makhmaderal” What was
I to do?

The slave camp of Ekibastuz rose before my eyes. Could I go
back to that? Surely we had the right . . .

And suddenly—suddenly something very light touched my
legs. I looked down: something small and white. I bent over; it was
-a white kitten. It had jumped out of the boat, and with its tail stiff
as a stalk in the air, it purred and rubbed itself against my legs.

It didn’t know what I was thinking. I felt as though the touch
of this kitten had sapped my will power. Stretched taut for twenty
days, ever since I had slipped under the wire, it suddenly seemed
to snap. I felt that, whatever Kolya might say to me now, I could
never take their lives nor even the money they had earned in the
sweat of their brows.

Still keeping a stern face, I said, “Right, wait here; we’ll soon
see what’s what.”

We climbed the cliff. I had the papers in my hand. I told Kolya
what I was thinking.

He said nothing. He disagreed, but he said nothing.

That’s how the world is arranged: they-can take anyone’s free-
dom from him, without a qualm. If we want to take back the
freedom which is our birthright—they make us pay with our lives
and the lives of all whom we meet on the way.

They can do anything, but we cannot. That’s why they are
stronger than we. Without coming to an agreement, we went down
again. Only the lame man was by the boat. “Where’s your wife?”

“She was frightened; she ran off into the forest.”

“Here are your papers. You can go on your way.”
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He thanks me, and shouts into the forest:

“Ma-rial Come back! They're honest people!”

We push off. I row quickly. The ordinary workingrhan, the man
with the bad leg, suddenly remembers and shouts after me:

“Comrade officer] We saw two chaps yesterday—looked just
like bandits. If we’d known, we’d have held the rotters!”

*Still feel sorry for him?” asks Kolya.

I say nothing.

From that night—from the moment we went indoors for a warm-
up, or perhaps when we met the white kitten—our escape began
to go wrong. We had lost something: our confidence? our tenacity?
our ability to think straight? the instinctive understanding be-
tween us? Now that we were nearly in Omsk we started making
mistakes, pulling different ways. When runaways behave like that,
they do not run much farther.

Toward morning we abandoned the boat. We slept through the
day in a haystack, but uneasily. Darkness fell. We were hungry.
It was time to stew some meat, but we had lost our bucket in the
retreat. I decided to fry it. We found a tractor seat—that would
do for a frying pan; the potatoes we could bake.

Nearby stood a tall hut, left behind by haymakers. In the mental
blackout which had come upon me that day, I thought it a good
idea to light my fire inside the hut: it would be invisible from all
sides. Kolya didn’t want any supper at all. “Let’s move on!” Once
again we couldn’t see eye to eye.

I did light a fire in the hut, but I put too much wood on. The
whole hut went. up in flames, and I barely managed to crawl out.
Then the fire jumped to the stack—the one in which we had spent
the day—and it blazed up. Suddenly I felt sorry for that hay—so
sweet-scented, and so kind to us. I started scattering it, and rolling
on the ground in an attempt to put it out, to prevent the fire from
spreading. Kolya sat aloof, sulked, and offered no help.

What a trail I'd left now! What a conflagration it was; the glow
could be seen many kilometers away. What’s more, this was an act
of sabotage. For running away they would only give us the same
quarter we already had. But for malicious destruction of kolkhoz
hay they could “put us under” if they wished.
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The worst of it is that each mistake increases the likelihood
of further mistakes; you lose your self-confidence, your feel for
the situation. ]

The hut had burned down, but the potatoes were baked. The
cinders took the place of salt. We ate some of them.

We walked on in the night. Skirted a big village. Found a shovel.
Picked it up in case it might be useful. We moved in closer to the
Irtysh. And were brought to a halt by a creek. Should we make
another detour? It was a nuisance. We looked around a bit and
found a boat without oars. Never mind; the shovel would dg for
an oar. We crossed the creek. Then I strapped the shovel to my
back, so that the handle would stick up like the barrel of a gun.
In the dark we might pass for hunters.

Soon afterward someone came toward us and we stepped aside.
“Petro!” he said. “You’ve got the wrong man; I'm not Petro.”

We walked all night. Slept in a haystack again. We were awak-
ened by a steamer whistle. We stuck our heads out, and saw a
wharf quite near. Lorries were carrying melons onto it. Omsk is
near, Omsk is near, Omsk is near. Time to shave and get hold of
some ‘money.

Kolya keeps on nagging me. “We shan’t make it now. What was
the good of running away in the first place if you’re going to feel
sorry for people? Our fate was in the balance, and you had to feel
sorry for them. We shan’t make it now.”

He was right. It seemed so senseless now: we had neither razor
nor money; both had been in our hands and we didn’t take them.
To think that after all those years longing to escape, after showing
so much cunning, after crawling under the wire, expecting a bullet
in the back any moment, after six days without water, after two
weeks crossing the desert—we had not taken what was ours for
the taking! How could I.go into Omsk unshaven? How were we
going to pay for the journey on from Omsk?

We lay through the day in a haystack. Couldn’t sleep, of course.
About five o’clock Zhdanok says, “Let’s go right now and take a
look around while it’s light.” “Certainly not,” I say. He says, “It’s
nearly a month now! You’re overdoing the caution! I'm getting out
of this and going by myself:” I threaten him: “Watch you don’t
get a knife in you.” But of course I would never stab him.

He quieted down and lay still. Then suddenly he rolled out of
the stack and walked off. What should I do? Let him go, just like
that? I jumped down, too, and went after him. We walked on in
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broad daylight, following the road along the Irtysh. We sat behind
a haystack to talk things over: if we met anyone now we couldn’t
let him go in case he reported us before it was datk. Kolya care-
lessly ran out to see whether the road was clear, and a young
fellow immediately spotted him. We had to call him over. “Come
on over here, pal, and let’s watch our troubles go up in smoke.”
“What troubles have you got?” “Me and my brother-in-law are
on holiday, taking a trip on the river. I'm from Omsk and he’s a
fitter in the ship-repair yards at Pavlodar, and, well, our boat
slipped its moorings in the night and got away, all we’ve got left
is what was on the bank. Who are you, then?” “I’m a buoy
keeper.” ‘“Haven’t seen our boat anywhere, have you? In the reeds,
maybe?”’ “No.” “Where’s your post?” “Over there”—he pointed
to a little house. “So let’s go to your place, and we’ll stew some
meat. And have a shave.”

Off we go. But the house we'd seen turned out to be that of his
neighbor, another buoy keeper, and our man’s house was 300
meters farther on. More company—no sooner had we entered the
house than the neighbor cycled over to see us, with his sporting
gun. He eyed my stubble and questioned me about life in Omsk.
Some good, asking a jailbird like me about life outside. I babbled
something vague, the gist of which was that the housing situation
was bad, the food situation was bad, and the consumer-goods
situation' was bad—couldn’t go far wrong there, I thought. He
looked sour and contradicted me—it appeared that he was a Party
member. Kolya made soup—we must eat our fill while we could;
we might not have another chance till Omsk.

It was a wearisome wait for darkness. We couldn’t let either of
them leave us. And what if a third came along? At last they both
got ready to go and attend to their lights. We offered our help. The
Party man refused. “I shall just set two lights and then I have to
go to the village. I'm taking my family a load of brushwood. I'll
look in again later.” I signal to Kolya not to take his eyes off the
Party man and at the slightest hint of anything wrong to dive into
the bushes. I show him where to meet me. I go with our man.
From his boat I inspect the lie of the land and question him about
distances. We return at the same time as the neighbor. That sets
my mind at rest: he hasn’t had time to turn us in yet. Shortly
afterward he drives up, as he had said he would, with a load of
brushwood on his cart. But instead of driving on, he sits down to
sample Kolya’s soup. He won’t go away. What are we to do? Tie
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the pair of them up? Shut one in the cellar, tie the other to a bed?
. . . They both have papers, and the neighbor has a bicycle and
a gun. That’s what life on the run does to you—simple hospitality
isn’t enough; you have to take more by force. . . .

Suddenly—the creak of rowlocks. I look through the window:
three men in a boat, which makes it five to two now. My host goes
out, and immediately returns for jerry cans. “Foreman’s brought
kerosene,” he says. “Funny he’s come himself; it’s Sunday today.”

Sunday! We had stopped reckoning by the day of the week—
it wasn’t the name that made one of our days different from
another. It had been Sunday evening when we escaped. So that we
had been on the run exactly three weeks! What was going on in
the camp? The dog pack would have despaired of catching us by
now. In three weeks, if we had torn off in a lorry, we could long
ago have fixed ourselves up somewhere in Karelia or Byelorussia,
got passports and jobs. Or, with a bit of luck, even farther west
. . . How galling it would be to have to give in now, after three
weeks!

“Right, Kolya—now we’re stoked up, what do you say to a
hearty crap?”’ We go.out into the bushes and watch what is going
on: our host is taking kerosene from the newly arrived boat, and
the neighbor with the Party card has also joined them. They are
talking about something, but we can’t hear what.

They’ve gone. I send Kolya back to the house on the double.
I don’t want to leave the buoy keepers alone to talk about us. I
myself go quietly to our host’s boat. So as not to rattle the chain,
I make an effort and pull up the post to which it is attached. I
calculate how much time we have: if the foreman buoy keeper has
gone to report us, he is seven kilometers, which means about forty
minutes, from the village. If there are “red tabs” in the village, it
will take them another fifteen minutes or so to get ready and drive
over here. -

1 go into the house. The neighbor is still not ready to leave. He’s
entertaining them with his conversation. Very strange. So we shall
have to take both of them at once. “What about it, Kolya—shall
we go and have a wash before bedtime?” (We must agree on a
plan.) The moment we go out we hear the tramp of boots in the
darkness. Stooping, we can see against the pale sky (the moon
hasn’t risen yet) men running in line past the bushes to surround
the house.

“To the boat,” I whisper to Kolya. I run toward the river, slide
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down the steep bank, fall, and reach the boat. Every second may
mean the difference between life and death. But Kolya is missing}
Where, oh, where can he have got to? I can’t desert him. -

At last he comes running along the bank in the darkness,
straight toward me. “That you, Kolya?” A flash! A shot, point-
blank! I do a swan dive—arms outstretched into the boat. Bursts
of submachine-gun fire from the steep bank. Shouts: “We got one
of them.” They bend over me. “Wounded?” I groan. They drag
me out and lead me off. I limp (if I'm injured they will beat me
less). In the darkness I surreptitiously throw the two knives into
the grass.

Up top, the red tabs ask my name. “Stolyarov.” (Maybe I can
still wriggle out of it somehow. I am reluctant to give my name
—if I do, that’s the end of my freedom.) They hit me in the face.
“Name!” “Stolyarov.” They drag me into the hut, strip me to the
waist, tie my hands tightly behind my back with wire that cuts into
me. They press the points of their bayonets against my belly. A
trickle of blood runs from under one of them. The militiaman who
captured me, Senior Lieutenant Sabotazhnikov, jabs his revolver
in my face and I can see that it is cocked. “Name!” Resistance is
useless. I tell them. “Where’s the other one?” He wags his re-
volver, the bayonets bite deeper. “Where’s the other?” I feel happy
for Kolya. “We were together,” I tell them. “Most likely he was
killed.”

A security officer with bright blue facings arrived, a Kazakh. He
shoved me onto the bed with my hands tied and as I half-sat,
half-lay there, began rhythmically striking me in the face—left,
right, left, right, as though he were swimming. With every blow
my head banged against the wall. “Where’s your weapon?” “What
weapon?” “You were seen in the night with a gun.” So the night
hunter we had seen had also betrayed us. “That was a shovel, not
a rifle.” He didn’t believe me and went on hitting me. Suddenly
there was no more pain—I had lost consciousness. When I came
around someone was saying: “Don’t forget, if any one of us is
wounded, we’ll finish you off on the spot!” ’

(They must somehow have sensed it: Kolya really did have a
gun. It all became clear to me later: when I said “To the boat,”
Kolya had run the other way, into the bushes. His explanation was
that he hadn’t understocd . . . but there was more to it: he had
been itching to go his own way all day, and now he did so. Besides,
he had remembered the bicycle. Taking his direction from the
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shots, he rushed away from the river and crawled back the way
he had come. By now it was really dark, and while the whole pack
of them were crowding around me, he rose to his feet and ran. Ran
and wept as he went, thinking they’d killed me. He ran as far as
the second little house, the neighbor’s. He kicked in a window and
started searching for the gun. He fumbled around until he found
it on the wall, and with it a pouch of cartridges. He loaded it. What
he was thinking of, so he said, was whether he should avenge me.
“Shall I go and take a few shots at them for Zhora?” But he
thought better of it. He found the bicycle, and he found an ax. He
chopped the door down from inside, put salt into a bag—1I don’t
know whether this seemed the most important thing to him or
whether he simply had no time to think—and rode off, first by a
dirt lane, then through the village, straight past the soldiers. They
thought nothing of it.)

Meanwhile I was put in a cart, still tied up, with two soldiers
sitting on top of me, and taken to a state farm two kilometers
away. It had a telephone, and it was from there that the forest
ranger (he had been in the boat with the foreman buoy keeper) had
summoned the red tabs. That’s why they had arrived so quickly
—because they had been phoned. I hadn’t allowed for that.

A scene was enacted by myself and this forester which may
seem unpleasant to relate but is typical of what a recaptured
prisoner can expect. I wanted to relieve myself—standing up—
and someone had to help me, in the most intimate way, since my
hands were twisted behind my back. The Tommy-gunners felt that
this was beneath them and ordered the forester to go outside with
me. In the darkness we walked a little way from where the soldiers
stood and as he was assisting me he asked my forgiveness for
betraying me. “It’s my job. I had no choice.”

I didn’t answer. How can anybody pass judgment? We had
been betrayed by people with duties and people without. Ev-
erybody we met had betrayed us, except that old, old man
with the gray mane.

I sit in a hut by the highroad, stripped to the waist and bound.
I am very thirsty but they give me nothing to drink. The red tabs
glare at me like wild beasts, and every one of them looks for an
excuse to prod me with the butt of his gun. But here they can’t
very well kill me: they can kill you when there are only a few of
them, and no witnesses. (Their rage is understandable. For so
many days now they have been wading among the reeds, with no
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pause for rest, and eating from cans, with never a hot meal.)

The whole family is in the cottage. The little children look at
me curiously but are afraid to come nearer; they even tremble with
fear. The militia liecutenant sits drinking vodka with his host, well
pleased with his success and the reward it will bring. “Know who
he is?” he says boastfully to his host. “He’s a colonel, a famous
American spy, a major criminal. He was running away to the
American Embassy. They’ve murdered people and eaten them on
their way here.”

He may even believe it himself. The MVD .will have dis-
seminated rumors of this sort to catch us more easily, to make
everyone denounce us. They’re not satisfied with the advantages
of power, weapons, speed of movement—they need the help of
slander as well.

(Meanwhile Kolya rides his bicycle along the road past the
cottage, with the rifle slung over his shoulder, as though he hadn’t
a care in the world. He sees a brilliantly lighted cottage, soldiers
smoking and noisily talking on the veranda, and through the
window, me, half-naked. And he pedals hard for Omsk. Soldiers
will lie in wait all night around the bushes where I was caught,
and comb them in the morning. Nobody knows yet that the neigh-
boring buoy keeper’s bicycle and gun have disappeared—he, too,
has probably sloped off to brag over a few drinks.)

‘When he has reveled long enough in his success—an unheard-of
success by local standards—the militia lieutenant gives orders for
me to be delivered to the village. Once again they throw me on
the cart, and take me to the lockup. (There’s always one handy!
Every village soviet has one.) Two Tommy-gunners stand guard
in the corridor, two more outside the window! An American
espionage colonel! They untie my hands but order me to lie on the
floor in the middle of the room and not edge toward any of the
walls. That is how I spend an October night: lying on the floor,
the upper half of my body bare.

In the morning a captain arrives, and bores through me with his
eyes. He tosses me my tunic (they’d already sold the rest of my
things for drink). Quietly, and with one eye on the door, he asks
me a strange question.

“How do you come to know me?”

“I don’t know you.”

“Then how did you know that the officer in charge of the search
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was Captain Vorobyov? Do you know what sort of position you've
put me in, you swine?”

His name was Vorobyovl! And he was a captain! In the night,
when we were posing as security troops, I had mentioned Captain
Vorobyov, and the workingman whose life I had spared had re-
ported it all carefully. And now the captain was having trouble!
If the commander of the pursuit has connections with an escaped
prisoner, it’s not surprising that three weeks go by and still they
can’t catch him! . . .

Another pack of officers arrive, shout at me, and among
other things ask about Vorobyov. I say that it’s a coincidence.

They tied my hands with wire again, removed my shoelaces,
and led me through the village in broad daylight. There must
have been twenty Tommy-gunners in the escort party. The
whole village poured out, women shook their heads, kids ran
after me, shouting: “The bandit! They're taking him off to
shoot him!”

The wire was cutting info my arms, my shoes fell off at every
step, but I held my head high and looked openly and proudly at
the villagers: letting them see that I was an honest man.

They were taking me this way as an object lesson, something for
these women and children to remember (legendary tales would be
told of it twenty years from now). On the edge of the village they
bundled me into the back of a truck, bare and seatless, with
splintering old boards. Five Tommy-gunners sat with their backs
to the cab, s0 as not to take their eyes off me.

Now I must rewind all those kilometers in which we so rejoiced,
all those kilometers which took us farther from the camp. By the
roundabout motor road it came to half a thousand. They put
handcuffs on my wrists, tightened them to the limit. My hands
were behind my back, and I had no means of protecting my face.
I lay there more like a block of wood than a man. But this is how
they punish our kind.

And then the road became very bad. It rained and rained, and
the lorry bumped over the potholes. At every bump the bottom
of the lorry scraped my head and face, scratched me, drove splin-
ters into me. Not only could my hands not protect my face, but
they themselves were cut more severely than ever over the bumps,
and it felt as though the handcuffs were sawing through my wrists.
I tried to crawl to the side and sit there with my back propped
against it. No good! There was nothing to hold on to, and at the
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first big bump I was hurled across the floor, and found myself
sprawling helplessly. Sometimes I was tossed and hit the boards
so violently that I thought my insides would jump out. I couldn’t
‘stay on my back: it would tear my hands off at the wrist. I turn
onto my side—no good. I roll over on my belly—no good. I try
arching my neck so as to raise my head and save it from these
blows. But my neck gets tired, my head droops, and my face
strikes the boards.

The five guards watch my torment, unconcerned.

This trip will form part of their psychological training.

Lieutenant Yakovlev, who is riding in the cab, looks into the
back at every stop and says with a grin: “Haven’t escaped,
then?” I ask permission to relieve myself, and he guffaws. “Go
on, do it in your trousers; we don’t mind!” I ask him to take
off the handcuffs, and he laughs. “Lucky you weren’t caught
by the lad who was on duty when you went under the wire.
You wouldn’t be alive now.”

The day before I had been glad that the beatings so far were
“less than I had earned.” But why damage your fists, when the
back-of a lorry will do it all for you? Every inch of my body was
bruised and lacerated. My hands were being sawn off. My head
was splitting with pain. My face was battered, full of splinters
from the boards; my skin was in ribbons.®

We traveled the whole day and almost all night. .

‘When I stopped struggling with the lorry, and ceased to feel my
head banging against the boards, one of the sentries couldn’t stand
it any more, put a sack under my head, eased the handcuffs while
no one was looking, and bending-over me, whispered, “It’s all
right, hold on, we'll soon be there.” (What prompted the lad to
do it? Who was responsible for his upbringing? Not Maxim
Gorky, and not his company political officer, that’s for sure.)

Ekibastuz. A cordon. “Get out!” I couldn’t stand up. (And if
I had, they would have made me run the gauntlet to celebrate.)
They let down the side, and yanked me out onto the ground. The
camp guards, too, came out to have a look and a laugh at me:

" “Ooh, you aggressor, youl” somebody yelled. ]

They dragged me through the guardhouse and into the Discipli-

nary Barracks. They didn’t shove me in solitary but straight into

6. Moreover, Tenno had hemophilia. He shrank from none of the rigks of escaping, but
a single scratch could have cost him his life.
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- the common cell so that anyone who fancied a bid for freedom
could take a look at me.
In the cell I was lifted by gentle hands and placed on the upper
bed platform. But they had no food to give me until the morning
rations came.

That same night, Kolya was riding on toward Omsk. He
avoided the traffic, and whenever he saw headlights, rode into the
steppe and lay down. Then in some lonely homestead he squeezed
into a henhouse, and gratified the urge which had haunted him all
the time he was on the run—by wringing the necks of three hens
and tucking them in his sack. The others started squawking, so he
hurried away.

The irresolution which had made us so unsteady after our first
mistakes tightened its hold on Kolya now that I was captured.
Easily swayed and impressionable, he was fleeing now in despera-
tion, unable to think clearly what to do next. He was incapable
of realizing the most obvious of facts: that the disappearance of
the bicycle and the gun would of course have been discovered by
now, so that they no longer camouflaged him, and he ought to
throw them away first thing in the morning as too conspicuous;
and also that he should not approach Omsk from that side and by
the highway, but after a wide detour, by wasteland and back ways.
The gun and the bicycle should be sold quickly, and he would have
the money he needed. But ke sat for half a day in the bushes near
the Irtysh, then yet again lost patience before nightfall and set off
by footpaths along the river. Very probably his description had
already been broadcast by the local radio station—they have fewer
inhibitions about this in Siberia than in the European part of the
" country.

He rode up to a little house and went in. Inside were an old
woman and her thirty-year-old daughter. There was also a radio.
By an extraordinary coincidence, a voice was singing:

From Sakhalin a convict fleeing
By narrow tracks and hidden trails . . .

Kolya went to pieces and began shedding tears. “What are you
so unhappy about?” the woman asked. Their sympathy caused
Kolya to weep unashamedly. They began comforting him. “I’'m
all alone, abandoned by everybody,” he explained. “Get married,
then,” the old woman said, whether in jest or in earnest. “My girl’s
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single, too.” Kolya, more maudlin than ever, started taking peeps
at the would-be bride. She gave the matter a businesslike twist:
“Got any money for vodka?”’ Kolya dug out his last few rubles,
but there wasn’t enough. “Never mind, I'll give you more later.”
She went off. “Oh, yes,” Kolya remembered, “I’ve shot some
partridges. Cook the marriage feast, mother-in-law.” The old
woman took them. “Hey, these are hens!” “So it was dark when
I shot them; couldn’t tell the difference.” “Yes, but why have their
necks been wrung?”

Kolya asked for a smoke, and the old woman asked her daugh-
ter’s suitor for money in return for some makhorka. Kolya took
his cap off, and the old woman became agitated. “You’re a con-
vict, aren’t you, with your head shaven like that? Go away while
you’re safe. Or else when my daughter comes back we’ll turn you
in"’

All the time the thought was going round and round in Kolya’s
head: Why did we take pity on free people there on the Irtysh,
when free people have no pity for us? He took a Moscow jacket
down from the wall (it was getting cold out of doors, and he was
wearing only a suit) and put it on: just his size. The old woman
yelled, “I’ll hand you over to the militial” But Kolya looked
through the window and saw the daughter approaching with

" someone on a bicycle. She had already informed on him!

Only ope thing for it—“Makhmadera!” He seized the gun.
“Into the corner! Lie down!” he said to the old woman. He
stood against the wall, let the other two come through the
door, and ordered them to lic down. To the -man he said:
“And you give me your shoes, for a wedding present! Take
them off one at a time!” With the gun trained on him, the
man took them off and Kolya put them on, throwing away his
wornout camp sfioes, and threatened that he would wing any-
one who followed him out.

Off he rode. But the other man dashed after him on his own
bicycle. Kolya dismounted, and put the gun to his shoulder.
“Stop! Leave the bike there! Get away from it He drove the man
away, went over to the bike, broke its spokes, slit a tire with his
knife, and rode on.

Soon he came out onto the highway. Omsk was ahead: So he
just rode straight on. There was a bus stop. Women were digging
potatoes in their gardens. A motorcycle carrying three workmen
in jerkins tagged behind him. It drove on steadily for some time,
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then suddenly went straight for Kolya so that the sidecar struck
him and knocked him off. They all jumped off, piled on top of
Zhdanok, and hit him on the head with a pistol.

The women in the vegetable garden shrieked: “What are you
doing that for? What’s he done to you?”

What, indeed, had he done to them? . . .

But who has done, and will yet do, what to whom is beyond the
understanding of the common people. Under their jerkins all three
turned out to be wearing uniforms (the operations group had been
on duty round the clock day after day at the entrance to the city).
The women got their answer: “He’s a murderer.” That was the
simplest thing to say. And the women, trusting the Law, went
back to digging potatoes.

The first thing the operations group did was to ask the penniless
runaway if he had any money. Kolya said quite honestly that he
hadn’t. They started searching him, and in one pocket of his new
Moscow jacket found fifty rubles. They confiscated it, drove to an
eating house, and spent the lot on food and drink. They did,
however, feed Kolya, too.

So we came to anchor in jail for a long time. We were not tried
until July of the following year. For nine months we festered in
the Disciplinary Barracks, except when we were dragged out occa-
sionally for interrogation. This was conducted by Chief Prison
Officer Machekhovsky and Security Lieutenant Weinstein. What
the interrogators wanted to know was which prisoners had helped
us. Who among the civilian personnel had “conspired with us” to
switch off the lights at the moment of our escape? (We didn’t, of
course, explain that our plan had been quite different, and that the
lights’ going out had only been a hindrance to us.) Where was our
rendezvous in Omsk? Which frontier were we intending to cross
eventually? (They found it incredible that people might want to
stay in their native land.) “We were running away to Moscow to
the Central Committee, to tell them about illegal arrests, and
that’s all there is to it!” They didn’t believe us.

Having failed to get anything “interesting” out of us, they
pinned on us the usual escaper’s posy: Article 58-14 (Counter-
Revolationary sabotage); Article 59-3 (banditry); the “Four-
sixths” decree, Article “One-two” (robbery carried out by a gang);
the same decree, Article “Two-two” (armed robbery with violence



The White Kitten (Georgi Tenno’s Tale) | 191

endangering life); Article 182 (making and carrying an offensive
weapon other than a firearm).

But this daunting array of charges threatened us with chains no
heavier than those we wore. The penal practice of the courts had
long exceeded all reasonable bounds and, on these charges, prom-
ised nothing worse than the twenty-five years which a Baptist
could be given for saying his prayers, and which we were serving
before we tried to escape. The only difference now was that when
the roll was called we should have to say “‘end of sentence—1975”
instead of “1973.”

Hardly a palpable difference for us in 1951!

Only once did the interrogation take a menacing turn—when
they promised to try us as economic disrupters. This innocent
word was more dangerous than the hackneyed “saboteur,” “ban-
dit,” “robber,” “thief.” This word opened up the possibility of
capital punishment, which had been introduced about a year be-
fore.

We were “disrupters” because we had brought disorder into the
economy of the people’s state. As the interrogators explained it,
102,000 rubles had been spent on our recapture: some work sites
had been at a standstill for several days (the prisoners were not
marched out to work because their guards had been called off to
join in the hunt); twenty-three vehicles had carried soldiers day
and night about the steppe, and had spent their annual allotment
of petrol in three weeks; operations groups had been dispatched
to all neighboring towns and settlements; a nationwide search had
been ordered, and four hundred pictures of myself and four hun-
dred of Kolya distributed throughout the country.

We listendd to this inventory with pride. . . .

Well, they sentenced us to twenty-five each.
When the reader picks up this book our sentences will probably
still not be at an end.”

7. Before the reader could pick up this book, Georgi Paviovich Tenno, athlete and
thm:stofnhknesinmthchamm.diedonoaobuzz.l%7 of a cancer which ran its’
course very quickly. Already bedridden, he lived barely long enough to read through these
chapters and amend them with fingers which were beginning to lose their feeling. This was
not the way he had promised himself and his friends to-die! Once it had been his plan of
escape that fired his passion; later it was the thought of death in battle. He used to say that
he was determined to take with him a dozen murderers, first among them Vyachik Karzuby
(i.e., Molotov), and, at all costs, Khvat (investigator in the Vavilov case). This would not
be murder, but judicial execution, given that the law of the state protected murderers.
“W‘nhyonrﬁmnhotsmhavealreadyjmﬁedymemteme. said Tenno, “and you
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Another consequence of Tenno’s escape attempt was that the
concert party at the CES was disbanded for a year (on account of
the ill-starred sketch).

Because culture is a good thing. But culture must serve oppres-
sion, not freedom.

Mommnmm“mmmmmmmmmwwmm
of his strength and making it impossible for him to find a weapon. When he was already
sick, Tenno went arcund posting copies of my letter to the Writers" Congress in different
parts of Moscow. It was his wish to be buried in Estonia. The pastor was also an ex-prisoner
—both in Hitler’s and in Stalin’s camps.

Maolotov lives on in safety, leafing through old newspapers and writing the memoirs of
a public executioner; while Khyat, too, is still peacefully spending his pension at 41 Gorky
Street.



Chapter 8

Escapes—Morale
and Mechanics

Escapes from Corrective Labor Camps, provided they were not
to somewhere like Vienna or across the Bering Strait, were appar-
ently viewed by Gulag’s rulers and by Gulag’s regulations. with
resignation. They saw them as only natural, a manifestation of the
waste which is unavoidable in any overextended economic enter-
prise—a phenomenon of the same sort as cattle losses from disease
or starvation, the logs that sink instead of floating, the gap in a
wall where a half-brick was used instead of a whole one.

It was different in the Special Camps. In accordance with the
particular wish of the Father of the Peoples, these camps were
equipped with greatly reinforced defenses and with greatly rein-
forced armament, at the modern motorized infantry level (these
are the units which will never lay down their arms even under the
most general disarmament agreement). In these camps they did
not keep any “class ally” type of prisoners,* whose escape could
cause no great damage. Here it was no longer. possible to plead
that the men under arms were too few or their weapons too old.
At the moment of their foundation it was laid down in the instruc-
tions for Special Camps that there could be no escape from them,
because if one of these prisoners escaped it was just as though a
major spy-had crossed the frontier, and a blot on the political
record of the camp administration and of the officers commanding
the convoy troops.

But from that very moment 58°s to a man started getting, not
tenners as before, but guarters—i.e., the limit allowed by the
Criminal Code. This senseless, across-the-board increase in sever-
ity carried with it one disadvantage: just as murderers were un-

- 193
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deterred from fresh murders (each time their fenner was merely
slightly updated), so now political prisoners were no longer de-
terred by the Criminal Code from trying to escape.

Besides, the people herded into these camps were not the sort
who try to rationalize and justify the arbitrary behavior of camp
authorities in the light of the One and Only True Theory, but
sturdy, healthy lads who had crawled on their bellies all through
the war, whose fingers were still cramped from clutching hand
grenades. Georgi Tenno, Ivan Vorobyov, Vasily Bryukhin, their
comrades, and many like them in other camps even without arms
proved a match for the motorized infantry equipment of the new
regular army guard.

And although there were fewer escapes from the Special Camps
than from the Corrective Labor Camps (and anyway, the Special
Camps did not exist for so many years), they were rougher, grim-
mer, more ruthless, more desperate, and therefore more glorious.

Stories told about them can help us to make up our minds
whether our people really was so long-suffering, really was so
humbly submissive in those years.

Here are just a few of them.

One attempt was made a year before that of Tenno, and served
as the model for it. In September, 1949, two convicts escaped from
the First Division of Steplag (Rudnik, Dzhezkazgan)—Grigory
Kudla, a tough, steady, level-headed old man, a Ukrainian (but
when his dander was up he had the temper of a Zaporozhian
Cossack, and even the hardened criminals were afraid of him), and
Ivan Dushechkin, a quiet Byelorussian some thirty-five years old.
In the pit where they worked they found a prospecting shaft in an
old workings, with a grating at its upper end. When they were on
night shift they gradually loosened this grating, and at the same
time they took into the shaft dried crusts, knives, and a hot-water
bottle stolen from the Medical Section. On the night of their
escape attempt, once down the pit each of them separately in-
formed the foreman that he felt unwell, couldn’t work, and would
lie down a bit. At night there were no warders underground; the
foreman was the sole representative of authority and he had to
bully discreetly or else he might be found with his head smashed
in. The escapers filled the hot-water bottle, took their provisions,
and went into the prospecting shaft. They forced the grating and
crawled out. The exit turned out to be mear the watchtowers but
outside the camp boundary. They walked off unnoticed.
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From Dzhezkazgan they bore northwest through the desert.
They lay down in the daytime and walked at night. Not once did
they come across water, and after a week Dushechkin no longer
felt like standing up. Kudla got him on his feet with the hope that
there might be water in the hills ahead. They dragged themselves
that far, but the hollows held no water, only mud. Then Dushech-
kin said, “I can’t go on anyway. Cut my throat and drink my
blood.”

You moralists! What was the right thing to do? Kudla, too,
could no longer see straight. Dushechkin was going to die—why
should Kudla perish, too? But if he found water soon afterward,
how could he live with the thought of Dushechkin for the rest of
his days? I’ll go on a bit, Kudla decided, and if in the morning I
come back without water I'll put him out of his misery, and we
needn’t both perish. Kudla staggered to a hillock, saw a cleft in
it and—just as in the most improbable of novels—in the cleft there
was water! Kudla slithered to it, fell flat on his face, and drank and
drank. (Only in the morning had he eyes for the tadpoles and
waterweed in it.) He went back to Dushechkin with the hot-water
bottle full. “I’ve brought you some water—yes, water.” Dushech-
kin couldn’t believe it, drank, and still didn’t believe it (for hours
he had been imagining that he was drinking). They dragged them-
selves as far as the cleft and stayed there drinking.

When they had drunk, hunger set in. But the following night
they climbed over a ridge and went down into a valley like the
promised land: with a river, grass, bushes, horses, life. When it got
dark Kudla crept up to the horses and killed one of them. They
drank its blood straight from the wounds. ‘(Partisans of peace!
That very year you were loudly in session in Vienna or Stockholm,
and sipping cocktails through straws. Did it occur to you that
compatriots of the versifier Tikhonov and the journalist Ehren-
burg were sucking the blood of dead horses? Did they explain to
you in their speeches that that was the meaning of peace, Soviet
style?)

They roasted the horse’s flesh on fires, ate lengthily, and walked
on. They by-passed Amangeldy on the Turgai, but on the high-
road Kazakhs in a lorry going their way asked to see their papers
and threatened to hand them over to the militia.

Farther on they frequently came across streams and pools.
Kudla also caught and killed a ram. By now they had been a
month on the run! October was nearing its end; it was getting cold.

~
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In the first wood they reached they found a dugout and set up
house in it. They couldn’t bring themselves to leave this land of
plenty. That they settled in such surroundings, that their native
places did not call to them or promise them a more peaceful life,
meant that their escape lacked a goal and was doomed to fail.

At night they would raid the village nearby, filch a pot or break
into a pantry for flour, salt, an ax, some crockery. (Inevitably the
escaper, like the partisan, soon becomes a thief, preying on the
peaceful folk all around him.) Another time they took a cow from
_the village and slaughtered it in the forest. But then the first snow
“came, and to avoid leaving tracks they had to sit tight in their
dugout. Kudla went out just once for brushwood and the forester
immediately opened fire on him. “So you’re the thieves, are you!
You're the ones who stole the cow.” Sure enough, traces of blood
were found around the dugout. They were taken to the village and
locked up. The people shouted that they should be shot out of
hand and no mercy shown to them. But an investigating officer
arrived from the district center with the picture sent around to
assist the nationwide search, and addressed the villagers. “Well
done!” he said. “These aren’t thieves you’ve caught, but dangerous
political criminals.”

Suddenly there was a complete change of attitude. The owner
of the cow, a Chechen as it turned out, brought the prisoners
bread, mutton, and even some money, collected by the Chechens.
“What a pity,” he said. “You should have come and told me who
you were and I'd have given you everything you wanted!” (There
is no reason to doubt it; that’s how the Chechens are.) Kudia burst
into tears. After so many years of savagery, he couldn’t stand
sympathy.

The prisoners were removed to Kustanai and put in the railroad
jail, where their captors not only took away the Chechen’s offering
(and pocketed it), but gave them no food at all. (Didn’t Korney-
chuk tell you about it at the Peace Congress?) Before they were
put on the train out of Kustanai, they were made to kneel on the
station platform with their hands handcuffed behind their backs.
They were kept like that for some time, for the whole world to see.

If it had been on a station platform in Moscow, Leningrad, or
Kiev, or any other flourishing city, everybody would have passed
by the gray-headed old man, kneeling and manacled, like a figure
in a Repin picture, without noticing him or turning around to look
—publishing executives, progressive film producers, lecturers on

Y
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humanism,. army officers, not to mention trade union and Party
officials. And all ordinary, undistinguished citizens occupying no
position worth mentioning would also have tried to go by without
noticing, in case the guard asked their names and made a note of
them—because if you have a residence permit for Moscow, where
the shops are so good, you must not take risks. . . . (Easy enough
to understand in 1949—but would it have been any different in
1965? Would our educated youngsters have stopped to intercede
with his escort for the gray-haired old man in handcuffs and on
his knees?) ;

The people of Kustanai, however, had little to lose. They were
all either “sworn enemies,” or persons with black marks against
them, or simply exiles. They started crowding around the prison-
ers, and tossing them makhorka, cigarettes, bread. Kudla’s wrists
were shackled behind his back, so he bent over to pick up a piece
of bread with his teeth—but the guard kicked'it out of his mouth.
Kudla rolled over, and again groveled to pick it up—and the
guard kicked the bread farther away. (You progressive film mak-
ers, when you are taking shots of inoffensive “senior citizens”—
perhaps you will remember this scene and this old man?) The
people began pressing forward and making a noise. “Let them go!
Let them go!” A militia squad appeared. The policemen had the
advantage and dispersed the people.

The train pulled in, and the prisoners were loaded for transport
to the Kengir jail.

Escape attempts in Kazakhstan are as monotonous as the
steppe itself—but perhaps this monotony makes it easier to under-
stand the most important thing?

There was another escape from a mine, also in Dzhezkazgan,
but in 1951 this time: three men climbed an old shaft to the
surface at night and walked for three nights. Thirst made them
desperate, and when they saw some yurts two of them suggested
that they should go over and get a-drink from the Kazakhs. But
Stepan refused and watched them from a hill. He saw his
comrades enter a yurt, and come out running, pursued by a
number of Kazakhs, who quickly caught them. Stepan, a puny
little man, went away, keeping to the low places, and continued
his flight alone, with a knife as his sole possession. He tried to
make for the northwest, but was continually changing course to
avoid people—he preferred wild animals. He cut himself a stick
to hunt gophers and jerboas: he would fling it at them from
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some distance while they were sitting up on their hind legs by
their burrows and squeaking, and he killed some of them in this
way. He sucked their blood as best he could and roasted their
flesh on a fire of dry steppe gorse.

It was a fire that gave him away. One day Stepan saw a Kazakh
horseman in a big red-brown fur hat galloping toward him, and
he barely had time to hide his shashlik under some gorse so that
the Kazakh would not see what choice food he was eating. The
Kazakh rode up and asked who he was and where from. Stepan
explained that he worked in the manganese mine at Dzhezdy (free
men as well as convicts were employed there), and was on his way
to a state farm 150 kilometers away to see his wife. The Kazakh
asked the pame of the farm. Stepan chose the most plausible—
“The Stalin State Farm.”

Son of the steppes! Why couldn’t you gallop on your way! What
harm had the poor wretch done you? But no! The Kazakh said
menacingly: “You sit prison! You go with me!” Stepan cursed him
and walked on. The Kazakh rode alongside, ordering him to come
quietly. Then he galloped off a little way, waving his arm and
calling to his fellows. But the steppe was deserted. Son of the
steppes! Why, oh, why could you not just leave him? You could
see that he had hundreds of versts of steppe to cross, with nothing
but a bare stick in his hands and without food, so that he would
perish anyway. Did you need a kilogram of tea so badly?

In the course of that week, living on equal terms with the wild
animals, Stepan had grown used to the rustling and hissing sounds
of the desert: suddenly his ear caught a new whistling sound in the
air, and he was not mentally aware of his danger but like an animal
sensed it in the pit of his stomach, and leaped to one side. This
saved him! The Kazakh, he realized, had tried to lasso him, but
he had dodged the noose.

Hunting bipeds! A man’s life for a kilogram of teal The Ka-
zakh swore and hauled in his lasso, and Stepan went on, war-
ily taking care not to let his enemy out of his sight. The other
rode up closer, coiled his rope, and flung it again. As soon as
he had made his throw, Stepan rushed at him, struck him on
the head with the stick, and knocked him off his horse. (He
had barely strength enough for it, but he was fighting for his
life.) “Here’s your reward, friend!” Relentlessly, with all the
savagery of one beast goring another, Stepan began beating
him. But when he saw blood he stopped. He took both lasso
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and whip from the Kazakh and scrambled onto the horse.
There was a saddlebag with provisions.

Stepan was on the run for quite a while longer—another two
weeks or so—but everywhere he went he religiously avoided his
worst enemies: people, his fellow countrymen. He parted with the
horse, tried to swim some river or other (although he couldn’t
swiml), tried making a raft of rushes (and of course couldn’t do
that either); he hunted, and got away from some large animal,
perhaps a bear, in the dark. Ther one day, tormented beyond
endurance by hunger, thirst, and fatigue, and the longing for hot
food, he made up his mind to enter a lonely yurt and beg some-
thing. There was a small enclosure in front of the yurt, with an
adobe wall, and when he was already close to it Stepan belatedly
saw two saddled horses standing there, and a young Kazakh, in
a bemedaled tunic and breeches, coming toward him. He had
missed his chance to run and thought he was done for. The Ka-
zakh had stepped outside for a breather. He was very drunk, was
delighted to see Stepan, and seemed not to notice his tattered and
scarcely human appearance. “Come in, come in, be our guest!”
Inside the yurt sat an identical young Kazakh with medals, and
an old man: the two brothers, who had seen service at the front,
were now both important people in Alma-Ata, and had borrowed
horses from a kelkhoz to gallop over and pay their respects to
their father in his yurt. These two young fellows had tasted war,
and it had made human beings of them. Besides, they were drunk

. and bursting with drunken good nature (that good nature which,
though he made it his business to do so, the Great Stalin never
fully succeeded in eradicating). They were happy that another
guest had joined the feast, though he was only a simple mine-
worker on his way to Orsk, where his wife was expecting a baby
at any moment. They did not ask to see his papers, but gave him
food and drink and a place to sleep. That sort of thing sometimes
happens, too. . . . (Is drink always man’s enemy? Does it not
sometimes bring out the best in him?)

Stepan woke up before his hosts, and fearing a trap in spite
of everything, he went out. No, both horses were just where
they had been, and he could have galloped off on one of them
immediately. But he was not the man to harm kind people—
and he left on foot. .

After a few more days’ walking, he started meeting cars and
lorries. He was always quick enough to get out of their way. At
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last he reached a railway line and followed it until that same night
he found himself near Orsk station. All he had to do was board
a train! He had won! He had performed a miracle—crossed a vast
expanse of desert all alone, with nothing but a homemade knife
and a stick—and now he had reached his goal.

Suddenly by the light of the station lamps he saw soldiers pacing
along the tracks. So he continued on foot along a cart track
parallel with the railway line. He no longer troubled to hide, even
when morning came: because he was in Russia now, his native
land! A cloud of dust came toward him and for the first time
Stepan did not run away from a car. Out of this first real Russian
car jumped a real Russian militiaman. “Who are you? Show me
your papers.” Stepan explained that he was a tractor driver, look-
ing for work. As it happened, a kolkhoz chairman was with the
militiaman, “Let him be! I desperately need tractor drivers! How
many people have papers down on the farm?”

They traveled all day, haggling as they went, stopping for drinks
and snacks, but just before nightfall Stepan couldn’t stand any
more and ran for the woods, which were some 200 meters away.
The militiaman rose to the occasion and fired!

Fired again! Stepan had to stop. They tied him up.

It may well be that his trail was cold, that they had given
him up for dead, that the soldiers at Orsk had been lying in
wait for somebody else, because the militiaman was for releas-
ing him, and'at the district MVD station they made a great
fuss over him to begin with—gave him tea and sandwiches and
Kazbek cigarettes, and the commandant questioned him in
person, addressing him politely (you never know with these
spies—he’ll be taken to Moscow tomorrow, and might easily
lodge a complaint). “Where's your transmitter? Been dropped
here to make a map or two, have you—which service are you
with?” Stepan was puzzled. “I've never worked in the geologi-
cal service; I'm more of a miner.”

This escape ended with something worse than sandwiches or
even physical capture. When he got back to the camp he was
beaten lengthily and unmercifully. Worn out and broken by all
his sufferings, Stepan fell lower than ever before: he signed on
with the Kengir security officer Belyaev to help him flush out
would-be escapers. He became a sort of decoy duck. He gave
one or two cellmates in the Kengir jail a detailed account of
his escape, and watched their reactions. If there was any re-
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sponse, any obvious hankering to repeat the attempt, Stepan
——— reported it to the godfather.

The incidental cruelties which mark any difficult escape attempt
weére seen vividly enlarged in a bloody and confused breakout, also
from Dzhezkazgan and also in summer, 1951.

Six prisoners escaping by night from a pit began by killing a
seventh, whom they believed to be a stool pigeon. Then they
climbed an old prospecting shaft out onto the steppe. The six
- prisoners included people of very different stripe and they immedi- -
ately decided to separate. This would have been the right thing to
do, if only they had had a sensible plan.

But one of them went straight to the settlement where the free
workers lived, right next to the camp, and knocked on the window
of his woman friend. His intention was not to hide, to wait awhile
under the floorboards or in the attic (that would have been very
sensible), but simply to have a good time with her while it lasted
(we recognize at once the characteristics of the professional crimi-
nal). He whooped it up for a day and a night, and then the
following evening put on her former husband’s suit and took her
to a film show in the club. Some of the jailers from the camp were
there, recognized him, and collared him immediately.

Two of the others, Georgians, thoughtlessly sure of themselves,
walked to the station and got on the train to Karaganda. But from
Dzhezkazgan, apart from cattle trails and escapers’ trails, there is
no other way through to the outside world except this one—
toward Karaganda and by train. Along the line there are camps,
and at every station there is a security post, so that they were both
collared before they reached Karaganda.

The other three took the most difficult road—to the southwest.
There were no people, but there was no water either. The elderly
Ukrainian, Prokopenko, who had seen active service, had a map
and persuaded them to choose this route, telling them that ke
would find them water. His companions were a Crimean Tatar
turned into a criminal by the camps, and a foul, “bitching™ thief.
They went on for four days and nights without food or water.
When they could stand it no longer, the Tatar and the thief told
Prokopenko: “We’ve decided to finish with you.” He didn’t under-
stand. “What do you mean, pals? Do you want to go your own
way?” “No, to finish you. We can’t all get through.” Prokopenko
started pleading with them. He slit the lining of his cap and took
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out a photograph of his wife and children, hoping to stir their pity.
“Brothers! Brothers! I thought we were all on our way to freedom
together! I'll get you through! There should be a well soon! There’s
bound to be water! Hang on a bit!l Have some mercy!”

But they stabbed him to death, hoping to quench their thirst
with his blood. They cut his veins, but the blood wouldn’t flow—
it had curdled immediately! .

Another striking scene: two men bendmg over another on the
steppe, wondering why he wouldn’t bleed-. .

Eyeing each other like wolves, because now one of them must
die, they went on in the direction which the “old boy” had pointed
out to them, and two hours later found a welll

The very next day they were sighted from a plane and captured.

They admitted it all under interrogation, the camp got to know
about it—and decided to avenge Prokopenko by knocking off the
pair of them. But they were kept in a separate cell and taken
elsewhere for trial.

You may believe, if you wish, that everything depends on the
stars under which an escape begins. Your plans have been laid oh,
so carefully, so very long in advance, but then at the crucial
moment the lights go out in the compound and your chance of
seizing a lorry goes up in smoke. Whereas sometimes when an
attempt is made on the spur of the moment, circumstances fall
into place as thongh made to order.

In summer, 1948, in Dzhezkazgan again, First Dmsxon (not yet
a Special Camp), a dump truck was detailed one morning to take
on a load of sand at a quarry some distance away and deliver it
to the cement mixers. The sandpit was not a work site, which
meant that it was not guarded and that the loaders—three long-
sentence prisoners, one serving a tenner, the other two quarters—
had to be taken on the lorry. Their escort consisted of a lance
corporal and two soldiers, and the driver was a nonpolitical
offender, a trusty. Here was a chance! But chances must be seized
as quickly as they arrive. A decision had to be taken and a plan
concerted—all in sight and hearing of the guards, who stood by
while the sand was loaded. The bingraphies of all three were
identical—and like those of millions at that time: first the front,
then German prisoner-of-war camps, escape, recapture, punitive
concentration camps, liberation when the war ended, and by way
of thanks for it all—imprisonment by their own side. They hadn’t
been afraid to flee across Germany; what could stop them from
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trying it at home? They finished loading. The corporal took his
seat in the cab. The two soldiers sat to the front of the lorry, backs
to the cab, with their Tommy guns trained on the convicts, who
sat on the sand to the rear. As soon as they drove out of the quarry
the prisoners exchanged signals, threw sand in the eyes of the
guards, and piled on top of them. They took away their Tommy
guns, and stunned the corporal with a blow from a gun butt
through the cab window. The lorry stopped; the driver was almost
dead with fright. “Don’t be afraid,” they told him. “We won’t hurt
you—you aren’t one of those dogs! Dump your load!” The engine
raced and the sand, that precious sand, worth more than its weight
in gold because it had brought them freedom, poured onto the
ground.

Here, too, as in almost all escapes—let history not forget it!
—the slaves showed themselves more generous than their
guards: didn’t kill them, didn’t beat them up, merely ordered
them to remove their clothes and their boots, and released
them in their underwear. “What about you, driver, are you
with us or with them?” “You, of course—what do you think?”
the driver decided.

To confuse the barefooted guards (this was the price of their
clemency), they drove first to the west (on the flat steppe you can
drive where you like), then one of them changed into the corpo-
ral’s clothes and the other two into those of the soldiers, and they
sped northward; they were all armed. The driver -had a pass; no
one could suspect them. All the same, whenever their path crossed
a telegraph route they broke the wires to disrupt communications
(they tied a stone to a rope, slung it over the wires to weigh them
down, then tugged at them with a hook). This took time, but
gained them more in the end. They tore on at full speed all day
long until the odometer had clocked up 300 kilometers and the
petrol gauge registered zero. They began sizing up passing cars.
A Pobeda came along. They stopped it. “Sorry, comrade, we're
only doing our duty. Please let me see your papers.” VIP’s, they
turned out to be. District Party bosses visiting their kolkhozes, to
inspect, inspire, or maybe just to eat beshbarmak. “Right, out you
get! Strip!” Don’t shoot us, the big boys implored. The escapers
led them out on the steppe, tied them up, took their documents,
and rolled off in the Pobeda. It was not till evening that the
soldiers whom they had stripped earlier in the day reached the
nearest pit, only to hear from the watchtower: “Don’t come any
nearer!” “We’re soldiers like you.” “Oh, no you aren’t—not while
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you’re walking around in your underpants!”

As it happened, the Pobeda’s tank wasn’t full. When they had
driven about 200 kilometers, the petrol ran out and there was
nothing in the jerry can either. It was getting dark by then. They
saw some horses grazing, managed to catch them although they
had no bridles, and galloped bareback. The driver fell from his
horse and hurt his leg. They suggested that he get up behind
another rider. He refused. “Don’t be afraid, lads, I won’t rat on
youl” They gave him some money, and the papers from the
Pobeda, and galloped away. After the driver, no one ever saw
them again. They were never taken back to their camp. And so
the lads had left their guarters and their “ten-no-change” behind
in the security officer’s safe. The “green prosecutor” favors the
bold! :

The driver kept his word and did not give them away. He fixed
himself up in a kolkhoz near Petropavlovsk and lived in peace for
four years. Love of art was his undoing. A good accordionist, he
performed in the kolkhoz club, then competed at amateur festi-
vals, first in the district center, then in the provincial capital. He
himself had practically forgotten his former life, but one of the
Dzhezkazgan jailers was in the audience and recognized him. He
was arrested as soon as he left the stage—and this time they
slapped twenty-five years on him under Article 58. He was sent
back to Dzhezkazgan.

In a category of their own we must put those escapes which
originate not in a despairing impulse but in technical calculations
and the love of fine workmanship.

A celebrated scheme for escaping by rail was conceived in
Kengir. Freight trains carrying cement or asbestos were regularly
pulled in at one of the work sites for unloading. They were un-
loaded within the restricted area, and left empty. And five convicts
planned their escape as follows. They made a false end wall for a
heavy boxcar, and what is more, hinged it like a folding screen,
so that when they dragged it up to the car it looked like nothing
more than a wide ramp, convenient for wheelbarrows. The plan
was this: while the boxcar was being unloaded, the convicts were
in charge of it; they would haul their contraption inside and open
it out; clamp it to the solid side of the boxcar; stand, all five of
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them, with their backs to the wall and raise the false wall into
position with ropes. The boxcar was completely covered with
asbestos dust, and so was the board. A casual eye would not see
the difference in the boxcar’s depth. But the timing was tricky.
They had to finish unloading the train ready for its departure
while the convicts were still on the work site, but they couldn’t
board it too soon: they must be sure that they would be moved
immediately. They were making their last-minute rush, complete
with knives and provisions—and suddenly one of the escapers
caught his foot in a switch and broke a leg. This held them up,
and they didn’t have time to complete the installation before the
guards checked the train. So they were discovered. A full-dress
investigation and trial followed.!

The same idea was adopted by trainee-pilot Batanov, in a single-
handed attempt. Doorframes were made at the Ekibastuz wood-
works for delivery to building sites. Work at the plant went on all
around the clock and the guards never left the towers. But at the
building sites a guard was mounted only in the daytime. With the
help of friends, Batanov was boarded up with a frame, loaded onto
a lorry, and unloaded at a building site. His friends back at the
woodworks muddled the count when the next shift came on, so
that he was not missed that evening; at the building site, he
released himself from his box and walked away. However, he was
seized that same night on the road to Pavlodar. (This was a year
after his other attempt, when they punctured a tire as he was

escaping in a car.)

Escapes successful and escapes frustrated at the start; events
which were already making the ground hot underfoot;? the
deeply-thought-out disciplinary decisions of prison officers; sit-
down strikes and other forms of deflance—these were the rea-
sons why the ranks of the Disciplinary Brigade at Ekibastuz
swelled steadily. The two stone wings of the prison and the
Disciplinary Barracks (hut No. 2, near the staff building) could
no longer hold them. Another Disciplinary Barracks was es-
tablished (hut No. 8), specially for the Banderists.

After every fresh escape and every fresh disturbance, the regime

1. However, my wardmate in the Tashkent cancer clinic, an Uzbek camp guard, told

me that this attempt—of which ke spoke with reluctant admiration—had in fact succeeded.
2. See Chapter 10.
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in all three Special Sections became more and more severe. (For
the historian of the criminal world we may note that the “bitches”
in the Ekibastuz camp jail grumbled about it. “Bastards! Time you
gave up this escaping. Because you keep trying to escape, they
won’t let us breathe any more. You can get your mug bashed in
for this sort of thing in an ordinary camp.” In other words, they
said what the bosses wanted them to say.)

In summer, 1951, Disciplinary Barracks No. 8 took it into their
heads to escape all together. They were about thirty meters from
the camp boundary and made up their minds to tunnel. But too
many tongues wagged and the Ukrainian lads discussed it almost
openly among themselves, never thinking that any member of the
Bandera army could be an informer—but some of them were.
Their tunnel was only a few meters long when they were sold.

The leaders of Disciplinary Barracks No. 2 were greatly vexed
by this noisy stunt—not because they feared reprisals, as the
“bitches” did, but because they, too, were only thirty meters from
the fence, and had planned and made a start on a high-class tunnel
before hut No. 8. Now they were afraid that if the same thought
had occurred to both Disciplinary Barracks, the dog pack would
realize it and check. But the Ekibastuz bosses were more afraid
of escapes in vehicles, and made it their chief concern to dig
trenches a meter deep around all the work sites and the living area,
so that any vehicle trying to leave would plunge into them. As in
the Middle Ages, walls were not enough, and moats, too, were
needed. An excavator neatly and accurately scooped out trenches
of this kind, one after another, around all the sites.

Disciplinary Barracks No. 2 was a small compound, hemmed
in with barbed wire, inside the big Ekibastuz compound. Its gate
was always locked. Apart from the time spent at the limekilns, the
disciplinary regime prisoners were allowed outside only for twenty
minutes’ exercise in their little yard. For the rest of the time they
were locked up in their barracks, and crossed the main compound
only to and from work line-up. They were not allowed into the
general mess hall at all; the cooks brought food to them in mess
tins.
As far as they were concerned, the limekilns were a chance to
enjoy the sun and rest a bit, and they took care not to overstrain
themselves shoveling noxious lime. When on top of this a murder
took place at the end of August, 1951 (the criminal Aspanov killed
the escaper Anikin with a crowbar: Anikin had crossed the wire
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with the help of a snowdrift during a blizzard, but had been
recaptured a day later, which was why he was in the Disciplinary
Barracks [see also Part ITI, Chapter 14]), the Mining Trust refused
to have any more to do with such “workers,” and throughout
September the disciplinary regime prisoners were not marched out
at all, but lived as if in a regular prison.

There were many “committed escapers” among them, and in
summer twelve well-matched men had gradually come together in
a safe escape team. (Mohammed Gadzhiev, leader of the Moslems
in Ekibastuz; Vasily Kustarnikov; Vasily Bryukhin; Valentin
Ryzhkov; Mutyanov; a Polish officer who made a hobby of tunnel-
ing; and others.) They were equals, but Stepan Konovalov, a
Cossack from the Kuban, was nonetheless the leading spirit. They
sealed their compact with an oath: if any one of them blabbed to
a living soul, his number was up—either he would finish himself
off or the others would stick their knives in him.

By then the Ekibastuz compound was already surrounded by a
solid board fence four meters high. A belt of plowed land four
meters wide followed the fence, and outside it a fifteen-meter
forbidden area had been marked off, ending in a trench one meter
deep. They resolved to dig a tunnel under this whole defense zone,
so carefully concealed that it could not possibly be discovered
before their escape. m~

A preliminary inspection showed that the barracks had shallow
foundations, and that with so little space under the floorboards
there would be nowhere to put the excavated soil. The problem
seemed insurmountable. Should they give up the idea of escaping?
- - . Then someone remarked that there was plenty of room in the
loft, and suggested hoisting the soil up into it! At first thought it
wasn’t worth considering. Raise dozens and dozens of cubic me-
ters of earth into the rafters, without attracting attention, through
the living space of the barracks, which was constantly under ob-
servation, regularly inspected—raise it daily, hourly, and of
course without spilling the merest pinch for fear of giving them-
selves away?

But when they thought of a way to do it, they were overjoyed,
and their decision to escape was final. What helped them to decide
was their choice of a “section,” meaning a room. Their Finnish
hut, originally intended for free workers, had been erected in the
compound by mistake and there wasn’t another like it anywhere
in the camp: it had small rooms with three bunk beds wedged into
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each of them (not seven, as everywhere else), so that each held
twelve men. They selected a section in which some of their number
were already living. By various means—voluntary exchanges,
forcing out unwanted roommates, teasing and ridiculing them
(“you snore too loud, and you———too much’)—they shunted
outsiders to other sections and brought their own team together.

The more strictly the Disciplinary Barracks prisoners were
segregated from the camp at large, the more severely they were
punished and bullied, the higher their moral standing in the camps
became. Any request from the prisoners in the Disciplinary Bar-
racks held the force of law for all in the camps. They now started
ordering whatever technical aids they needed, and these were
made on one or another of the work sites, carried, at some risk,
past the “frisking” points, and passed with further risk on to the
Disciplinary Barracks—in the dishwash soup, in a loaf of bread,
or with the medicines.

The first things ordered and delivered were knives and whet-
stones. Then nails, screws, putty, cement, whitening, electric wire,
casters. They neatly sawed through the grooved ends of three
floorboards with their knives, removed the skirting board which
held them down, drew the nails from the butt ends of these boards
near the wall, and the nails which fastened them to a joist in the
middle of the room. The three loosened planks they fastened
widthwise to a lath underneath them, so that they formed a single
slab. The main nail was driven into this lath from above. Its broad
head was smeared with putty the same color as the floor, and
dusted over. The slab fitted snugly into the floor, and there was
no way of getting a hold on it, but they never once pried it up by
inserting an ax between the cracks. Thewaytoralsetheslabwas
to remove the skirting board, slip a piece of wire into the little gap
around the broad head of the nail—and pull. Every time the
tunnelers changed shifts, the skirting board was replaced and
taken out all over again. Every day they “washed the floor”—
soaking the floorboards to make them swell and close up chinks
or cracks. This entrance problem was one of the most important.
The tunneling room was always kept particularly clean and in
exemplary order. Nobody lay on a bunk with his shoes on, nobody
smoked, objects were not scattered arourid, there were no crumbs
in the lockers. Nowhere was there less reason for an inspecting
officer to linger. “Very civilized.” And on he went.

The second problem was that of the /ifi—from the ground to
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the loft. The tunneling section, like all the others, had a stove: A
narrow space into which a man could just about squeeze had been
left between stove and wall: the idea they had was to block up this
space—transfer it from the living area to the tunneling area. In an
uncccupied section they dismantled completely one of the bunks.
They used these planks to board up the gap, immediately covered
them with lath and plaster, which they then whitewashed to
match the stove. Could the warders remember in which of twenty
little rooms in the barracks the stove was flush with the wall, and
in which it stood out a little? In fact, they didn’t even spot the
disappearance of the bunk bed. The one thing the jailers might
have noticed in the first day or two was the wet plaster, but to do
so they would have had to go around the stove and crouch over
a bunk—and there was no point in this, because the section was
in exemplary condition! Even if they had been caught out in this,
it need not have meant that the tunneling operation had failed: this
was merely work they had done to beautify that section: the gap
was always so dusty, and spoiled its appearancel

Only when the plaster and whitewash had dried out were the
floor and ceiling of the now enclosed niche sawn through with
knives, and a stepladder knocked together from the same canni-
balized bunk bed placed there—so that the shallow space under
the floor was connected with the spacious bower in the roof. It was
a mine shaft, cut off from the gaze of their jailers, and the only
mine for years in which these strong young men had felt like
working themselves into a lather!

Can any work in a prison camp merge with your dreams, absorb
your whole soul, rob you of sleep? It can—but only the work you
do to escape!

The next problem was that of digging. They must dig with
knives, and keep them sharp—so much was obvious—but this still
left many other problems. For one thing, the ‘“mine surveyor’s
calculations” (Engineer Mutyanov): you must go down deep
enough for safety, but no farther than was necessary, must take
the shortest route, must determine the optimum cross section for
the tunnel, must always know where you are, and fix the right
point of exit. Then again, the organization of shifis: you must dig
as many hours as possible in every twenty-four, but without too
many changes of shift, and taking care to be all present and
impeccably correct at morning and evening inspections. Then
there were working clothes to be thought of, and washing arrange-
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ments—you couldn’t come up to the surface bedaubed with clay!
Then the question of lighting—how could you drive a tunn 1 sixty
meters long in the dark? They ran a wire under the floor and along
the tunnel (and still had to find a way to connect it up inconspicu-
ouslyl). Then there must be a signal system: how did you recall th=
man digging at the far end of the tunnel and out of hearing, if
someone entered the barracks unexpectedly? And how could the
tunnelers safely signal that they must come out immediately?

The strictness of the Disciplinary Barracks routine was also its
weakness. The jailers could not creep up on the barracks and
descend unexpectedly—they always had to follow the same path
between the barbed-wire entanglements to the gate, undo the lock,
then walk to the barracks and undo another lock, rattle the bolt.
All their movements could easily be observed—not, it is true, from
the window of the tunneling room, but from that of the empty
“cabin,” by the entrance—all they had to do was to keep an
observer there. Signals to the working force were given by lamps:
two blinks meant Caution, prepare to evacuate; repeated blinks
meant Danger! Red alert! Hop out quickly!

Before they went under the floor they stripped naked, putting
all their clothes under pillows or under a mattress as they took
them off. Once past the trap door, they slipped through a narrow
aperture beyond which no one would have supposed that there
could be a wider chamber, where a light bulb burned continually
and working jackets and trousers were laid out. Four others,
naked and dirty (the retiring shift), scrambled up above and
washed themselves thoroughly (the clay hardened in little balls on
their body hair, and had to be soaked off or pulled away with the
hair).

All this work was already in progress when the careless tunnel-
ing operation from Disciplinary Barracks No. 8 was discovered.
You can easily understand the annoyance, or rather the outrage,
of the artists whose ingenious conception had been so insulted. But
nothing disastrous happened.

At the beginning of September, after nearly a year in prison,
Tenno and Zhdanok were transferred (returned) to this Discipli-
nary Barracks. As soon as he got his breath back, Tenno became
restless—he must plan his escapel But however he reproached
them with letting the best season for escape slip by, with sitting
around and doing nothing, no one in the Disciplinary Barracks,
not even the most committed and desperate escapers, reacted.



Escapes—Morale and Mechanics | 211

(The tunnelers had three four-man shifts, and a thirteenth man,
whoever he might be, was of no use to them.) Then Tenno, with-
out beating about the bush, suggested tunneling—and they replied
that they had already thought of it, but that the foundations were
too shallow. (This was heartless, of course: looking into the eager
face of a proven escaper and apathetically shaking your head is
like forbidding a clever hunting dog to sniff out game.) But Tenno
knew these lads too well to believe in this epidemic of indifference.
They couldn’t all have gone rotten at once!

So he and Zhdanok kept them under keen and expert observa-
tion—something of which the warders were incapable. Tenno
noticed that the lads often went for a smoke to the same “cabin”
near the entrance, always one at a time, never in company. That
the door of their section was always on the hook in the daytime,
that if you knocked they didn’t open immediately, and that some
of them would be sound asleep, as though the nights weren’t long
enough. Or else Vaska Bryukhin would come out all wet from the
room where the close-stool was kept. “What are you up to?” “Just
thought I’d have a wash.”

They were digging, no doubt about it! But where? Why
wouldn’t they tell him? Tenno went first to one, then to another,
and tried bluff. “You ought to be more careful about it, lads! It
doesn’t matter if I spot you digging, but what if an informer does?”

In the end, they had a confab and agreed to take in Tenno and
three suitable companions. They invited him to inspect the room
and see if he could find any traces. Tenno felt and sniffed every
inch of wall and fioorboard, and found nothingl—to his delight
and the delight of all the lads. Trembling with joy, he slid under
the floor to work for himself.

The shift underground was deployed as follows: One man, lying
down, picked away at the face; another, crouching behind him,
stuffed the loose earth into small canvas bags specially made for
the purpose; a third, on all fours, dragged the bags backward along
the tunnel, by means of straps over his shoulders, then went under
the floor to the shaft and attached them one by one to a hook
lowered from the loft. The fourth man was up there. He threw
down the empty bags, hauled up the full ones, carried them,
treading lightly, to different parts of the attic, scattered their
contents in a thin layer over the whole area, and at the end of the
shift covered this soil with cinders, of which there were a lot in
the loft. The team might change jobs in the course of the shift, but
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did not always do so, because not everyone could perform the
heaviest, utterly exhausting jobs: digging and dragging the soil
away. .

To begin with they dragged two bags at a time, but then they
made it four. For this purpose they finagled a wooden tray from
the cooks, which they towed along with the sacks on it. The strap
went around the neck from behind, then passed under the armpits.
Necks were rubbed raw, shoulders ached, knees were bruised;
after a single trip a man was in a lather, and after a whole shift,
you could pour him into a jug.

The digging had to be done in a very uncomfortable position.
There was a short-handled shovel, which they sharpened every
time. With this they had to cut vertical grooves to the depth of
a bayonet thrust; then, semi-recumbent, with their backs against
the fresh-dug earth, they had to gouge lumps of earth and throw
them over their shoulders. The soil was sometimes stony, some-
times stiff clay. They had to go around the biggest stones, making
a bend in the tunnel. An eight-to-ten-hour shift added not more
than two meters lengthwise, and sometimes less than a meter.

The worst of it was the lack of air in the tunnel: your head
swam, you fainted, you felt sick. So yet another problem had to
be solved—that of ventilation. Air holes could be bored only
upward—into that most dangerous area near the boundary fence,
which was under constant surveillance. But without them breath-
ing was impossible. They ordered a steel “propeller” blade, fixed
a stick to it crosswise, so that they had something like a carpen-
ter’s brace, and bored their first hole to the wide world outside.
A draft was created, and breathing was easier. (When the tunnel
went beyond the fence and outside the camp, they made another
hole.)

They were forever sharing their experience, advising each
other how best to do things. And reckoning up how far they had
gone.

The escape hole, or tunnel, plunged under the foundation wall,
and from then on diverged from the straight only to avoid stones
or because of inaccurate digging. It was half a meter wide and
ninety centimeters high, and it had a vaulted roof. Its top, accord-
ing to their calculations, was about 1.3 or 1.4 meters from the
surface. The sides of the tunnel were reinforced with planks, and
as they advanced the electric cable was extended and more and
more electric bulbs were hung up.
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If you looked along it, it was like an underground railway, a
Gulag metro!

By now the tunnel had gone some dozens of meters, and they
were digging beyond the boundary fence. Overhead the tramp of
guards on their rounds, and the barking and. whining of dogs,
could be clearly heard.

When suddenly . . . one day suddenly, after morning inspection,
before the day shift had gone below and (according to the team’s
strict rules) while nothing incriminating was visible, they saw a
pack of jailers walking toward the barracks, with the short and
short-tempered chief prison officer Lieutenant Machekhovsky at
their head. The escapers’ hearts sank. Had they been detected?
Had they been sold? Or was it just a random check?

An order rang out: “Collect your personal belongings! Out, out
of the barracks, every last man!” :

The order was obeyed. All the prisoners were dnven out and
squatted on their haunches in the little exercise yard. From inside
dull thuds were heard—they were stripping the planks from the
bunks. “Get your tools in herel” Machekhovsky yelled. And the
jailers dragged in their crowbars and axes. They could hear boards
creaking and groaning as they were ripped up.

Such is the fate of the escaper! Not only would all their clever-
ness, their work, their hopes, their excitement go for nothing, but
it would mean the punishment cells again, beatings, interroga-
tions, fresh sentences. . . .

However . . . neither Machekhovsky nor any of the jailers ran
out waving their arms in savage glee. They came out perspiring,
brushing off dirt and dust, panting, not a bit pleased to have done
all that donkey work in vain. A half-hearted order: “Step up one
at a time.” A search of personal belongings began. The prisoners
returned to the barracks. What a shambles! The floor had been
taken up in several places (where the boards had been badly nailed
down or there were obvious cracks). In the sections everything
had been tossed around, and even the bunks had been spitefully
tipped over. Only in the civilized section had nothing been dis-
turbed.

Prisoners not in on the secret were outraged: “Why can’t they
sit still, the dogs? What do they think they’re looking for?”

The escapers realized now how clever they had been not to stack
piles of soil under the floor: they would have been spotted at once
through the gaps in the boards. Whereas no one had climbed into
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the loft—you could only escape from the loft with wings! In any
case, everything up there was carefully covered with cinders.

The dogs hadn’t nosed out the game! What joy! If you work
stubbornly, and keep a close watch on yourself, you are bound to
reap your reward. Now we know we shall finish the job! There
were six or eight meters to go to the circular trench. (The last few
meters had to be dug with special precision, so that the tunnel
would come out at the bottom of the trench—neither higher nor
lower.)

‘What then? Konovalov, Mutyanov, Gadzhiev, and Tenno had
by now worked out a plan, to which the other twelve agreed. The
escape would be in the evening at about ten o’clock, when the
evening inspection had been carried out throughout the camp, the
Jjailers had dispersed to their homes or gone off to the staff hut, the
sentries had been relieved on the watchtowers, and the changing
of the guard was over.

They would go down into the underground passage one by one.
The last man would watch the camp grounds from the cabin till
the others were down; then he and the last but one would nail the
removable part of the skirting board firmly to the boards of the
trap door so that when they let it fall behind them the skirting
board also would fit into place. The broad-headed nail would be
drawn downward till it would go no farther, and in addition to all
this, bolts would be ready under the floor to fasten the trap door,
so that it would not budge even if anyone tried to wrench it
upward.

Another thing—before escaping they would remove the grating
from one of the corridor windows. The warders, finding sixteen
men missing at morning inspection, would not immediately con-
clude that they had tunneled their way out, but would rush to
search the compound, thinking that the Disciplinary Barracks
prisoners had gone to settle accounts with informers. They would
also look in the other camp area, in case the missing men had
climbed over the wall into it. It was a beautiful job! They’d never
find the tunnel, there were no tracks under the window, and
sixteen men had gone—carried by angels up to heaven!

They would crawl out into the peripheral trench, then creep
along the bottom away from the watchtower (the exit from the
tunnel was too close to it); they would go out to the road one by
one; they would leave intervals between groups of four, to avoid
arousing suspicion and to give themselves time to look around (the
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last man would take another precaution: he would close the escape
hole from outside with a wooden manhole cover smeared with
clay, pressing it home with the weight of his body, and then
covering it with earth; so that in the morning it would be impossi-
ble to discover any trace of a tunnel from the trench either.

They would go through the settlement in groups, making loud
carefree jokes. If there should be any attempt to stop them, they
would all join in resisting it, with knives if need be.

The general assembly point was a railway crossing much used
by motor vehicles. There was a hump in the road where it crossed
the tracks, and they would all lie on the ground nearby without
being seen. The crossing was rough (they had seen it and walked
over it on their way to work), the boards had been laid any old
way, and lorries, whether carrying coal or empty, struggled across
it slowly. Two men would raise their hands to stop a lorry as it
was leaving the crossing, and approach the driver’s cab from both
sides. They would ask for a lift. At night drivers were more often
than not alone. If this one was, they would immediately draw their
knives, overpower him, and make him sit in the middle, while
Valka Ryzhkov took the wheel, all the others hopped into the
back, and—full speed ahead to Pavlodar! They could certainly put
130 or 140 kilometers behind them in a few hours. They would
turn off upstream before they reached the férry (their eyes had not
been idle when they were first brought to these parts), tie the
driver up and leave him lying in the bushes, abandon the lorry,
row across the Irtysh, split up into groups—and go their different
ways! The grain crop was being taken into storage just then, and
all the roads were full of lorries.

They were due to finish work on October 6. Two days earlier,
on the fourth, two members of the group were transferred: Tenno
and Volodya Krivoshein, the thief. They tried reporting sick in
order to stay behind at any price, but the operations officer prom-
ised to transport them in handcuffs, whatever their condition.
They decided that excessive resistance would arouse suspicion.
They sacrificed themselves for their friends and submitted.

So Tenno did not benefit from his insistence on joining the
tunneling party. Instead of him, the thirteenth man would be his
recruit and protégé, Zhdanok, who was by now far too unstable
and erratic. It was a bad day for Stepan Konovalov and his friends
when they gave in and told Tenno their secret.

They finished digging and ended in the right place. Mutyanov
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‘had made no mistake. But there was snow on the ground, and they
postponed their flight until it was drier.

On October 9 they did everything precisely as planned. The first
four emerged successfully—Konovalov, Ryzhkov, Mutyanov,
and the Pole, who was his regular partner in escapes involving
engineering.

But the next to crawl into the trench was the hapless little- Kolya
Zhdanok. It was no fault of his, of course, that footsteps were
suddenly heard up above and not far away. But he should have
been patient, lain down, made himself inconspicuous, and crawled
on when the footsteps had passed. Instead, in his usual smart-
aleck way, he stuck his head out. He had to see who was walking
up there.

The quickest louse is first on the nit comb. But as well as
himself, this stupid louse destroyed an escape team equally re-
markable for the cogency of their plan and for their ability to work
smoothly together—ruined fourteen long and difficult lives whose
paths had intersected in this escape. In each of these lives this
attempt had a special importance; without it past and future were
meaningless. On each of them people somewhere still depended—
women, children, and children still unborn. But a louse raised its
head, and the whole thing went up in smoke..

The passer-by proved to be the deputy guard commander. He
saw the louse, shouted, fired. And so the guards, although the plan
had been far too clever for them and they had no inkling of it,
became heroes. And my reader the Marxist Historian, tapping the
page with his ruler, asks me in his patronizing drawl:

“Ye-e-es . . . but why didn’t you run away? Why didn’t you
revolt? . . .”

The escapers had levered back the grating, crawled into the
hole, and nailed the skirting board to the trap—and now they had
to crawl slowly, painfully back.

Who has ever plumbed such depths of disillusionment and de-
_ spair? Seen such efforts so insultingly derided? .

They went back, switched off the lights in the tunnel, fitted the
grating in its socket.

Very soon the whole Disciplinary Barracks was swarming with
camp officers, division officers, escort troops, jailers. All prisoners
were checked against the records, and driven into the stone jail.

But they did not find the tunnell (How long would they have
searched if everything had gone according to plan?) Near the place



Escapes—Morale and Mechanics | 217

where Zhdanok had broken cover, they found a half-filled-in hole.
But even when they followed the tunnel under the barracks, they
could not understand how the men had got down there or where
they had put the earth.

But the civilized section was four men short, and they gave the
remaining eight a merciless going over: the easiest way for bone-
heads to get at the truth.

What point was there in further concealment? . . .

Later on, guided tours of the tunnel were arranged for the whole
garrison and all the jailers. Major Maksimenko, the big-bellied
commandaat of the Ekibastuz camp, used to boast to other area
commandants at Gulag HQ: “You should see the tunnel at my
place. Like the metro! But we . . . our vigilance . . .”

No; just one little louse . . .

The hue and cry also prevented the first four out from reaching
the railway crossing. The plan had collapsed! They climbed the
fence of an empty work site on the other side of the road, walked
through it, climbed the fence again, and headed out onto the
steppe. They decided against waiting in the settlement to pick up
a lorry because it was already full of patrols.

Like Tenno the year before, they quickly lost speed and faith.

They set off southwest, toward Semipalatinsk. They had neither
provisions nor strength for a long journey on foot—in the past day
or two they had strained themselves to the breaking point finishing
the tunnel.

On the fifth day of their run they looked in at a yurt and asked
the Kazakhs for something to eat. They, needless to say, refused
and shot at these hungry people with a hunting rifle. (Is this
tradition native to these shepherds of the steppe? And if not,
where does it come from?)

Stepan Konovalov attacked a Kazakh, knife against gun, and
took the gun and some provisions from him. They went on farther.
But the Kazakhs tracked them down on horseback, came upon
them near the Irtysh, and summoned an operations group.

After that they were surrounded, beaten to a bloody pulp, and
after that . . . There’s no need to continue. . . .

If anyone can show me any attempt to escape by nineteenth- or
twentieth-century Russian revolutionaries attended with such
difficulties, such an absence of support from outside, such a hostile
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attitude on the part of the surrounding population, such lawless
reprisals against the recaptured—let him do so!

And after that let him say, if he can, that we did not put
up a fight. ’



Chapter 9

The Kids with Tommy Guns

The camps were guarded by men in long greatcoats with black
cuffs. They were guarded by Red Army men. They were guarded
by prisoner guards. They were guarded by elderly reservists. Last
came the robust youngsters born during the First Five-Year Plan,
who had seen no war service when they took their nice new
Tommy guns and set about guarding us.

Twice every day, for an hour at a time, we and they shuffled
along, tied together in silent and deadly brotherhood: any one
of them was at liberty to kill any one of us. Every morning we
dawdled listlessly along, we on the road and. they on the shoul-
der, to a place where neither they nor we wished to go. Every
evening we stepped out briskly—we to our pen, they to theirs.
Since neither we nor they had any real home, these pens were
home to us.

We walked with never a glance at their sheepskin coats and
their Tommy guns—what were they to us? They walked watching
our dark ranks all the time. It was there in the regulations that
they must watch us all the time. Orders were orders. Duty was
duty. Any wrong movement, any false step, they must cut short
with a bullet. _

How did they think of us, in our dark jackets, our gray caps of
Stalin fur,* our grotesque felt boots that had served three sen-
tences and shed four soles, our crazy quilt of number patches?
Decent people would obviously never be treated like that. -

'Was it surprising that our appearance inspired disgust? It was
intended to do just that. From their narrow footpaths the free
inhabitants of the settlement, especially the schoolchildren and
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their women teachers, darted terrified glances at our columns as
we were led down the broad street. They showed how much they
dreaded that we, the devil’s brood of fascism, might suddenly go
berserk, overcome the convoy guards, and rush around looting,
raping, burning, and killing. Obviously such bestial creatures
could conceive no other desires. And inhabitants of the settlement
were protected from these wild beasts by . . . convoy troops. The
noble convoy troops. A sergeant of convoy guards, inviting the
schoolteacher to dance in the club we had built for them, could
feel like a knight in shining armor.

These kids watched us the whole time, from the cordon and
from the watchtowers, but they were not allowed to know any-
thing about us; they were allowed only the right to shoot without
warning!

If they had just visited us in our huts of an evening, sat on our
bunks and heard why this old man, or the other old fellow over
there, was inside . . . those towers would have been unmanned and
those Tommy guns would never have fired.

But the whole cunning and strength of the system was in the
fact that our deadly bond was forged from ignorance. Any sympa-
thy they showed for us was punishable as treason; any wish to
speak to us, as a breach of a solemn oath. And what was the point
of talking to us when the political instructor would come at fixed
intervals to lead a discussion on the political and moral character
of the enemies of the people whom they were guarding. He would
explain in detail and with much repetition how dangerous these
scarecrows were and what a burden to the state. (Which made it
all the more tempting to try them out as living targets.) He would
bring some files under his arm and say that the Special Section had
let him take a few cases just for the evening. He would read out
some typewritten pages about evil doings for which all the ovens
of Auschwitz would not be punishment enough—attributing them
to the electrician who was mending the light on a post nearby, or
to the carpenter from whom certain soldiers had imprudently
thought of ordering lockers.

The political instructor will never contradict himself, never
make a slip. He will never tell the boys that some people are
imprisoned here simply for believing in God, or simply for desir-
ing truth, or simply for love of justice. Or indeed for nothing at
all.
The whole strength of the system is in the fact that one man
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cannot speak directly to another, but only through an officer or
a political instructor.

The whole strength of these boys lies in their ignorance.

The whole strength of the camps is in these boys. The boys with
the red shoulder tabs. The murderers from watchtowers, the hunt-
ers of fugitives.

Here is one such political lesson, as remembered by a former
convoy guard (at Nyroblag). “Lieutenant Samutin was a lanky,
narrow-shouldered man, and his head was flat above the temples.
He looked like a snake. He was towheaded and almost without
eyebrows. We knew that in the past he had shot people with his
own hands. Now he was a political instructor, reciting in a monot-
onous voice: ‘The enemies of the people, over whom you stand
guard, are the same as the Fascists, filthy scum. We embody the
power and the punitive sword of the Motherland and we must be
firm. No sentimentality, no pity.’”

That is how they mold the boys who make a point of kicking
a runaway’s head when he is down. The boys who can boot a piece
of bread out of the mouth of a gray-haired old man in handcuffs.
Who can look with indifference at a shackled runaway jounced on
the splintery boards of a lorry; his face is bloodied, his head is
battered, but they look on unmoved. For they are the Mother-
land’s punitive sword, and he, so they say, is an American colonel.

After Stalin’s death, then living'in eternal banishment, I was a
patient in an ordinary free Tashkent clinic. Suddenly I heard a
patient, a young Uzbek, telling his neighbors about his service in
the army. His unit had, he said, kept guard on beasts and butchers.
The Uzbek admitted that the convoy guards were also somewhat
underfed, and it enraged them that prisoners, like miners, got
rations (if, of course, they fulfilled the norm by 120 percent) not
much smaller than those of honest soldiers. It also enraged them
that they, the convoy guards, had to freeze on top of watchtowers
in the winter (in sheepskin coats down to their heels, it’s true),
while the enemies of the people, once they entered the working
area, scattered about the warming-up shacks (even from the
watchtower he could have seen that it was not so) and slept there
all day (he seriously imagined that the state’s treatment: of its
enemies was philanthropic). :

Here was an interesting opportunity—to look at a Special Camp
through the eyes of a convoy guard! I began asking what kind of
reptiles they were and whether my Uzbek friend had talked to
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them personally. And of course he told me that he had learned all
this from political officers, that they had even had “cases™ read out
to them in their political indoctrination sessions. And his mali-
cious misconceptions about prisoners sleeping all day had of
course been reinforced in him by the approving nods of officers.

Woe unto you that cause these little ones to stumble. Better for
you had you never been born! . ..

The Uzbek also told us that a private in the MVD troops
received 230 rubles a month. (Twelve times more than he would
in the army! Why such generosity? Perhaps his service was twelve
times more difficult?) And in the polar regions as much as 400
rubles for a fixed period of service, and with all expenses covered..

He further told us of a number of incidents. Once, for instance,
one of his comrades was marching in convoy and fancied that
somebody was about to run out of the column. He pressed his
trigger and killed five prisoners with a single burst. Since all the
other guards later testified that the column had been moving
quietly along, this soldier incurred a terrible punishment: for kill-
ing five people he was put in detention for fifteen days (in a warm
guardhouse, of course).

But which of the Archipelago’s inhabitants has no stories of this
sort to telll . . . We knew so many of them in the Corrective Labor
Camps. On a work site which had no fence but an invisible bound-
ary line, a shot rang out and a prisoner fell dead: he had stepped
over the line, they said. He may have done nothing of the sort—
the line was invisible, remember—but no one else would hurry
over to check, for fear of lying beside him. Nor would a commis-
sion come to verify where the dead man’s feet were lying. Perhaps,
though, he had overstepped the line—after all, the guards could
keep their eyes on it, whereas the prisoners had to work. The most
conscientious prisoner, the prisoner with thoughts for nothing but
his work, is the one most likely to be shot in this way. At Novo-
chunka station (Ozerlag), haymaking, a prisoner sees a little more
hay two or three steps away and like a thrifty peasant decides to
rake it in. A bullet! And the soldier gets . . . a month’s leave!

Sometimes a particular guard is angry with a particular prisoner
(for refusing to do him a favor, or failing to make something
ordered), and avenges himself with a bullet. Sometimes it is done
treacherously: the guard orders the prisoner to fetch something
from beyond the boundary line, The prisoner goes off unsuspect-
ingly—and the guard shoots. Or perhaps he tosses him a cigarette
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—here, have a smoke! Even a cigarette will serve as bait for a
prisoner, contemptible creature that he is.

Why do they shoot? Sometimes there’s no answer. In Kengir,
for instance, in a tightly organized camp, in broad daylight when
there was not the faintest possibility of an escape, a girl called
Lida, a Western Ukrainian, contrived to wash her stockings in
working hours and put them out to dry on the sloping ground of
the camp fringe area. The man on the tower took aim and killed
her outright. (There was some vague rumor that he tried to com-
mit suicide afterward.)

Why? Because the man has a gun! Because one man has the
arbitrary power to kill or not to kill another.

What’s more—it pays! The bosses are always on your side.
They’ll never punish you for killing somebody. On the contrary,
they’ll commend you, reward you, and the quicker you are on the
trigger—bring him down when hé’s only put half a foot wrong—
the more vigilant you are seen to be, the higher your reward! A
month’s pay. A month’s leave. (Put yourself in the position of HQ:
what sort of division is it that can point to no display of vigilance?
What is wrong with its officers? Or perhaps the zeks are so docile
that the guard can be reduced? A security system once created
needs deaths!)

Indeed, a sort of competition springs up between sharpshooters:
you killed somebody and bought butter with your prize money,
so I'll kill somebody and buy butter, too. Want to pop home and
paw your girl a bit? Just plug that gray thing over there and away
you go for a month.

These were all cases of a kind familiar to us in the Corrective
Labor Camps. But in the Special Camps there were novelties:
shooting straight into a marching column, for instance, as the
Uzbek’s comrade did. Or as they did at the guardhouse in Ozerlag

* on September 8, 1952. Or shooting from the towers into the camp
area.

It meant that they’d been trained to it. This was the work of the
political officers.

In Kengir in May, 1953, these kids with Tommy guns suddenly
and- without provocation opened fire on a column which had
halted outside the camp and was waiting to be searched on entry.
Sixteen were wounded—but these were no ordinary wounds. The
guards were using dumdum bullets, which capitalists and social-
ists had long ago joined in banning. The bullets left craters in their
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bodies, tore holes in their entrails and their jaws, mangled their
extremities.

Now, why should convoy guards at a Special Camp be
armed with dumdum bullets? On whose authority? We shall
never know. . . .

All the same, they were very hurt when they read in my story
that prisoners called their escort troops “screws,” saw the word
repeated for all the world to hear. No, no, the prisoners should
have loved them and called them guardian angels!

One of these youngsters—one of the better ones, it’s true, who
didn’t take offense but wants to defend the truth as he sees it—
is Vladilen Zadorny, born 1933, served in the MVD troops (Infan-
try Guard Unit) at Nyroblag from the age of eighteen to the age
of twenty. He has written me several letters.

Boys did not join of their own wish—they were called up by the Commis-
sariat of War. The Commissariat passed them on to the Ministry of -
Internal Affairs. The boys were taught to shoot and stand guard. The
boys cried with the cold at night. What the hell did they want with places
like Nyroblag and all that they contained. You mustn’t blame the lads
—they were soldiers, serving their Motherland, and although there were
things they didn’t understand about this absurd and dreadful form of
service [How much, then, did they understand? . . . 1t's either all or
nothing—A.S.], they had taken their oath. Their service was not easy.

That is frank and honest. There is something to think about
here. These lads were shut up inside a picket fence of words:
Remember your oath! Serving your Motherland! You’re soldiers
now!

Yes, but their underlying common humanity must have been
weak, or altogether lacking, if it was not proof against an oath and
a few political discussion periods. Not every generation, and not
every people, is of the stuff from which such boys are fashioned.

This is surely the main problem of the twentieth century: is it
permissible merely to carry out orders and commit one’s con-
science to someone else’s keeping? Can a man do without ideas of
his own about good and evil, and merely derive them from the
printed instructions and verbal orders of his superiors? Oaths!
Those solemn pledges pronounced with a tremor in the voice and
intended to defend the people against evildoers: see how easily
they can be misdirected to the service of evildoers and against the

people!
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Let us remember what Vasily Vlasov meant to say to his execu-
tioner back in 1937. “It is your fault! You alone are to blame that
they kill people! My death is on your head alone, and you must
live with that! If there were no executioners, there would be no
executions!”

If there were no convoy troops, there would be no camps.

Of course, neither our contemporaries nor history will ig-
nore the hierarchy of guilt. Of course, it is obvious to all that
their officers were more guilty; the security officers more guilty
still; those who drew up the orders and instructions even more
guilty, and those who ordered them to be drawn up most
guilty of all.!

But shots were fired, camps were guarded, Tommy guns were
held at the ready, not by them, but by those boys! Men were kicked
about the head as they lay on the ground—by no one else, by those
boys!

Vladilen writes also:

They dinned into us, they forced us to learn by heart USO 43SS—the
1943 Regulations of the Infantry Prison Guard (Top Secret)’—a cruel
and frightening document. Then there was the oath. Then we had to heed
the security officers and political officers. There was slander and denun-
ciations. Cases were trumped up against some of the soldiers themselves.

. Divided as they were by the stockade and the barbed wiré, the men
mtheoveralljackztsandthemenmgreatcoauwereequallypmonem
—the former for twenty-five years, the latter for three.

It is putting it rather strongly to say that the infantrymen were
also imprisoned, only not by a military tribunal, but by the Com-
missariat of War. Equally prisoners they were not—because the
people in greatcoats could freely cut down with their Tommy guns
people in work jackets, mow down a crowd of them, indeed, as we
shall soon see.

Vladilen further explains that.

1. mmwmmmmuwmmmwm
whether they are satisied with their pensions and dachas.

2.1 wonder, by the way, whether we are fully aware of the part which this sinister double
sibilant plays in our lives, in one abbreviation after another, beginning with KPSS [CPSU
—Communist Party of the Soviet Union—Trans.}, and KPSS-ovtsy [Party members). Here
we find that the regulations, too, were SS [sovershenno sekretnp—top secret—Trans.), as
is everything excessively secret. Obviously, those who drafted these regulations were con-
scicus of their foulness, but drafted them nonetheless—and at what a time: we had just
driven the Germans back from Stalingrad! One more fruit of the people’s victory.
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The lads were of all sorts. There were blinkered old sweats who hated
zeks. Incidentally, the new recruits from some ethnic minorities—Bash-
kir, Buryat, Yakut—were very keen. Then there were those who just
didn’t care—the majority. They performed their service quietly and
uncomplainingly. What they liked best was the tear-off calendar and post
time. Finally there were decent chaps who felt sorry for the zeks as
victims of misfortune. And most of us realized that our service was
unpopular with the people. When we went on leave we did not wear
uniforms.

Vladilen’s own life story is his best argument in support of his
ideas; though we must remember that there were very few like
him.

He was allowed into the convoy guard service by an oversight
on the part of a lazy Special Section. His stepfather, the old trade
union official Voinino, had been arrested in 1937, and his mother
expelled from the Party as a result. His father, who had com-
manded a Cheka squad, and had been a Party member since 1917,
made haste to disown both his former wife and his son (and so he
kept his Party card, but he was nevertheless demoted).’ His
mother tried to wash away her stain as a blood donor during the
war. (It was all right; Party members and non-Party members
alike took her blood.) The boy “had hated the bluecaps* from
childhood, and now they put one on my own head. . . . The terrible
night when people in my father’s uniform roughly searched my cot
had left too deep a mark in my young memory.”

I was not a good convoy guard: I used to get into conversation with the
zeks and do them favors. I would leave my rifle by the campfire while
I went to buy things for them at the stall or post their letters. I daresay
that there were people at the Intermediate, Mysakort, and Parma Sepa-
rate Camp Sites who still remembered Private Volodya. A prisoner
foreman told me: “If you look at people and hear their troubles you will
understand. . . .” I saw my grandfather, my uncle, my aunt in every one
of the political prisoners. . . . I simply hated my officers. I grumbled and
complained and told the other soldiers: “There are the real enemies of
the people!” For this, for open insubordination (“sabotage’), and for
consorting with a zek, I was sent for interrogation. . . . Lanky Samutin
. . . whipped me across the face, rapped my knuckles with a paperweight
. . . because I would not give him a signed confession that I had posted

3. Although we have long ago learned to expect anything, there are still a few surprises
left: because his abandoned wife’s second husband is arrested, must a man disown his
four-year-old son? And not just any man, but a squad commander in the Cheka?
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letters for zeks. I would have squelched that tapeworm—I'm a silver
medalist at boxing; I could cross myself with an eighty-pound weight—
but there were two warders hanging on to me. . . . Still, the interrogators
had other things on their minds—the MVD in 1953 didn’t know whether
it was coming or going. They didn’t put me inside—they just gave me
a dishonorable discharge under Article 47-G: “Discharged from the
organs of the MVD for extreme insubordination and gross breaches of
MVD regulations.” Then they threw me out of the divisional guard-
house, beaten up and frozen, to make my way home. . . . Arsen, a
foreman, released at this time, looked after me on the way.

Let us imagine that a convoy guard officer wanted to show the
prisoners some leniency. He could, of course, only do it through
his soldiers and in their presence. Which means that, given the
general savagery, it would be “embarrassing” and in fact impossi-
ble. Besides, someone would immediately inform on him.

That’s the system for youl



Chapter 10

Behfnd the Wire the Ground Is
Burning

No, the surprising thing is not that mutinies and risings did not
occur in the camps, but that in spite of éverything they did.

Like all embarrassing events in our history—which means
three-quarters of what really happened—these mutinies have been
neatly cut out, and the gap hidden with an invisible join. Those
who took part in them have been destroyed, and even remote
witnesses frightened into silence; the reports of those who sup-
pressed them have been burned or hidden in safes within safes
within safes—so that the risings have already become a myth,
although some of them happened only fifteen and others only ten
years ago. (No wonder some say that there was no Christ, no
Buddha, no Mohammed. There you’re dealing in thousands of
years....)

‘When it can no longer disturb any living person, historians will
be given access to what is left of the documents, archaeologists will
do a little digging, heat something in a laboratory, and the dates,
locations, contours of these risings, with the names of their lead-
ers, will come to light.

‘We shall see the first outbreaks, like the Retyunin affair of
January, 1942, in the Osh-Kurye Separate Camp Site near Ust-
Usy. Retyunin is said to have been a free employee, perhaps even
in charge of this detachment. He sounded the call to the 58’s and
the socially harmful (Article 7, Section 35) and rallied a few
hundred volunteers. They disarmed the convoy (which consisted
of short-sentence prisoner guards) and escaped with some horses

228
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into the forest, to live as partisans. They were killed off gradually.
In spring, 1945, people who had no connection with it at all were
still being jailed for the Retyunin affair.

Perhaps we (no, not we ourselves) shall learn at the same time
about the legendary rising in 1948 at public works site No. 501,
where the Sivaya Maska-Salekhard railway was under construc-
tion. It was legendary because everybody in the camps talked
about it in whispers, but no one really knew anything. Legendary
also because it broke out not in the Special Camp system, where
the mood and the grounds for it by now existed, but in a Correc-
tive Labor Camp, where people were isolated from each other by
fear of informers and trampled under foot by thieves, where even
their right to be “politicals” was spat upon, and where a prison
mutiny therefore seemed inconceivable.

According to the rumors, it was all the work of ex-soldiers
(recent ex-soldiers!). It could not have been otherwise. Without
them the 58’s lacked stamina, spirit, and leadership. But these
young men (hardly any of them over thirty) were officers and
enlisted men from our fighting armies, or their fellows who had
been prisoners of war; among these some had been with Vlasov or
Krasnov, or in the nationalist units. There were men who had
fought against each other, but here oppression united them. These
young men who had served on all fronts in a world war, who were
expert in modern infantry warfare, camouflage, and picking off
patrols—these young men, except those who were scattered sing-
ly, still retained in 1948 their wartime élan and belief in them-
selves, and they could not accept the idea that men like them-
selves, whole battalions of them, should meekly die. Even escape
seemed to them a contemptible half-measure, rather like deserting
one by one instead of facing the enemy together.

It was all planned and begun in ene particular team. An ex-
colonel called Voronin or Voronov; 3 one-eyed man, is said to
have been the leader. A first lieutenaiit of armored troops, Saku-
renko, is also mentioned. The team Kkilled their convoy guards (in
those days convoy guards, often unlike their charges, were not real
soldiers, but reservists). Then they went and freed a second team,
and a third. They attacked the convoy guards’ hamlet, then the
camp from outside, removed the sentries from the towers, and
opened up the camp area. (The inevitable schism now took place:
though the gates were wide open, most of the zeks would not go
through them. These included prisoners with short sentences who
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had nothing to gain from mutiny. There were others with tenners,
or even with fifteen years under the “Seven-eighths” and “Four-
sixths” decrees, who would be worse off under Article 58. Finally,
there were even 58’s of the sort who preferred to die kneeling
loyally rather than on their feet. Nor were all those who poured
out through the gate necessarily on their way to help the muti-
neers: some felons happily broke bounds to plunder the free settle-
ments.)

Arming themselves with weapons taken from the guards (who
were later buried at the Kochmas cemetery), the rebels went on
to capture the neighboring Camp Division. With their combined
forces they decided to advance on Vorkuta! It was only sixty
kilometers away. But this was not to be. Parachute troops were
dropped to bar their way. Then low-flying fighter planes raked
them with machine-gun fire and dispersed them.

They were tried, more of them were shot, and others given
twenty-five or ten years. (At the same time, many of those who
had not joined in the operation but remained in the camp had their
sentences “refreshed.”)

The hopelessness of this rising as a military operation is obvi-
ous. But would you say that dying quietly by inches was more
“hopeful”?

The Special Camps were set up soon after this, and most of the
58’s were raked out. What was the result?

In 1949 in the Nizhni Aturyakh division of Berlag, a mutiny
started in much the same way: they disarmed their guards, took
six or eight Tommy guns, attacked the camp from outside,
knocked the sentries off the towers, cut the telephone wires, and
opened up the camp. This time there was no one in the camp who
was not numbered, branded, doomed, beyond all hope.

And what do you think happened?

Most prisoners would not pass through the gates. . . .

Those who had started it all and now had nothing to lose
turned the mutiny into a breakout, and a group of them
headed for Mylgi. At Elgena Toskana their way was barred by
troops and light tanks. (General Semyonov was in command of
the operation.)

They were all killed.!

1. I do not claim that my account of these risings is entirely accurate. I shall be grateful
to anyone who can correct me.
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Riddle: What is the quickest thing in the world? Answer:
Thought.

It is and it isn’t. It can be slow, too—oh, how slow! Only slowly
and laboriously do men, people, society, realize what has hap-
pened to them. Realize the truth about their position.

In herding the 58’s into Special Camps, Stalin was exerting his
strength mainly for his own amusement. He already had them as
securely confined as they could be, but he thought he would be
craftier than ever and improve on his best. He thought he knew
how to make it still more frightening. The results were quite the
opposite.

The whole system of oppression elaborated in his reign was
based on keeping malcontents apart, preventing them from read-
ing each other’s eyes and discovering how many of them there
were; instilling it into all of them, even into the most dissatisfied,
that no one was dissatisfied except for a few doomed individuals,
blindly vicious and spiritually bankrupt.

In the Special Camps, however, there were malcontents by the
thousands. They knew their numerical strength. And they realized
that they were not spiritual paupers, that they had a nobler con-
ception of what life should be than their jailers, than their betray-
ers, than the theorists who tried to explain why they must rot in
camps.

This novel aspect of the Special Camp went almost unnoticed
at first. On the face of it, things went on as though it was a
continuation of the Corrective Labor Camp. Except that the
thieves, those pillars of camp discipline and of authority, soon lost
heart. Still, crueler warders and an enlarged Disciplinary Barracks
seemed to compensate for this loss.

But mark this: when the thieves lost heart, there was no more
pilfering in the camp. You could now leave your rations in your
locker. You could drop your shoes on the floor for the night
instead of putting them under your pillow, and they would be
there in the morning. You could leave your pouch on your locker
for the night, instead of lying with it in your pocket and rubbing
the tobacco to dust.

Trivialities, you say? No, all enormously important! Once there
was no pilfering, people began to look at their neighbors kindly
and without suspicion. Listen, lads, maybe we really are . . .
politicals?

And if we're politicals we can speak a bit more freely, between
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two bunks or by the fire on the work site. Better look around, of
course, in case somebody’s listening. Come to think of it, it doesn’t
matter a damn if they frame us—if you’ve got a quarter already,
what else can they do to you?

The old camp mentality—you die first, I'll wait a bit; there is
no justice, so forget it; that’s the way it was, and that’s the way
it will be—also began to disappear.

Why forget it? Why must it always be so?

Teammates begin quietly talking to each other, not about ra-
tions, not about gruel, but about things which you never hear
mentioned Outside—and talking more and more freely all the
time. Until the foreman’s fist suddenly ceases to throb with self-
importance. Some foremen stop raising their fists altogether, oth-
ers use them less often and less heavily. The foreman himself,
instead of towering over his men, sits down to listen and to chat.
And his team begin to look on him as a comrade—after all, he’s
one of us.

The foremen come to the Production Planning Section or the
accounts office, and from discussing with them dozens of small
questions—whose rations should be cut and whose shouldn’t, °
whom to assign to which job—the trusties, too, are affected by this
breath of fresh air, this small cloud of seriousness, responsibility,
and purpose.

Not all of them at once. They had come to these camps greedily
intent on grabbing the best jobs, and they had succeeded. They
saw no reason why they shouldn’t live as well as in the Corrective
Labor Camps, shutting themselves up in their private rooms,
roasting their potatoes with pork fat; live their own lives; sepa-
rately from the workers. But no! It turned out that there was
something more important than all this. And what might that be?
. . . It became indecent to boast of being a bloodsucker, as people
did in the Corrective Labor Camps, to boast that you lived at the
expense of others. So trusties would make friends among the
workers, spread their nice new jerkins beside the workers’ grubby
ones, and lie on the ground happily chatting their Sundays away.

People could no longer be divided into such crude categories as
in the Corrective Labor Camps: trusties and workers, nonpoliti-
cals and 58’s. The breakdown was much more complex and inter-
esting: people from the same region, religious groups, men of
practical experience, men of learning.

It would take the authorities a long, long time to notice or
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understand. But the work assigners no longer carried clubs, and
didn’t even bellow as loudly as before. They addressed the foremen
in a friendly way: for example, “Must be about time to get your
men out to work, Komov.” (Not because they were overcome by
remorse, but because there was something new and disquieting in -
the air.) .

But all this happened slowly. These changes took months and
months and months. They did not affect every foreman and every
trusty, only those in whom some remnants of conscience and .
fraternal feeling still glowed under the ashes. Those who preferred
to go on being bastards found no difficulty in doing just that. As
yet there was no real shift of consciousness, no héroic shift, no
spiritual upheaval. The camp remained a camp as before, we were
as much oppressed and as helpless as ever, there was still no hope
for us but to crawl away under the wire and run out into the
steppe, to be showered: with bullets and hunted down with dogs.

A bold thought, a desperate thought, a thought to raise a man
up: how could things be changed so that instead of us running
from them, they would run from us?

Once the question was put, once a certain number of people had
thought of it and put it into words, and a certain number had
listened to them, the age of escapes was over. The age of rebellion

had begun.

But how to begin? Where to begin? We were shackled, we were
wrapped about by tentacles, we were deprived of freedom of move-
ment—where could we begin?

Far from simple in this life are the simplest things of all. Even
in the Corrective Labor Camps some people seem to have got
around to the idea that stool pigeons should be killed. Even there
accidents were sometimes arranged: a log would roll off a pile and
knock a stoolie into the swollen river. So that it shouldn’t have
been difficult to figure out in the Special Camps which tentacles
to hack off first. You would expect everybody. to see. that, yet
nobody did.

Suddenly—a suicide. In the Dlsclplmary Barracks hut No. 2,
a man was found hanging. (I am going through the stages of the
process as they occurred in Ekibastuz: But note that the stages
were just the same in other Special Campsl) The bosses were not
greatly upset; they cut him down and wheeled him off to the
scrap heap.
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A rumor went around the work team. The man was an in-
former. He hadn’t hanged himself. He had been hanged.

As a lesson to the rest.

There were a lot of filthy swine in the camp, but none so
hoggish, so crude, so brazen as Timofey S——, who was in charge
of the mess hut. His bodyguards were the fat, pig-faced cooks, and
he had also hand-reared a retinue of thuggish orderlies. He and
his retainers beat the zeks with fists and sticks. On one occasion,
quite unjustly, he struck a short, swarthy prisoner whom every-
body called “the kid.” It was not his habit to notice whom he was
beating, But there were no mere “kids” as things now were in the
Special Camps, and this kid was also a Moslem. There were quite
a few Moslems in the camp. They were not just common crimi-
nals. You could see them praying at sunset at the western end of
the camp area (in a Corrective Labor Camp, people would have
laughed, but we did not), throwing up their arms and pressing
their foreheads to the ground. They had elders, and true to the
spirit of the times, they met in council. The motion was to avenge
themselves!

Early one Sunday morning, the victim, together with an adult
companion, an Ingush, slipped into the trusties’ hut while they
were still wallowing in bed, and each of them quickly stuck a knife
into the fat hog.

But how green we still were. They did not try to hide their faces
or to run away. At peace with themselves, now that duty was
done, they went with their bloody knives straight from the corpse
to the warders’ room, and gave themselves up. They would be put
on trial.

All these were tentative fumblings. All this could perhaps have
happened in a Corrective Labor Camp. But civic thought made
further strides: perhaps this was the crucial link at which the chain
must be broken?

“Kill the stoolie!” That was it, the vital link! A knife in the heart
of the stoolie! Make knives and cut stoolies’ throats—that was it!

Now, as I write this chapter, rows of humane books frown down
at me from the walls, the tarnished gilt on their well-worn spines
glinting reproachfully like stars thrcugh cloud. Nothing in the
world should be sought through violence! By taking up the sword,
the knife, the rifie, we quickly put ourselves on the level of our

2. I am not concealing his surname; I just don’t remember it.
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tormentors and persecutors. And there will be noend to it. . . .

There will be no end. . . . Here, at my desk, in a warm place,
I agree completely.

If you ever get twenty-five years for nothing, if you find yourself
wearing four number patches on your clothes, holding your hands
permanently behind your back, submitting to searches morning
and evening, working until you are utterly exhausted, dragged
into the cooler whenever someone denounces you, trodden deeper
and deeper into the ground—from the hole you're in, the fine
words of the great humanists will sound like the chatter of the
well-fed and free.

There will be no end of it! . . . But will there be a beginning?
Will there be a ray of hope in our lives or not?

The oppressed at least concluded that evil cannot be cast out by
good.

Stoolies, you say, are human beings, too? . . . Warders went
around the barracks and to intimidate us read out an order ad-
dressed to the whole Peschany camp complex. At one of the
women’s divisions, two girls (their dates of birth were given; they
were very young) had indulged in anti-Soviet talk. “A tribunal
consisting of . . .”” “. . . death by shooting!”

Those girls, whxspenng together on their bunks, had ten years
hanging around their necks already. What foul creature, with a
burden of its own to carry, had turned them in? How.can you say
that stoolies are human beings?

There were no misgivings. But the first blows were still not easy.

I do not know about other places (they started killing in all the
Special Camps, even the Spassk camp for the sick and disabled),
but in our camp it began with the arrival of the Dubovka transport
—mainly Western Ukrainians, OUN members. The movement
everywhere owed a lot to these people, and indeed it was they who
set the wheels in motion. The Dubovka transport brought us the
bacillus of rebellion.

These sturdy young fellows, fresh from the guerrilla trails,
looked around themselves in Dubovka, were horrified by the apa-
thy and slavery they saw, and reached for their knives.

In Dubovka it had quickly ended in mutiny, arson, and dis-
bandment. But the camp bosses were so blindly sure of-them-
selves (for thirty years they had met no opposition, and had
grown unused to it) that they did not take the trouble even to
keep the rebels separated from us. They were scattered
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throughout the camp in various work teams. This was a Cor-
rective Labor Camp practice: there, dispersal muffled protest.
But in our purer air, dispersal only helped the flames to engulf
the whole mass more rapidly.

The newcomers went to work with their teams, but never lifted
a finger, or just made a show of it; instead they lay in the sun (it
was summer), conversing quietly. At such times, to the casual eye
they looked very much like thieves making law, especially as they,
too, were well-nourished, broad-shouldered young men.

A law indeed emerged, but it was a new and surprising law:
“You whose conscience is unclean—this night you die!”

Murders now followed one another in quicker succession than
escapes in the best period. They were carried out confidently and
anonymously: no one went with a bloodstained knife to give him-
self up; they saved themselves and their knives for another deed.
At their favorite time—when a single warder was unlocking huts
one after another, and while nearly all the prisoners were still
sleeping—the masked avengers entered a particular section, went
up to a particular bunk, and unhesitatingly killed the traitor, who
might be awake and howling in terror or might be still asleep.
When they had made sure that he was dead, they walked swiftly
away.

They wore masks, and their numbers could not be seen—they
were either picked off or covered. But if the victim’s neighbors
should recognize them by their general appearance, so far from
hurrying to volunteer information, they would not now give in
even under interrogation, even under threat from the godfathers,
but would repeat over and over again: “No, no, I-don’t know
anything, I didn’t see anything.” And this was not simply in
recognition of a hoary truth known to all the oppressed: “What
you don’t know can’t hurt you”; it was self-preservation! Because
anyone who gave names would have been killed next 5 A.M., and
the security officer’s good will would have been no help to him at
all. .

And so murder (although as yet there had been fewer than a
dozen) became the rule, became a normal occurrence. “Anybody
been killed today?” prisoners would ask each other when they
went to wash or collect their morning rations. In this cruel sport -
the prisoner’s ear heard the subterranean gong of justice.

It was done in a strictly conspiratorial fashion. Somewhere,
someone (of recognized authority) simply gave a name to someone
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else: he’s the one! It was not his concern who would do the killing,
or on what date, or where the knives would come from. And the
hit men, who were concerned with all these things, did not know
the judge whose sentence they must carry out.

Bearing in mind the impossibility of documentary confirmation
that a man was an informer, we are bound to acknowledge that
this improperly constituted, illegal, and invisible court was much
more acute in its judgments, much less often mistaken, than any
of the tribunals, panels of three, courts-martial, or Special Boards
with which we are familiar.

The chopping, as we called it, went so smoothly that it began
to encroach on the daytime and become almost public. A small,
blotchy-faced “barracks elder,” once a big NKVD man in Rostov,
and a notorious louse;, was killed one Sunday afternoon in the
“bucket room.” Prisoners had become so hardened that they
crowded in to see the corpse lying in a pool of blood.

Next the avengers ran through the camp with knives in broad
daylight, chasing the informer who had betrayed a tunnel under
the camp area from the Disciplinary Barracks, hut No. 8 (the
camp command had woken up and-herded the Dubovka ringlead-
ers into it, but by now the chopping went on just as well without
them). The informer fled from them into the staff barracks, they
followed, he rushed into the office of the divisional commander,
fat Major Maksimenko, and they were still behind him. At that
moment the camp barber was shaving the major in his armchair.
The major was unarmed, in accordance with camp regulations—
they are not supposed to carry firearms into the camp area. When
he saw the murderers armed with knives, the terrified major
jumped from under the razor and begged for mercy, thinking that
they were about to knife him. He was relieved to see them cut up
the stoolie before his very eyes. (Nobody was even after the major.
The nascent movement had issued a directive: only stoolies to be
killed, warders and officers not to be touched.) All the same, the
major jumped out of the window half-shaven, with a white smock
wrapped around him, and ran for the guardhouse, shouting, in
panic: “You in the watchtower, shoot! Shoot, I say.” But the
watchtower did not open fire.

" On one occasion a stoolie broke away before they comld
finish the job and rushed wounded into the hospital. There he
was operated on and bandaged up. But if the major had been
frightened out of his wits by knives, could the hospital save a
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stoolie? Two or three days later they ﬁmshed him off on a hos-
pital bed. .

Out of ﬁve thousand men about a dozen were killed, but with
every stroke of the knife more and more of the clinging, twining
tentacles fell away. A remarkable fresh breeze was blowing! On
the surface, we were prisoners living in a camp just as before, but
in reality we had become free—free because for the very first time
in our lives, we had started saying openly and aloud all that we
thought! No one who has not experienced this transition can
imagine what it is like!

And the informers . . . stopped informing.

Until then a security officer could make anyone he liked stay
behind in camp in the daytime, talk to him for hours on end—
whether to collect denunciations, give new instructions, or elicit
the names of prisoners who looked out of the ordinary, who had
done nothing so far but were capable of it, who were suspected of
being possible nuclei of future resistance.

When his work team came back in the evening they would
question their mate. “Why did they send for you?”’ And he would
always reply, whether it was the truth or impudent bluff: “They
wanted to show me some photographs.”

True enough, many prisoners were shown photographs and
asked to identify people whom they might have known during the
war. But the security officers couldn’t show them to everybody,
and anyway it would have been pointless, Yet everybody—friends
and traitors alike—always mentioned them. Suspicion moved in
with us, and forced us into our shells.

But now the air was being cleansed of suspicion! Now even if
a security officer ordered somebody to stay away from work line-
up—he would not! Incredible! Unheard of in all the years of the
Cheka-GPU-MVD’s existence! They summoned a man, and in-
stead of dragging himself there with his heart missing beats, in-
stead of trotting in with a servile look on his silly face, he pre-
served his dignity (his teammates were watching) and refused to
go! An invisible balance hung in the air over the work line-up. In
one of its scales all the familiar phantoms were heaped: interro-
gatien. officers, punches, beatings, sleepless standing, “boxes™
(cells too small to sit or lie down in), cold, damp punishment
cells, rats, bedbugs, tribunals, second and third sentences. But
this could not all happen at once, this was a slow-grinding bone
mill, it could not devour all of us at once and process us in a
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single day. And even when they had been through it—as every
one of us had—men still went on existing.

While in the other scale lay nothing but a single knife—but that
knife was meant for you, if you gave in! It was meant for you alone,
in the breast, and not sometime or other, but at dawn tomorrow,
and all the forces of the Cheka-MGB could not save you from it!
It was not a long one, but just right for neat insertion between your
ribs. It didn’t even have a proper handle, just a piece of old
insulation tape wound around the blunt end of the blade—but this
gave a very good grip, so that the knife would not slip out of the
hand!

And this bracing threat weighed heavier! It gave the weak
strength to tear off the leeches, to pass by and follow their mates.
(It also gave them a good excuse later on: We would have stayed
behind, citizen officer, but we were afraid of the knife. . . . You
aren’t threatened by it; you can’t imagine what it’s like.)

This was not all. Not only did they stop answering the sum-
monses of the security officers and other camp authorities; they
were now chary of dropping an envelope or any bit of paper with
writing on it into the mailbox, which hung in the camp area, or
. the boxes for complaints to higher authority. Before mailing a
letter or putting in a complaint, they would ask someone to look
at it. ““Go on, read it, it isn’t a denunciation. Come with me while
I mail it.”

So that now the bossm were suddenly blind and deaf. To all
appearances, the tubby major, his equally tubby second in com-
mand, Captain Prokofiev, and all the warders walked freely about
the camp, where nothing threatened them; moved among us,
watched us—and yet saw nothing! Because a man in uniform sees
and hears nothing without stoolies: prisoners stop talking, turn
their backs, hide things, move away at his approach. . . . A few
yards off, faithful informants are swooning with desire to sell their
comrades—but not one of them even makes a secret sign.

The information machine on which alone the fame of the om-
nipotent and omniscient Organs had been based in decades past
had broken down.

On the face of it, the same teams still went to work at the same
sites. (We had, however, agreed among ourselves to resist the
convoy guards, too, not to let them rearrange the ranks of five, or
to re-count us on the march—and we succeeded! There were no
stoolies among us—and the Tommy-gunners also weakened!) The
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teams worked to fill their norms satisfactorily. On their return
they allowed the warders to search them as before. (Their knives
were never found, though.) But in reality other forms of human
association now bound people more closely than the work teams
artificially put together by the administration. Most important
were national ties. National groups—Ukrainians, United Mos-
lems, Estonians, Lithuanians—which informers could not pene-
trate, were born and flourished. No one elected the leadership, but
its composition so justly satisfied the claims of seniority, wisdom,
and suffering that no one disputed its authority over its own
nation. A consultative and coordinating body evidently came into
being as well—a “Council of Nationalities,” as it were.?

The teams were the same as before, and there were no more of
them, but here was something strange: a sudden shortage of fore-
men in the camp—an unheard-of phenomenon in Gulag. At first
the wastage looked natural: one went into the hospital, another
went to work in the service yard, a third was due for release. But
the work assigners had always had crowds of candidates eager to .
buy a foreman’s job with a piece of fatback or a sweater. Now
instead of candidates there were some foremen who hung about
the Production Planning Section daily, asking to be relieved of
their jobs as soon as possible.

As things now were, the old methods used by foremen to drive
a worker into a wooden overcoat were hopelessly out of date, and
not everyone had the wit to devise new ones. There was soon such
a shortage of foremen that work assigners would come into a
squad’s quarters for a smoke and a chat, and simply beg for their
help. “Come on, lads, you've got to have a foreman; this is a
ridiculous state of affairs. Come on now, choose somebody for
yourselves and we’ll promote him right away.”

3. Here some qualification is necessary. It was not all as clean and smooth as it looks
from this description of the main trend. There were rival groups—the “moderates” and
the “ultras.” Personal predilections and dislikes and the clash of ambitions among men
eager to be “leaders” also crept in. The “hit men,” the young bulls of the herd, were far
from being men of broad political vision; some were apt to demand extra rations for their
“work” and to try to get them by threatening the cock in the hospital kitchen. They
demanded, in other words, to be fed at the expense of the sick, and if the cook refused,
they would kill him without any formal court of morals: they had the knack of it, masks,
knives in their hands. In a word, corruption and decay—old, invariable feature of revolu-
tionary movements throughout history—were already burrowing into the healthy core.

There was one case of simple error: a crafty informer induced a good-natured working
prisoner to change beds with him—and the man was murdered in the morning.

But in spite of these lapses, the movement as a whole kept strictly on course. We knew
where we were going. The required social effect was achieved.
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"This happened more and more often when foremen started
escaping into the Disciplinary Barracks—hiding behind stone
walls! Not only they, but bloodsucking work assigners like Adas-
kin, stoolies on the brink of exposure or, something told them,
next on the list, suddenly took fright and ran for it/ Only yesterday
they had put a brave fice on it, behaving and speaking as though
they approved of what was afoot (just try telling the zeks other-
wise in their present mood!); only last night they had gone to bed
in the common hut (whether to sleep or to lie there tense and ready
to fight for their lives, vowing that there would be no more nights
like this); but today they have vanished. An orderly receives in-
structions: carry so-and-so’s things over to the Disciplinary Bar-
racks.

This was a new period, a heady and spine-tingling period in the
life of the Special Camp. It wasn’t we who had taken to our heels
—they had, ridding us of their presence! A time such as we had
never experienced or thought possible on this earth: when a man
‘with an unclean conscience could not go quietly to bed! Retribu-
tion was at hand—not in the next world, not before the court of
history, but retribution live and palpable, raising a knife over you
in the light of dawn. It was like a fairy tale: the ground is soft and
warm under the feet of honest men, but under the feet of traitors
it prickles and burns. If only our Great Outside were as lucky, the
Land of the Free, which never has seen and perhaps never will see
such a time.

The grim stone jailhouse, by now enlarged and completed, with
its tiny muzzled windows, cold, damp, and dark, surrounded with
a fence of overlapping two-inch boards—the Disciplinary Bar-
racks so lovingly prepared by the masters of the camps for recalci-
trants, runaways, awkward customers, protesters, people of cour-
age—has suddenly become a rest home for retired stoolies,
bloodsuckers, and bully boys.

It was, surely, a witty fellow who first had the idea of running
to the Chekists and begging them to let their faithful servant take
sanctuary from the people’s wrath in the stone sack.

They themselves had begged to be locked up more securely,
they had run not away from but into jail; they had voluntarily
agreed never again to breathe clean air or see sunlight. I don’t
think history records anything like it.

The prison chiefs and security officers had pity on the first of
them and took them under their wings; they had to look after their
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own. The best cell in the barracks was assigned to them (the camp
wits called it the safe deposit), mattresses were sent in, better
heating was ordered, a one-hour exercise period was prescribed.

But behind the first smart alecks came a long line of others less
smart but no less eager to live. (Some tried to save their faces even
in flight: who knows, they might someday. have to go back arid live
among zeks again. Archdeacon Rudchuk’s flight to the Discipli-
nary Barracks was carefully staged: warders came into the hut
after locking-up time, executed a ruthless search, even shaking out
the contents of his mattress, “arrested” Rudchuk, and took him
away. The camp, however, was scon reliably informed that the
haughty archdeacon, amateur of the paintbrush and the guitar,
was with the others in the “safe deposit.””) Their numbers shortly
topped a dozen, fifteen, twenty! (““Machekhovsky’s squad,” people
started calling them, after the chief disciplinary officer.) A second
cell had to be brought into use, which further reduced the Discipli-
nary Barracks’ productive area.

But a stoolie is only wanted, only useful, so long as he can rub
shoulders with the crowd and pass undetected. Once detected, he
is worthless, and cannot go on serving in the same camp. He eats
the bread of idleness in the Disciplinary Barracks, doesn’t go out
to work, isn’t worth his sait. Even the MVD’s philanthropy must
have some limits!

So the flow of stoolies begging to be saved was stemmed. Late-
comers had to remain in their sheep’s clothing and await the knife.

An informer is like a ferryman: once he’s served his purpose,
nobody wants to know him.

The camp authorities were more concerned with countermeas-
ures to stop the menacing movement and break its back. They
clutched first at the method with which they were most familiar
—issuing written orders.

The masters of our bodies and souls were particularly anxious
not to admit that our movement was political in character. In their
menacing orders (warders went around the huts reading them out)
the new trend was declared to be nothing but gangsterism. This
made it all simpler, more comprehensible, somehow cozier. It
seemed only yesterday that they had sent us gangsters labeled
“politicals.” Well, politicals—real politicals for the first time—
had now become “gangsters.” It was announced, not very confi-
dently, that these gangsters would soon be discovered (so far not
one of them had been), and still less confidently, that they would
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be shot. The orders further appealed to the prisoner mass to
condemn the gangsters and struggle against them!

The prisoners listened and went away chuckling. Seeing the
disciplinary officers afraid to call “political” behavior by its name
(although the purpose of all investigations for thirty years past had
been the imputation of political motives), we were aware of their
weakness.

And weakness it was! Calling the movement “gangsterism” was
a ruse to relieve the camp administration of responsibility for
allowing a political movement to develop in the camp! This pre-
tense was just as convenient, just as necessary higher up: in the
provincial and camp administrations of the MVD, the central
offices of Gulag, the ministry itself. A system which lives in con-
stant dread of publicity loves to deceive itself. If the victims had
been warders or disciplinary officers, it would have been difficult
not to invoke Article 58-8 (on terrorism), and the camp authorities
could have easily responded with death sentences. Under the pres-
ent circumstances, however, our masters were presented with an
irresistible opportunity to camouflage what was happening in the
Special Camps as part of the “bitches’ war,” which was then
shaking the Corrective Labor Camps to their foundations, and
was of course engineered by the Gulag administration.*

4. The “bitches® war™ deserves a chapter of its own in this book, but a great deal of
additional material would have to be found. Let me refer the reader to Varlam Shalamov’s
study Ocherki Prestupnogo Mira (Essays on the Criminal World), although this, too, is
incomplete.

Briefly, the “bitches’ war” flared up somewhere around 1949 (if we discount sporadic
minor clashes between thieves and “bitches™). In 1951-1952 it was at its fiercest. The
criminal world was subdivided into many different sects: apart from thieves proper and
“bitches,” there were also the. No-Limiters, the Makhrovisy, the Uporovtsy, the Pirova-
rovtsy, the Red Riding Hoods, the Fuli Nam, the Crowbar-Belted—and that is not the end
of them.

By this time the Gulag administrators had lost faith in infallible theories about the
re-education of criminals and had evidently decided to lighten their load by playing on
these differences, supporting first one group, then another, and using their knives to destroy
others. The butchery went on openly and wholesale.

- Then the professional criminals who took to murder developed their own technique:
either they killed with someone else’s hands, or when they themselves killed they made
mmehemh&ebhm&ym&wmﬂoﬂ'mdusmamldiusorommudu
threat of murder, took other peaple’s murdars on themselves, were sentenced to twenty-five
years under Article 59-3 (banditry), and are still inside. Whereas the thieves who led the
groups came out clean under the “Voroshilov amnesty” in 1953. (But let us not be too
downhearted: they have been back ingide a time or two since then.)

When our newspapers revived the fashion for sentimental stories about the remolding
of criminals, reports—muddled and mendacious, of course—about the butchery in the
camps also broke through into the columns of the press, with the “bitches’ war,” the
“chopping” in the Special Camps, and any unexplained bloodletting deliberately mixed up
(to confuse history).
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This was their way of whitewashing themselves. But they also
deprived themselves of the right to shoot the camp murderers,
which was the only effective countermeasure. And they could not
oppose the growing movement.

The orders were of no avail. The prisoner masses did not start
condemning and struggling on behalf of their masters. The next
measure was to put the whole camp on a punitive routine. This
meant that in nonworking hours on weekdays, and all day on
Sundays, we were under lock and key, and had to use the latrine
bucket, and were even fed in our huts. They started carrying the
broth and mush around in big tubs, and the mess hall was de-
serted.

This was a hard regime, but it did not last long. We were lazy
at work, and the Mining Trust set up a howl. More important, the
warders’ work load was quadrupled—they were incessantly rush-
ing from one end of the camp to the other, letting orderlies in with
buckets, letting them out again, bringing the food around, escort-
ing groups of prisoners to and from the Medical Section.

The object of the camp administration was to make things so
hard for us that we would betray the murderers out of exaspera-
tion. But we braced ourselves to suffer, to hang on a bit: it was
‘worth it! Their other object was to keep the huts closed so that
murderers could not come from outside, and so would be easier

The camp theme interests the whole Soviet people, and such articles are read avidly, but
they are no aid to understanding (which is why they are written). Thus the journalist
Galich published in Jzvestipa in July, 1959, a rather suspect “documentary” tale about a
certain Kosykh, who is supposed to have touched the hearts of the Supreme Soviet with
an eighty-page typewritten letter from a camp. (1. Where did ke get his typewriter? Did
it belong to the security officer? 2. Who would ever read eighty whole pages—those people
yawn their heads off after one.) This' Kosykh was in for twenty-five years—a second
sentence for something he did in the camps. But what? On this point Galich—and it is our
journalists® distinctive characteristic—immediately loses the capacity for clear and articu-
late speech. It is impossible to understand whether Kosykh had murdered a “bitch,” or
a stoolie (which would make it “political”). But that is characteristic—in historical retro-
specteverythmgmeonmgnedmamgleheapandcdledgmptum%mthebma
national newspaper can do by way of scientific explanation: “‘Beria’s stooges were then
active in the camps.” (l'hm.andnoteaﬂm’ﬂhm,bmnotnow?)“mgoromapphmon
of the law was undermined by the illegal actions of p who were
. it”.(How? Did they go against generally binding mstrucuons?) “They did all they could
to foment hostility [My italics. This much is true—A.S.] between various groups of prison-
ers.” (l'heuseofinformu'scannlsobewvemdbythisformuls.) “There was savage,

ruthless, artificially fomented enmity.”
It of course proved unpom’blewpntastoptothehﬂmgsmtheéampsbymeansof
twenty-five-year many of the had twenty-five years already—s0 a

decree of 1961 made murder (including, of course, the murder of informers) in the camps
punishable by shooting. This Khrushchevian decree was all the Stalinist Special Camps had
lacked.
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to find. But another murder took place, and still no one was
caught—just as before no one had ever seen anything or knew
anything. Then somebody’s head was smashed in at work—locked
huts are no safeguard against that.

They revoked the punitive regime. Instead they had the bright
idea of building the “Great Wall of China.” This was a wall two
bricks thick and four meters high, to cut across the width of the
camp. They were preparing to divide the camp into two parts, but
left an opening for the time being. (All Special Camps were to do
the same. Barriers to break up large camp areas were going up in
many other places.) Since the Mining Trust could not pay for this
work and since it had no relevance to the settlement, the whole
burden—making the adobe bricks, shifting them around to dry,
carrying them to the wall, laying them—fell upon us again, upon
our Sundays and our light summer evenings after we returned
from work. We greatly resented that wall—we knew that the
bosses had some dirty trick in store—but we had no choice but
to build it. Only a little of us was as yet free—our heads and our
mouths—but we were still stuck up to our shoulders in the quag-
mire of slavery.

All these measures—the threatening orders, the punitive re-
gime, the wall—were crude, and in the best tradition of prison
thinking. But what was this? Without warning or explanation,
they called teams one after another to the photography room, and
photographed: them, but politely, without putting number plates
on dog collars around their necks, without making them turn their
heads to a particular angle—it was just sit comfortably, look just
as you please. From a “careless” remark dropped by the head of
the Culture and Education Section, the workers learned that they
were being “photographed for documents.”

For what documents? What documents can prisoners have?
. . . A ripple of excitement went around among the credulous:
Perhaps they were preparing passes so that prisoners could move
without convoy guards? Or perhaps . . . ? Or perhaps . . . ?

Then one warder returned from leave and loudly told another
(in the presence of prisoners) that on his way he had seen train-
loads of released prisoners going home, with slogans and green
branches.

Lord, how our hearts beat! It was high time, of course! They
should have started like this after the-war! Had it really begun at
last?
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We heard that someone had received a letter from his family
saying that his neighbors had already been released and were at
homel .

Suddenly one of the photographed brigades was summoned
before a board. Go in one by one. At a table with a red cloth on
it, under a portrait of Stalin, sat our senior camp personnel, but
not alone: there were also two strangers, one a Kazakh, the other
a Russian, who had never been in our camp. They were business-
like but jolly as they filled in their form: surname, first names, year
of birth, place of birth—and then, instead of the usual “article
under which sentenced, length of sentence, end of sentence,” they
asked in detail about the man’s family status, his wife, his parents,
if he had children, how old they were, where they all lived, to-
gether or separately. And all this was taken down! (One or another
of the board would tell the clerk to “get that down, too.”)

Strange, painfully pleasurable questions! They make the hardest
among us feel a glow and want to weep! For years and years he
has heard only that abrupt yapping: “Article? Sentence? Court?”
—and suddenly he sees sitting there kindly, serious, humane offi-
cers, questioning him unhurriedly and sympathetically, yes, sym-
pathetically, about things he has buried so deep that he is afraid
to touch them himself, things about which he might occasionally
say a word or two to his neighbor on the bed platform, or then
again might not. . . . And these officers (if you remember it at all,
you forgive the first lieutenant there who took a photograph of
your family away from you and tore it up last October anniver-
sary)—these officers, when they hear that your wife has remarried,
that your father is failing fast and has lost hope of seeing his son
again—tut sadly, exchange glances, shake their heads.

No, they’re not so bad, after all; they’re human, too; it’s just the
lousy service they’re in. And when they’ve written it all down, the
last question they ask each prisoner is this:

“Right; now where would you like to live? . . . Where your
parents are, or where you lived before?”

The zek’s eyes pop out. “How do you mean? I'm in No. 7
Barracks. . . .”

“Look, we know that.” The officers laugh. “We’re asking where
you'd like to live. Suppose you were let out—where should your
documents be made out for?”

The whole world spins before the prisoner’s eyes, the sunlight
splinters into an iridescent haze. With his mind, he understands
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that this is a dream, a fairy tale, that it cannot be true, that his
sentence is twenty-five years or ten, that nothing has changed, that
he is plastered all over with clay and will be back on the job
tomorrow—but there sit several officers, two majors among them,
calmly, compassionately insisting:

“Where is it to be, then? Name it.”

With his heart hammering, and warm waves of gratitude wnfih-
ing overhun, like a blushing boy mentioning the name of his girl,
he gives away his cherished secret—where he would like to live
out peacefully the remainder of his days if he were not a doomed

~convict with four number patches.

And they . . . write it down! And ask for the next man to be
called in. While the first dashes half-crazed into the corridor and
tells the other lads what has happened.

The members of the team go in one by one and answer questions
for the friendly officers. And there is only one in half a hundred
who says with a grin:

“Everything’s just fine here in Siberia, only the climate’s too
hot. Couldn’t I go to the Arctic Circle?”

Or: “Write this down: ‘In a camp I was born, in a camp Fll die.
I know no better place.’”

They had such talks with two or three teams (there were two
hundred of them in the camp). The camp was in a state of excite-
ment for some days, here was something to argue about—though .
half of us didn’t really believe it. Those times had passed! But the
board never convened again. The photography had cost them little
—the cameras clicked on empty cartridges. But sitting in a huddle
for heart-to-heart talks with those scoundrels overtaxed their pa-
tience. And so nothing came of their shameless trick.

(Let’s admit it—this was a great victory! In 1949 camps with
a ferocious regime were set up—and intended, of course, to last
forever. Yet by 1951 their masters were reduced to this maudlin
playacting. What further admission of our success could we ask
for? Why did they never have to put on such an act in the Correc-
tive Labor Camps?)

Again and again the knives flashed.

So our masters decided to make a snatch. Without stoolies they
didn’t know exactly whom they wanted, but still they had ideas
and suspicions of their own (and perhaps denunciations were
somehow arranged on the sly).



248 | THE GULAG ARCHIPELAGO

Two warders came into a hut after work, and casually told a

man, “Get ready and come with us.” =
The prisoner looked around at the other lads and said, “I’'m not
going.l'

In fact, this simple everyday situation—a snatch, an arrest—
which we had never resisted, which ‘we were used to accepting
fatalistically, held another possibility: that of saying, “I’m not
going!” Our liberated heads understood that now.

The warders pourniced on him. “What do you mean, not going?”’

“I’'m just not going,” the zek answered, firmly. “I'm all right
where I am.”

There were shouts from all around:

“Where’s he supposed to go? . . . What’s he got to go for?
... We won’t let you take him!. . . We won’t let youl . . . Go away!”

And the wolves understoed that we were not the sheep we used
to be. That if they wanted to grab one of us now they would have
to use trickery, or do it at the guardhouse, or send a whole detail
to take one prisoner. With a crowd around, they would never take
him.
Purged of human filth, delivered from spies and eavesdroppers,
we looked about and saw, wide-eyed, that . . . we were thousands!
that we were . . . politicals! that we could resist!

‘We had chosen well; the chain would snap if we tugged at this
link—the stoolies, the talebearers and traitors! Our own kind had
made our lives impossible. As on some ancient sacrificial altar,
their blood had been shed that we might be freed from the curse
that hung over us.

The revolution was gathering strength. The wind that seemed
to have subsided had sprung up again in a hurricane to fill our
eager lungs. '



Chapter 11

Tearing at the Chains

The middle ground had now collapsed, the ditch which ran
between us and our custodians was now a deep moat, and we stood
on oppasite slopes, taking the measure of the situation. .

“Stood” is of course a manner of speaking. We went to work
daily with our new foremen (some of them secretly elected and
coaxed into serving the common cause, others not new to the job
but now so sympathetic, so friendly, so solicitous as to be unrecog-
nizable), we were never late for work line-up, we never let-each
other down, there were no shirkers, we chalked up a good day’s
work—you might think that our masters could be pleased with us.
And that we could be pleased with them: they had quite forgotten
how to yell and to threaten, they no longer hauled us into the
Disciplinary Barracks for petty reasons, they appeared not to

~- notice that we had stopped doffing our caps to them. Major Mak-
simenko did not get up for work line-up in the morming, but he
did like to greet the columns at the guardhouse of'an evening, and
to crack a joke or two while they were marking time there. He
beamed upon us with fat complacency, like a Ukrainian rancher
somewhere in the Tavrida surveying his countless flocks as they
come home from the steppe. They even started showing us films
occasionally on Sundays. There was just one thing. They went on
plaguing us with the “Great Wall of China.”

All the same, we and they were thinking hard about the next
stage. Things could not remain as they were: we could not be
satisfied with what had happened, nor could they. Someone had
to strike a blow.

But what should be our aim? We could now say out loud,

249
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without looking nervously around, whatever we liked—all those
things which had seethed inside us (and freedom of speech, even
if it was only there in the camp, even though it had come so late,
was a delight!). But could we hope to spread that freedom beyond
the camp, or carry it out with us? Of course not. What further

political demands could we put forward? We just couldn’t think
- of any! Even if it had not been pointless and hopeless, we couldn’t
think of any! We, from where we were, could not demand that the
country should change completely, nor that it should give up the
camps: they would have rained bombs on us.

It would have been natural for us to demand that our cases be
reviewed, and that unjust sentences, imposed without reason, be
quashed. But even that looked hopeless. In the foul fog of terror
that hung thickly over the land, the cases brought against most of
us, and the sentences passed, seemed to our judges fully justified
—and they had almost made us believe it ourselves. Besides, judi-
cial review was a phantom process, which the crowd could get no
grip on, and there could be no easier way to cheat us: they could
make promises, spin out the proceedings, keep coming back to ask
more questions—it could drag on for years. Suppose somebody
was suddenly declared free and removed: how could we be sure
that he was not on his way to be shot, or to another prison, or to
be sentenced afresh?

Hadn’t the farce of the “Board” already shown us how easy it
is to create illusions? The Board was for packing us off home, even
without judicial review. . . .

Where we were all of one mind, and had no doubts at all, was
that the most humiliating practices must be abolished: the huts
must be left unlocked overnight, and the latrine buckets removed;
our number patches must be taken off; our labor must not be
completely unpaid; we must be allowed to write twelve letters a
year. (But all this and more—indeed, the right to twenty-four
letters a year—had been ours in the Corrective Labor Camps—
and had it made life there livable?) ’

As to whether we should fight for an eight-hour working day
—there was no unanimity among us. . . . We were so unused to
freedom that we seemed to have lost all appetite for it.

Ways and means were also discussed. How should we present
our demands? What action should we take? Clearly, we could do
nothing with bare hands against modern arms, and therefore the
course for us to take was not armed rebellion, but a strike. On
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strike we could, for instance, tear off the number patches our-
selves.

But the blood in our veins was still slavish, still servile. . . . For
all of us at once to remove the odious numbers from our persons
seemed a step as daring, as audacious, as irrevocable as, say,
taking to the streets with machine guns. And the word “strike”
sounded so terrifying to our ears that we sought firmer ground:
by refusing food when we refused to work it seemed to us that our
moral right to strike would be reinforced. We felt that we had
some sort of right to go on a hunger strike—but to strike in the
ordinary sense? Generation after generation in our country had
grown up believing that the horrifyingly dangerous and, of course,
counter-revolutionary word “strike” belonged with *“Entente,”
G(Denikin’” l‘kulak samge’“‘ “Hitlel'.”

So that by voluntarily undertaking an unnecessary hunger
strike, we voluntarily agreed to undermine the physical strength
which we needed for the struggle. (Fortunately, no other camp
seems to have repeated Ekibastuz’s mistake.)

We went over and over the details of the proposed work stop-
page-hunger strike. The general Disciplinary Code for Camps,
recently made applicable to us, told us that they would reply by
locking us in our huts. How, then, should we keep in touch with .
each other, and pass decisions about the further conduct of the
strike from hut to hut? Someone had to devise signals, and get the
huts to agree from which windows they would be made, and at
which windows they would be picked up.

It was talked over in various places, in one group and another;
it seemed inevitable and desirable, yet, because it was so novel,
somehow impossible. We could not imagine ourselves suddenly
assembling, finishing our discussions, resolving, and . . .

But our custodians did not have to organize secretly, they had
a clear chain of command, they were more accustomed to action,
they were less likely to lose by acting than by failing to act—and
they got their blow in first.

After that, events took on a momentum of their own.

At peace and at ease on our familiar bunks, in our familiar
sections, we greeted the new year, 1952. Then on Sunday, January
6, the Orthodox Christmas Eve, when the Ukrainians were getting
ready to observe the holiday in style—they would make kutya,*
fast till the first star appeared, and then sing carols—the doors
were locked after morning inspection and not opened again.
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No one had expected this! The preparations had been secret and
sly! Through the windows we saw them herding a hundred or
more prisoners from the next hut through the snow to the guard-
house, with all their belongings. '

Were they being moved to another camp?

Then it was our turn. Warders came. And officers with cards.
They called out names from the cards. Outside with all your
things—including mattresses, just as they are; don’t empty them!

So that was it! A regrouping! Guards were posted by the break
in the Chinese Wall. It would be bricked up next day. We were
taken past the guardhouse and herded, hundreds of us, with sacks
and mattresses, like refugees from a burning village, around the
boundary fence, past another guardhouse, into the other camp
area. Passing those who were being driven in the opposite direc-
tion.

All minds were busily trying to work out who had been
moved, who had been left behind, what this reshuffle meant.
What our masters had in mind became clear soon enough. In
one half of the camp (Camp Division No. 2) only the Ukrain-
ian nationalists, some 2,000 of them, were left. In the half to
which we had been driven, and which was to be Camp Divi-
sion No. 1, there were some 3,500 men belonging to all the
other ethnic groups—Russians, Estonians, Lithuanians, Latvi-
ans, Tatars, Caucasians, Georgians, Armenians, Jews, Poles,
Moldavians, Germans, and a variegated sprinkling of other na-
tionalities picked up from the expanses of Europe and Asia. In
a word—our country, “one and indivisible.” (Curious, this.
The thinking of the MVD, which should have been enlight-
ened by a supranational doctrine, called socialism, still fol-
lowed the same old track: that of dividing nation from nation.)

The old teams were broken up, new ones were mustered; they
would go to new work sites, live in new huts—in short, a complete
reshuffle! There was enough to think about here for-a week, not
just one Sunday. Many links were snapped, people were thrown
together in different combinations, and the strike, which had
seemed imminent, was broken in advance. . . . Oh, they were
clever!

The whole hospital, the mess hall, and the club remained in the
Ukrainian Camp Division. We were left instead with the camp jail,
while the Ukrainians, the Banderists, the most dangerous rebels,
had been moved farther away from it. What did this mean?
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We soon learned what. Reliable rumors went around the camp
(from the working prisoners who took the gruel to the BUR) that
the stoolies in the “safe deposit” had grown cheeky. Suspects,
picked up here and there, two or three at a time, had been put in
with the stoolies, who were torturing them in their common cell,
choking them, beating them, trying to make them “sing” and to
name names. “Who’s doing the slashing?” This made the whole
scheme as clear as daylight. They were using torture! Not the dog
pack themselves—they probably had no authorization for it, and
might run into trouble, so they had entrusted the stoolies with the
job: find your murderers yourselves!. The stoolies were-all eager-
ness—no shot in the arm needed! And this was one way for those
parasites to earn their keep. That was why the Banderists had been
moved away from the BUR—so that they could not attack it. We
were less of a worry: docile people, of different races, we would
not make common cause. The rebels were . . . in the other place.
And the wall was four meters high.

So many deep historians have written so many clever books—
and still they have not learned how to predict those mysterious
conflagrations of the human spirit, to detect the mysterious
springs of a social explosion, nor even to explain them in retro-
spect.

Sometimes you can stuff bundle after bundle of burning tow
under the logs, and they will not take. Yet up above, a solitary
little spark flies out of the chimney and the whole village is re-
duced to ashes.

Our three thousand had no plans made, were quite unprepared,
but one evening on their return from work the prisoners in a hut
next to the BUR began dismantling their bunks, seized the long
bars and crosspieces, ran through the gloom (there was a darkish
place to one side of the BUR) to batter down the stout fence
around the camp jail. They had neither axes nor crowbars—
because there never are any inside the camp area—unless perhaps
they had begged a couple from the maintenance yard.

There was a hammering noise—they worked like a team of good
carpenters, levering the planks away as soon as they -gave—and
the grating protests of 12-centimeter nails could be heard all over
the camp. It was hardly the time for carpenters to be working, but
at least it was a.workmanlike noise, and at first neither the men
on the towers nor the warders, nor the other prisoners, thought
anything of it. Life was following its usual evening routine: some
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teams were going to supper, others straggling back from supper,
some making for the Medical Section, others for the stores, others
for the parcels office.

All the same, the warders were worried, hustled over to the
BUR, to the half-dark wall where all the activity was—and raced
like scalded cats to the staff barracks. Somebody rushed after a
warder with a stick. Then, to provide full musical accompaniment,
somebody started breaking windows in the staff barracks with
stones or a stick. The stafPs windowpanes shattered with a merry
menacing crash.

‘What the lads had in mind was not to raise a rebellion, nor even
to capture the BUR (no easy matter: Plate No. 5, taken many
years Iater, shows the door of the Ekibastuz BUR off its hinges),
but merely to pour petrol into the stoolies’ cell, and toss in some-
thing burning—meaning: Watch your step, we'll show you yet! A
dozen men did force their way through the gap knocked in the
BUR fence. They started tearing around looking for the cell—they
had made a guess at the window, but were not sure—then they had
to dislodge the muzzle, give someone a leg up, pass the petrol pail
—but machine-gun fire from the towers suddenly rattled across
the camp, and they never did start their blaze.

The warders and Chief Disciplinary Officer Machekhovsky had
fled from the camp and informed Division. (Machekhovsky, too,
had been pursued by a prisoner with a knife, had run by way of
the shed in the maintenance yard to a corner tower, shouting:
“You in the tower, don’t firel I'm a friend,” and scrambled
through the outer fence.)! Division (where can we now inquire the
names of the commanders?) gave telephonic instructions for the
corner towers to open fire from machine guns—on three thousand
unarmed people who knew nothing of what had happened. (Our
team, for instance, was in the mess hall, and we were completely
mystified when we heard all the shooting outside.)

It was one of fate’s little jokes that this took place on Janu-
ary 22 (New Style), January 9 (Old Style), the anniversary of
Bloody Sunday, which until that year was marked in the cal-
endar as a day of solemn mourning. For us it proved to be
Bloody Tuesday, and the butchers had much more elbow room
than in Petersburg: this was not a city square, but the steppe,

1. He was hacked to pieces just the same—not, however, by us but by the thieves who
replaced us in Ekibastuz in 1954. He was harsh, but ageous; there’s no denying that.
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with no witnesses, no journalists or foreigners around.?

Firing at random in the darkness, the machine-gunners
blasted away at the camp area. True, the shooting did not last
long, and most of the bullets probably passed overhead, but
quite a few of them were lower—and how many does a man
need? They pierced the flimsy walls of the huts, and, as always
happens, wounded not those who had stormed the BUR, but
others, who had no part in it. Nonetheless, they now had to
conceal their wounds, stay away from the Medical Section,
wait like dogs for time to heal them, otherwise they might be
identified as participants in the mutiny—somebody, after all,
must be plucked out of the faceless mass! In hut No. 9 a
harmiess old man, nearing the end of a ten-year sentence, was
killed in his bed. He was due to be released in a month’s time.
His grown-up sons were serving in the same army as those
who blazed away at us from the towers.

The besiegers left the prison yard and quickly dispersed to their
barracks (where they had to put their bunks together again so as
to cover their traces). Many others took the shooting as a warning
to stay inside their huts. Yet others, on the contrary, poured out
excitedly and scurried about the camp, trying to understand what
it was all about.

By then there were no warders left in the camp area. The staff
barracks was empty of officers, and terrible jagged holes yawned
in its windows. The towers were silent. The curious, and the
seekers after truth, roamed the camp.

Suddenly the gates of our Camp Division were ﬂung wide and

a platoon of convoy troops marched in with Tommy guns at the
ready, firing short bursts at random. They fanned out in all direc-
tions, and behind them came the enraged warders, with lengths of
iron pipe, clubs, or anything else they had been able to lay their
hands on.

They advanced in waves on every hut, combing the whole camp
area. Then the Tommy-gunners were silent, and halted while the
warders ran forward to flush out prisoners in hiding, whether
wounded or unhurt, and beat them unmercifully.

All this became clear later, but at the time we could only hear

2. But it is interesting to note that it was about this time that Soviet calendars stopped
marking Bloody Sunday—as though it was after all a fairly ordinary occurrence, and not
worth commemorating.
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heavy firing in the camp area, and could see and understand
nothing in the half-dark.

A lethal crush developed at the entrance to our hut: the prison-
ers were so anxious to shove their way in that no one could enter.
(Not that the thin boards of the hut walls gave any protection
against bullets, but once inside, a man ceased to be a mutineer.)
I was one of those by the steps. I remember very well my state of
mind: a nauseated indifference to my fate; a momentary indiffer-
ence whether I survived or not. Why have you fastened your
hooks on us, curse you! Why must we go on paying you till the
day we die for the crime of being born into this unhappy world?
Why must we sit forever in your jails? The prison sickness which
is at once nausea and peace of mind flooded my being. Even my
constant fear for the as-yet-unrecorded poem and the play I car-
ried within me was in abeyance. In full view of the death which
was wheeling toward us in military greatcoats, I made no effort
at all to push through the door. This was the true convict mental- *
ity; this was what they had brought us to.

The doorway gradually cleared and I was among the last to
go through. Shots rang out at this point, amplified by the hol-
low building. The three bullets they fired after us lodged in a
row in the doorjamb. A fourth ricochéted upward and left a
little round hole haloed with hairline cracks in the glass above
the door.

Our pursuers did not break into the huts. They locked us in.
They hunted down and beat those who had not been quick enough
to run inside. A couple of dozen prisoners were wounded or badly
beaten: some lay low and hid their wounds, others were passed to
the Medical Section for a start, with jail and interrogation as
participants in-a mutiny to follow.

But all this became known only later. The doors were locked
overnight, and on the following morning the inmates of different
huts were not allowed to meet in the mess hall and piece the story
together. In some huts, where no one was seen to be hurt and
nothing was known about the killings, the deluded prisoners
turned out to work. Our hut was one of them.

Out we went, but no one was led through the camp gates after
us: the midway was empty, there was no work line-up! We had
been tricked!

We felt wretched in the engineering shops that day. The lads
went from bench to bench, and sat down to discuss what had
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happened the day before, and how long we would go on working
like donkeys and tamely putting up with it all. Camp veterans,
who would never straighten their backs again, were skeptical.
What else could we do? they asked. Did we suppose that anyone
had ever survived unbroken? (This was the philosophy of the 1937
[ draﬁ-’,)

When we returned from work in the dark, the camp area was
again deserted. Our scouts ran to the windows of other huts. They
found that No. 9, in which there were two dead men and three
wounded, and the huts next to it had not gone to work. The bosses
had told them about us, hoping that they, too, would turn out
tomorrow. But the way things were, we should obviously not be
going in the morning ourselves.

Notes were tossed over the wall telling the Ukrainians what we
had decided and asking for their support.

The work stoppage-hunger strike had not been carefully pre-
pared, it was not even a coherent concept, and it began impul-
sively, with no directing center, no signal system.

Those prisoners in other camps who took over the food stores
and then stayed away from work of course behaved more sensibly.
But our action, if not very clever, was impressive: three thousand
men simultaneously swore off both food and work.

Next morning not a single team sent its man to the bread-
cutting room. Not a single team went to the mess hall, where broth
and mush awaited them. The warders just could not understand
it: twice, three times, four times they came into the huts to sum-
mon us with brisk commands, then to drive us out with threats,
then to ask us nicely—no farther than to the mess hall, to collect
our bread, with never a word for the present about work line-up.

But nobody went. They all lay on their bunks, fully dressed,
wearing their shoes, and silent. Only we, the foremen (I had
become a foreman in that hot year), felt called upon to answer,
since the warders kept addressing themselves to us. We lay on our
bunks like the rest and muttered from our pillows: “It’s no good,
boss. . ..”

Thls unanimous quiet defiance of a power which never forgave,
this obstinate, painfully protracted insubordination, was somehow
more frightening than running and yelling as the bullets fly.

In the end they stopped coaxing us and locked up the huts.

In the days that followed, no one left the huts except the order-
lies—to carry the latrine buckets out and bring drinking water afid



258 | THE GULAG ARCHIPELAGO

coal in. Only bed cases in the Medical Section were by general
agreement allowed not to fast. Only doctors and medical orderlies
were allowed to work. The kitchens cooked one meal and poured
it away, cooked another, poured that away, and cooked no more.
The trusties who worked there seem to have appeared before the
camp authorities on the first day, explained that they simply
couldn’t carry on, and left the kitchens.

The bosses could no longer see us, no longer peerinto our souls.
A gulf had opened between the overseers and the slaves!

None of those who took part will ever forget those three days
in our lives. We could not see our comrades in other huts, nor the
corpses lying there unburied. Nonetheless, the bonds which united
us, at opposite ends of the deserted camp, were of steel.

This was a hunger strike called not by well-fed people with
reserves of subcutaneous fat, but by gaunt, emaciated men, who
had felt the whip of hunger daily for years on end, who had
achieved with difficulty some sort of physical equilibrium, and
who suffered acute distress if they were deprived of a single 100-
gram ration. Even the goners starved with the rest, although a
three-day fast might tip them into irreversible and fatal decline.
The food which we had refused, and which we had always thought
so beggarly, was a mirage of plenty in the feverish dreams of
famished men.

This was a hunger strike called by men schooled for decades in
the law of the jungle: “You die first and I'll die later.” Now they
were reborn, they struggled out of their stinking swamp, they
consented to die today, all of them together, rather than to go on
living in the same way tomorrow.

In the huts roommates began to treat each other with a sort of
ceremonious affection. Whatever scraps of food anyone—this
meant mainly those who received parcels—had left were pooled,
placed on a piece of rag spread out like a tablecloth, and then, by
joint decision of the whole room, some eatables were shared out
and others put aside for the next day. (Recipients of parcels might
also have quite a bit of food in the personal provisions store, but
for one thing no one could cross the camp to fetch it, and for
another, not everyone would have been happy to bring his left-
overs back with him: he might be counting on them to build him
up when the strike was over. For this reason the strike, like
everything that happened in prison, was an unequal ordeal, and
the truly brave were those who had nothing in reserve, no hope
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of recruiting their strength after the strike.) If there was any meal,
they boiled it at the mouth of the stove and distributed the gruel
by the spoonful. To make the fire hotter they broke planks off the
bunks. The couch provided by the state is gone, but who cares
when his life may not last the night!

‘What the bosses would do no one could predict. We thought
that perhaps they would start firing on the huts again from the
towers. The last thing we expected was any concession. We had
neverin our lives wrested anything from them, and our strike had
the bitter tang of hopelessness.

But there was a sort of satisfaction in this feeling of hopeless-
ness. We had taken a futile, a desperate step, it could only end
badly—and that was good. Our bellies were empty, our hearts
were in our boots—but some higher need was being satisfied.
During those long hungry days, evenings, nights, three thousand
men brooded over their three thousand sentences, their families,
their lack of families, all that had befallen and would yet befall
them, and although the hearts in thousands of breasts could not
beat together—and there were those who felt only regret, only
despair—yet most of them kept time: Things are as they should
be! We'll keep it up to spite youl Things are bad! So much the
better!

This, too, is a phenomenon which has never been adequately
studied: we do not know the law that governs sudden surges of
mass emotion, in defiance of all reason. I felt this soaring emotion
myself. I had only one more year of my sentence to serve. I might
. have been expected to feel nothing but dismay and vexation that
I was dirtying my hands on a broil from which I should hardly
escape without a new sentence. And yet I had no regrets. Damn
and blast the lot of you, I'll serve my time all over again if you
like!

Next day we saw from our windows a group of officers making
their way from hut to hut. A detail of warders opened the door,
went along the corridors, looked into the rooms, and called us (not
in the old way, as though we were cattle, but gently): “Foremen!
You're wanted at the entrancel”

A debate began among us. It was the teams, not their foremen,
who had to decide. Men went from room to room to talk it over.
Our position was ambiguous. Stoolies had been weeded out from
our ranks, but we suspected that there were others, and there were
certainly some—like the slippery, bold-faced foreman-mechanic,
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Mikhail Generalov. And anyway, knowledge of human nature
told us that many of those on strike and starving for freedom’s
sake today would spill the beans tomorrow for the sake of a quiet
life in chains. For this reason, those who were steering the strike
(and there were leaders, of course) did not show themselves, but
remained underground. They did not openly assume power, and
the foremen had openly resigned their authority. So that the strik-
ers seemed to be drifting, without a helmsman.

A decision was reached at last in some invisible quarter. We
foremen, six or seven of us, went out to the entrance, where the
officers were patiently awaiting us. (It was the entranceway of that
very same hut, No. 2, until recently a Disciplinary Barracks, from
which the “metro” tunnel had run, and the escape hatch itself was
a few meters away from the place where we now met.) We leaned
back against the walls, lowered our eyes, and stood like men of
stone. We lowered our eyes because not one of us could now look
at our bosses sycophantically, and rebellious looks would have
been foolish. We stood like hardened hooligans called before a
teachers’ meeting—hunched, hands in pockets, heads lowered and
averted—incorrigible, impenetrable, hopeless.

From both corridors, however, a crowd of zeks pressed into
the entranceway, and hiding behind those in front, the back
rows could speak freely, call out our demands and our an-
swers.

Officially, the officers with blue-edged epaulets (some we knew,
others we had never seen before) saw and addressed only the
foremen. Their manner was restrained. They did not try to intimi-
date us, but their tone was still intended to remind us that we were
inferior. It would, so they said, be in our own interest to end the
strike and the hunger strike. If we did, we would receive not only
today’s rations but—something unheard of in Gulagl—yester-
day’s, too. (They were so used to the idea that hungry men can
always be bought!) Nothing was said either about punishment or
about our demands—they might not have existed.

The warders stood at the sides, keeping their right hands in
their pockets.

There were shouts from the corridor:

“Whoever’s to blame for the shooting must be brought to jus-
ﬁw” e

“Take the locks off the doors!”

“Off with the numbers!”
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In other huts they also demanded a review of Special Board
cases in the open courts.

While we foremen stocd like schoolboy hooligans waiting for
the headmaster to finish nagging.

The bosses left, and the hut was locked up again.

Although hunger had begun to get many of us down—our
heads were heavy and our thoughts lacked clarity—in our hut not
a. single voice was raised in favor of surrender. Any regrets re-
mained unspoken.

We tried to guess how high the news of our rebellion would go.
They knew already, of course, in the Ministry of Internal Affairs,
or would learn today—but did Whiskers? That butcher wouldn’t
stop at shooting the lot of us, all five thousand.

Toward evening we heard the drone of a plane somewhere near,
although it was cloudy and not good flying weather. We surmised
that someone even higher up had flown in.

A seasoned son of Gulag, Nikolai Khlebunov, who was friendly
with some of us, had landed a job somewhere in the kitchens after
nineteen years in prison, and as he passed through the camp that
day he was quick enough and brave enough to slip us a half-pood
sack of millet flour through the window. It was shared out be-
tween the seven teams, and cooked at night so that the warders
couldn’t catch us at it.

Khlebunov passed on some very bad news: Camp Division No.
2, where the Ukrainians were, beyond the Chinese Wall, had not
supported us. That day and the day before, the Ukrainians had
turned out to work as though things were quite normal. There
could be no doubt that they had received our notes; they could
hear how quiet we had been for two days; they could see from the
tower crane on the building site that our camp area had been
deserted since the shooting; they must have missed meeting our
columns outside the camp. Nevertheless, they had not supported
us!. .. (We learned afterward that the young men who were their
leaders, and who still had no experience of practical politics, had
argued that the Ukrainians had their own destiny, distinct from
that of the Muscovites. They who had begun with such spirit had
now fallen back and abandoned us.) So that there were not five
thousand of us, but only three.

For the second night, the third morning, and the third day
hunger clawed at our guts.

But when on the third morning the Chekists, in still greater
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force, again summoned the foremen to the entrance, and once
again we stood there—sullen, unreachable, hangdog—our general
resolve was not to give way! We were carried along by inertial
force.

The bosses only gave us new strength The newly arrived brass
hat had this to say:

“The administration of the Peschany camp requests the prison-
ers to take their food. The administration will receive any com-
plaints. It will examine them and eliminate the causes of conflict
between the administration and the prisoners.”

Had our ears deceived us? They were requesting us to take food!
And not so much as a word about work. We had stormed the
camp jail, broken windows and lamps, chased warders with
knives, and it now turned out that far from being a mutiny, this
was a conflict between (l) . . . between equals . . . between the
administration and the prisoners!

It had taken only two days and two nights of united action—
and look how our serfmasters had changed their tone! Never in
our lives, not only as prisoners, but as free men, as members of
trade unions, had we heard our bosses speak with such unction!

. Nonetheless, we started silently dispersing—no one could take
a decision there. Nor could anyone there promise a decision. The
foremen went away without once raising their eyes or looking
around, even when the head of the Separate Camp Site addressed
us one after another by name.

That was our answer.

The hut was locked again.

From outside it looked to the bosses as dumb and unyield-
ing as ever. But inside, the sections were the scene of stormy
debate. The temptation was too great! Soft speech had affected
the undemanding zeks more than any threat would. Voices
were heard urging surrender. What more, indeed, could we
hope to achieve! . . .

We were tired! We were hungry! The mysterious force which
had fused our emotions and borne us aloft was losing height and
with tremulous wings bringing us down to earth again.

Yet mouths clamped tight for decades, mouths which had been
silent for a lifetime, and should have stayed silent for what was
left of it, were now opened. Among those listening to them, of
course, were the surviving stoolies. These exhortations, in voices
suddenly recovered for a few minutes, voices with a new ring to
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them (in our room that of Dmitri Panin), would have to be paid
for by a fresh term of imprisonment, a noose around the throat
in which the pulse of freedom had fluttered. It was a price worth
paying, for the vocal cords were for the first time put to the use
for which they were created.

Give way now? That would mean accepting someone’s word
of honor. Whose word exactly? That of our jailers, the camp
dog pack. In all the time that prisons had existed, in all the
time the camps had been there—had they ever once kept their
word? )

The sediment of ancient sufferings and wrongs and insults was
stirred up anew. For the first time ever we had taken the right road
—uwere we to give in so soon? For the first time we had felt what
it was like to be human—only to give in so quickly? A keen, a
bracing breeze of mischief blew around us. We would go on! We
would go on! They’d sing a different tune before we finished! They
would give way! (But when would we ever be able to believe
anything they said? This was as unclear as ever. That is the fate
of the oppressed: they are forced to believe and to yield. . . .)

Once more the emotions of two hundred men were fused in a
single passion; the wings of the eagle beat the air—he sailed aloft!

We lay down to conserve our strength, trying to move as little
as possible and not to talk unnecessarily. Our thoughts were quite
enough to occupy us.

The last crumbs in the hut had been finished long ago. No one
had anything to cook or to share. In the general silence and
stillness the only sound was the voices of young observers glued
to the windows: they told us about all the comings and goings
outside in the camp. We admired these twenty-year-olds, their
enthusiasm -undimmed by hunger, their determination to die on
the threshold of life, with everything still before them, rather than
surrender. We were envious of them, because the truth had en-
tered our heads so late, and our spines were already setting in a
servile arc.

I can, I think, now mention by name Janek Baranovsky, Volo-
dya Trofimov, and Bogdan, the metalworker.

Suddenly, in the late afternoon of the third day, when the
western sky was clearing and the setting sun could be seen, our
observers shouted in anger and dismay: ,

“Hut nine! . . . Nine has surrendered! . . . Nine’s going to the
mess halll”
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We all jumped up. Prisoners from the other side of the corridor
ran into our room. Through the bars, from the upper and lower
bed platforms, some of us on all fours, some laoking over other
people’s shoulders, we watched, transfixed, that sad procession.

Two hundred and fifty pathetic little figures, darker than ever
against the sunset, cowed and crestfallen, were trailing slantwise
across the camp. On they went, each of them glimpsed briefly in
the rays of the setting sun, a dawdling, endless chain, as though
those behind regretted that the foremost had set out, and were
loath to follow. Some, feebler than the rest, were led by the arm
or the hand, and so uncertain were their steps that they looked like
blind men with their guides. Many, too, held mess tins or mugs
in their hands, and this mean prisonware, carried in expectation
of a supper too copious to gulp down onto constricted stomachs,
these tins and cups held out like begging bowls, were more degrad-
ing and slavish and pitiable than anything else about them.

I felt myself weeping. I glanced at my companions as I wiped
away my tears, and saw theirs.

Hut No. 9 had spoken, and decided for us all. It was there that
the dead had been lying around for four days, since Tuesday
evening.

They went into the mess hall, and it was as though they had
decided to forgive the murderers in return for their bread ration
and some mush.

No. 9 was a hungry hut. The teams in it were all general
laborers, and very few prisoners received parcels. There were
many goners among them. Perhaps they had surrendered for fear
that there would be other corpses?

We went away from the windows without a word.

It was then that I learned the meaning of Polish pride, and
understood their recklessly brave rebellions. The Polish engineer
Jerzy Wegierski, whom I have mentioned before, was now in our
team. He was serving his ninth and last year. Even when he was
a work assigner no one had ever Leard him raise his voice. He was
always quiet, polite, and gentle.

But now—his face was distorted with rage, scorn, and suffering,
as he tore his eyes away from that procession of beggars, and cried
in an angry, steely voice:

“Foreman! Don’t wake me for supper! I shan’t be going!”

He clambered up onto the top bunk, turned his face to the wall
—and didn’t get up again. That night we went to eat—but he
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wouldn’t get up! He never received parcels, he was quite alone, he
was always short of food—but he wouldn’t get up. In his mind’s
eye the steam from a bowl of mush could not veil the ideal of
freedom.

If we had all been so proud and so strong, what tyrant could
have held out against us?

The following day, January 27, was a Sunday. They didn’t drive
us out to work to make up for lost time (although the bosses, of
course, were itching to get back on schedule) but simply fed us,
issued arrears of rations, and let us wander about the camp. We
all went from hut to hut, telling each other how we had felt in the
past few days, and we were all in holiday mood, as though we had
won instead of losing. Besides, our kind masters promised yet
again that all legitimate requests (but who knew, who was to
define what was legitimate?) would be satisfied.

There was, however, one untoward little event: a certain
Volodka Ponomarev, a “bitch” who had been with us through-
out the strike, heard many rash speeches, and looked into
many eyes, ran away to the guardhouse, which meant that he
had run to betray us outside the camp area, where he could
avoid the knife. )

For me the whole essence of the criminal world crystallized in
Ponomarev's flight. Their alleged nobility is just a matter of caste
obligations. But when they find themselves in the whirlpool of
revolution they inevitably behave treacherously. They can under-
stand no principles, only brute force.

It was an easy guess that our bosses were getting ready to arrest
the ringleaders. But they announced that, on the contrary, com-
missions of inquiry had arrived from Karaganda, Alma-Ata, and
Moscow to look into things. A table was placed on ground stiff
with hoarfrost in the middle of the camp, where we lined up for
work assignment, and some high-ranking officers sat at it in sheep-
skin coats and felt boots and invited us to come forward with our .
complaints. Many prisoners went and talked to them. Notes were
taken.

After work on Tuesday they assembled the foremen “to present
complaints.” In reality this conference was another low trick, a
form of interrogation: they knew that the prisoners were boiling
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with resentment and let them vent it so that they could be sure
of arresting the right people.

This was my last day as a foreman: my neglected tumor was
growing rapidly, and for a long time now I had been putting off
my operation until, in camp terms, it was “convenient.” In Janu-
ary and particularly during the fatal days of the hunger strike, the
tumor decided for me that it was now “convenient,” and it seemed
to get bigger by the hour. The moment the huts were opened I
showed myself to the doctors and they set a date for the operation.
But I dragged myself to this last conference.

It was convened in the spacious anteroom to the bathhouse.
They placed the presidium’s table in front of the barbers’ chairs,
and seated at it were one MVD colonel, several lieutenant colo-
nels, and some smaller fry, with our camp commanders inconspic-
uous in the second row, behind them. There, too, behind the backs
of the presidium, sat the note-takers—making hasty notes
throughout the meeting, while the front row helped them by
repeating the names of speakers.

One man stood out from the rest, a certain licutenant colonel
from the Special Section or from the Organs—a quick, clever,
nimble-witted villain, with a tall brow and a long face: this quick-
wittedness, these narrow features, somehow made it difficult to
believe that he belonged to that pack of obtuse police officials.

The foremen were reluctant to come forward, and practically
had to be dragged to their feet from the close-packed benches. As
soon as they started saying something of their own, they were
interrupted and invited to explain why people were being mur-
dered, and what were the aims of the strikers? And if a hapless
foreman tried to give some sort of answer to the questions—reason
for murders, nature of demands—the whole pack at once flung
itself upon him: And how do you know that? So you’re connected
with these gangsters? Right, let’s have their names!!

This was their idea of a fair and honorable inquiry into the
“legitimacy” of our demands. . . .

The lofty-browed villain of a lieutenant colonel was especially
quick to interrupt the speakers: he had a nimble tongue, and the
advantage of impunity. With his caustic interjections he thwarted
each of our attempts to present our case. From the tone which the
proceedings were beginning to take you would have thought that
only we faced any charges and needed to defend ourselves.

An urge to put a stop to this swelled inside me. I took the floor,
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and gave my name (which was repeated for the note-taker). I rose
from the bench pretty certain that there was no one in that gather-
ing who could trot out a rounded sentence more easily than I. The
only difficulty was that I had no idea what to tell them. All that
is written in these pages, all that we had gone through, all that we
had brooded over in all those years and all those days on hunger
strike—I might as well try telling it to orang-utans as to them.
They were still in some formal sense Russians, still more or less
capable of understanding fairly simple Russian phrases, such as
“Permission to enter!” “Permission to speak, sirl” But as they sat
there all in a row at the long table, exhibiting their sleek, white,
complacent, uniformly blank physiognomies, it was plain that
they had long ago degenerated into a distinct biological type, that
verbal communication between us had broken down beyond re-
pair, and that we could exchange only . . . bullets.

Only the long-headed one had not yet turned into an orang-
utan; his hearing and understanding were excellent. The moment
I spoke he tried to interrupt me. With the whole audience paying
close attention, a duel of lightning-swift repartee began.

“Where do you work?”

(What difference could that make? I wonder.)

“In the engineering shops!” I rapped out over my shoulder, and
hurried on with more important things.

He came straight back at me.

“Where they make the knives?”

“No,” I said, parrying his thrust. “Where they repair self-
propelled excavators!” (I don’t know myself how my mind worked
so quickly and clearly.)

Hurry, hurry, make them be quiet and listen—that’s the main
thing.

The brute crouched behind the table and suddenly pounced to
sink his fangs in me:

“You are here because the bandits delegated you?”

“No, because you invited me!” I snapped back triumphantly,
and went on talking and talking.

He sprang at me once or twice more, was beaten off, and sat
completely silent. I had won.

‘Won—but to what purpose? Just one more year! One more year
to go, and the thought crushed me. I could not get out the words
they deserved to hear. I could have delivered there and then an
immortal'speech, and been shot next day. I would have delivered
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it just the same—if they had been broadcasting it throughout the
world! But no, the audience was too small.

So I did not tell them that our camps followed the Fascist
model, and were a symptom of the regime’s degeneration. I lim-
ited myself to waving a kerosene-soaked rag under their eagerly
sniffing noses. I had learned that the commander of convoy troops
was sitting there, and so I deplored the unworthy conduct of the
camp guards, who had ceased to resemble Soviet fighting men,
who joined in pilfering from work sites, and they were boors and
bullies, and they were murderers into the bargain. Then I por-
trayed the warders in the camps as a gang of greedy rogues who
forced zeks to steal building materials for them. (This was quite
true, except that it started with the officers sitting and listening to
me.) And what a countereducational effect all this had, I said, on
prisoners desirous of amendment!

I didn’t like my speech myself. The only good thing about it was
that we were now setting the pace. '

In the interval of silence which I had won, one of the foremen,
T., rose and spoke slowly, almost inarticulately, whether because
that was natural to him or because he was extremely agitated.

“I used to agree . . . when other prisoners said . . . we live-
. . . like dogs. . . .” )

The brute in the presidium bristled. T. kneaded the cap in his
hands, an ugly crop-headed convict, his coarsened features con-
torted by his struggle to find the right words.

“But now I see that I was wrong. . . .”

The brute’s face cleared.

“We live—much worse than dogs,” T. rapped out with sudden
emphasis, and all the foremen sat bolt upright. “A dog has only
one number on his collar; we have four. Dogs are fed on meat;
we're fed on fishbones. A dog doesn’t get put in the cooler! A dog
doesn’t get shot at from watchtowers! Dogs don’t get twenty-fivers
pinned on them!”

They could interrupt whenever they liked now—he had said all
that mattered.

Chemogorov rose, introducing himself as a Hero of the Soviet
Union, then another foreman, and both of them spoke boldly and
passionately. Their names were echoed in the presidium with
heavy significance.

Maybe this can only lead to our destruction, lads. . . . And
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maybe it is only by banging our heads against it that we can bring
this accursed wall down. .

The meeting ended in a draw.

All was quiet for a few days. The commission was seen no more,
and life was so peaceful in our Camp Division that there might
never have been any trouble.

An escort took me off to a hospital on the Ukrainian side. I was
the first to be taken there since the hunger strike, the first swallow.
Yanchenko, the surgeon who was to operate on me, had called me
in for examination, but his questions and my answers were not
about my tumor. He was not interested in my tumor, and I was

' glad to have such a reliable doctor. There was no end to his
questions. His face was dark with the pain we all shared.

The same experience, in different lives, can be seen in very
different perspectives. This tumor, which was to all appearances
malignant—what a blow it would have beén if I were a free man;
how I should have suffered, how my loved ones would have wept.
But in this place, where heads were so casually severed from
trunks, the same tumor was just an excuse to stay in bed, and I
didn’t give it much thought.

I was lying in the hospital among those wounded and maimed
on that bloody night. There were men beaten by the warders to
a bloody pulp: they had nothing left to lie on—their flesh was in
ribbons. One burly warder had been particularly brutal with his
length of iron piping. (Memory! memory! I cannot now recall his
name.) One man had already died of his wounds. 7

News came in thick and fast. The punitive operation had begun
in the “Russian” Camp Division. Forty men had been arrested.
For fear of a fresh mutiny, they did it this way: Until the very last
day the bosses showed nothing but kindness, and you could only
suppose that they were trying to decide which of their own num-
ber were to blame. But on the appointed day, as the work teams
were passing through the gates, they noticed that the escort party
which took charge of them was twice or three times its normal
strength. The plan was to seize the victims where prisoners could
not help one another, nor could the walls of huts or buildings
under construction help them. The escort marched the columns
out of the camp, and took them by different ways into the steppe,
but before they had brought any of them to their destination, the
officers in command gave their orders. “Halt! Weapons at the
ready! Chamber cartridges! Prisoners, sit down! I shall count to
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three and fire if you aren’t sitting down! Everybody sit!”

Once again, as at Epiphany the year before, tricked and help-
less, the slaves were pinned to the snow. Then, too, an officer had
unfolded a piece of paper and read out the names and numbers of
those who had to rise, leave the unresisting herd, and pass through
the cordon. Next, this handful of mutineers was marched back
under separate escort, or else a Black Maria rolled up to collect
them. The herd, now purged of fermenting agents, was then
brought to its feet and driven to work.

Our educators had shown us whether we could ever believe
anything they said. )

They also plucked out candidates for jail in the camp grounds
while they were deserted for the day. And arrests easily flitted over
that four-meter wall which the strike had been unable to surmount
and pecked at the Ukrainian Camp Division. The very day before
my operation was due, Yanchenko the surgeon was arrested and
taken off to jail.

Prisoners continued to be arrested or posted to other camps—
it was always difficult to know which—without the precautions
observed at the beginning. Small groups of twenty or thirty were
sent off somewhere. Then suddenly on February 19 they began
assembling an enormous transport, some seven hundred strong.
They were under special discipline: as they left the camp they were
handcuffed. Fate had exacted retribution! The Ukrainians, who
had taken such good care not to help the Muscovites, were thicker
on the ground in this transport than we were.

True, on the point of leaving, they saluted our shattered strike.
A new wood-processing plant, itself oddly enough built entirely of
wood (in Kazakhstan, where there is no timber and lots of stone!),
for reasons which remained officially unexplained (but I know for
certain that there was arson), burst into flame at several points
simultaneously, and within two hours three million rubles had
gone up in smoke. For those on their way to be shot it was like
a Viking’s funeral—the old Scandinavian custom of burning the
hero’s boat together with his body.

I was lying in the recovery room. I was alone in the ward: the
camp was in such a turmoil that no one could be admitted, the
hospital had come to a standstill. After my room, which was at
the butt end of the hut, came the morgue, where Dr. Kornfeld’s
body had been lying for I don’t know how many days because no
one had time to bury him. (Morning and evening, a warder near-
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ing the end of his round would stop outside and to simplify the
count embrace my room and the morgue in one inclusive gesture:
“Two more here.” And tick us off on his clipboard.)

Pavel Boronyuk, who had also been called to join the large
transport, broke through all the cordons and came to embrace me
before he left. Not just our camp but the whole of creation seemed
to us to be shaken, reeling before the storm. We were storm-tossed
and we could not realize that outside the camp all was as calm and
stagnant as ever. We felt as though we were riding great waves,
on something that might sink under our feet, and that if we ever
saw each other again, it would be in quite a different country!

But just in case—farewell, my friend! Farewell, all my friends!

That year of tedium and stupidity—my last year in Ekibastuz, and
the last Stalinist year on the Archipelago—dragged on. After they
had been kept in jail for a while, and no evidence against them
found, a few—but only a few—were sent back into the camp.
While many, very many, whom we had come to know and love
over the years were taken away: some for further investigation and
trial, others to the isolator® because of some indelible black mark
in their dossiers (although they might long since have been more
like angels than prisoners); others again to the Dzhezkazgan
mines; and there was even a transport of the “mentally defective”
—XKishkin the joker was squeezed in with this lot, and the doctors
also fixed up Volodya Gershuni.

To replace those who had left, the stoolies crawled one by one
out of the “safe deposit”: timidly and apprehensively at first, then
more and more brazenly. One who returned to the body of the
camp was the venal “bitch” Volodka Ponomarev, once a mere
lathe operator, but now in charge of the parcels room. The distri-
bution of the precious crumbs collected by destitute families was
a task which the old Chekist Maksimenko naturally entrusted to
a notorious thiefl

The security officers again started summoning anyone and ev-
eryone to their offices as often as they pleased. It was an airless
spring. Anyone whose horns or ears stuck out too much quickly
learned to keep his head down. I did not go back to my foreman’s
job (there were now plenty of foremen again), but became a
smelter’s mate in the foundry. We had to work hard that year, for
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reasons which I shall explain. The one and only concession which
the administration made when all our hopes and demands lay in
ruins was to make us self-financing: under this system what we
produced did not simply vanish into the maw of Gulag, but was
priced, and 45 percent of its value was counted as our earnings
(the rest went to the state). Of these “earnings” the camp appro-
priated 70 percent for the maintenance of guards, dogs, barbed
wire, the camp jail, security officers, the officers responsible for
discipline, for censorship, for education—in a word, all the things
without which our lives would be unlivable—but the remaining 30
percent (13 % percent of the whole product) was credited to the
personal account of the prisoner, and part of this money, though
not all of it (provided you had not misbehaved, not been late, not
been rude, not been a disappointment to your bosses), you could
on application once a month convert into a new camp currency
—vouchers—and these vouchers you could spend. The system
was 80 contrived that the more sweat you lost, the more blood you
gave, the closer you came to that 30 percent, but if you didn’t feel
like breaking your back, all your labor went to the camp and you
‘got zero.

And the majority—ah, what a part the majomy plays in our
history, especially when it is carefully prepared by weeding—
. gratefully gulped down this sop from its bosses and risked working
itself to death to buy condensed milk, margarine, and nasty sweets
at the food counter, or get itself a second supper in the “commer-
cial” dining room. And since work sheets were made up for the
team as a whole, not for individual members, all those who didn’t
want to sacrifice their health for margarine still had to do it, so
that their comrades could earn more.

They also started bringing films to the camp much more fre-
quently than before. As is always the case in the camps, or in
villages, or in remote workers’ settlements, no one had enough
respect for the spectators to announce the titles in advance—a pig,
after all, is not informed in advance what is going to be poured
into his trough. Nonetheless, the prisoners—could they be the
same prisoners who had kept up the hunger strike so heroically
that winter?l—now flocked in, grabbed seats an hour before the
windows were draped, without worrying one little bit whether the
film was worth it.

Bread and circuses! . . . Such a cliché that it’s embarrassing to

repeat it.
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No one could blame people for wanting to eat their fill after so
many years of hunger. But while we were there filling our bellies,
comrades of ours—some who had taught us to fight, some who
had shouted “No surrender!” to their hutmates in those January
days, and some who had not been involved at all—were at that
moment on trial somewhere, comrades of ours were being shot, or
carried off to begin new sentences in isolation camps, or broken
by interrogation after interrogation, bundled into cells where con-
demned men had scratched a forest of crosses on the walls, and
the snake of a major looked in to smile a promise: “Ah, Panin! I
remember you—oh, yes, I remember you! The wheels are turning,
don’t worry! We’ll soon process you!”

A fine word that—process! You can process a man for the next
world, process a man into the cooler for twenty-four hours, and
a chit for a pair of secondhand trousers may also be processed. But
the door slams shut, the snake has gone, smiling enigmatically,
leaving you to guess, to spend a month without sleep, to beat your
head against the stones wondering how exactly they intend to
process you. .

Talking about it is easy enough.

Suddenly in Ekibastuz they got together another party of
twenty men for transportation. Rather a strange party. They were
gathered unhurriedly, they were not treated harshly, they were
not isolated—it was almost as though they were being assembled
for release. Not one of them, however, was anywhere near the end
of his sentence. Nor were there any of those hard-boiled zeks
among them whom the bosses try to break with spells in the cooler
.and special punishments; no, they were all good prisoners, in good
standing with their superiors: there, once again, was the slippery
and self-assured foreman of the vehicle repair shop, Mikhail Mik-
hailovich Generalov; the crafty simpleton Belousov, a foreman
machinist; the engineer and technician Gultyaev; the Moscow
designer Leonid Raikov, a grave and steady man with the face of
a statésman; the very amiable, universally friendly Zhenka Milyu-
kov, a lathe operator with a pert pancake face; and another lathe
operator, the Georgian Kokki Kocherava, a great lover of truth,
hot in defense of justice when the crowd was looking.

Where were they going? From the party’s composition, obvi-
ously not to a maximum punishment prison. ‘“Must be a nice place
you're going to,” they were told. “They’ll be taking the guards off
you.” But not one of them showed a glimmer of happiness, not for
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a single moment. They wagged their heads miserably, reluctantly
gathered their belongings, in two minds as to whether to take them
or leave them. They looked like beaten curs. Could they really
have grown so fond of turbulent Ekibastuz? They even said good-
bye with lips that seemed numb, and unconvincing intonations.

They were taken away.

We were not given time to forget them. Three weeks later the
word went around: they’ve been brought back! Back here? Yes.
All of them? Yes . . . only they’re sitting in the staff barracks and
won'’t go to their own huts.

This put the finishing touch to the strike of three thousand at
Ekibastuz—the strike of the traitors! . . . So much for their reluc-
tance to go! In the interrogators’ offices, when they were snitching
on our friends and signing their perfidious statements, they had
hoped that it would all be kept under the seal of the confessional.
It had of course been that way for decades: a political denuncia-
tion was regarded as an unchallengeable document, and the in-
former’s identity was never revealed. But something about our
strike—the need, perhaps, to vindicate themselves in the eyes of
their superiors?—had compelled our bosses to mount a full-dress
trial somewhere in Karaganda. These creatures were taken off one
day, and when they looked into each other’s anxious eyes each of
them realized that he and all the others were on their way to testify
in court. That wouldn’t have bothered them, but they knew
Gulag’s postwar rule: a prisoner called away for some temporary
purpose must be returned to his former camp. They were, how-
ever, promised that, by way of exception, they would be left in
Karaganda! An order was in fact drafted, but incorrectly, not in
due form, and Karaganda refused to have them.

They were three weeks on the road. Their guards herded them
from Stolypin cars into transit camps and from transit camps into
Stolypin cars, yelled at them to “sit on the ground,” searched
them, took away their belongings, rushed them into the bath-
house, fed them on herrings and gave them no water—they re-
ceived the full treatment used to wear down ordinary uncoopera-
tive prisoners. Then they were taken under guard into the
courtroom, where they faced yet again those whom they had
denounced, this time to drive the final nails into their coffins, hang '
the locks on the doors of their solitary cells, wind back their
sentences so that they would have long years to run—after which
they were brought home via all those transit prisons, and flung,

\



Tearing at the Chains | 215

without their masks, into their old camp.

They were no longer needed. Informers are like ferrymen, . . .

But was not the camp now pacified? Had not nearly a thousand
men been moved out? Could anybody now prevent them from
going along to the godfather’s office? . . . Nevertheless, they
wouldn’t leave the staff building! They were on strike—they
refused to enter the camp grounds! Only Kocherava made up his
mind to brazen it out in his old role of lover of truth. He went to
his team and said:

“We don’t know why they took us! They took us all over the
place, and then brought us back. . . .”

But his daring lasted just one night and one dawn. Next day he
fled to the staff room and his friends.

So that what had happened had not gone for nothing, and our
comrades had not fallen in vain. The atmosphere in the camp
would never be as oppressive as before. Meanness was back on its
throne, but very precariously. Politics were freely discussed in the
huts. No work assigner or foreman would dare kick a zek or take
a swing at him. Because everybody knew now how easy it is to
make knives and how easily they sink home between the ribs.

-Our little island had experienced an earthquake—and ceased to
belong to the Archipelago.

This was how Ekibastuz felt.-It is doubtful whether Karaganda
felt the same. And certain that Moscow did not. The Special Camip
system was beginning to collapse in one place after another, but
our Father and Teacher had no inkling of it—it was not, of course,
reported to him (and in any case, incapable as he was of giving up
anything, he would only have relinquished katorga on the day his
chair burst into flames beneath him). On the contrary, he planned
a new great wave of arrests for 1953, perhaps in connection with
a new war, and in 1952 expanded the Special Camp network
accordingly. Thus it was decreed that the Ekibastuz camp should
be converted from a division of Steplag, or at times Peschanlag,
into the headquarters of a big new Special Camp complex in the
Irtysh basin (provisionally called Dallag). So that over and above
the numerous slavedrivers already there, a whole new administra-
tion of parasites arrived in Ekibastuz, and these as well we had to
support by our labor.

New prisoners, too, were expected any day.
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Meanwhile the germ of freedom was spreading. Where, though,
could it go from the Archipelago? Just as the Dubovka prisoners
had once brought it to us, so our comrades now carried it farther.
That spring you could see this inscription written, scratched, or
chiseled on every lavatory wall in Kazakhstan:

“Hail to the fighters of Ekibastuz!”

The first culling of the “center mutineers,” about forty men, and
the 250 most “hardened cases” among the big February transport,
were taken all the way to Kengir. (The settlement was called
Kengir, and the station Dzhezkazgan. This was the Third Steplag
Camp Division, where the Steplag Administration and the big-
bellied Colonel Chechev in person were to be found.) The other
Ekibastuz prisoners to be punished were shared between the First
and Second Divisions of Steplag (Rudnik).

. To warn them off, the eight thousand zeks of Kengir were
informed that the new arrivals were bandits. They were marched
all the way from the station to Kengir jail’s new building in
handcuffs. In this way, like a legend in chains, our movement
entered still servile Kengir, to awaken it, too. Here, as in Ekibas-
tuz a year back, the bully and the informer still reigned supreme.

When he had kept our quarter thousand in jail till April, the
commander of the Kengir Camp Division, Lieutenant Colonel
Fedotov, decided that they had been sufficiently intimidated, and
gave instructions for them to be taken out to work. The center had
supplied 125 pairs of brand-new nickel-plated handcuffs, latest
Fascist design—just enough, if you handcuffed them two together,
for 250 prisoners (which was probably how they had determined
Kengir’s allocation).

With one hand free, life is not so bad! Quite a few of the lads
in the column had expérience of camp jails, and there were also
old escapers among them (Tenno, too, was included in the trans-
port), who knew all the peculiarities of handcuffs and explained
to neighbors in the column that with one hand free there was
nothing to getting these cuffs off—with a pin, or even without one.

When they got near the working area, the warders began
removing handcuffs at several places in the column simultane-
ously so as to start the day’s work without delay. Whereupon
those who knew how hurriedly took off their own handcuffs and
those of other prisoners and hid them under their coats: “Another
warder took ours off”” It never occurred to the warders to count
the handcuffs before they let the column pass, and prisoners were
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never searched on entering their place of work.

So that on the very first morning, out of 125 pairs of handcuffs,
our lads carried off 23! There, in the work zone, they started by
smashing the cuffs with stones and hammers, but soon they had
a brighter idea: wrapping them in greased paper, so that they
would last better, and bricking them up in the walls and founda-
tions of the buildings on which they were working that day (resi-
dential block No. 20, opposite the Kengir Palace of Culture),
together with ideologically uninhibited covering notes: “Descend-
ants! These houses were built by Soviet slaves! Here you see the
sort of handcuffs they wore!”

The warders abused and cursed the bandits, and produced some
rusty old cuffs for the return journey. They were very much on
their guard now, but the lads still pinched another six pairs on the
way in to camp. On each of the two following working days they
stole a few more. And every pair cost 93 rubles.

So the bosses of Kengir declined to march the lads about in
handcuffs.

A man must fight for his rights!

At about the beginning of May they gradually started transfer-
ring the Ekibastuz group from the jail to the main camp.

The time had come for them to teach the locals a little sense.
As a beginning, they mounted a small demonstration: a trusty,
barging in at the head of a queue, as was his right, was strangled,
not quite fatally. This was enough to start people talking. Things
are going to change around here! The new lot aren’t like us. (It
would be untrue to say that in the nest of camps around Dzhez-
kazgan stoolies had never been touched, but this had not become
a trend. In 1951, in the jail at Rudnik, prisoners once snatched a
warder’s keys, unlocked the cell they wanted, and knifed Kozlaus-
kas.)

Underground centers were now set up in Kengir, one Ukrain-
ian, one “All-Russian.” Knives and masks were made, ready for
the chopping—and the whole story began all over again.

Voinilovich “hanged himself” from the bars of his cell. Others
killed were the foreman Belokopyt and the loyalist stoolie Lifshitz
(a member of the Revolutionary Military Committee with the
forces facing Dutov during the Civil War). (Lifshitz had lived
happily in the Rudnik Camp Division, where he was librarian in
the Culture and Education Section, but his fame had preceded
him, and he was knifed the day after his arrival at Kengir.) A
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Hungarian maintenance orderly was hacked to death with axes
near the bathhouse. The first to flee and blaze a trail to the “safe
deposit” was Sauer, a former minister in Soviet Estonia.

But by now the camp bosses, t0o, knew what to do. For a long
time past there had been walls between the four Camp Divisions
at Kengir. The idea now was to surround each hut with a wall of
its own—and eight thousand men started working on it in their
spare time. They also partitioned every hut into four sections, with
no communication between them. Each miniature camp area and
each section was regularly locked. Ideally, of course, they would
have liked to divide the whole world into one-man compartments.

The sergeant major in charge of the Kengir jail was a profes-
sional boxer. He used prisoners as punching bags. In his jail they
had also invented a technique of beating prisoners with mallets
through a layer of plywood, so as to leave no marks. (These
practical MVD personnel knew that re-education was impossible
without beatings and murders; and any practical public prosecu-
tor would agree. But there was always the danger that some
theorist might descend on them! It was this rather improbable
visiting theorist who made the interposed plywood necessary.)
One Western Ukrainian, tortured beyond endurance and afraid
that he might betray his friends, hanged himself. Others behaved
worse. And both centers were put out of business.

What is more, there were among the “fighters” some greedy
rascals interested not in the success of the movement but in feath-
ering their nests. They wanted extra food brought to them from
the kitchen, and a share in other prisoners’ food parcels.’ This
helped the authorities to discredit the movement and put a stop
to it.

Or 50 they thought. But the stoolies, too, sang smaller after this
first rehearsal. At least the atmosphere in Kengir was cleaner.

The seed had been sown. But the crop would be late—and a
surprise.

3. Among those who take the path of violence this is probably inevitable. I do not see
Kamo's raiders leaving themselves with empty pockets when they paid the proceeds of their
bank robberies into Party funds. And can we imagine Koba, who directed their operations,
leaving himself without money for wine? During the Civil War, when consumption of wine
and spirits was prohibited throughout Soviet Russia, he kept a wine cellar in the Kremlin,
more or less openly.
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We are forever being told that individuals do not mold history,
especially when they resist the course of progress, but for a quarter
of a century one such individual twisted our tails as if we were
sheep, and we did not even dare to squeal. Now they say that
nobody understood—the rear didn’t understand, the vanguard
didn’t understand, only the oldest of the Old Guard understood,
and they chose to poison themselves in corners, shoot themselves
in the privacy of their homes, or end their days as meek pension-
ers, rather than cry out to us from a public platform.

So the lot of the liberator fell upon us little ones. In Ekibastuz,
by putting five thousand pairs of shoulders under those prison
vaults, and heaving, we had at least caused a crack. Only a little
one, perhaps unnoticeable at a distance, and perhaps we had
overstrained ourselves—but cracks make caves collapse.

There were other disturbances besides ours, besides those in the
Special Camps, but the whole bloody past has been so carefully
cleaned up and painted and polished that it i3 impossible for me
now to establish even a bare list of disorders in the camps. I did
learn by chance that in 1951, in the Vakhrushevo Corrective
Labor Camp on Sakhalin, five hundred men were on hunger strike
for five days, with excitement running high and selective arrests,
after three runaways had been savagely bayoneted outside the
guardhouse. We know of a serious disturbance in Ozerlag, on
September 8, 1952, after a man had been killed in the ranks at the
guardhouse. :

Evidently, the Stalinist camp system, particularly in the Special
Camps, was nearing a crisis at the beginning of the fifties. Even
in the Almighty One’s lifetime the natives were beginning to tear
at their chains. )

There is no knowing how things would have gone if he had
lived. As it was—for reasons which had nothing to do with the
laws of economics or society—the sluggish and impure blood
suddenly stopped flowing in the senile veins of that undersized and
pockmarked individual.

According to the Vanguard Doctrine, no change should have -
resulted from this; nor did the bluecaps fear any change, though
they wept outside the camp gates on March 5;* nor did the men
in black jerkins dare to hope for change, though they strummed
on their balalaikas (they were not let out of the camp grounds that
day) when they discovered that funeral marches were being broad-
cast, and that black-bordered flags had been hung out—yet some
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obscure convulsion, some slippage was started underground.

True, the amnesty at the end of March, 1953, known to the
camps as the “Voroshilov amnesty,” was utterly faithful to the
spiritual legacy of the deceased—in its tenderness for thieves and
its viciousness toward politicals. To curry favor with the under-
world, the authors of the amnesty released the thieves upon the
land like a plague of rats, leaving ordinary citizens to suffer, to bar
their windows and make jails of their homes, and leaving the -
militia to hunt down all over again all those it had ever caught.
Whereas 58’s were released in the normal ratio: of the three thou-
sand men at No. 2 Camp Division in Kengir, the number set free

An amnesty like this could convince those in katorga of one
thing only: that Stalin’s death had changed nothing. No mercy
had ever beenshiown them, and it would not be shown now. If they
wanted some sort of life on this earth they must fight for it!

Disturbances in the camps continued in various places in 1953
—minor brawls like that in Karlag, Camp Division No. 12, and
a major rebellion at Gorlag (Norilsk), about which a separate
chapter would now follow if we had any material at all. But there
is none.

However, the tyrant did not die in vain. Something hidden from
view slipped and shifted—and suddenly, with a tinny clatter like
an empty bucket falling, yet another individual came tumbling
headlong from the very top of the ladder into the muckiest of bogs.

And now everyone—the vanguard, the rear, even the most
wretched natives of Gulag—realized that a new age had arrived.

To us on the Archipelago, Beria’s fall was like a thunder-
clap: he was the Supreme Patron, the Viceroy of the Ar-
chipelagol MVD officers were perplexed, embarrassed, dis-
mayed; whien the news was announced over the radio, they
would have liked to stuff this horror back into the loud-
speaker, but had instead to lay hands on the portraits of their
dear, kind Protector, take them down from the walls at Ste-
plag’s headquarters. “It’s all over now,” Colonel Chechev said
with quivering lips. (But he was mistaken. He thought that
they would all be put on trial the very next day.)* The officers

4. As Klyuchevsky notes, the very day after the emancipation of the gentry (Decree on

Rights of the Gentry, February 18, 1762), the peasants were also freed (February 19, 1861)
—but after an interval of ninety-nine years.
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and warders suddenly showed an uncertainty, a bewilderment
even, of which the prisoners were keenly aware. The discipli-
nary officer of Camp Division No. 3 at Kengir, from whom ne
prisoner had ever received a kind look, suddenly came up to a
team from the Disciplinary Barracks while they wereworking,
sat down, and started offering them cigarettes. (He wanted to
see what sparks were flying in that turbid atmosphere, and
what danger could be expected from them.) “What do you say
to that, then?” they asked him mockingly. “Was your top boss
really an enemy of the people?” “Yes, as it turns out,” said the
disciplinary officer dolefully. “He was Stalin’s right band,
though,” said the maliciously grinning prisoners. “So that
means even Stalin slipped up, doesn’t it?” “Ye-e-es,” said the
amiable chatterbox. “Well, lads, it looks as though they’ll be
letting you out, if you'’re patient. . . .”

Beria had fallen, and he had bequeathed the “blot” on his name
to his faithful Organs. Until then, no prisoner and no free man,
if he valued his life, had dared even to think of doubting the
crystalline purity of each and every MVD officer, but now it was
enough to call one of these reptiles a “Beria-ite,” and he was .
defenseless!

In Rechlag (Vorkuta) in June, 1953, the great excitement
caused by Beria’s removal coincided with the arrival of the muti-
neers transported from Karaganda and Taishet (most were West-
ern Ukrainians). Vorkuta was still servile and downtrodden and
the newly arrived zeks astounded the locals with their intransi-
gence and their audacity.

And the process that had taken us several long months was
completed here in one month’s time. On July 22, the cement
works, building project TETS-2, and pits No. 7, No. 29, and No.
6 struck. The prisoners at these work sites could see each other
stopping work, see the wheels in the pit frames coming to a stand-
still. This time there was no repetition of our mistake at Ekibastuz
—no hunger strike. The warders to a man immediately fled from
the camp grounds, but every day, to yells of “Hand over the
rations, boss man!” they trundled provisions up to the fence and
shoved them through the gates. (I suppose the fall of Beria had
made them so conscientious—but for that, they would have
starved the prisoners out.) Strike committees were set up in the
Camp Divisions affected, “revolutionary order” was established,
the mess hall staff immediately stopped stealing, and although
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rations were not increased, the food improved noticeably. At pit
No. 7 they hung out a red flag, and at No. 29, on the side facing
a nearby railway line, they put up . . . portraits of the Politburo.
‘What could they display? . . . and what could they demand? They
demanded that number patches, window bars, and locks be taken
off, but touched none of these things themselves. They demanded
the right to correspond, the right to receive visits, and a review of
their cases.

On the first day only, attempts were made to talk the strik-
ers out of it. Then nobody came near for a week, but machine
guns were set up on the watchtowers and the Camp Divisions
on strike were cordoned off. No doubt the brass was scurrying
back and forth between Vorkuta and Moscow—it was hard to
know what to do in the new circumstances. At the end of that
week General Maslennikov; the head of Rechlag, General
Derevyanko; and the Prosecutor General, Rudenko, started
going around the camp with a large suite of officers (as many
as forty). Everyone was assembled on the camp parade ground
to meet this glittering train. The prisoners sat on the ground
while the generals showered abuse on them for “sabotage” and
“disgraceful behavior.” At the same time, they conceded that
“some of the demands are well founded” (“You can take off
your number patches”; “Orders have been given” about the
window bars). But the prisoners must return to work at once:
“The country needs coall” At pit No. 7 somebody shouted
from the back: “And what we need is freedom, you dirty . . . I”
and prisoners began to rise from the ground and disperse, leaving
the generals with no audience.’

At this point they tore off number patches and began levering
out window bars. However, a schism immediately developed, and
their spirits fell. Perhaps we've gone far enough? We shan’t get
any more out of them. Part of the night shift reported, and the
whole day shift. The pit wheels started turning again, and the
various sites watched each other resume work.

Pit 29, however, was behind ahill and could not see the others.
It was told that all the rest had started work—but did not believe
it and did not go back. It would obviously have been no trouble

5. According to other accounts, they actually put up this slogan: “Freedom for us, coal

for our countryl” “Freedom for us” is in itself seditious, of course, so they hastily added
‘“‘coal for our country” by way of apology.
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to take delegates from pit 29 over to the other pits. But to make
such a fuss over prisoners would have been demeaning, and any-
way the generals were thirsting for blood: without blood there’s
no victory; without blood these dumb brutes would never learn.

On August 11, eleven truckloads of soldiers drove up to pit 29.
The prisoners were called out onto the parade ground, toward the
gate. On the other side of the gate was a serried mass of soldiers.
“Report for work, or we shall take harsh measures!”

Never mind what measures. Just look at the Tommy guns.
There was silence. Then the movement of human molecules in the
crowd. Why risk your neck? Especially if you have a short sen-
tence . . . Those with a year or two to go pushed their way forward.
But there were others, who forced a path through the ranks—to
stand in the front row, link arms, and form a barrier against the
strikebreakers. The crowd was undecided. An officer tried to
break the cordon, and was struck with an iron bar. General Dere-
vyanko withdrew to one side and gave the order “Firel”—on the
crowd.

There were three volleys—with machine-gun fire in between.
Sixty-six men were killed. (Who were the victims? The front rows
—that is to say the most fearless, and also those who had weak-
ened first. This is a law with a wide application—you will even find -
it expressed in proverbs.) The rest ran away. Guards with clubs
and iron bars rushed after the zeks, beating them and driving them
out of camp.

Arrests continued for three days (August 1-3) in all the Camp
Divisions which had been on strike. But what could be done with
those arrested? The Organs had lost their cutting edge since the
death of their breadwinner. They could not rise to a formal investi-
gation. More special trains, more transfers hither and thither, to
spread the epidemic more widely. The Archipelago was becoming
uncomfortably small.

For those who were left behind, there was a special punitive
regime.

A number of thin wooden patches appeared on the roofs of huts
at pit No. 29, covering the bullet holes made by soldiers firing over
the heads of the crowd. Unknown soldiers who refused to become
murderers.

But there were plenty of others who hit the target.

Near the slag heap at pit 29, somebody in Khrushchev’s day
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raised a cross—with a tall stem like a telegraph pole—on the
communal grave. Then it was knocked down. And someone put
it up again.

Ido not know whether it is still standing.



Chapter 12

The Forty Days of Kengir

For the Special Camps there was another side to Beria’s fall:
by raising their hopes it confused, distracted, and disarmed the
katorzhane. Hopes of speedy change burgeoned—and the pris-
oners lost their interest in hunting stoolies, and sitting in the
hole for them, in strikes and rebellions. Their anger cooled.
Things seemed to be improving anyway, and all they had to do
was wait. .

There was another aspect, too. The epaulets with blue borders
(but without air force wings), hitherto the most respected, the least
questionable in the armed forces at large, had suddenly become a
stigma, not just in the eyes of prisoners or prisoners’ relatives (who
gives a damn for them?), but even perhaps in the eyes of the
government.

In that fateful year, 1953, MVD officers lost their second wage
(“for their stars™), which meant that henceforward they received
only one salary, plus increments for length of service, polar allow-
ances, and of course bonuses. This was a great blow to their
pockets, but a still greater one to their expectations: did it mean
that they were less needed?

The fall of Beria made it urgent for the security ministry to
prove its devotion and its usefulness in some signal way. But how?

The mutinies which the security men had hitherto considered
a menace now shone like a beacon of salvation. Let’s have more
disturbances and disorders, so that measures will have to be taken.
Then staffs, and salaries, will not be reduced. .
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In less than a year the guards at Kengir opened fire several times
on innocent men. There was one incident after another: and it
cannot have been unintentional.!

They shot Lida, the young girl from the mortar-mixing gang
who hung her stockings out to dry near the boundary fence.

. They winged the old Chinaman—nobody in Kengir remem-
bered his name, and he spoke hardly any Russian, but everybody
knew the waddling figure with a pipe between his teeth and the
face of an elderly goblin. A guard called him to a watchtower,
tossed a packet of makhorka near the boundary fence, and when
the Chinaman reached for it, shot and wounded him.

There was a similar incident in which the guard threw some
cartridges down from the tower, ordered a prisoner to pick them
up, and shot him.

Then there was the famous case of the column returning to
camp from the ore-dressing plant and being fired on with dumdum
bullets, which wounded sixteen men. (Another couple of dozen
concealed light wounds to keep their names out of reports and
avoid the risk of punishment.)

This the zeks did not take quietly—it was the Ekibastuz story

. over again. Kengir Camp Division No. 3 did not turn out for work

three days running (but did take food), demanding punishment of

the culprits.

A commission arrived and persuaded them that the culprits
would be prosecuted (as though the zeks would be invited to the
trial to check! . . . ). They went back to work.

But in February, 1954, another prisoner was shot at the
woodworking plant—*“the Evangelist,” as all Kengir remem-
bered him (Aleksandr Sisoyev, I think his name was). This
man had served nine years and nine months of his tenner. His
job was fluxing arc-welding rods and he did this work in a lit-
tle shed which stood near the boundary fence. He went out to
relieve himself near the shed—and while he was at it was shot
from a watchtower. Guards quickly ran over from the guard-
house and started dragging the dead man into the boundary
zone, to make it look as though he had trespassed on it. This
was too much for the zeks, who grabbed picks and shovels and
drove the murderers away from the murdered man. (All this

1. The camp authorities, of course, acted similarly to speed up events in other places,
for instance in Norilsk.
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time near the woodworking plant stood a saddled horse be-
longing to Security Officer Belyaev—known as “the Wart” be-
cause he had one on his left cheek. Captain Belyaev was an
enterprising sadist, and engineering a murder like this was just
his style.) )

The woodworking plant was in an uproar. The prisoners said
that they would carry the dead man into camp on their shoulders.
The camp officers would not permit it. “Why did you kill him?”
shouted the prisoners. The bosses had their explanation ready: the
dead man himself was to blame—he had started it by throwing
stones at the tower. (Can they have had time to read his identity
card; did they know that he had three months more to go and was
an Evangelical Christian? . . . ) .

The march back was grim, and there were reminders that the
bosses meant business. Machine-gunners lay here and there in the
snow, ready to shoot (only too ready, as the men of Kengir had
learned). Machine-gunners were also posted on the roofs of the
escort troops’ quarters.

This was at the same Camp Division, No. 3, which had already.
seen sixteen men wounded at once. Although only one man was
killed on this occasion, they felt more painfully than ever that they
were defenseless, doomed. Nearly a year had gone by since Stalin’s
death, but his dogs had not changed. In fact, nothing at all had
changed.

In the evening after supper, what they did was this. The light
would suddenly go out in a section, and someone invisible said
from the doorway: “Brothers! How long shall we go on building
and taking our wages in bullets? Nobody goes to work tomorrow!”
The same thing happened in section after section, hut after hut.

A note was thrown over the wall to the Second Camp Division;
they had some experience by now, and had thought about it often

-enough, so that they were able to call a strike there, too. In the
Second Camp Division, which was multinational, the majority
had tenners and many were coming to the end of their time—but
they joined in just the same.

In the morning the men’s Camp Divisiens, 2 and 3, did not
report for work.

This bad habit—striking without refusing the state’s bread and
slops—was becoming more and more popular with prisoners,.and
less and less popular with their bosses. They had an idea: warders
and escort troops went unarmed into the striking Camp Divisions,
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where two of them at a time took hold of a single zek and tried
shoving and jostling him out of the hut. (Far too humane a
method: only thieves deserve to be nannied like this, not enemies
of the people. But since Beria’s execution, no general or colonel
dared take the lead and order machine-gunners to fire into a
camp.) This was wasted labor: the prisoners just went off to the
latrines, or sloped about the camp ground—anything rather than
report for work.

They held out like this for two days. The simple idea of punish-
ing the guard who had killed “the Evangelist” did not seem at all
simple, or just, to the bosses. Instead, a colonel from Karaganda,
with a large retinue, went around the camp on the second night
of the strike, confident that he was in no danger, roughly waking
everybody up. “How long do you intend to carry on slacking?"”?
Then, knowing nobody there, he pointed at random: “You there
—outside! . . . And you . .. And you . . . Outside!” And these
chance people the valiant and forceful manager of men consigned
to jail, imagining that this was the most sensible way to deal with
slackers. The Latvian Will Rosenberg, when he saw this senseless
high-handedness, said to the colonel: “I’ll go, too!” “Go on, then,”
the colonel readily agreed. He probably did not even realize that
this was a protest, or that there were any grounds for protest.

That same night it was announced that the liberal feeding policy
was at an end and that those who did not go out to work would
be put on short rations. Camp Division No. 2 went to work in the
morning. No. 3 didn’t turn out for the third morning running. The
jostling and shoving tactics were now applied to them, but with
heavier forces: all the officers serving in Kengir, those who had
come in to help, and those who were with investigating commis-
sions, were mobilized. The officers picked a hut and entered in
strength, dazzling the prisoners with the coming and going of
white fur hats and the brilliance of their epaulets, made their way,
stooping, among the bunks, and with no sign of distaste sat down
in their clean breeches on dirty pillows stuffed with shavings.
“Come on, move up a bit—can’t you see I’'m a licutenant colonell”
The lieutenant colonel kept this up, shifting his seat with arms
akimbo, until he shoved the owner of the mattress out into the

2. “Slacking” was a word much used in official language after the Berlin disturbances
of June, 1953. If ordinary people somewhere in Belgium fight for a raise, it’s called “the
righteous anger of the people,” bmfmmplepeopleinonreonnuymggleforb!ack!mad
they are “slackers.”
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passageway, where warders grabbed him by his sleeves and hus-
tled him along to the work-assignment area or, if he was still too
stubborn, into jail. (The limited capacity of the two Kengir jails
was a great nuisance to the staff: they held about five hundred
men.)

The strike was mastered, regardless of cost to the dignity and
privileges. of officers. This sacrifice was forced on them by the
ambiguities of the time. They had no idea what was required of
them, and mistakes could be dangerous! If they showed excessive
zeal and shot down a crowd, they might end up as henchmen of
Beria. But if they weren’t zealous enough, and didn’t energetically
push the strikers out to work—exactly the same thing could hap-
pen.’ Moreover, by their massive personal participation in putting
down the strike, the MVD officers demonstrated as never before
the importance of their epaulets to the defense of holy order, the
impossibility of reducing staffs, and their individual bravery.

All previously proved methods were also employed. In March
and April, several contingents of prisoners were transferred to
other camps. (The plague crept- further]) Some seventy men
(Tenno among them) were sent to maximum security prisons, with
the classic formula: “All measures of correction exhausted, cor-
rupts other prisoners, not suitable for labor camp.” Lists of those
dispatched to maximum security jails were posted in the camp to
deter others. And to make the self-financing system—Gulag’s
New Economic Policy, as it were—a more satisfactory substitute
for freedom and justice, a wide selection of foodstuffs was deliv-
ered to the previously ill-stocked sale points. They even—incredi-
bly!l—started giving prisoners advances so that they could buy
these provisions. (Gulag giving the natives credit! Who had ever
heard of such a thingl)

So, for the second time in Kengir, a ripening abscess was lanced
before it could burst.

But then the bosses went too far. They reached for the biggest
stick they could use on the 58’s—for the thieves! (Why, indeed,
should they dirty their hands and sully their epaulets when they
had the “class allies?)

3. Colonel Chechev, for one, was defeated by this conundrum. He retired after the
February events and we lose track of him—to discover him later living on his pension in
Karaganda. We do not know how soon the camp commander, Colonel Yevsigneyev, left

Ozerlag. “An excellent manager . . . a modest comrade,” he became deputy head of the
Bratsk hydroelectric station. (No hint of this in Yevtushenko’s poem.)*
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The bosses now renounced the whole principle of the Special
Camps, acknowledged that if they segregated political prisoners
they had no means of making themselves understood, and just
before the May Day celebrations brought in and distributed
throughout the mutinous No. 3 Camp Division 650 men, most of
them thieves, some of them petty offenders (including many mi-
nors). “A healthy batch is joining us!” the bosses spitefully warned
the 58’s. “Now you won’t dare breathe.” And they called on the
new arrivals to “put our house in order!”

The bosses understood well enough how the restorers of order
would begin: by stealing, by preying on others, and so setting every
man against his fellows. And the bosses smiled the friendly smile
which they reserve for such people when the thieves heard that
there was a women’s camp nearby and asked in their impudent
beggar’s whine for a “look at the women, boss man!”

But here again we see how unpredictable is the course of hyman
emotions and of social movements! Injecting in Kengir No. 3 a
mammoth dose of tested ptomaine, the bosses obtained not a
pacified camp but the biggest mutiny in the history of the Gulag
Archipelago.

Though they seem to bé so scattered and so carefully sealed off,
the islands of Gulag are linked by the transit prisons, so that they
breathe the same air and the same vital fluids flow in their veins.
Thus the massacre of stoolies, the hunger strikes, the strikes, the
disturbances in the Special Camps, had not remained unknown to
the thieves. By 1954, so we are told, it was noticeable in transit
prisons that the thieves came to respect the politicals.

If this is so—what prevented us from gaining their respect
earlier? All through the twenties, thirties, and forties, we blinkered
philistines, preoccupied as we were with our own importance to
the world, with the contents of our duffel bags, with the shoes or
trousers we had been allowed to retain, had conducted.ourselves
in the eyes of the thieves like characters on the comic stage: when
they plundered our neighbors, intellectuals of world importance
like ourselves, we shyly looked the other way and huddled to-
gether in our corners; and when the submen crossed the rcom to
give us the treatment, we expected, of course, no help from neigh-
bors, but obligingly surrendered all we had to these ugly custom-
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ers in case they bit our heads off. Yes, our minds were busy
elsewhere, and our hearts were trained for other things! We had
never expected to meet an enemy so vile and so cruel! We who
were racked by the twists and turns of Russian history, were ready
to die only in public, beautifuily, with the whole world looking on,
and only for the final salvation of all mankind. It might have been
better if we had been far less clever. Perhaps when we first stepped
into the cell of a transit prison we should have been prepared,
every man of us in the place, to take a knife between the ribs and
slump in a wet corner on the slime around the latrine bucket, in

_a sordid brawl with those ratmen whom the boys in blue had
thrown in to gnaw our flesh. If we had, perhaps we should have
suffered far fewer losses, found our courage sooner, and, who
knows, shoulder to shoulder with these very same thieves smashed
Stalin’s camps to smithereens? What reason, indeed, had the
thieves to respect us? . . .

Well, then, when they arrived in Kengir the thieves had already
heard a thing or two; they came expecting to find a fighting spirit
among the politicals. And before they could get their bearings, and
exchange doggy compliments with the camp authorities, their
atamans were visited by some calm, broad-shouldered lads who
sat down to talk about life and told them this: “We are representa-
tives. You've heard all about the chopping in the Special Camps,
or if you haven’t we’ll tell you. We can make knives as good as
yours now. There are six hundred of you, two thousand six hun-
dred of us. Think it over, and take your choice. If you try squeez-
ing us we’ll cut the lot of you up.”

Now, this was a.wise step, if ever there was one, and long
overdue—rounding on the thieves with everything they had. See-
ing them as the main enemy!

Of course, nothing would have suited the boys in blue better

“than a free-for-all. But the thieves looked at the odds and saw that
it wouldn’t pay to take on the newly emboldened 58’s one against
four. Their protectors, after all, were beyond the camp limits, and
a fat lot of use anywayl What thief had ever respected them?
Whereas the alliance which our lads offered was a novel and jolly
adventure, which might also, they thought, clear a way over the
fence into the women’s camp.

Their answer, then, was: “No, we’re wiser than we used to be.
We’re with you fellows!”

The conference has not been recorded for history and the names
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of its participants are not preserved in protocols. This is a pity.
They were clever lads.

In their first huts while they were still in the quarantine period,
the healthy contingent held a housewarming party—making
bonfires of their bunks and lockers on the cement floor, and letting
smoke pour through the windows. They expressed their disap-
proval of locks on hut doors by stuffing the keyholes with wood
chips.

For two weeks the thieves behaved as though they were at a
health resort: they reported for work, but all they did was sun
themselves. The bosses, of course, would not dream of putting
them on short rations, but for lack of funds could not pay wages
to those of whom they had such bright hopes. Soon, however,
vouchers turned up in the possession of the thieves, and they went
to the stall to buy food. The bosses were heartened by this sign that
the healthy element had begun thieving after all. But they were
ill-informed, they were mistaken: a collection in aid of the thieves
had been taken up among the politicals (also, no doubt, part of the
compact—otherwise the thieves would not have been interested)
and this was how they had come by their vouchers! An event too
far out of the ordinary for the bosses to guess at it!

No doubt the novelty and unfamiliarity of the game made it
great fun for the criminals, especially the juveniles: treating “Fas-
cists” politely, not entering their sections without permission, not
sitting down on their bunks without invitation.

Paris in the last century took some of its criminals (it seems to
have had plenty of them) into the militia, and called them the
mobiles. A very apt description! They are such a mobile breed that
they cannot rest quietly inside the shell of an ordinary humdrum
existence, but inevitably break it. They had made it a rule not to
steal, and it was unethical to slog away for the government, but
they had to do something! The young cubs amused themselves by
snatching off warders’ caps, prancing over the hut roofs and over
the high wall from Camp Division No. 3 to No. 2 during evening
roll call, confusing the count, whistling, hooting, scaring the tow-
ers at night. They would have gone further and climbed into the
women’s camp if the service yard and its sentries had not been in
the way.

When disciplinary officers, or education officers, or security
men, looked in for a friendly chat with thieves in their hut, the
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juveniles hurt their feelings badly by pulling notebooks and purses
out of their pockets, or suddenly leaning out from a top bunk and
switching godfather’s cap peak-backward. Gulag had never en-
countered such conduct—but then the whole situation was un-
precedented! They had always in the past regarded their foster
fathers in Gulag as fools, and the more earnestly those turkey
cocks believed that they were successfully reforging the thieves,
the more the thieves despised them. They were ready to burst with
scornful laughter as they stepped onto a platform or before a
microphone to talk about beginning a new life behind a wheelbar-
row. But so far there had been no point in quarreling with the
bosses. Now, however, the compact with the politicals turned the
newly released forces of the thieves against the bosses alone.

Thus the Gulag authorities, because they had only the mean
intelligence of bureaucrats, and lacked the higher intellectual pow-
ers of human beings, had themselves prepared the Kengir explo-
sion: to begin with, by the senseless shootings, and then by pouring
the thieves into the camp like petrol fumes into an overheated
atmosphere.

Events followed their inevitable course. It was impossible for
the politicals not to offer the thieves a choice between war and
alliance. It was impossible for the thieves to refuse an alliance.
And it was impossible for the alliance, once concluded, to remain
inactive—if it had, it would have fallen apart and civil war would
have broken out. .

They had to start something, no matter what! And since those
who start something are strung up if they are 58’s, with nooses
around their necks, whereas if they are thieves they are only
mildly rebuked in their political discussion period, the thieves.
made the obvious suggestion: we’ll start, and you join in! .

It should be noted that the whole Kengir camp complex formed
a single rectangle, with one common outer fence, and wags subdi-
vided across its width into separate camp areas. First came Camp
Division No. 1 (the women’s camp), then the service yard (we
have already talked about the industrial importance of its work-
shops), then No. 2, then No. 3, and then the prison area, with its
two jailhouses, an old and a new building in which not only
inmates of the camp but free inhabitants of the settlement were
locked up from time to time.

The obvious first objective was to capture the service yard, in
which all the camp’s food stores were also situated. They began
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the operation in the afternoon of a nonworking day (Sunday, May
16, 1954). First the mobiles climbed onto the roofs of their huts
and perched at intervals along the wall between Camp Divisions -
2 and 3. Then at the command of their leaders, who stayed up
aloft, they jumped down into Camp Division No. 2 with sticks in
their hands, formed up in a column, and marched in line along the
central road. This ran along the axis of No. 2 right up to the inner
gates of the service yard, which brought them to a halt.

All these quite undisguised operations took a certain time, dur-
ing which the warders managed to get themselves organized and
obtain instructions. And here is something extremely interesting!
The warders started running around to the huts of the 58’s, ap-
pealing to these men whom they had treated like dirt for thirty-five
years: “Look out, lads! The thieves are on their way to break into
the women’s camp. They are going to rape your wives and daugh-
ters! Come and help us. Let’s stop them at it!” But a treaty is a
treaty, and those who, not knowing about it, seemed eager to
follow the bosses were stopped. Normally the 58’s would have
risen to this bait, but this time the warders found no helpers
among them.

Just how the warders would have defended the women’s camp
against their favorites, no one knows—but first they had to think
of defending the storerooms around the service yard. The gates of
the service yard were flung open and a platoon of unarmed soldiers
came out to meet the attackers, with Belyaev the Wart leading
them from behind—perhaps devotion to duty had kept him inside
the camp on a Sunday out of zeal, or perhaps he was officer of the
day. The soldiers started pushing the mobiles away, and broke
their lines. Without resorting to their clubs, the thieves began
retreating to their own Camp Division No. 3, scaling the wall once
again, from which the rear guard covered their retreat by throw-
ing stones and mud bricks at the soldiers.

No thief, of course, was arrested as a result of this. The authori-
ties still saw it as nothing but high-spirited mischief, and let the
camp Sunday quietly run its course. Dinner was handed around
without incident, and in the evening as soon as it was dark they
started showing a film, Rimsky-Korsakov, using a space near the
mess hall as an open-air cinema.

But before the gallant composer could withdraw from the
conservatory in protest against oppression and persecution, the
tinkle of broken glass could be heard from the lamps around the
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boundary zone: the mobiles were shooting at them from sling-
shots to put out the lights over the camp area. They swarmed all
over Camp Division No. 2 in the darkness, and their shrill ban-
dit whistles rent the air. They broke the service yard gate down
with a beam, and from there made a breach in the wall with a
section of railway line and were through to the women’s camp.
(There were also some of the younger 58’s with-them.)

In the light of the flares fired from the towers, our friend Cap-
tain Belyaev, the security officer, broke into the service yard from
outside the camp, through the guardhouse, with a platoon of
Tommy-gunners, and for the first time in the history-of Gulag
opened fire on the “class allies”! Some were killed and dozens
wounded. Behind them came red tabs to bayonet the wounded.
Behind them again, observing the usual division of punitive labor,
already adopted in Ekibastuz, in Norilsk, and in Vorkuta, ran
warders with iron crowbars, and with these they battered the
wounded to death. (That night the lights went up in the operating
room of the hospital in Camp Division No. 2, and Fuster, the
surgeon, & Spanish prisoner, went to work.)

The service yard was now firmly held by the punitive forces, and
machine-gunners were posted there. But the Second Camp Divi-
sion (the mobiles had played their overture, and the politicals now
came onto the stage) erected a barricade facing the service yard
gate. The Second and Third Camp Divisions had been joined
together by a hole in the wall, and there were no longer any
warders, any MVD authority, in them.

But what of those who had succeeded in breaking through to
the women'’s camp, and were now cut off there? Events outsoared
the casual contempt which the thieves feel for females. When
shots rang out in the service yard, those who had broken into the
women’s camp ceased to be greedy predators and became com-
rades in misfortune. The women hid them. Unarmed soldiers
came in to catch them, then others with guns. The women got in
the way of the searchers, and resisted attempts to move them. The
soldiers punched the women and struck them with their gun butts,
dragged some of them off to jail (thanks to someone’s foresight,
there was a jailhouse in the women’s camp area), and shot at some
of the men.

Finding its punitive force under strength, the command
brought into the women’s camp some “black tabs”—soldiers from
a construction battalion stationed in Kengir. But they would have
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nothing to do with this “unsoldierly work” and had to be taken
away. ‘

At the same time, here in the women’s camp was the best
political excuse which the executioners could offer their superiors
in self-defense! They were not at all stupid! Whether they had read
something of the sort or thought of it for themselves, on Monday
they let photographers into the women’s camp, together with two
or three of their own apes, disguised as prisoners. The impostors
started pulling women about, while the photographers took pic-
tures. Obviously it was to save defenseless women from such
bullying that Captain Belyaev had been compelled to open fire!

In the morning hours on Monday, there was growing tension
on both sides of the barricade and the broken gates to the service
yard. The yard had not been cleared of bodies. Machine-gunners
lay at their guns, which were trained on the gate. In the liberated
men’s camps they were breaking bunks to arm themselves, and
making shields out of boards and mattresses. Prisoners shouted
across the barricade at the butchers, who shouted back. Some-
thing had to give; the position was far too precarious. The zeks
on the barricade were thinking of taking the offensive themselves.
Some emaciated men took their shirts off, got up on the barricade,
pointed to their bony chests and ribs, and shouted to the machine-
gunners: “Come on, then, shoot! Strike down your fathers! Finish
us offt”

Suddenly a soldier ran into the yard with a note for the officer.
The officer gave orders for the bodies to be taken up and the red
tabs left the yard with them.

For five minutes the barricade was silent and mistrustful. Then

the first zeks peeped cautiously into the yard. It was empty, except ~

for the black prison caps lying around, dead men’s éaps with
stitched-on number patches.

(They discovered later that the order to clear the yard had been
given by the Minister of Internal Affairs of the Kazakh Republic,
who had just flown in from Alma-Ata. The bodies carried away
were driven out into the steppe and buried, to rule out post-
mortem examination if someone later called for it.)

Shouts of “Hurrah” went through the ranks, and they poured
into the yard and on into the women’s camp. They enlarged the
breach. Then they freed the women in the jailhouse—and the
whole camp was united! The whole of the main camp area was free
—only No. 4 Division (the camp jail) was left.
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There were four red-tabbed sentries on every tower—no lack of
ears to cram with insults! Prisoners stood facing the towers and
shouted at them (the women, naturally, louder than anyone):
“You’re worse than Fascists! . . . Bloodsuckers! . . . Murderers!”

A priest or two were of course easily found in the camp—and

-there in the morgue a requiem was sung for those who had been
killed or died later from their wounds.

How can we say what feelings wrung the hearts of those eight
thousand men, who for so long and until yesterday had been slaves
with no sense of fellowship, and now had united and freed them-
selves, not fully perhaps, but at least within the rectangle of those
walls, and under the gaze of those quadrupled guards? Even the
bedridden fast in locked huts at Ekibastuz was felt as a moment
of contact with freedom! This now was the February Revolution!
So long suppressed, the brotherhood of man had broken through
at last! We loved the thieves! And the thieves loved us! (There was
no getting away from it: they had sealed the friendship in blood!
They had departed from their code!) Still more, of course, we
loved the women, and now we were living as human beings should,
there were women at our side once more, and they were our sisters
and shared our fate.

Proclamations appeared in the mess hall: “Arm yourselves as
best you can, and attack the soldiers first?”” The most passionate
among them hastily scrawled their slogans on scraps of newspaper
(there was no other paper) in black or colored letters: “Bash the
Chekists, boys!” “Death to the stoolies, the Cheka’s stooges!”
Here, there, everywhere you turned there were meetings and ora-
tors. Everybody had suggestions of his own. Come on, think—
you’re permitted to think now: Who gets your vote? What de-
mands shall we put forward? What is it we want? Put Belyaev on
trial—that’s understood! Put the murderers on triall—goes with-
out saying. What else? . . . No locking huts; take the numbers off!
But beyond that? . . . Beyond that came the most frightening thing
—the real reason why they had started it all, what they really
wanted. We want freedom, of course, just freedom—but who can
give it to us? The judges who condemned us in Moscow. As long
as our complaints are against Steplag or Karaganda, they will go
on talking to us. But if we start complaining against Moscow

. . we’ll all be buried in this steppe. '

Well, then—what do we want? To break holes in the walls? To

run off into the wilderness? . . .
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Those hours of freedom! Immense chains had fallen from our
arms and shoulders! No; whatever happened, there could be no
regrets! That one day made it all worthwhile!

Late on Monday, a delegation from command HQ arrived in
the seething camp. The delegation was quite well disposed, they
did not glare savagely at the prisoners, they had no Tommy-
gunners with them, no one would ever take them for henchmen
of the bloody Beria. Our side learned that generals had flown in
from Moscow—Bochkov, from Gulag HQ, and the Deputy
Procurator General, Vavilov. (They had served in Beria’s time,
but why reopen old wounds?) They found the prisoners’ demands
Sully justified! (We simply gasped: justified? We aren’t rebels,
then? No, no, they’re quite justified!) “Those responsible for the
shooting will be made to answer for it!” “But why did they beat
up women?” “Beat up women?” The delegation was shocked.
“That can’t be true.” Anya Mikhalevich brought in a succession
of battered women for them to see. The commission was deeply
moved: “We’ll look into it, never fear!” “Beasts!” Lyuba Bershad-
skaya shouts at the general. There were other shouts: “No locks
on huts!” “We won’t lock them any more.” “Take the numbers
off1”” “Certainly we’ll take them off,” comes the assurance from a
general whom the prisoners had never laid eyes on (and would
never see again). “The holes in the wall between camp areas must
remain!” They were getting bolder. “We must be allowed to mix
with each other.” “All right, mix as much as you like,” the general
agreed. “Let the holes remain.” Right, brothers, what else do we
want? We've won, we’ve won! We raised hell for just one day,
enjoyed ourselves, let off steam—and we won! Although some
among us shake their heads and say, “It’s a trick, it’s all a trick,”
we believe it! We believe our bosses; they’re not so bad, on the
wholel We believe because that’s our easiest way out of the situa-
tion. .

All that the downtrodden can do is go on hoping. After every
disappointment they must find fresh reason for hope.

So on Tuesday, May 18, all the Kengir Camp Divisions went
out to work, reconciling themselves to thoughts of their dead.

That morning the whole affair could still have ended quietly.
But the exalted generals assembled in Kengir would have consid-
ered such an outcome a defeat for themselves. They could not
seriously admit that prisoners were in the right! They could not
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seriously punish soldiers of the MVD! Their mean understanding
could draw only one moral: the walls between Camp Divisions
were not strong enough! They must ring them with hoops of fire!

And that day the zealous commanders harnessed for work peo-
ple who had lost the habit years or decades ago. Officers and
warders donned aprons; those who knew how to handle them took
up trowels; soldiers released from the towers wheeled barrows and
carried hods; discharged soldiers who had stayed around the
camps hauled and handed up mud bricks. And by evening the
breaches were bricked up, the broken lamps were replaced, pro-
hibited zones had been marked along inside walls and sentries
posted at the ends with orders to fire!

When the columns of prisoners returned to camp in the evening
after giving a day’s work to the state, they were hurried in to
supper before they knew what was happening, so that they could
be locked up quickly. On orders from the general, the jailers had
to play for time that first evening—that evening of blatant dis-
honesty after yesterday’s promises; later on the prisoners would
get used to it and slip back into the rut.

But before nightfall the long-drawn whistles heard on Sunday
shrilled through the camp again—the Second and Third Camp
Divisions were calling to each other like hooligans on a spree.
(These whistles were another useful contribution from the thieves
to the common cause.) The warders took fright, and fled from the
camp grounds without finishing their duties. Only one officer
slipped up. Medvedev, a first lieutenant in the quartermaster ser-
vice, stayed behind to finish his business and was held prisoner till
morning.

The camp was in the hands of the zeks, but they were divided.
The towers opened fire with machine guns on anyone who ap-
proached the inside walls. They killed séveral and wounded sev-
eral. Once again zeks ‘broke all the lamps with slingshots, but the
towers lit up the camp with flares. This was where the Second
Camp Division found a use for the quartermaster: they tied him,
with one of his epaulets torn off, to a table, and pushed it up to
the strip near the boundary fence, with him yelling to his people:
“Don’t shoot, it’s me! This is me, don’t shoot!”

They battered at the barbed wire, and the new fence posts, with
long tables, but it was impossible, under fire, either to break
through the barrier or to climb over it—so they had to burrow

under. As always, there were no shovels, except those for use in
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case of fire, inside the camp. Kitchen knives and mess tins were
put into service.

That night—May 18-19—they burrowed under all the walls
and again united all the divisions and the service yard. The towers
had stopped shooting now, and there were plenty of tools in the
service yard. The whole daytime work of the epauleted masons
had gone to waste. Under cover of night they broke down the
boundary fences, knocked holes in the walls, and widened the
passages, so that they would not become traps (in the next few
days they made them twenty meters wide).

That same night they broke through the wall around the Fourth
Camp Division—the prison area—too. The warders guarding the
jails fled, some to the guardhouse, some to the towers, where
ladders were let down for them. The prisoners wrecked the inter-
rogation offices. Among those released from the jail were those
who on the morrow would take command of the rising: former
Red Army Colonel Kapiton Kuznetsov (a graduate of the Frunze
Academy, no longer young; after the war he had commanded a
regiment in Germany, and one of his men had run away to the
Western part—this was why he had been imprisoned; he was in
the camp jail for “slanderous accounts of camp life” in letters sent
out through free workers); and former First Lieutenant Gleb Slu-
chenkov (he had been a prisoner of war, and some said a Vlaso-
vite).

In the “new” jailhouse were some inhabitants of the Kengir
settlement, minor offenders. At first they thought that nationwide
revolution had broken out, and rejoiced in their unexpected free-
dom. But they quickly discovered that the revolution was too
localized, and the minor offenders loyally returned to their stone
sack and dutifully lived there without guards throughout the re-
bellion—though they did go to eat in the mutinous zeks’ mess hall.

Mutinous zeks! Who three times already had tried to reject this
mutiny and this freedom. They did not know how to treat such
gifts, and feared rather than desired them. But a force as relentless
as the surf breaking on the shore had carried them helplessly into
this rebellion.

What else could they do? Put their faith in promises? They
would be cheated again, as the slavemasters had shown so
clearly the day before, and so often in the past. Should they
kneel in submission? They had spent years on their knees and
earned no clemency. Should they give themselves up and take
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their punishment today? Today, or after a month of freedom,
punishment would be equally cruel at the hands of those
whose courts functioned like clockwork: if guarters were given
out, it would be all around, with no one left out!

The runaway escapes to enjoy just one day of freedom! In just
the same way, these eight thousand men had not so much raised
a rebellion as escaped to freedom, though not for long! Eight
thousand men, from being slaves, had suddenly become free, and
now was their chance to . . . live! Faces usually grim softened into
kind smiles.* Women looked at men, and men took them by the
hand. Some who had corresponded by ingenious secret ways,
without even seeing each other, met at last! Lithuanian girls whose
weddings had been solemnized by priests on the other side of the
wall now saw their lawful wedded husbands for the first time—
the Lord had sent down to earth the marriages made in heaven!
For the first time in their lives, no one tried to prevent the sectari-
ans and believers from meeting for prayer. Foreigners, scattered
about the Camp Divisions, now found each other and talked about
this strange Asiatic revolution in their own languages. The camp’s
food supply was in the hands of the prisoners. No one drove them
out to work line-up and an eleven-hour working day.

The moming of May 19 dawned over a feverishly sleepless
camp which had torn off its number patches. Posts with broken
lamps sprawled against the wire fences. Even without their help
the zeks moved freely from zone to zone by the trenches dug under
the wires. Many of them took their street clothes from the store-
rooms and put them on. Some of the lads crammed fur hats on
their heads; shortly there would be embroidered shirts, and on the
Central Asians bright-colored robes and turbans. The gray-black
camp would be a blaze of color.

Orderlies went around the huts summoning us to the big mess
hall to elect a commission for negotiations with the authorities and
for self-government, as it modestly and timidly described itself.

For all they knew, they were electing it just for a few hours, but
it was destined to become the government of Kengir camp for
forty days.

4. A hostile witness, Makeyev, noted this.
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Had all this taken place two years earlier, if only for fear that
He would find out, the bosses of Steplag would not have
delayed a moment before giving the classic order “Don’t spare
the bullets!” and shooting the whole crowd penned within
these walls. If it had proved necessary to knock off four thou-
sand—or all eight thousand—they would not have felt the
slightest tremor, because they were shockproof.

But the complexity of the situation in 1954 made them vacillate.
Even Vavilov, even Bochkov, sensed that a new breeze was stirring
in Moscow. Quite a few prisoners had been shot in Kengir already,
and they were still wondering how to make it look legal. So a delay
was created, which meant time for the rebels to begin their new
life of independence.

In its very first hours the political line of the revolt had to be
determined: to be or not to be? Should it follow in the wake of the
simple-hearted messages scrawled over the columns of the robot
press: “Bash the Chekists, boys”?

As soon as he left the jail and began to take charge—whether
through force of circumstances, or because of his military skill, or
on the advice of friends, or moved by some inner urge—Kapiton
Ivanovich immediately adopted the line of those orthodox Soviet
citizens who were not very numerous in Kengir and were usually
pushed into the background. “Cut out all this scribbling” (of
leaflets), “nip the evil of counter-revolution in the bud, frustrate
those who want to take advantage of events in our camp!” These
phrases I quote from notes kept by another member of the com-
mission, A. F. Makeyev, of an intimate discussion in Pyotr
Akoyev’s storeroom. The orthodox citizens nodded approval of
Kuznetsov: “Yes, if we don’t stop those leaflets, we shall all get
extra time.”

In the first hours, during the night, as he went around all the
huts haranguing himself hoarse, again at the meeting in the mess
hall next morning, and on many subsequent occasions, whenever
he encountered extremist sentiments and the bitter rage of men
whose lives were trodden so deep into the mire that they felt they
had nothing more to lose, Kuznetsov endlessly, tirelessly repeated
the same words: — '

“Anti-Sovietism will be the death of us. If we display anti-Soviet
slogans we shall be crushed immediately. They’re only waiting for
an excuse to crush us. If we put out leaflets like that, they will be
fully justified in shooting. Our salvation lies in loyalty. We must
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talk to Moscow’s representatives in a manner befitting Soviet citi-
zens ”»

Then, in a louder voice: “We shall not permit such behavior on
the part of a few provocateurs!” (However, while he was making
these speeches, people on the bunks were loudly kissing. They
didn’t take in much of what he said.)

When a train carries you in the wrong direction and you decide
to jump off, you have to jump with the motion of the train, and
not against it. The inertial force of history is just as hard to resist.
By no means everyone wanted it that way, but the reasonableness
of Kuznetsov’s line was immediately perceived, and it prevailed.
Very soon slogans were hung up all over the camp, in big letters
easily legible from the towers and the guardhouse:

“Long live the Soviet Constitution!”

“Long live the Presidium of the Central Committee!”

“Long live the Soviet regime!”

“The Central Committee must send one of its members and
review our cases!”

“Down with the murdering Beria-ites!”

“Wives of Steplag officers! Aren’t you ashamed to be the wives
of murderers?”

Although it was clear as could be to the majority in Kengir that
all the millions of acts of rough justice, near and distant, had taken
place under the watery sun of that very constitution, and had been
sanctioned by a Politburo consisting of the very same members,
all they felt able to do was write “long live” that constitution and
that Politburo. As they reread their slogans, the rebel prisoners
now felt themselves on firm legal ground and began to be less
anxious: their movement was not hopeless.

Over the mess hall, where the elections had just taken place, a

- flag was raised which the whole settlement could see. It hung there
long afterward: white, with a black border, and the red hospital-
ers’ cross in the middle. In the international maritime code this
flag means:

“Ship in distress! Women and children on board.”

Twelve men were elected to the Commission, with Kuznetsov
at their head. The members of the Commission assumed individ-
ual responsibilities, and created the following departments:
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Agitation and propaganda (under the Lithuanian Knopkus,
who had been sent for punishment from Norilsk after the rising
there).

Services and maintenance.

Food.

Internal security (Gleb Sluchenkov).

Technical (perhaps the most remarkable branch of this camp
government).

Fornuer Major Mikheyev was made responsible for contacts
with the authorities. The Commission also had among its mem-
bers one of the atamans of the thieves, and he, too, was in charge
of something. There were also some women (apparently, Shakh-
novskaya, an economist and Party member already gray; Suprun,
an elderly teacher from the Carpathians; and Lyuba Bershad-
skaya).

But did the real moving spirits behind the revolt join this Com-
mission? It seems that they did not. The centers, especially the
Ukrainian Center (not more than a quarter of those in the whole
camp were Russian), evidently kept themselves to themselves.
Mikhail Keller, a Ukrainian partisan, who from 1941 had fought
alternately against the Germans and the Soviet side, and had
publicly axed a stoolie in Kengir, appeared at meetings of the
Commission as an observer from the other staff.

The Commission worked openly in the offices of the Women’s
Camp Division, but the Military Department moved its command
post (field staff) out to the bathhouse in Camp Division No. 2. The
departments set to work. The first few days were particularly
hectic: there was so much planning and arranging to be done.

First of all they had to fortify their position. (Mikheyev, in
expectation of the inevitable military action to crush them, was
against creating defenses of any kind, but Sluchenkov and Knop-
kus insisted.) Great piles of mud bricks had risen, where the
breaches in the inner walls were widened and cleared. They used
these bricks to make barricades facing all the guard points—exits
from within, entrances from without—which remained in the
hands of the jailers, and any one of which might open at any
minute to admit the punitive force. There were plenty of coils of
barbed wire in the service yard. With this they made entangle-
ments and scattered them about the threatened approaches. Nor
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did they omit to put out little boards saying: “Danger! Minefield!”

This was one of the first of the Technical Department’s bright
ideas. The department’s work was surrounded by great secrecy. In
the occupied service yard the Technical Department set aside
secret premises, with a skull and crossbones drawn on the door,
and the legend “High Tension—100,000 volts.” Only the handful
of men who worked there were allowed in. So that even the
prisoners did not get to know what the Technical Department’s
activities were. A rumor was very soon put about that it was
making secret weapons of a chemical nature. Since both zeks and
bosses knew very well what clever engineers there were in the
camp, it was easy for a superstitious conviction to get around that
they could do anything, even invent a weapon which no one had
yet thought of in Moscow. As for making a few miserable mines,
using the reagents which were there in the service yard—what was
to stop them? So the boards saying “Minefield” were taken seri-
ously.

Another weapon was devised: boxes of ground glass at the
entrance to every hut (to throw in the eyes of the Tommy-gun-
ners).

The teams were kept just as they had been, but were now called
platoons, while the huts were called detachments, and detachment
commanders were named, subordinate to the Military Depart-
ment. Mikhail Keller was put in charge of all guard duties. Vul-
nerable places were occupied, according to a precise roster, by
pickets, which were reinforced for the night hours. A man will not
run away and in general will show more courage in the presence
of a woman: with this masculine psychological trait in mind, the
rebels organized mixed pickets. Besides the many loud-mouthed
women in Kengir, there proved to be many brave ones, especially
among the Ukrainian girls, who were the majority in the women’s
camp.

Without waiting this time for master’s kind permission, they
began taking the window bars down themselves. For the first two
days, before the bosses thought of cutting the power supply to the
camp, the lathes were still working in the shops and they made
a large number of pikes from these window bars by grinding down
and sharpening their ends. The smiths and the lathe operators
worked without a break in those first days, making weapons:
knives, halberds, and sabers (which were particularly popular
with the thieves; they decorated the hilts with jingles and colored
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leather). Others were seen with bludgeons in their hands.

The pickets shouldered pikes as they went to take up their posts
for the night. The women’s platoon, on their way at night to rooms
provided in the men’s camp, so that they could rush out to meet
the attackers if the alarm was raised (it was naively assumed that
the butchers would be ashamed to hurt women), also bristled with
pikes.

All this would have been impossible, wonld have been ruined
by mockers or lechers, if the stern and cleansing wind of rebellion
had not been blowing through the camp. In our age these pikes,
these sabers, were children’s toys, but for these people, prison—
prison behind them, and prison before them—was no game. The
pikes were playthings, but this was what fate had sent—their first
chance to defend their freedom. In the puritanical air of that
revolutionary springtime, when the presence of women on the
barricades itself became a weapon, men and women behaved with
proper dignity, and with dignity carried their pikes, points sky-
ward.

If anyone during those days entertained hopes of vile orgies, it
was the blue-epauleted bosses, on the other side of the fence. Their
calculation was that left alone for a week, the prisoners would
drown in their debauchery. That was the picture they painted for
the inhabitants of the settlement—prisoners mutinying for the
sake of sexual indulgence. (Obviously, there was no other lack
they could feel in their comfortable existence.)®

The main hope of the authorities was that the thieves would
start raping women, that the politicals would intervene, and that
there would be a massacre. But once again the MVD psychologists
were wrong! And we ourselves may well be surprised. All wit-
nesses agree that the thieves behaved like decent people, but in our
sense of the term, not in their own traditional sense. On their side,
the politicals and the women themselves emphasized by their
behavior that they regarded the thieves as friends, and trusted
them. What-lay below these attitudes need not concern us here.
Perhaps the thieves kept remembenng their comrades bloodily
murdered that first Sunday.

5. After the mutiny the bosses had the effrontery to carry out a general medical examina-
tion of all the women. When they discovered that many were still virgins they were
flabbergasted. Eh? What were you thinking of? All those days together! . . . In their
judgment of events they could not rise above their own moral plane.



The Forty Days of Kengir | 307

If we can speak of the strength of the Kengir revolt at all, its
strength was in this unity.

Nor did the thieves touch the food stores, which, for those who
know them, is no less surprising. Although there was enough food
for many months in the storerooms, the Commission, after due
consideration, decided to leave the allowances of bread and other
foodstuffs as before. The honest citizen’s fear of eating more than
his share of public victuals, and having to answer for this waste!
As though the state owed the prisoners nothing for all those
hungry years! On the other hand (as Mikheyev recalls), when
there was a shortage outside the camp, the supply section of the
camp administration asked the prisoners to release certain food-
stuffs. There was some fruit, intended for those on higher norms
(free workers!), and the zeks released it.

The camp bookkeepers allocated foodstuffs on the old norms,
the kitchen took them and cooked them, but in the new revolu-
tionary atmosphere did not pilfer, nor did emissaries from the
thieves appear with instructions to bring the stuff for the people.
Nothing extra was ladled out for the trusties. And it was suddenly
found that though the norms were the same, there was noticeably
more to eatl

If the thieves sold things (things previously stolen in other
places), they did not, as had been their custom, immediately come
along to take them back again. “Things are different now,” they
said. .

The stalls belonging to the local Workers® Supply Department
went on trading inside the camp. The staff guaranteed the safety
of the cashier (a free woman). She was allowed into the camp and
went around the stalls with two girls, collecting the takings (in
vouchers) from the salespeople. (But the vouchers, of course, soon .
ran out, and the bosses did not let new stocks through into the
camp.)

The supply of three items needed in the camp remained in the
hands of the bosses: electricity, water, and medicines. They did
not, of course, control the air supply. As for medicines, they gave
the camp not a single powder nor a single drop of iodine in forty
days. The electricity they cut off after two or three days. The water
supply they left alone.

The Technical Department began a fight for light. Their first
idea was to fix hooks to fine wires and sling them forcibly over
the outside cable, which ran just beyond the camp wall—and
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in this way they stole current for a few days, until the tenta-
cles were discovered and cut. This had given the Technical
Department time to try out a windmill, abandon it, and begin
installing in the service yard (in a spot concealed from prying
eyes. on the towers, or low-flying observation planes) a hydroe-
lectric station, worked by . . . a water tap. A motor which
happened to be in the yard was converted into a generator,
and they started supplying the camp telephone network, the
lighting in staff headquarters, and . . . the radio transmitter!
(The huts were lit by wood splints.) This unique hydroelectric
station went on working till the last day of the revolt.

In the very early days of the mutiny, the generals would come
into the camp as though they owned it. True, Kuznetsov was not
at a loss. When the first parleys took place he ordered his men to
bring the bodies from the morgue and loudly ordered: “Caps off?”
The zeks bared their heads, and the generals, too, had to take off
their peaked caps in the presence of their victims. But the initiative
remained with Gulag’s General Bochkov. After approving the
election of a commission (“You can’t talk to everybody at once™),
he demanded that the negotiators tell him first how their cases had
been investigated (and Kuznetsov began lengthily and perhaps
eagerly presenting his story); and further insisted that prisoners
should stand up to speak. When somebody said, “The prisoners
demand . . .” Bochkov touchily retorted that “Prisoners cannot
demand, they can only request!” And “The prisoners request”
became the established formula.

Bochkov replied to the prisoners’ reguests with a lecture on the
building of socialism, the unprecedentedly rapid progress of the
economy, and the successes of the Chinese revolution. That com-
placent irrelevancy, that driving of screws into the brain which
always leaves us weak and numb. He had come into the camp to
look for evidence that the use of firearms had been justified. (They
would shortly declare that in fact there had been no shooting in
the camp: this was just a lie told by the gangsters; nor had there
been any beatings.) He was simply amazed that they should dare
ask him to infringe the “instruction concerning the separate hous-
ing of men and women prisoners.” (They talk this way about their
instructions, as though they were laws for and from all time.)

Shortly, other, more important generals arrived in Douglas
aircraft: Dolgikh (at that time allegedly head of Gulag) and
Yegorov (Deputy Minister of Internal Affairs for the U.S.S.R.).
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A meeting was called in the mess hall, and some two thousand
prisoners assembled. Kuznetsov gave the orders: “Silence,
please! All stand! Atten-tion!” and respectfully invited the gen-
erals to sit on the dais, while he, as befitted his subordinate
rank, stood to one side! (Sluchenkov behaved differently. When
one of the generals casually spoke of enemies present, Sluchen-
kov answered in a clear voice: “How many of your sort turned
out to be enemies? Yagoda was a public enemy, Yezhov was a
public enemy, Abakumov was a public enemy, Beria was a
public enemy. How do we know that Kruglov is any better?”)

Makeyev, to judge from his notes, drew up a draft agreement
in which the authorities promised not to transfer people to other
camps, or otherwise victimize them, and to begin a thorough
investigation, while the zeks in return agreed to return to work
immediately. However, when he and his supporters started going
around the huts and asking prisoners to accept his draft, they were
jeered at as “bald-headed Komsomols,” “procurement agents,”
and “lackeys of the Cheka.” They got a particularly hostile recep-
tion in the women’s camp, and found that the separation of the
men’s and women’s divisions was by now the last thing the zeks
would agree to. (Makeyev angrily answered his opponents: “Just
because you’ve had your hand on some wench’s tits, d’you think
the Soviet regime is a thing of the past? The Soviet regime will get
its own way, whatever happens!”)

The days ran on. They never took their eyes off the camp
grounds— soldiers’ eyes from the towers, and warders’ eyes, too
(the warders, knowing the zeks by sight, were supposed to identify
them and remember who did what), and even the eyes of airmen
(perhaps equipped with cameras)—and the generals were regret-
fully forced to conclude that there were no. massacres, no po-
groms, no violence in there, that the camp was not disintegrating
of its own accord, and that there was no excuse to send troops in
to the rescue.

The camp stood fast and the negotiations changed their charac-
ter. Golden-epauleted personages, in various combinations, con-
tinued coming into the camp to argue and pérsuade. They were
all allowed in, but they had to pick up white flags, and between
the outer gate of the service yard (now the main entrance) and the
barricade, they had to undergo a body search, with some Ukrain-
ian girl slapping the generals’ pockets in case there was a pistol
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or a hand grenade in them. In return, the rebel staff guaranteed
their personal safetyl . . .

They showed the generals around, wherever it was allowed
(not, of course, around the secret ‘sector of the service yard),
let them talk to prisoners, and called big meetings in the Camp
Divisiops for their benefit. Their epaulets flashing, the bosses
took their seats in the presidium as of old, as though nothing
were amiss.

The prisoners put up speakers. But speaking was so difficult!
Not only because each of them, as he spoke, was writing his
future sentence, but also because in their experience of life and
their ideas of truth, the grays and the blues had grown too far
apart, and there was hardly any way of penetrating, of letting
some light into, those plump and prosperous carcasses, those
glossy, melon-shaped heads. They seem to have been greatly an-
gered by an old Leningrad worker, a Communist who had taken
part in the Revolution. He asked them what chance Commu-
nism had when officers got fat on the output of camp workshops,
when they had lead stolen from the separating plant and made
into shot for their poaching trips; when prisoners had to dig
their kitchen gardens for them; when carpets were laid in the
bathhouse for the: camp commander’s visits, and an orchestra
accompanied his ablutions.

To cut out some of this disorganized shouting, the discussions
sometimes took the form of direct negotiations on the loftiest
diplomatic model. Sometime in June a long mess table was placed
in the women’s camp, and the golden epaulets seated themselves
on a bench to one side of it, while the Tommy-gunners allowed
in with them as a bodyguard stood at their backs. Across the table
sat the members of the Commission, and they, too, had a body-
guard—which stood there, looking very serious, armed with sa-
bers, pikes, and slingshots. In the background crowds of prisoners
gathered to listen to the powwow and shout comments. (Refresh-
ments for the guests were not forgotten! Fresh cucumbers were
brought from the hothouses in the service yard, and kvass from
the kitchen. The golden epaulets crunched cucumbers unselfcon-
sciously. . . . ) .

The rebels had agreed on their demands (or requests) in the first
two days, and now repeated them over and over again:
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o Punish the Evangelist’s murderer.

o Punish all those responsible for the murders on Sunday night
in the service yard.
e Punish those who beat up the women.

o Bring back those comrades who had been illegally sent to
closed prisons for striking.

e No more number patches, window bars, or locks on hut
doors.

o Inner walls between Camp Divisions not to be rebuilt.

o An eight-hour day, as for free workers.

¢ An increase in payment for work (here there was no question
of equality with free workers).

o Unrestricted correspondence with relatives, periodic visits.

¢ Review of cases.

Although there was nothing unconstitutional in any of these
demands, nothing that threatened the foundations of the state
(indeed, many of them were requests for a return to the old
position), it was impossible for the bosses to accept even the least
of them, because these bald skulls ynder service caps and sup-
ported by close-clipped fat necks had forgotten how to admit a
mistake or a fault. Truth was unrecognizable and repulsive to
them if it manifested itself not in secret instructions from higher
authority but on the lips of common people.

Still, the obduracy of the eight thousand under siege was a
blot on the reputation of the generals, it might ruin their ca-
-reers, and 80 they made promises. They promised that nearly
all the demands would be satisfied—only, they said (to make it
more convincing), they could hardly leave the women’s camp
open, that was against the rules (forgetting that in the Correc-
tive Labor Camps it had been that way for twenty years), but
they could consider arranging, should they say, meeting days.
To the demand that the Commission of Inquiry (into the cir-
cumstances of the shooting) should start its work inside the
camp, the generals unexpectedly agreed. (But Sluchenkov
guessed their purpose, and refused to hear of,it: while making
their statements, the stoolies would expose everything that was
happening in the camp.) Review of cases? Well, of course,
cases would be re-examined, but prisoners would have ‘to be
patient. There was one thing that couldn’t wait at all—the
prisoners must get back to work! to work! to work!

®
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But the zeks knew that trick by now: dmdmgthemupmto
columns, forcing them to the ground at gunpoint, arresting the
ringleaders.

No, they answered across the table, and from the platform. No!
shouted voices from the crowd. The administration of Steplag
have behaved like provocateurs! We do not trust the Steplag au-
thorities! We don’t trust the MVD!

“Don’t trust even the MVD?” The vice-minister was thrown
into a sweat by this treasonable talk: “And who can have inspired
in you such hatred for the MVD?”

A riddle, if ever there was one.

“Send us a member of the Central Committee Presidium! A
member of the Presidium! Then we’ll believe you!” shouted the
zeks. ’

“Be careful,” the generals threatened. “You’ll make it worse for
yourselves!”

At this Kuznetsov got up. He spoke calmly and precisely, and
he held himself proudly.

“If you enter the camp with weapons,” he warned them, “don’t
forget that half of those here had a hand in the capture of Berlin.
They can cope even with your weapons!”

Kapiton Kuznetsov! Some future historian of the Kengir
mutiny must help us to understand the man better. What were
his thoughts, how did he feel about his imprisonment? What
stage did he imagine his appeal to have reached? How long
was it since he had asked for a review, if the order of release
(with rehabilitation, I believe) arrived from Moscow during the
rebellion? His pride in keeping the mutinous camp in such
good order—was it only the professional pride of a military
man? Had he put himself at the head of the movement because
it captured his imagination? (I reject that explanation.) Or,
knowing his powers of leadership, had he taken over to re-
strain the movement, tame the flood, and channel it, to lay his
chastened comrades at their masters’ feet? (That is my view.)
In meetings and discussions, and through people of lesser im-
portance, he had opportunities to tell those in charge of the
punitive operation anything he liked, and to hear things from
them. On one occasion in June, for instance, the artful dodger
Markosyan was sent out of camp on an errand for the Com-
mission. Did Kuznetsov exploit such opportunities? Perhaps
not. His position may have been a proud and independent one.

o~
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Two bodyguards—two enormous Ukrainian lads—accom-
panied Kuznetsov the whole time with knives in their belts.

To defend him? To settle scores? .

(Makeyev claims that during the rebellion Kuznetsov also had
a temporary wife—another Ukrainian nationalist.)

Gleb Sluchenkov was about thirty. Which means that he must
have been captured by the Germans when he was nineteen or so.
Like Kuznetsov, he now went around in his old uniform, which
had been kept in storage, acting or overacting the old soldier. He
had a slight limp, but the speed of his movements made it unim-
portant.

In the negotiations he was precise to the point of curtness. The
authorities had the idea of calling all “former juvenile offenders”
out of the camp (youngsters jailed before they were eighteen, some
of them now twenty or twenty-one) and releasing them. This may
not have been a trick—at about this time they were releasing such
prisoners or reducing their sentences all over the country. Slu-
chenkov’s answer was:

“Have you asked the minors whether they want to move from
one camp to another, and leave their comrades in the lurch?” (In
the Commission, too, he insisted that “These kids carry out our
guard duties—we can’t hand them over?”” This, indeed, was the
unspoken reason why the generals wanted to release these young-
sters while Kengir was in revolt: and for all we know, they would
have shoved them in cells outside the camp.) The law-abiding
Makeyev nonetheless began rounding up former juveniles for the
““discharge tribunal,” and he testifies that out of 409 persons with
a claim to be released, hie only succeeded in collecting thirteen who
were willing to leave. If we bear in mind Makeyev’s sympathy with
the authorities, and his hostility to the rising, his testimony is
amazing: four hundred youngsters in the bloom of youth, and in
their great majority not politically minded, renounced not merely
freedom but salvation! And stayed with the doomed revolt . . .

Sluchenkov’s reply to threats that troops would be used to put
down the revolt was “Send them in! Send as many Tommy-gun-
ners as you like! We'll throw ground glass in their eyes and take
their guns from them! We’ll trounce your Kengir troops. Your
bowlegged officers we’ll chase all the way to Karaganda—we’ll
ride into Karaganda on your backs! And once there, we’re among
friends!”

There is other evidence about him which seems reliable. “Any-
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body who runs away. will get this in the chest!”—flourishing a
hunting knife in the air. “Anybody who doesn’t turn out to defend
the camp will get the knife,” he announced in one hut. The inevita-
ble logic of any military authority and any war situation.

The newborn camp- government, like all governments through
the ages, was incapable of existing without a security service, and
Sluchenkov headed this (occupying the security officer’s room in
the women’s camp). Since there could be no victory over the
outside forces, Sluchenkov realized that this post meant certain
execution. In the course of the revolt he told people in the camp
that the bosses had secretly urged him to provoke a racial blood-
bath (the golden epaulets were banking heavily on this) and so
provide a plausible excuse for troops to enter the camp. In return
the bosses promised Sluchenkov his life. He rejected their pro-
posal. (What approaches were made to others? They haven’t told
us.) Moreover, when-a rumor went around the camp that a Jewish
pogrom was imminent, Sluchenkov gave warning that the rumor-
mongers would be publicly flogged. The rumor died down.

A clash between Sluchenkov and the loyalists seemed inevita-
ble. And it happened. It should be said that all these years, in all
the Special Camps, orthodox Soviet citizens, without even con-
sulting each other, unanimously condemned the massacre of the
stoolies, or any attempt by prisoners to fight for their rights. We
need not put this down to sordid motives (though quite a few of
the orthodox were compromised by their work for the godfather)
since we can fully explain it by their theoretical views. They
accepted all forms of repression and extermination, even whole-
sale, provided they came from above—as a manifestation of the
dictatorship of the proletariat. Even impulsive and uncoordinated
actions of the same kind but-from below were regarded as ban-
ditry, and what is more, in its “Banderist” form (among the
loyalists you would never get one to admit the right of the Ukraine
to secede, because to do so was bourgeois nationalism). The refusal
of the katorzhane to be slave laborers, their indignation about
window bars and shootings, depressed and frightened the docile
camp Communists.

In Kengir as elsewhere, there was a nest of loyalists. (Genkin,
Apfelzweig, Talalayevsky, and evidently Akoyev. We have no
more names.) There was also a malingerer who spent years in the
hospital pretending that “his leg kept going around.” Intellectual
methods of struggle such as this were deemed permissible. In the
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Commission itself Makeyev was an obvious example. All of them
were reproachful from the beginning: “You shouldn’t have started
it”; when the passages under the walls were blocked off, they said
that they shouldn’t have tunneled; it was all a stunt thought up
by the Banderist scum, and the thing to do now was to back down
quickly. (Anyway, the sixteen killed were not from their camp,
and it was simply silly to shed tears over the Evangelist.) All their
bile and bigotry is blurted out in Makeyev’s notes. Everything and
everybody in sight is bad, and there are dangers on every hand;
it’s either a new sentence from the bosses, or a knife in the back
from the Banderists. “They want to frighten us all with their bits
of iron and drive us to our deaths.” Makeyev angrily calls the
Kengir revolt a “bloody game,” a “false trump,” “amateur dra-
matics” on the part of the Banderists, and more often than any
of these, “the wedding party.” The hopes and aims of the leaders,
as he sees them, were fornication, evasion of work, and putting off
the day of reckoning. (That there. was a reckoning to be paid, he
tacitly assumes to be just.)

This very accurately expresses the attitude of the loyalists in the
fifties to the freedom movement in the camps. Whereas Makeyev
was very cautious, and was indeed among the leaders of the revolt,
Talalayevsky poured out such complaints quite openly, and Slu-
chenkov’s internal security service locked him in a cell in the
Kengir jailhouse for agitation hostile to the rebels.

Yes, this really happened. The rebels who had liberated the jail
now set up one of their own. The old, old ironical story. True, only
four men were put inside for various reasons (usually for dealings
with the bosses), and none of them was shot (instead, they were
presented with the best of alibis for the authorities).

This incident apart, the jailhouse—a particularly gloomy old
place, built in the thirties—was put on display to a wide public:
it had windowless solitary-confinement cells, with nothing but a
tiny skylight; legless beds, mere wooden boards on the cement
floor, where it was still colder and damper than elsewhere in the.
cold cell; and beside each bed, which means down on the ﬂoor,
rough earthenware bowl like a dog dish.

To this place the Agitation Department organized sightseeing
trips for their fellow prisoners who had never been inside and
perhaps never would be. They also took there visiting generals
(who were not greatly impressed). They even asked that sightseers
from among the free inhabitants of the settlement be sent along:
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with the prisoners absent, they could in any case do nothing at the
work sites. The generals actually sent such a party—not, of
course, ordinary workingmen, but hand-picked personnel who
found nothing to excite indignation.

In reply, the authorities offered to arrange a prisoners’ outing to
Rudnik (Divisions 1 and 2 of Steplag), since according to camp
rumors a revolt had broken out there, too. (Incidentally, for their
own good reasons both slaves and slavemasters shunned the word
“revolt,” or still worse, “rising,” replacing them with the bashful
euphemism “horseplay.”) The delegates went, and saw for them-
selves that all was as it had been, that prisoners were going to work.

Their hopes largely depended on strikes like their own spread-
ing. Now the delegates returned with cause for despondency.

(The authorities, in fact, had taken them there only just in time.
Rudnik was of course worked up. Prisoners had heard from free
workers all sorts of facts and fantasies about the Kengir revolt. In
the same month [June] it so happened that many appeals for
judicial review were turned down simultaneously. Then some half-
crazy lad was wounded in the prohibited area. And there, too, a
strike started, the gates between Camp Divisions were knocked
down, and prisoners poured out onto the central road. Machine
guns appeared on the towers. Somebody hung up a placard with
anti-SovietSlogans on it, and the rallying cry “Freedom or death!”
But this was taken down and replaced by one with legitimate
demands and an undertaking to make up for losses caused by the
stoppage once the demands were satisfied. Lorries came to fetch
flour from the storerooms; the prisoners wouldn’t let them have
it. The strike lasted for something like a week, but we have no
precise information about it: this is all at third hand, and probably
exaggerated.)

There were weeks when the whole war became a war of propa-
ganda. The outside radio was never silent: through several loud-
speakers set up at intervals around the camp it interlarded appeals
to the prisoners with information and misinformation, and wjth
a couple of trite and boring records that frayed everybody’s
nerves.

Through the meadow goes a maiden,
She whose braided hair I love.

(Still, to be thought worthy even of that not very high honor—
having records played to them—they had to rebel. Even rubbish
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like that wasn’t played for men on their knees.) These records also
served, in the spirit of the times, as a jammming device—drowning
the broadcasts from the camps intended for the escort troops.

On the outside radio they sometimes tried to blacken the whole
movement, asserting that it had been started with the sole aim of
rape and plunder. (In the camp itself the zeks just laughed, but the
free inhabitants of the settlement also listened, willy-nilly, to the
loudspeakers. Of course, the slavemasters could not rise to any
other explanation—an admission that this rabble was capable of
seeking justice was far beyond the reach of their minds.) At other
times they tried telling filthy stories about members of the Com-
mission. (They even said that one of the “old ones,” when he was
being transported by barge to the Kolyma, had made a hole below
the waterline and sunk the boat with three hundred zeks in it. The
emphasis was on the fact that it was poor zeks he had drowned,
practically all of them 58's,-too, and not the escort troops; how
he had survived himself was not clear.) Or else they would taunt
Kuznetsov, telling him that his discharge had arrived, but was
now canceled. Then the appeals would begin again. Work! Workl
‘Why should the Motherland keep you for nothing? By not going
to work you are doing enormous damage to the state! (This was
supposed to pierce the hearts of men doomed to eternal katorgal)
Whole trainloads of coal are standing in the siding, there’s nobody
to unload it! (Let them stand there—the zeks laughed—you’ll give
way all the sooner! Yet it didn’t occur even to them that the golden
epaulets could unload it themselves if it troubled them so much.)

The Technical Department, however, gave as good as it got.
Two portable film projectors were found in the service yard. Their
amplifiers were used for loudspeakers, less powerful, of course,
than those of the other side. They were fed from the secret hydro-
electric station! (The fact that the camp had electricity and radio
greatly surprised and troubled the bosses. They were afraid that
the rebels might rig up a transmitter and start broadeasting news
about their rising to foreign countries. Rumors to this effect were
also put around inside the camp.)

The camp soon had its own announcers (Slava Yarimovskaya
is one we know of). Programs included the latest news, and news
features (there was also a daily wall newspaper, with cartoons).
“Crocodile Tears” was the name of a program ridiculing the
anxiety of the MVD men about the fate of women whom they
themselves had previously beaten up. Then there were programs
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for the escort troops. Apart from this, prisoners would approach
the towers at night and shout to the soldiers through megaphones.

But there was not enough power to put on programs for the only
potential sympathizers to be found in Kengir—the free inhabi-
tants of the settlement, many of them exiles. It was they whom the
settlement authorities were trying to fool, not by radio but, in
some place which the prisoners could not reach, with rumors that
bloodthirsty gangsters and insatiable prostitutes (this version went
down well with the women)® were ruling the roost inside the camp;
that over there innocent people were being tortured and burned
alive in furnaces. (In that case, it was hard to see why the authori-
ties did not intervene! . . . )

How could the prisoners call out through the walls, to the
workers one, or two, or three kilometers away: “Brothers! We
want only justice! They were murdering us for no crime of ours,
they were treating us worse than dogs! Here are our demands”?

The thoughts of the Technical Department, since they had no
chance to outstrip modern science, moved backward instead to the
science of past ages. Using cigarette paper (there was everything
you could think of in the service yard; we have talked about that
already:’ for many years it provided the Dzhezkazgan officers with
their own Moscow tailor’s shop, and a workshop for every imagin-
able article of consumer goods), they pasted together an enormous
air balloon, following the example of the Montgolfier brothers. A
bundle of leaflets was attached to the balloon, and slung under-
neath it was a brazier containing glowing coals, which sent a
current of warm air into the dome of the balloon through an
opening in its base. To the huge delight of the assembled crowd
(if prisoners ever do feel happy they are like children), the marvel-
ous aeronautical structure rose and was airborne. But alas! The
speed of the wind was greater than the speed of its ascent, and as
it was flying over the boundary fence the brazier caught on the
barbed wire. The balloon, denied its current of warm air, fell and
burned to ashes, together with the leaflets.

After this failure they started inflating balloons with smoke.

6. When it was all over and the 's col was hed through the settlement
on the way to work, married , Russian gathered- along the roadside and
shouted at them: “Prosututesll)n‘tywhom! Couldn't do without it, could you . . . I” and
other, still stronger remarks. The same thing happened next day, butthcwommpnsonm
had left the camp prepared, andmplledtothuemsulung with a bomb
of stones. The escort troops just laughed. -

7. Part 111, Chapter 22.
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With a following wind they flew quite well, exhibiting inscriptions
in large letters to the settlement:

“Save the women and old men from being beaten!”

“We demand to see a member of the Presidium.”

The guards started shooting at these balloons.

Then some Chechen prisoners came to the Technical Depart-
ment and offered to make kites. (They are experts.) They suc-
ceeded in sticking some kites together and paying out the string
until they were over the settlement. There was a percussive device
on the frame of each kite. When the kite was in a convenient
position, the device scattered a bundie of leaflets, also attached to
the kite. The kite fliers sat on the roof of a hut waiting to see what
would happen next. If the leaflets fell close to the camp, warders
ran to collect them; if they fell farther away, motorcyclists and
horsemen dashed after them. Whatever happened, they tried to
prevent the free citizens from reading an independent version of
the truth. (The leaflets ended by requesting any citizen of Kengir
who found one to deliver it to the Central Committee.)

The kites were also shot at, but holing was less damaging to
them than to the balloons. The enemy soon discovered that send-
ing up counter-kites to tangle strings with them was cheaper than
keeping a crowd of warders on the run.

A war of kites in the second half of the twentieth century! And
all to silence a word of truth.

(Perhaps it will help the reader to place the events at Kengir
chronelogically if we recall what was happening outside during
the days of the mutiny. The Geneva Conference on Indochina was
in session. The Stalin Peace Prize was conferred on Pierre Cot.
Another progressive French man, the writer Sartre, arrived in-
Moscow to join in the life of our progressive society. The third
centenary of the reunification of Russia and the Ukraine was
loudly and lavishly celebrated.®* On May 31 there was a solemn
parade on Red Square. The Ukrainian S.S.R. and the Russian
S.F.S.R. were awarded the Order of Lenin. On June 6 a monument
to Yuri Dolgoruky was unveiled in Moscow. A Trade Union
Congress opened on June 8 [but nothing was said there about
Kengir]. On the tenth a new state loan was launched. The twen-
tieth was Air Force Day, and there was a splendid parade at
Tushino. These months of 1954 were also marked by a powerful

8. The Ukrainians at Kengir declared it a day of mourning.
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offensive on the literary front, as people call it: Surkov, Kochetov,
and Yermilov came out with very tough admonitory articles.
Kochetov even asked: “What sort of times are we living in?” And
nobody answered: “4 time of prison camp risings!” Many incorrect
plays and books were abused during this period. And in
Guatemala the imperialistic United States met with the rebuff it
deserved.) _

There were Chechen exiles in the settlement, but it is unlikely
that they made the other kites. You cannot accuse the Chechens

' of ever having served oppression. They understood perfectly the
meaning of the Kengir revolt, and on one occasion brought a
bakery van up to the gates. Needless to say, the soldiers drove
them away.

(There is more than one side to the Chechens. People among
whom they live—I speak from my experience in Kazakhstan—
find them hard to get along with; they are rough and arrogant, and
they do not conceal their dislike of Russians. But the men of
Kengir only had to display independence and courage—and they
immediately won the good will of the Chechens! When we feel that
we are not sufficiently respected, we should ask ourselves whether
we are living as we should.)

In the meantime the Technical Department was getting its
notorious “secret” weapon ready. Let me describe it. Aluminum
corner brackets for cattle troughs, produced in the workshops and
awaiting dispatch, were packed with a mixture of sulfur scraped
from matches and a little calcium carbide (every box of matches
had been carried off to the room with the 100,000-volt door).
‘When the sulfur was lit and the brackets thrown, they hissed and
burst into little pieces.

But neither these star-crossed geniuses nor the field staff in the
bathhouse were to choose the hour, place, and form of the decisive
battle. Some two weeks after the beginning of the revolt, on one
of those dark nights without a glimmer of light anywhere, thuds
weré hieard at several places around the camp wall. This time it
was not escaping prisoners or rebels battering it down; the wall
was being demolished by the convoy troops themselves! There was
commotion in the camp, as prisoners charged around with pikes
and sabers, unable to make out what was happening and expecting
an attack. But the troops did not take the offensive.

In the morning it turned out that the enemy without had made
about a dozen breaches in the wall in addition to those already
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there and the barricaded gateway. (Machine-gun posts had been
set up on the other side of the gaps, to prevent the zeks from
pouring through them.)’ This was of course the preliminary for an
assault through the breaches, and the camp was a seething anthill
as it prepared to defend itself. The rebel staff decided to pull down
the inner walls and the mud-brick outhouses and to erect a second
circular wall of their own, specially reinforced with stacks of brick
where it faced the gaps, to give protection against machine-gun
bullets.

How things had changed! The troops were demolishing the
boundary wall, the prisoners were rebuilding it, and the thieves
were helping with a clear conscience, not feeling that they were
contravening their code.

Additional defense posts now had to be established opposite the
gaps, and every platoon assigned to a gap, which it must run to
defend should the alarm be raised at night. Bangs on the buffer
of a railroad car, and the usual whistles, were the agreed-upon
alarm signals.

The zeks quite seriously prepared to advance against machine
guns with pikes. Those who shied at the idea to begin with soon
got used to it.

There was one attack in the daytime. Tommy-gunners were
moved up to one of the gaps, opposite the balcony of the Steplag
Administration Building, which was packed with important per-
sonages sheltering under broad army epaulets or the narrow ones
of the Public Prosecutor’s department, and holding cameras or
even movie cameras. The soldiers were in no hurry. They merely
advanced just far enough into the breach for the alarm to be given,
whereupon the rebel platoons responsible for the defense of the
breach rushed out to man the barricade—brandishing their pikes
and holding stones and mud bricks—and then, from the balcony,
movie cameras whirred and pocket cameras.clicked (taking care
to keep the Tommy-gunners out of the picture). Disciplinary offi-
cers, prosecutors, Party officials, and all the rest of them—Party
members to a man, of course—laughed at the bizarre spectacle of
the impassioned savages with pikes. Well-fed and shameless, these

9. The precedent is said to have been set by Norilsk; there, too, they made breaches in
the wall, to lure cut the fainthearted, who would be used to stir up the thieves, and so
provide an excuse to introduce troops and restore order.
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grand personages mocked their starved and cheated fellow citizens
from the balcony, and found it all very funny.'

Then warders, too, stole up to the gaps and tried to slip ncosés
with hooks over the prisoners, as though they were hunting wild
animals or the abominable snowman, hoping to drag out a talker.

But what they mainly counted on now were deserters, rebels
with cold feet. The radio blared away. Come to your senses! Leave
the camp through the gaps in the wall! At those points we shall
not fire! Those who come over will not be tried for mutiny!

The Commission’s response, over the camp radio, wa